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SECTION I: GENERAL

DEFINITIONS AND ABBREVIATIONS

This Prospectus uses certain definitions and abbreviations which, unless the context otherwise indicates or
implies, shall have the meaning as provided below. References to any legislation, act, regulation, rules, guidelines,
or policies shall be to such legislation, act, regulation, rules, guidelines, or policies, as amended, supplemented
or re-enacted from time to time, and any reference to a statutory provision shall include any subordinate
legislation made from time to time under that provision.

GENERAL TERMS
Term Description
“our Company”, “the | Shalby Limited, a company incorporated under the Companies Act, 1956,

Company” or “the Issuer” and having its Registered and Corporate Office at Opposite Karnawati Club,
Sarkhej Gandhinagar Highway, Near Prahlad Nagar Garden, Ahmedabad —
380 015, Guijarat, India

Unless the context otherwise indicates, our Company and our Subsidiaries,

on a consolidated basis
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us” or “our”

COMPANY RELATED TERMS

Term

Description

Ahmedabad Cluster

Krishna Shalby, Shalby Naroda, SG Shalby, and Vijay Shalby

Articles of Association or AcA

Articles of association of our Company, as amended

Audit and Risk Management
Committee

Audit and risk management committee of the Board

Auditors / Statutory Auditors

Statutory auditors of our Company, namely, G. K. Choksi & Co.

Board / Board of Directors

Board of directors of our Company, or a duly constituted committee thereof

Corporate Social
Responsibility Committee

Corporate social responsibility committee of the Board

Director(s)

Director(s) on the Board

Equity Shares

Equity shares of our Company of face value of 10 each

Executive Directors

Executive Directors of our Company

Griffin

Griffin Mediquip LLP (formerly known as Shalby Orthopaedic LLP)

Group Entities

Our Group Entities are:

1.  Griffin;

2.  Slaney Healthcare Private Limited (formerly known as Alpha Clinical
and Therapeutic Research Private Limited);

3. Shalby Orthopaedic Hospital and Research Centre;

4.  Uranus Medical Devices Limited; and

5. Friends of Shalby Foundation.

For details, see “Our Group Entities” on page 211

Indian Subsidiaries

Indian subsidiaries of our Company, namely:
1. Shalby International;

2. VSHL,; and

3. Yogeshwar Healthcare

Individual Promoter(s)

Dr Vikram Shah, Dr Darshini Shah, and Shanay Shah

IPO Committee

IPO committee of the Board

Kamesh Hospital

Kamesh Bhargava Hospital and Research Centre Private Limited

Key Management Personnel

Key management personnel of our Company in terms of Regulation 2(1)(s)
of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, Section 2(51) of the Companies Act, 2013,
and as disclosed in “Our Management — Key Management Personnel” on
page 201

Krishna Shalby

The hospital operated by our Company and located at 319, Green City,
Ghuma, via Bopal, Ahmedabad — 380 058, Gujarat, India




Term

Description

Madhya Pradesh Cluster

Shalby Indore and Shalby Jabalpur

Managing Director

Managing Director of our Company

Memorandum of Association
or MoA

Memorandum of association of our Company, as amended

Nomination and Remuneration
Committee

Nomination and remuneration committee of the Board

Outpatient Clinics

Clinics operated by our Company to provide consultative healthcare advice
to patients suffering from orthopaedic ailments.

Preference Share

5% optionally convertible and redeemable preference shares of our
Company of face value of 10 each

Promoter Group

Persons and entities constituting the promoter group of our Company in
terms of Regulation 2(1)(zb) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. For details, see
“Our Promoters and Promoter Group” on page 205

Promoters

Promoters of our Company namely, Dr Vikram Shah, Dr Darshini Shah,
Shanay Shah, Shah Family Trust, and Zodiac.

For details, see “Our Promoters and Promoter Group” on page 205

Registered Office / Registered
and Corporate Office

Registered and corporate office of our Company located Opposite
Karnawati Club, Sarkhej Gandhinagar Highway, Near Prahlad Nagar
Garden, Ahmedabad — 380 015, Gujarat, India

Registrar of Companies / RoC

Registrar of Companies, Gujarat at Ahmedabad

Restated Consolidated
Financial Statements

The restated consolidated financial statements of our Company, along with
our Subsidiaries for the three months period ended June 30, 2017, and for
the Financial Years ended March 31, 2017, March 31, 2016, March 31, 2015,
March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2013, and comprises the restated
consolidated balance sheet, the restated consolidated statement of profit and
loss, and the restated consolidated cash flow statement, together with the
annexures and notes thereto, which have been prepared in accordance with
the Companies Act, Indian GAAP, and restated in accordance with the SEBI
ICDR Regulations

Restated Financial Statements

Collectively, the Restated Consolidated Financial Statements and the
Restated Standalone Financial Statements

Restated Standalone Financial
Statements

The restated standalone financial statements of our Company for the three
months period ended June 30, 2017, and for the Financial Years ended
March 31, 2017, March 31, 2016, March 31, 2015, March 31, 2014 and
March 31, 2013, which comprises the restated standalone balance sheet, the
restated standalone statement of profit and loss and the restated standalone
cash flow statement, together with the annexures and notes thereto, which
have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act, Indian GAAP,
and restated in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations

SACE Shalby Arthroplasty Centre of Excellence

Samruddhi Samruddhi Hospital Private Limited

Selling Shareholder Dr Vikram Shah, one of the Individual Promoters of our Company

SG Shalby The hospital operated by our Company and located opposite Karnawati

Club, Sarkhej Gandhinagar Highway, Near Prahlad Nagar Garden,
Ahmedabad — 380 015, Gujarat, India. For details, see “Our Business —
Description of Business — Hospitals” on page 161

Shalby Indore

The hospital operated by our Company and located at Block ##5 and 6, R S
Bhandari Marg, New Palasia, Indore — 452 001, Madhya Pradesh, India. For
details, see “Our Business — Description of Business — Hospitals” on page
161

Shalby International

Shalby International Limited (formerly known as Shalby Pune Limited). For
details, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Our Subsidiaries” on
page 182

Shalby Jabalpur

The hospital operated by our Company and located at Plot B, Scheme #5,
Ahinsa Chowk, Kanchnar City Road, Vijay Nagar Colony, Jabalpur — 482
002, Madhya Pradesh, India. For details, see “Our Business — Description of
Business — Hospitals” on page 161




Term

Description

Shalby Jaipur

The hospital operated by our Company and located at Commercial Plot, 200
Feet Bypass, Sector — 3, Chitrakoot, Vaishali Nagar, Jaipur — 302 021,
Rajasthan, India. For details, see “Our Business — Description of Business —
Hospitals” on page 161

Shalby Kenya

Shalby (Kenya) Limited. For details, see “History and Certain Corporate
Matters — Our Subsidiaries” on page 182

Shalby Mohali

The hospital operated by our Company and located at Phase IX, Sector 63,
SAS Nagar, Mohali — 160 062, Punjab, India, earlier known as Shalby Silver
Oaks. For details, see “Our Business — Description of Business — Hospitals”
on page 161

Shalby Naroda

The hospital operated by our Company and located at S#679, Off Naroda
Dehgam Road, Haridarshan Cross Road, New Naroda, Ahmedabad — 382
330, Gujarat, India. For details, see “Our Business — Description of Business
— Hospitals” on page 161

Shalby Surat

The hospital operated by our Company and located at near Navyug College,
Rander Road, Adajan, Surat — 395 009, Gujarat, India. For details, see “Our
Business — Description of Business — Hospitals” on page 161

Shalby Vapi

The hospital operated by our Company and located near Cinepark, Vapi
Silvassa Road, Vapi, District Valsad — 396 195, Gujarat, India. For details,
see “Our Business — Description of Business — Hospitals” on page 161

Shareholder(s)

Shareholder(s) of our Company from time to time

SMJH Trust

Seth Mannoolal Jagannathdas Hospital Trust

Stakeholders’ Relationship
Committee

Stakeholders’ relationship committee of the Board

Subsidiaries, or individually
known as Subsidiary

Subsidiaries of our Company, namely:

1. Shalby International;

2. Shalby Kenya;

3. VSHL; and

4. Yogeshwar Healthcare

For details, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Our
Subsidiaries” on page 182

Vijay Shalby

The hospital operated by our Company and located at 6, Rupam Society,
Vijay Cross Road, Near Memnagar Fire Station, Navrangpura, Ahmedabad
— 380 009, Gujarat, India. For details, see “Our Business — Description of
Business — Hospitals” on page 161

Vrundavan Shalby

The hospital operated by our Company and located at Karaswada P Otivim
Industrial Estate, Bardez, Goa — 403 507, India, whose operations have
temporarily been suspended by our Company since December, 2016

VSHL

Vrundavan Shalby Hospitals Limited (formerly known Vrundavan Hospital
and Research Centre Private Limited). For details, see “History and Certain
Corporate Matters — Our Subsidiaries” on page 182

Yogeshwar Healthcare

Yogeshwar Healthcare Limited. For details, see “History and Certain
Corporate Matters — Our Subsidiaries” on page 182

ZH Private Limited

Zynova Hospitals Private Limited

Zodiac

Zodiac Mediquip Limited

Zynova Shalby

The hospital operated by our Company and located at Trimurti Arcade, LBS
Marg, Ghatkopar West, Near Sarvodaya Hospital, Mumbai — 400 086,
Maharashtra, India. For details, see “Our Business — Description of Business
— Hospitals” on page 161

OFFER RELATED TERMS

Term

Description

Acknowledgement Slip

The slip or document issued by the Designated Intermediary to a Bidder as
proof of registration of the Bid cum Application Form

Allot / Allotment / Allotted

Unless the context otherwise requires, allotment of the Equity Shares
pursuant to the Fresh Issue and transfer of the Equity Shares offered by the




Term

Description

Selling Shareholder pursuant to the Offer for Sale to the successful Bidders

Allotment Advice

Note or advice or intimation of Allotment sent to the successful Bidders who
have been or are to be Allotted Equity Shares after the Basis of Allotment
has been approved by the Designated Stock Exchange

Allottee(s)

A successful Bidder to whom the Equity Shares are Allotted

Anchor Escrow Account(s)

Account(s) opened with the Escrow Collection Bank(s) and in whose favour
the Anchor Investors transferred money through direct credit/ NEFT / RTGS
in respect of the Bid Amount when submitting a Bid

Anchor Investor Allocation

Price

The price at which Equity Shares were allocated to Anchor Investors at the
end of the Anchor Investor Bid / Offer Period in terms of the Red Herring
Prospectus and this Prospectus, which was decided by our Company and
Selling Shareholder in consultation with the BRLMs, being 3248 per Equity
Share

Anchor Investor Application
Form

The form used by an Anchor Investor to make a Bid in the Anchor Investor
Portion and which will be considered as an application for Allotment in terms
of the Red Herring Prospectus and this Prospectus

Anchor Investor Bid / Offer
Period

The day, one Working Day prior to the Bid / Offer Opening Date, i.e.,
December 4, 2017 on which Bids by Anchor Investors were submitted and
allocation to Anchor Investors was completed

Anchor Investor Offer Price

%248 per Equity Share, decided by our Company and the Selling Shareholder
in consultation with the BRLMs

Anchor Investor Portion

60% of the QIB Portion, consisting of 6,070,150* Equitiy Shares allocated
by our Company in consultation with the BRLMs to Anchor Investors on a
discretionary basis, in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

One-third of the Anchor Investor Portion was reserved for domestic Mutual
Funds, subject to valid Bids being received from domestic Mutual Funds at
or above the Anchor Investor Allocation Price

*Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment

Anchor Investor(s)

A Qualified Institutional Buyer, who applied under the Anchor Investor
Portion in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations and the Red Herring
Prospectus and who has Bid for an amount of at least T100 million

Application  Supported by
Blocked Amount or ASBA

An application, whether physical or electronic, used by ASBA Bidders to
make a Bid and authorize an SCSB to block the Bid Amount in the ASBA
Account

ASBA Account A bank account maintained with an SCSB and specified in the ASBA Form
submitted by ASBA Bidders for blocking the Bid Amount mentioned in the
ASBA Form

ASBA Bid A Bid made by an ASBA Bidder

ASBA Bidders All Bidders except Anchor Investors

ASBA Form An application form, whether physical or electronic, used by ASBA Bidders
which was considered as the application for Allotment in terms of the Red
Herring Prospectus and this Prospectus

Banker(s) to the Offer Escrow Collection Bank(s), Public Offer Bank(s) and Refund Bank(s)

Basis of Allotment

Basis on which Equity Shares will be Allotted to successful Bidders under
the Offer and which is described in “Offer Procedure” on page 426

Bid

An indication to make an offer during the Bid / Offer Period by an ASBA
Bidder pursuant to submission of the ASBA Form, or during the Anchor
Investor Bid / Offer Period by an Anchor Investor pursuant to submission of
the Anchor Investor Application Form, to subscribe to or purchase the Equity
Shares of our Company at a price within the Price Band, including all
revisions and modifications thereto, as permitted under the SEBI ICDR
Regulations.

The term “Bidding” shall be construed accordingly

Bid / Offer Closing Date

Except in relation to any Bids received from the Anchor Investors during the
Anchor Investor Bid / Offer Period, the date after which the Designated




Term

Description

Intermediaries did not accept any Bids, being December 7, 2017

Bid / Offer Opening Date

Except in relation to any Bids received from the Anchor Investors during the
Anchor Investor Bid / Offer Period, the date on which the Designated
Intermediaries started accepting Bids, being December 5, 2017, which was
published in all editions of Financial Express — English, all editions of
Jansatta — Hindi, and the Ahmedabad edition of of Financial Express —
Guijarati each of which are widely circulated English, Hindi and Gujarati
newspapers, respectively (Gujarati being the regional language of Gujarat
where our Registered and Corporate Office is located)

Bid / Offer Period

Except in relation to Anchor Investors, the period between the Bid / Offer
Opening Date and the Bid / Offer Closing Date, being December 5, 2017 to
December 7, 2017

Bid Amount

The highest value of optional Bids indicated in the Bid cum Application
Form and in the case of Retail Individual Bidders Bidding at Cut-off Price,
the Cap Price multiplied by the number of Equity Shares Bid for by such
Retail Individual Bidder and payable by the Bidder or blocked in the ASBA
Account of the Bidder, as the case may be, upon submission of the Bid in the
Offer

Bid cum Application Form

The Anchor Investor Application Form or the ASBA Form, as the context
requires

Bid Lot

60 Equity Shares, and in the multiples of 60 thereafter

Bidder(s)

Any prospective investor who made a Bid pursuant to the terms of the Red
Herring Prospectus, and the Bid cum Application Form and unless otherwise
stated or implied, includes an ASBA Bidder and an Anchor Investor

Bidding Centres

Centres at which the Designated Intermediaries accepted the ASBA Forms,
i.e., Designated Branches for SCSBs, Specified Locations for the Syndicate,
Broker Centres for Registered Brokers, Designated RTA Locations for RTAs
and Designated CDP Locations for CDPs

Book Building Process

Book building process, as provided in Schedule Xl of the SEBI ICDR
Regulations, in terms of which the Offer is being made

BRLMs or Book Running
Lead Managers

The book running lead managers to the Offer namely, Edelweiss, IDFC and
IFL

Broker Centres

Broker centres notified by the Stock Exchanges where Bidders submitted the
ASBA Forms to a Registered Broker.

The details of such Broker Centres, along with the names and contact details
of the Registered Brokers are available on the respective websites of the
Stock Exchanges (www.bseindia.com and www.nseindia.com), as updated
from time to time

CAN / Confirmation of
Allocation Note

Notice or intimation of allocation of the Equity Shares sent to Anchor
Investors, who have been allocated the Equity Shares, after the Anchor
Investor Bid / Offer Period

Cap Price

%248 per Equity Share

Cash Escrow Agreement

The agreement dated November 24, 2017 entered into by our Company, the
Selling Shareholder, the Registrar to the Offer, the BRLMs and the Banker(s)
to the Offer for, inter alia, collection of the Bid Amounts from Anchor
Investors, transfer of funds to the Public Offer Account and where
applicable, refunds of the amounts collected from the Anchor Investors, on
the terms and conditions thereof

Client ID Client identification number maintained with one of the Depositories in
relation to the demat account
Collecting Depository | A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act, 1996,

Participant or CDP

registered with SEBI, and who is eligible to procure Bids at the Designated
CDP Locations in terms of Circular #CIR/CFD/POLICYCELL/11/2015
dated November 10, 2015 issued by SEBI

Cut-off Price

The Offer Price, finalised by our Company and the Selling Shareholder in




Term

Description

consultation with the BRLMSs, being X 248 per Equity Share.

Only Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion and
Retail Individual Bidders were entitled to Bid at the Cut-off Price. No other
category of Bidders are entitled to Bid at the Cut-off Price

Demographic Details

Details of the Bidders including the Bidder’s address, name of the Bidder’s
father / husband, investor status, occupation and bank account details

Designated Branches

Such branches of the SCSBs which collected the ASBA Forms, a list of
which is available on the  website of  SEBI, at
http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes,
or at such other website as may be prescribed by SEBI from time to time

Designated CDP Locations

Such locations of the CDPs where ASBA Bidders submitted the ASBA
Forms.

The details of such Designated CDP Locations, along with names and
contact details of the CDPs eligible to accept ASBA Forms are available on
the respective websites of the Stock Exchanges (www.bseindia.com and
www.nseindia.com), as updated from time to time

Designated Date

The date on which instructions are given to the Escrow Collection Bank(s)
to transfer funds from Anchor Escrow Account(s) and SCSBs to unblock the
ASBA Accounts and transfer the amounts blocked in the ASBA Accounts,
as the case may be, to the Public Offer Account or the Refund Account, as
appropriate, in terms of the Red Herring Prospectus and this Prospectus

Designated Intermediaries

Syndicate, sub-syndicate members / agents, SCSBs, Registered Brokers,
CDPs and RTAs, who were authorized to collect ASBA Forms from the
ASBA Bidders, in relation to the Offer

Designated RTA Locations

Such locations of the RTAs where Bidders submitted the ASBA Forms to
RTAs.

The details of such Designated RTA Locations, along with names and
contact details of the RTAs eligible to accept ASBA Forms are available on
the respective websites of the Stock Exchanges (www.bseindia.com and
www.nseindia.com)

Designated Stock Exchange

NSE

Draft Red Herring Prospectus
or DRHP

The Draft Red Herring Prospectus dated May 19, 2017, issued in accordance
with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, which does not contain complete
particulars, including of the price at which the Equity Shares will be Allotted
and the size of the Offer

Edelweiss

Edelweiss Financial Services Limited

Eligible Employees

All or any of the following:

1. Permanent and full time employees of our Company or its Subsidiaries
or Griffin Mediquip LLP (excluding such employees who are not eligible
to invest in the Offer under applicable laws, rules, regulations, and
guidelines and the Promoters and the immediate relatives of the
Individual Promoters) as of the date of filing of the Red Herring
Prospectus with the RoC and who continue to be employees of our
Company or a Subsidiary or a material associate (whose financial
statements are consolidated with our Company’s financial statements as
per Accounting Standard 21), as the case may be, until the submission
of the Bid cum Application Form, and are based and working in India
as on the date of submission of the Bid cum Application Form; and

2. A Director of our Company, whether a whole time Director or otherwise
(excluding such Directors not eligible to invest in the Offer under
applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidelines and the Promoters and
the immediate relatives of the Individual Promoters) as of the date of
filing the Red Herring Prospectus with the RoC and who continues to
be a Director of our Company until the submission of the Bid cum
Application Form, and is based in India as on the date of submission of
the Bid cum Application Form.
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Term

Description

An employee of our Company or of Subsidiaries or of Griffin Mediquip
LLP, who is recruited against a regular vacancy but is on probation as
on the date of submission of the Bid cum Application Form will also be
deemed a ‘permanent and a full time employee’.

Eligible NRI(s)

NRI(s) eligible to invest under Schedule 3 and Schedule 4 of the FEMA
Regulations, from jurisdictions outside India where it is not unlawful to make
an offer or invitation under the Offer, and in relation to whom the ASBA
Form and the Red Herring Prospectus constituted an invitation to subscribe
for or purchase the Equity Shares

Employee Reservation Portion

Portion of the Offer being 121,000 Equity Shares aggregating up to ¥30.01
million which was available for allocation to Eligible Employees, on a
proportionate basis

Escrow Agent

Escrow agent appointed pursuant to the Share Escrow Agreement, namely,
Karvy Computershare Private Limited.

Escrow Collection Bank(s)

Banks which are clearing members and registered with SEBI as bankers to
an issue and with whom the Anchor Escrow Account was opened, in this
case being HDFC Bank Limited

First Bidder Bidder whose name is mentioned first in the Bid cum Application Form or
the Revision Form and in case of joint Bids, whose name also appears as the
first holder of the beneficiary account held in joint names

Floor Price %245 per Equity Share

Fresh Issue The fresh issue of 19,354,838* Equity Shares aggregating up to 34,800.00
million by our Company
*Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment

General The General Information Document prepared and issued in accordance with

Document / GID

the Circular #CIR/CFD/DIL/12/2013, dated October 23, 2013 notified by
SEBI, and updated pursuant to, inter alia, Circular
#CIR/CFD/POLICYCELL/11/2015, dated November 10, 2015 and Circular
#SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL/CIR/P/2016/26, dated January 21, 2016, notified by
SEBI and suitably modified to include legislative and regulatory updates,
and included in “Offer Procedure” on page 426

Gross Proceeds

The Offer Proceeds less the amount to be raised pursuant to the Offer for
Sale by the Selling Shareholder

IDFC

IDFC Bank Limited

IFL

IIFL Holdings Limited

Monitoring Agency

The monitoring agency appointed under the Monitoring Agency Agreement
dated November 24, 2017 in order to comply with the requirements of
Regulation 16 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations to monitor the utilization of
the proceeds from the Fresh Issue, namely HDFC Bank Limited.

Mutual Fund Portion*

5% of the QIB Portion (excluding the Anchor Investor Portion), or
2,023,384* Equity Shares which was available for allocation to Mutual
Funds only on a proportionate basis, subject to valid bids received at, or
above the Offer Price

*Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment

Mutual Funds

Mutual funds registered with SEBI under the Securities and Exchange Board
of India (Mutual Funds) Regulations, 1996

Net Offer

Offer less the Employee Reservation Portion

Net Proceeds

Gross Proceeds of the Fresh Issue, less our Company’s share of the Offer
expenses and listing fees.

For further information about use of the Offer Proceeds and the Offer
expenses, see “Objects of the Offer” on page 107

Net QIB Portion

The portion of the QIB Portion, less the number of Equity Shares Allotted to
the Anchor Investors

Non-Institutional
NIBs

All Bidders that are not QIBs or Retail Individual Bidders or Eligible
Employees Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion, and who have Bid
for Equity Shares for an amount more than 200,000 (but not including NRIs




Term

Description

other than Eligible NRIs)

Non-Institutional Portion

The portion of the Offer being not less than 15% of the Net Offer consisting
of 3,035,076* Equity Shares which was available for allocation on a
proportionate basis to Non-Institutional Bidders, subject to valid Bids being
received at or above the Offer Price

*Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment

Non-Resident

A person resident outside India, as defined under FEMA and includes an
NRIs, Flls, FPIs and FVCls

Offer

The initial public offering of 20,354,838* Equity Shares of face value of 10
each for cash at a price of X248 each, aggregating up to 5,048 million
comprising the Fresh Issue and the Offer for Sale. The Offer comprise of Net
Offer to the public aggregating up to %5,017.99 million and the Employee
Reservation Portion of 121,000* Equity Shares aggregating up to %30.01
million

*Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment

Offer Agreement

The agreement dated May 19, 2017, executed among our Company, the
Selling Shareholder and the BRLMs, pursuant to which certain arrangements
are agreed to in relation to the Offer

Offer for Sale

The offer for sale of 1,000,000* Equity Shares by the Selling Shareholder at
the Offer Price aggregating up to X248 million in terms of the Red Herring
Prospectus and this Prospectus

*Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment

Offer Price

%248 per Equity Share

Offer Proceeds

The proceeds of this Offer that will be available to our Company and the
Selling Shareholder

Price Band Price band of a minimum price of X245 per Equity Share (Floor Price) and
the maximum price of X248 per Equity Share (Cap Price).

Pricing Date The date on which our Company and the Selling Shareholder in consultation
with BRLMs, finalised the Offer Price

Prospectus This Prospectus dated December December 11, 2017 filed with the RoC, on

or after the Pricing Date in accordance with Section 26 of the Companies
Act, 2013, and the SEBI ICDR Regulations, containing, inter alia, the Offer
Price that is determined at the end of the Book Building Process, the size of
the Offer and certain other information, including any addenda or corrigenda
thereto

Public Offer Account Bank

The Banker(s) to the Offer with whom the Public Offer Account(s) shall be
maintained, in this case being HDFC Bank Limited

Public Offer Account(s)

Bank account opened under Section 40(3) of the Companies Act, 2013 to
receive monies from the Anchor Escrow Account(s) and ASBA Accounts on
the Designated Date

QIB Category / QIB Portion

The portion of the Offer (including the Anchor Investor Portion) being not
more than 50% of the Net Offer or 10,116,918* Equity Shares, which shall
be Allotted to QIBs (including Anchor Investors)

*Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment

Qualified Institutional
Buyer(s) or QIBs or QIB
Bidders

Qualified institutional buyer(s) as defined under Regulation 2(1)(zd) of the
SEBI ICDR Regulations

Red Herring Prospectus or
RHP

The Red Herring Prospectus dated November 24, 2017 issued in accordance
with Section 32 of the Companies Act, 2013 and the provisions of the SEBI
ICDR Regulations, which did not have complete particulars of the price at
which the Equity Shares were offered and the size of the Offer including any
addenda or corrigenda thereto.

The Red Herring Prospectus was registered with the RoC at least three days
before the Bid / Offer Opening Date and has become this Prospectus upon
filing with the RoC after the Pricing Date

Refund Account(s)

The account opened with the Refund Bank(s), from which refunds, if any, of
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Description

the whole or part of the Bid Amount to the Anchor Investors shall be made

Refund Bank(s)

The Banker to the Offer with which the Refund Account(s) was opened, in
this case being HDFC Bank Limited

Registered Brokers

Stock brokers registered with the stock exchanges having nationwide
terminals, other than the BRLMs and the Syndicate Members who are
eligible to procure Bids in terms of Circular #CIR/CFD/14/2012 dated
October 4, 2012 issued by SEBI

Registrar Agreement

Registrar agreement dated May 10, 2017, amongst our Company, the Selling
Shareholder and the Registrar to the Offer

Registrar and Share Transfer

Registrars to an issue and share transfer agents registered with SEBI and

Agents or RTAs eligible to procure Bids at the Designated RTA Locations in terms of Circular
#CIR/CFD/POLICYCELL/11/2015 dated November 10, 2015 issued by
SEBI

Registrar to the Offer or | Karvy Computershare Private Limited

Registrar

Resident Indian

A person resident in India, as defined under FEMA

Retail Individual Bidder(s) /
RIB(s)

Individual Bidders (other than Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee
Reservation Portion) who have Bid for the Equity Shares for an amount of
not more than ¥200,000 in any of the bidding options in the Offer (including
HUFs applying through their karta and Eligible NRIs)

Retail Portion

The portion of the Offer being not less than 35% of the Net Offer consisting
of 7,081,844* Equity Shares which was available for allocation to Retail
Individual Bidder(s) in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, subject
to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price

*Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment

Revision Form(s)

Form used by the Bidders to modify the quantity of the Equity Shares or the
Bid Amount in any of their ASBA Form(s) or any previous Revision
Form(s).

QIB Bidders and Non-Institutional Bidders were not allowed to withdraw or
lower their Bids (in terms of quantity of Equity Shares or the Bid Amount)
at any stage. Retail Individual Bidders and Eligible Employees were allowed
to revise their Bids during the Bid / Offer Period and withdraw their Bids
until Bid / Offer Closing Date

Self-Certified
Bank(s) or SCSB(s)

Syndicate

The banks registered with SEBI, offering services in relation to ASBA, a list
of which is available on the website of SEBI at
http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes,
and updated from time to time

Share Escrow Agreement

The agreement dated November 24, 2017 entered into among the Selling
Shareholder, our Company and the Share Escrow Agent in connection with
the transfer of Equity Shares under the Offer for Sale by the Selling
Shareholder and credit of such Equity Shares to the demat account of the
Allottees

Specified Locations

Bidding centres where the Syndicate accepted Bid cum Application Form, a
list of which is available on the website of SEBI (www.sebi.gov.in) and
updated from time to time

Syndicate

The BRLMs and the Syndicate Members

Syndicate Agreement

The agreement dated November 24, 2017 entered into among the BRLMs,
the Syndicate Members, our Company and the Selling Shareholder in
relation to collection of Bid cum Application Forms by the Syndicate

Syndicate Members

Intermediaries registered with SEBI who are permitted to carry out activities
as an underwriter, namely, Edelweiss Securities Limited, Sharekhan
Limited, IDFC Securities Limited and India Infoline Limited

Underwriter(s)

The BRLMs and the Syndicate Members

Underwriting Agreement

The agreement dated December 11, 2017 among the Underwriters, our
Company and the Selling Shareholder

Working Day

“Working Day” means all days, other than second and fourth Saturday of the
month, Sunday or a public holiday, on which commercial banks in Mumbai




Term

Description

are open for business; provided however, with reference to (a) announcement
of Price Band; and (b) Bid / Offer Period, “Working Day” shall mean all
days, excluding all Saturdays, Sundays or a public holiday, on which
commercial banks in Mumbai are open for business; and (c) with reference
to the time period between the Bid / Offer Closing Date and the listing of the
Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges, “Working Day” shall mean all
trading days of Stock Exchanges, excluding Sundays and bank holidays, as
per the SEBI Circular #SEBI/HO/CFD/DIL/CIR/P/2016/26 dated January
21, 2016

TECHNICAL / INDUSTRY RELATED TERMS / ABBREVIATIONS

Term Description

ALOS Average length of stay, calculated by dividing the total number of occupied
bed days by the total number of admissions

ARPOB Average revenue per occupied bed, calculated by dividing the total revenue

from operations by the total number of bed occupancy days

Average RoCE

Average return on capital employed, calculated by dividing the earnings
before interest and tax by the average total assets

BMD Bone mineral density

CSSD Central Sterile Supply Department

CT Computed tomography

DGCI Drug Controller General of India

ECG Electrocardiogram

ENT Ear, nose and throat

ERP Enterprise resource planning

1M Indian Institute of Management

IMA Indian Medical Association

IT Information technology

MCLR Marginal cost of funds based lending rate

Metro Cities Chennai, Delhi, Kolkata, and Mumbai

MRI Magnetic resonance imaging

NABH National Accreditation Board for Hospitals and Healthcare Providers
NABL National Accreditation Board for Testing and Calibration Laboratories
NACH National Automated Clearing House

NAV Net Asset Value

Oo&M Operations and management

OPD Outpatient department

STT Securities transaction tax

Systemically Important
NBFC

Systemically important non-banking financial company as defined under
Regulation 2(1)(zla) as a non-banking financial company registered with
the RBI and having a net-worth of more than X 5000 million as per the last
audited financial statements

THR Total hip replacement

Tier | Cities Tier | cities include Ahmedabad and Mumbai

Tier 1l Cities Tier 1l cities include Indore, Jabalpur, Jaipur, Nashik, Surat, and Vadodara

Tier 11 Cities Tier 111 cities include all cities which are not classified as Tier | cities or Tier
Il cities, in the notification dated July 21, 2015, issued by the Ministry of
Finance (Government of India)

TKR Total knee replacement

X-Ray Diagnostic radiology

CONVENTIONAL AND GENERAL TERMS OR ABBREVIATIONS
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Description

X/ Rs./ Rupees/ INR

Indian Rupees

AGM

Annual general meeting

AlF

Alternative Investment Fund as defined in and registered with SEBI under
the SEBI AIF Regulations

AS / Accounting Standards

Accounting Standards issued by the ICAI

BSE

BSE Limited

CAGR

Compounded Annual Growth Rate

Category | Foreign Portfolio
Investors

FPIs who are registered as “Category | foreign portfolio investors” under the
SEBI FPI Regulations

Category Il Foreign Portfolio
Investors

FPIs who are registered as “Category Il foreign portfolio investors” under the
SEBI FPI Regulations

Category Il Foreign Portfolio
Investors

FPIs who are registered as “Category Il foreign portfolio investors” under
the SEBI FPI Regulations which shall include investors who are not eligible
under Category | and Il foreign portfolio investors such as endowments,
charitable societies, charitable trusts, foundations, corporate bodies, trusts,
individuals and family offices

CDSL

Central Depository Services Limited

CIN

Corporate identity number

Companies Act

Companies Act, 1956 and / or the Companies Act, 2013, as applicable

Companies Act, 1956

Companies Act, 1956, and the rules thereunder (without reference to the
provisions thereof that have ceased to have effect upon the notification of the
Notified Sections)

Companies Act, 2013

The Companies Act, 2013, and the rules and clarifications issued thereunder
to the extent in force pursuant to the notification of the Notified Sections

Consolidated FDI Policy

Consolidated Foreign Direct Investment Policy notified by the DIPP under
D/o IPP F. No. 5(1)/2017-FC-1 dated August 28, 2017, effective from August
28, 2017

CSR Corporate social responsibility
CST Central sales tax
CST Act Central Sales Tax Act, 1956

Depositories

NSDL and CDSL

Depositories Act

Depositories Act, 1996

DIN

Director identification number

DIPP

Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion, Ministry of Commerce and
Industry, Government of India

DP / Depository Participant

A depository participant as defined under the Depositories Act

DP ID

Depository Participant’s Identification

EBITDA Earnings Before Interest Taxes Depreciation and Amortisation

EGM Extraordinary general meeting

EPS Earnings Per Share

ESOP Employee stock option plan

EUR Euro

FDI Foreign direct investment

FEMA Foreign Exchange Management Act, 1999, and the rules and regulations

thereunder

FEMA Regulations

FEMA (Transfer or Issue of Security by a Person Resident Outside India)
Regulations, 2017

FlI(s) Foreign institutional investors as defined under the SEBI FPI Regulations
investing under the portfolio investment scheme under Schedule 2 of the
FEMA Regulations

Finance Act Chapter V of the Finance Act, 1994

Financial Year / Fiscal(s) / FY

Unless stated otherwise, the period of 12 months ending March 31 of that
particular year

FIPB

Foreign Investment Promotion Board

FPI(s)

Foreign portfolio investors as defined under the SEBI FPI Regulations
investing under the portfolio investment scheme under Schedule 2A of the
FEMA Regulations
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Term Description
FVCI Foreign venture capital investors as defined and registered under the SEBI
FVCI Regulations
GDP Gross domestic product

Gol, Government of India,
Central Government

Government of India

GST Goods and service tax

HUF Hindu undivided family

ICAI The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

Ind AS Indian Accounting Standards, prescribed in accordance with the Companies
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, as amended

India Republic of India

Indian GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in India

IPO Initial public offering

IRDAI Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority of India

ISO International Organisation for Standardisation

IT Act Income Tax Act, 1961

KES Kenyan Shillings

Listing Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Listing Obligations and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2015

Mutual Fund(s)

Mutual Fund(s) means mutual funds registered under the SEBI (Mutual
Funds) Regulations, 1996

N.A./ NA Not applicable
NAV Net Asset Value
NCLT National Company Law Tribunal

Notified Sections

The sections of the Companies Act, 2013 that have been notified by the
Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Government of India, and are currently in
effect

NRI A person resident outside India who is a citizen of India, as defined under the
Foreign Exchange Management (Deposit) Regulations, 2016, or is an
‘overseas citizen of India’ cardholder within the meaning of Section 7(A) of
the Citizenship Act, 1955

NSDL National Securities Depository Limited

NSE National Stock Exchange of India Limited

OCB(s) / Overseas Corporate
Body

A company, partnership, society or other corporate body owned directly or
indirectly to the extent of at least 60% by NRIs including overseas trusts, in
which not less than 60% of beneficial interest is irrevocably held by NRIs
directly or indirectly and which was in existence on October 3, 2003 and
immediately before such date had taken benefits under the general permission
granted to OCBs under FEMA. OCB:s are not allowed to invest in the Offer

P / E Ratio Price / Earnings Ratio

p.a. Per annum

PAN Permanent Account Number

PAT Profit After Tax

RBI The Reserve Bank of India

Regulation S Regulation S under the Securities Act

RoNW Return on Net Worth

RTGS Real Time Gross Settlement

SCRA Securities Contracts (Regulation) Act, 1956
SCRR Securities Contracts (Regulation) Rules, 1957
SEBI The Securities and Exchange Board of India constituted under the SEBI Act
SEBI Act Securities and Exchange Board of India Act, 1992

SEBI AIF Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Alternative Investment Funds)
Regulations, 2012

SEBI FII Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Institutional Investors)
Regulations, 1995

SEBI FPI Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Portfolio Investors)
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Regulations, 2014

SEBI FVCI Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Foreign Venture Capital Investors)
Regulations, 2000

SEBI ICDR Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital and Disclosure
Requirements) Regulations, 2009

SEBI VCF Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Venture Capital Fund) Regulations,
1996

Securities Act

U. S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended

Service Tax Rules

Service Tax Rules, 1994

SICA Sick Industrial Companies (Special Provisions) Act, 1985
Sq. ft. Square feet
Sg. m. Square metre

State Government

The government of a state in India

Stock Exchanges

BSE and NSE

Takeover Regulations

Securities and Exchange Board of India (Substantial Acquisition of Shares
and Takeovers) Regulations, 2011

UAE United Arab Emirates

U.S./ USA / United States United States of America

U.S. GAAP Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the USA

uUsD United States Dollars

VAS Value Added Services

VAT Value Added Tax

VCFs Venture capital funds as defined in and registered with SEBI under the SEBI

VCF Regulations or the SEBI AIF Regulations, as the case may be

Capitalised words and expressions used, but not defined herein shall have the same meaning as is assigned to such
terms under the SEBI Act and the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the Companies Act, the SCRA, the Depositories Act
and the rules and regulations made thereunder.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, terms in “Statement of Tax Benefits”, “Significant Differences Between Indian
GAAP and Ind AS”, “Financial Statements”, “Regulations and Policies” “Main Provisions of Articles of
Association” and “Offer Procedure — General Information Document” on pages 121, 349, 218, 172, 469 and 437,
respectively, shall have the meaning given to such terms in such sections. Page numbers refer to page number of
this Prospectus, unless otherwise specified.

Unless stated otherwise, the meanings ascribed to the terms defined under the “Glossary and Abbreviations — Part
B — General Information Document” under “Offer Procedure” on page 437, shall only be in respect of such terms
used in “Part B - General Information Document”.
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL, INDUSTRY AND MARKET DATA
Certain Conventions
All references in this Prospectus to “India” are to the Republic of India.
Financial Data

Unless stated otherwise, the financial data in this Prospectus is derived from our Restated Financial Statements
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act, 2013 and Indian GAAP, and restated in accordance with the
SEBI ICDR Regulations. For further information, see “Financial Information” on page 218. Certain other
additional financial information pertaining to our Group Entities is derived from their respective audited financial
statements.

In this Prospectus, any discrepancies in any table between the total and the sums of the amounts listed are due to
rounding off. In this Prospectus, all numerical figures in decimals have been rounded off to the second decimal,
and all percentage numbers have been rounded off to two places. Further, unless stated otherwise, references to
all financial figures and financial ratios in this Prospectus have been derived from the Restated Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Our Company’s Financial Year commences on April 1 and ends on March 31 of the next calendar year.
Accordingly, all references to a particular Financial Year, unless stated otherwise, are to the 12 month period
ended March 31 of that year.

Our Restated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP. The Restated
Standalone Financial Statements and the Restated Consolidated Financial Statements have been included in this
Prospectus. There are significant differences between Indian GAAP, U.S. GAAP and IFRS. Our Company does
not provide reconciliation of its financial information to IFRS or U.S. GAAP. Our Company has not attempted
to explain those differences or quantify their impact on the financial data included in this Prospectus, and it is
urged that you consult your own advisors regarding such differences and their impact on our Company’s financial
data. Our financial statements for periods subsequent to April 1, 2017, will be prepared and presented in
accordance with Ind AS. Given that Ind AS differs in many respects from Indian GAAP, our financial statements
prepared and presented in accordance with Ind AS may not be comparable to our historical financial statements
prepared under Indian GAAP.

For details in connection with risks involving differences between Indian GAAP and IFRS and risks in relation
to Ind AS, see “Risk Factors — Public companies in India, including us, are required to prepare financial
statements under Ind AS and compute Income Tax under the Income Computation and Disclosure Standards (the
“ICDS”). The transition to Ind AS and ICDS in India is very recent and we may be negatively affected by such
transition” on page 46 and “Significant Differences Between Indian GAAP and Ind AS” on page 349, respectively.
The degree to which the financial information included in this Prospectus will provide meaningful information
is entirely dependent on the reader’s level of familiarity with Indian accounting policies and practices, Indian
GAAP, Ind AS the Companies Act, 2013 and the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Any reliance by persons not familiar
with Indian accounting policies and practices on the financial disclosures presented in this Prospectus should
accordingly be limited.

Unless the context otherwise indicates, any percentage amounts, as set forth in “Risk Factors”, “Our Business”
and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditional and Results of Operations” on pages 18,
151, and 354, respectively, and elsewhere in this Prospectus have been calculated on the basis of the restated
financial statements prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP and the Companies Act, 2013 and restated in
accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

Currency and Units of Presentation

All references to “Rupees” or “X” or “INR” or “Rs.” are to the Indian Rupee, the official currency of India. All
references to “KES” are to the Kenyan Shilling, the official currency of Kenya. All references to “USD” are to
the United States Dollar, the official currency of the United States.

Where specifically indicated, our Company has presented all numerical information in this Prospectus in “million”

units or in whole numbers where the numbers have been too small to represent in millions. One million represents
1,000,000 and one billion represents 1,000,000,000.
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Exchange Rates

This Prospectus contains conversions of certain other currency amounts into Indian Rupees that have been
presented solely to comply with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. These conversions should not be construed as a
representation that these currency amounts could have been, or can be converted into Indian Rupees, at any
particular rate or at all.

The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, information with respect to the exchange rate between
the Rupee and the EUR, the Rupee and the USD, and the Rupee and the KES.

Currency As on As on As on As on As on Anon As on June As on
March 31, March 31, | March 31, | March 31, | March 31, | March 31, | 30,2017 October 31,
2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 ®) 2017
)W @® @® @ @ @O ®)
1EUR 68.34 69.54 82.58 67.51 75.10 69.25 74.00 75.42
1USD 51.16 54.39 60.10 62.59 66.33 64.84 64.74 64.77
1 KES 0.61 0.64 0.69 0.68 0.65 0.63 0.62 0.62

(Source for 1 EUR and 1 USD: https://rbi.org.in)

(Source for 1 KES: Bloomberg)

®In the event that March 31 of any of the respective years is a public holiday, the previous calendar day not being a public holiday has been
considered

Land and Units of Presentation
Our Company has presented units of land in this Prospectus in ‘square meters’ and ‘square feet’.
Industry and Market Data

Unless stated otherwise, industry and market data used in this Prospectus has been obtained or derived from
publicly available information as well as industry publications and sources.

Information has been included in this Prospectus based on a report published by Frost & Sullivan, titled
“Independent Market Assessment of Indian Healthcare Industry for IPO” (“F&S Report”) commissioned by us,
as well as publicly available documents and information, including, but not restricted to materials issued or
commissioned by the Government of India and certain of its ministries, trade, and industry specific publications,
and other relevant third-party sources. For details of risks in relation to the F&S Report, see “Risk Factors — Third
party statistical and financial data in this Prospectus may be incomplete and unreliable” on page 42.

Industry publications generally state that the information contained in such publications has been obtained from
publicly available documents from various sources believed to be reliable, but their accuracy and completeness
are not guaranteed and their reliability cannot be assured. Although we believe that the industry and market data
used in this Prospectus is reliable, it has not been independently verified by us, the Selling Shareholder, the
BRLMs or any of their affiliates or advisors. The data used in these sources may have been reclassified by us for
the purposes of presentation. Data from these sources may also not be comparable. Such data involves risks,
uncertainties and numerous assumptions and is subject to change based on various factors, including those
discussed in “Risk Factors” on page 18. Accordingly, investment decisions should not be based solely on such
information.

In accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, “Basis for the Offer Price” on page 118 includes information
relating to our peer group companies. Such information has been derived from publicly available sources, and
neither we, nor the BRLMSs have independently verified such information.

The extent to which the market and industry data used in this Prospectus is meaningful depends on the reader’s
familiarity with, and understanding of the methodologies used in compiling such data. There are no standard data
gathering methodologies in the industry in which the business of our Company is conducted, and methodologies
and assumptions may vary widely among different industry sources.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Prospectus contains certain “forward-looking statements”. These forward-looking statements generally can
be identified by words or phrases such as “aim”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “expect”, “estimate”, “intend”,
“objective”, “plan”, “project”, “will”, “will continue”, “will pursue”, or other words or phrases of similar import.
Similarly, statements that describe our Company’s strategies, objectives, plans or goals are also forward-looking

statements.

All forward-looking statements are based on our current plans, estimates, presumptions and expectations, and are
subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions about us that could cause actual results to differ materially from
those contemplated by the relevant forward-looking statement.

Further, actual results may differ materially from those suggested by the forward-looking statements due to risks
or uncertainties or assumptions associated with the expectations with respect to, but not limited to, regulatory
changes pertaining to the industry in which our Company operates and our ability to respond to them, our ability
to successfully implement our strategy, our growth and expansion, technological changes, our exposure to market
risks, general economic and political conditions which have an impact on our business activities or investments,
the monetary and fiscal policies of India, inflation, deflation, unanticipated turbulence in interest rates, foreign
exchange rates, equity prices or other rates or prices, the performance of the financial markets in India and
globally, changes in domestic laws, regulations and taxes, changes in competition in its industry and incidents of
any natural calamities and / or acts of violence. Important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially
from our Company’s expectations include, but are not limited to, the following:

= Our dependence on our two key hospitals, SG Shalby and Krishna Shalby and the concentration of a
majority of our hospitals in the state of Gujarat;

= Our dependence on one field of orthopaedics for a substantial portion of our revenue;

= Our O&M partner, SMJH Trust, not having perfected its leasehold rights upon the land on which Shalby
Jabalpur has been constructed,;

= Qur failure to have executed definitive agreements in respect of some of our Outpatient Clinics with third
parties, and Zynova Shalby being operated under a memorandum of understanding;

= Qur dependence on in-patient treatment for revenue;

= Our operation of some of our facilities under arrangements with third parties such as O&M agreements
and lease agreements;

= Our dependence on one of our Promoters, Dr Vikram Shah;
= Discontinuation of association of our doctors and other healthcare professionals with our hospitals;

= Delay in receipt of payment from our patients directly or through insurance companies and corporates;
and

= Change in government policies that relate to patients covered by government schemes.

For further discussion of factors that could cause the actual results to differ from the expectations, see “Risk
Factors”, “Our Business” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” on pages 18, 151, and 354, respectively. By their nature, certain market risk disclosures are only
estimates and could be materially different from what actually occurs in the future. As a result, actual future gains
or losses could materially differ from those that have been estimated and are not a guarantee of future performance.

Although we believe that the assumptions on which such forward-looking statements are based are reasonable,
we cannot assure investors that the expectations reflected in these forward-looking statements will prove to be
correct. Given these uncertainties, investors are cautioned not to place undue reliance on such forward-looking
statements and not to regard such statements as a guarantee of future performance.

Forward-looking statements reflect the current views of our Company as of the date of this Prospectus and are not
a guarantee of future performance. These statements are based on the management’s belief and assumptions,
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which in turn are based on currently available information. Although we believe the assumptions upon which
these forward-looking statements are based are reasonable, any of these assumptions could prove to be inaccurate,
and the forward-looking statements based on these assumptions could be incorrect. Neither our Company, our
Promoters, our Directors, the Selling Shareholder, the BRLMSs, nor any of their respective affiliates have any
obligation to update or otherwise revise any statements reflecting circumstances arising after the date hereof or to
reflect the occurrence of underlying events, even if the underlying assumptions do not come to fruition. In
accordance with SEBI requirements, our Company and the Selling Shareholder shall severally ensure that
investors in India are informed of material developments from the date of this Prospectus in relation to the
statements and undertakings made by it in this Prospectus until the time of the grant of listing and trading
permission by the Stock Exchanges for this Offer.
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SECTION II: RISK FACTORS

An investment in equity shares involves a high degree of risk. You should carefully consider all the information
in the Red Herring Prospectus and this Prospectus, including the risks and uncertainties described below, before
making an investment in the Equity Shares. If one, or a combination of any of the following risks occurs, our
business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations could suffer, the trading price of the Equity
Shares could decline, and you may lose all, or part of your investment. In addition, the risks set out in this section
may not be exhaustive, and additional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us, or which we currently
deem to be immaterial, may arise or may become material in the future.

Unless specified in the relevant risk factors below, we are not in a position to quantify the financial implication
of any of the risks mentioned below. Any potential investor in, and purchaser of the Equity Shares should pay
attention to the fact that we are governed in India, by a legal and regulatory environment which may be different
from that which prevails in other countries in material respects.

In making an investment decision, prospective investors must rely on their own examination of us on a
consolidated and standalone basis and the terms of the Offer including the merits and the risks involved. To obtain
a complete understanding of our business, you should read the sections “Our Business” and “Management's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result of Operations” on pages 151 and 354, respectively.
If our business, results of operations or financial condition suffer, the price of our Equity Shares and the value of
your investments in the Equity Shares could decline. This Prospectus also contains forward-looking statements
that involve risks and uncertainties. Our results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-
looking statements as a result of certain factors, including the considerations described below and elsewhere in
this Prospectus. Unless otherwise stated, the financial information of our Company used in this section has been
derived from our Restated Consolidated Financial Statements.

INTERNAL RISK FACTORS

1. A significant portion of our revenue is currently generated from two hospitals SG Shalby and Krishna
Shalby. Further, a majority of our hospitals are located in the state of Gujarat. Any material impact
on the revenue from these hospitals will impact our business, prospects, financial condition and results
of operations significantly.

A significant portion of our revenue is currently generated from two hospitals, SG Shalby and Krishna
Shalby, both of which are located in Ahmedabad. SG Shalby, which commenced operations in March,
2007 and Krishna Shalby, which commenced operations in October, 2012, together had an aggregate
patient volume of 22,369 and 88,749 for the three months period ended June 30, 2017 and Fiscal 2017,
respectively, which constituted 41.26% and 46.41% of the aggregate patient volume of the Company
during the said periods. For the three months period ended June 30, 2017 and Fiscal 2017, SG Shalby
and Krishna Shalby together contributed to 68.28% and 77.01% of our total revenue. Further, a
substantial portion of our revenue is derived from the hospitals that we operate in the state of Gujarat.
For the three months period ended June 30, 2017, and Fiscal 2017, the hospitals that we operated in state
of Gujarat contributed to 71.79% and 80.37% of our total revenue, respectively. We recently set up two
new hospitals in Gujarat, namely, Shalby Naroda and Shalby Surat in March, 2017 which commenced
providing inpatient services from July, 2017 and August, 2017, respectively. As on the date of this
Prospectus, out of the 11 operational hospitals, six operational hospitals are located in Gujarat.

Due to this concentration of our revenue in the state of Gujarat, and our dependence on SG Shalby and
Krishna Shalby, a number of factors could cause material fluctuations or decline in our revenue, and
could reduce our operating margins, as a result of which there could be a material adverse impact on our
business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations. These factors could inter alia, include:

" decrease in the number of new patients registered;

" loss of key experienced medical professionals;

" adverse publicity and loss of reputation;

" regulatory changes;

. decrease in profitability;

" increase in competition;

" liabilities on account of medical negligence; and / or
" loss due to natural calamities.
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We are dependent on one field of specialty for a substantial portion of our revenue, i.e. orthopaedics.
Any material impact on our earnings from orthopaedics will impact our financial condition and results
of operations significantly.

We are led by Dr Vikram Shah, an orthopaedic surgeon with more than 25 years of professional
experience. Having performed approximately 54,105 joint replacements since 2007, our Company has
been a market leader in the area of joint replacement surgeries (Source: F&S Report). While all our
hospitals provide multi-speciality services, we derive a substantial portion of our revenue from our
orthopaedic services.

For the three months period ended June 30, 2017 and Fiscal 2017, our orthopaedic services contributed
to as much as 67.51% and 67.77%, respectively, of our total revenue. Our financial conditions and results
of operations are dependent on our revenue from orthopaedics. Due to our dependence on the field of
orthopaedics, a number of factors could cause material fluctuations or decline in our revenue. These
factors could include our inability to use modern technology and infrastructure while undertaking
orthopaedic surgeries and procedures, the innovation and implementation of modern orthopaedic
techniques by other hospitals which we are unable to implement, a decrease in the number of new patients
registered, a loss of key experienced medical professionals, liabilities on account of medical negligence,
or regulatory changes. A decline in our revenue from orthopaedics could materially and adversely impact
our business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

Our O&M partner, SMJH Trust, has not perfected its leasehold rights upon the land on which Shalby
Jabalpur has been constructed. Accordingly, our rights arising out of our O&M arrangement with
SMJH Trust in respect of Shalby Jabalpur may be impaired, thus adversely affecting our revenue,
profits, and financial conditions.

Our Company and the SMJH Trust have filed an appeal before the High Court of Madhya Pradesh against
the Jabalpur Development Authority (“JDA”), seeking a revocation of the cancelation of the lease deed
dated January 12, 2004, executed between the SMJH Trust and the JDA (“Lease Deed”). The dispute
relates to the land on which Shalby Jabalpur has been constructed, a hospital presently being managed
and operated by our Company, pursuant to the terms of the O&M agreement dated January 31, 2014,
executed between our Company and the SMJH Trust (“Jabalpur O&M Agreement”). As per the terms
of the Jabalpur O&M Agreement, our Company agreed to operate and manage a hospital located at Plot
B in Scheme #5, Ahinsa Chowk, Kachnar City Road, Vijay Nagar, Jabalpur — 482 002, Madhya Pradesh,
India (“Disputed Land”). The Disputed Land was leased out to the SMJH Trust by the JDA, by way of
the Lease Deed, specifically for the purpose of providing educational services. In pursuance of the Lease
Deed, the SMJH Trust commenced operating a nursing institute on the Disputed Land. For the purposes
of providing practical training to its nursing and paramedical students, the SMJH Trust approached our
Company to set up Shalby Jabalpur on the Disputed Land. The Lease Deed restricted the SMJH Trust
from transferring the lease of the Disputed Land, or subletting it to any third person.

On September 8, 2014, a public interest litigation was filed by Kamlesh Agrawal against the SMJH Trust
and our Company in the High Court of Madhya Pradesh, alleging that the Disputed Land on which Shalby
Jabalpur has been constructed, is being used for purposes other than educational use. The High Court of
Madhya Pradesh, pursuant to an order dated October 8, 2014 directed the commissioner of the JDA or
the chief executive officer of the JDA, as the case may be, to conduct inquiries and pass an appropriate
order before December 31, 2014. In the meanwhile, the SMJH Trust filed a review petition on December
15, 2014, seeking a review of the order dated October 8, 2014, passed by the High Court of Madhya
Pradesh, claiming that it was in the process of establishing a dental college on the Disputed Land, and
that Shalby Jabalpur was being constructed to comply with regulations issued by the Dental Council of
India, which require that dental colleges be supported by a hospital with a minimum capacity of 100
beds. In the review petition, the SMJH Trust also submitted that all permits to operate a dental college
were obtained by it. The review petition was disposed by the High Court of Madhya Pradesh, pursuant
to an order dated December 16, 2014, and the chief executive officer of the JDA was directed to enquire
into the terms of the Lease Deed in accordance with the order dated October 8, 2014, and in the event
the decision of the chief executive officer of the JDA is adverse to SMJH Trust’s interest, the same shall
not be given effect for a period of two weeks to enable SMJH Trust to take up the matter before an
appropriate forum.
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By way of an order dated December 26, 2014, the JDA cancelled the Lease Deed on the ground that the
SMJH Trust had violated the terms of the Lease Deed. Subsequently, the SMJH Trust filed a petition on
January 4, 2015 before the High Court of Madhya Pradesh against the JDA, seeking a stay on the order
dated December 26, 2014 of the JDA in relation to the cancellation of the Lease Deed, and restraining
the respondents from taking any coercive steps for implementing the order. Through an interim order
dated January 8, 2015, the High Court of Madhya Pradesh directed the JDA to refrain from taking any
coercive steps against the SMJH Trust. Subsequent to the passing of the interim order dated January 8,
2015, Shalby Jabalpur commenced operations in March, 2015. In an order dated October 13, 2015, the
High Court of Madhya Pradesh noted that the SMJH Trust and our Company were not permitted to
commence operations of Shalby Jabalpur, and the interim order dated January 8, 2015, merely restricted
the JDA from undertaking coercive actions. Thereafter, by way of an order dated January 19, 2016, the
High Court of Madhya Pradesh directed the SMJH Trust to seek a review of the Lease Deed before the
Government of Madhya Pradesh in accordance with Section 74 of the Nagar Tatha Gram Nivesh
Adhiniyam, 1973. We understand that the Government of Madhya Pradesh has issued a report which has
been submitted to the High Court of Madhya Pradesh. In the event the report finds that our use of the
Disputed Land is unauthorised, our ability to operate Shalby Jabalpur out of the Disputed Land may be
impacted, which would, in turn, adversely affect our revenue, profits, and financial conditions. In the
meanwhile, Kameshwar Sharma, Akhilesh Tripathi, Milindra Jain, the Municipal Corporation of
Jabalpur, and the JDA, filed separate writ petitions and writ appeals in the High Court of Madhya
Pradesh, either seeking that no commercial activity be undertaken on the Disputed Land, or the
abovementioned order passed by the High Court of Madhya Pradesh on January 19, 2016, be set aside.
Since the abovementioned writ petitions and writ appeals are all connected to the same matter, the High
Court of Madhya Pradesh will be hearing the matters jointly with the writ petition filed by Kameshwar
Sharma. The matter is pending. For further details, see “Outstanding Litigation and Material
Developments —Litigation involving our Company — Outstanding litigation involving our Company in
accordance with the Materiality Policy — Civil Proceedings against our Company” on page 388.

While as at June 30, 2017, we have invested capital expenditure of ¥450.45 million (gross block) on
Shalby Jabalpur, for the three months period ended June 30, 2017, and Fiscal 2017, we incurred
operational expenses of ¥35.08 million and ¥119.65 million, respectively. For the three months period
ended June 30, 2017 and Fiscal 2017, Shalby Jabalpur contributed towards 9.00% and 8.41% of our
revenue, respectively. Further, if in rendering its judgment the High Court of Madhya Pradesh determines
that in operating Shalby Jabalpur, the Company is in violation of the terms of the order dated January 8,
2015, the High Court of Madhya Pradesh may institute contempt proceedings against our Company.

We have not executed definitive agreements in respect of some of our Outpatient Clinics with third
parties. Further, Zynova Shalby is presently being operated under a memorandum of understanding,
and a detailed agreement is proposed to be executed upon completion of 36 months from the date of
commencement of our management and operation of Zynova Shalby.

For the purposes of operating some of our Outpatient Clinics, we have not executed definitive agreements
with third parties. In the absence of executed agreements, the rights and obligations governing us and
such third parties, including payment terms, remain ambiguous. Accordingly, in the event of any dispute
between us and the concerned third party, our ability to exercise our rights and enforce any obligations
arising against such third party, or ascribe any liability therefrom may be severely impeded. Further, in
the absence of a written agreement, third parties in association with whom we set up some of our
Outpatient Clinics may unilaterally terminate arrangements, leaving us with limited or no legal recourse
against such termination. During Fiscal 2017 and the three months period ended June 30, 2017, our
Outpatient Clinics generated a revenue of 22.47 million and %0.41 million, respectively. As at June 30,
2017, our Company has not incurred any capital expenditure in operating these Outpatient Clinics. In the
event where we do not execute definitive agreements in respect of our Outpatient Clinics with third
parties, we face the risk of losing future revenues that could be generated by these Outpatient Clinics.

Further, Zynova Shalby is presently being operated and managed by us on the basis of a memorandum
of understanding dated July 22, 2015, executed between us and ZH Private Limited as amended by an
addendum dated July 1, 2017 (collectively “Zynova Shalby MoU”). For further details, see “Our
Business — Description of Business — Hospitals” on page 161. In accordance with the terms of the Zynova
Shalby MoU, ZH Private Limited and our Company have agreed to execute a definitive agreement within
a period of 36 months from the date of the Zynova Shalby MoU. While our Company has started
operating Zynova Shalby from January, 2017, pursuant to the Zynova Shalby MoU, we are yet to execute

20



an O&M agreement, setting out in detail the terms envisaged in the Zynova Shalby MoU which relate to
the manner in which Zynova Shalby shall be operated and managed. There can be no assurance that we
will be able to continue to manage and operate Zynova Shalby on the terms and conditions set out in the
Zynova Shalby MoU, and this may result in an adverse impact on our revenue, profits, and financial
conditions.

For the three months period ended June 30, 2017, Zynova Shalby generated a revenue of % 0.90 million.
As at June 30, 2017, our Company has not incurred any capital expenditure in operating Zynova Shalby.

Our revenue is primarily dependent on inpatient treatments, which could decline due to a variety of
factors. Any such decline will adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Our inpatient admissions and treatment contribute significantly to our revenue, compared to our
outpatient consultative care. For instance, for the three months period ended June 30, 2017, and Fiscal
2017, while our inpatients contributed to 89.92% and 89.36%, respectively, of our revenue, our
outpatients contributed to 7.37% and 6.71%,respectively. In the event there is a decline in the number of
inpatients serviced by us, our financial condition and results of operations will materially stand impacted.
This apart, in markets where we have an established presence, if our patients choose to avail inpatient
healthcare services from our competitors, instead of availing such healthcare services from us, our growth
in revenue could stand materially impaired.

We operate some of our facilities under arrangements with third parties such as O&M agreements
and lease agreements. Further, our SACE operate at third party hospitals and offer orthopaedic
services on the basis of agreements with such third party hospitals. Counterparties may unilaterally
terminate these arrangements and may require us to cease doing business out of such facilities, or
may refuse to renew such agreements on expiry. Any such action by the counterparties may adversely
affect our revenue and financial condition.

Some of our multispecialty hospitals are operated out of premises over which we have no ownership
rights. We have entered into arrangements with third parties, to operate these facilities, either on a lease
basis or on an O&M basis. Further, our SACE operate at third party hospitals and offer orthopaedic
services to their patients on the basis of agreements executed by us with such third party hospitals. For
further details, see “Our Business — Description of Business” on page 159. Our ability to operate out of
these facilities going forward is dependent on the continued validity of these arrangements. Our
counterparties may seek to unilaterally terminate these arrangements, regardless of the validity of such
agreements. In such an event, our Company may need to take legal action against such termination, and
seek to continue to operate out of these facilities. Such actions may not be successful, or legal remedies
may not be obtained in a timely fashion. Any action by a counterparty to terminate the arrangement
entered into with us may therefore materially impact our business, prospects, financial condition, and
results of operations.

A part of the Offer Proceeds is proposed to be utilised for the purchase of medical equipment, interiors,
furniture, and allied infrastructure for Shalby Nashik and Shalby Vadodara, hospitals being set up in
Nashik and Vadodara with a bed capacity of 113 beds and 150 beds, respectively. While Shalby Nashik
is being set up pursuant to an O&M agreement dated May 6, 2014, executed with Samruddhi, Shalby
Vadodara is being set up pursuant to a memorandum of understanding dated April 14, 2017, executed
with Company and Akshar PHC Relacon and Vadodara Land Owners. For further details, see “Objects
of the Offer — Details of the Objects — Purchase of medical equipment for existing, recently set up and
upcoming hospitals” on page 112, “Objects of the Offer — Details of the Objects — Purchase of interiors,
furniture, and allied infrastructure for upcoming hospitals in Nashik and Vadodara” on page 114, and
“Our Business — Description of Business — Hospitals — Expansion Plans” on page 165. While we estimate
that Shalby Nashik shall commence operations in Fiscal 2019 and Shalby Vadodara in Fiscal 2020, we
cannot ascertain that the operations of Shalby Nashik and Shalby Vadodara will commence at the
expected time of commencement, or commence at all.

The O&M agreements and lease deeds under which we operate at third party facilities / premises are
generally entered into for terms between 10 and 30 years. While certain of our O&M arrangements are
valid for a term of 25 or 30 years, our ability to operate from third party facilities is inherently limited in
time, by medium to long term agreements we have entered into. Such agreements may not be renewed
by the counterparties as and when they expire. While some of our O&M agreements provide that they
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will be renewed at least three years prior to the date of their expiry, we may have to cease operations out
of such facilities as a result of non-renewal of our arrangements with third parties. We may not be able
to find alternate locations in the same vicinity to operate our facilities out of. We may have to completely
cease operations from such locations until such time we are able to identify alternative land parcels and
arrive at a suitable arrangement with the landlord. Our market presence may be impacted by reason of
our inability to continue operations and we may lose patients to our competition in such locations. Our
revenue and financial condition will be impacted significantly as a result of the above.

We are significantly dependent on one of our Promoters, Dr Vikram Shah, and a loss of his services
could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

The growth of our business and legacy has been, and is significantly dependent on one of our Promoters,
Dr Vikram Shah, who is an orthopaedic surgeon with over 25 years of professional experience across
various geographies. Dr. Vikram Shah also received a ‘Double Helical National Health Award — 2017’
for ‘outstanding record in knee replacement surgery with his own innovation ‘Zero Technique’” For
further details, see “Our Management — Board of Directors — Brief biographies of Directors” on page
190. Our brand recall has inter alia, been built on the implementation of unique surgical procedures
developed by Dr Vikram Shah. These include the development of the OS Needle, which has been
successful in simplifying soft tissue procedures, thereby reducing the risk of infection and the high rates
of failure that once existed while undertaking orthopaedic surgeries. For further details, see “Our
Business — Our Competitive Strengths” on page 153.

Apart from our reliance on Dr Vikram Shah for his expertise in the medical profession, we are also
significantly dependent on him for setting our strategic direction and managing our business affairs.
Accordingly, if Dr Vikram Shah is unable, or unwilling to be associated with us, our business and
prospects could be severely impaired, and it would be difficult for us to find a suitable replacement. This
apart, Dr Vikram Shah’s disassociation from the brand “Shalby” could have an adverse impact on our
future performance and results of operations.

Discontinuation of association by doctors and other healthcare professionals with our hospitals for
any reason, and our inability to retain them may adversely affect our business and results of
operations.

We operate in an industry which is dependent on the availability of quality human resources, particularly
doctors and other healthcare professionals. As on June 30, 2017, we engaged the services of 319
professional consultants, of which, 294 doctors were engaged by us on a full-time basis, and 25 doctors
were engaged by us on a part-time basis. This apart, we also engaged the services of 699 nurses and
1,350 paramedical staff, corporate and support staff and pharmacists. Our ability to attract and retain
doctors and other healthcare professionals depends on, among other things, the commercial terms of
service or employment that we offer them, the reputation of our hospitals and the exposure to technology
and research opportunities offered by us. There can be no assurance that we will be successful in
controlling an increase in market trends of professional fees or salaries, as applicable, paid to doctors and
other healthcare professionals. Further, an increase in the pay packages offered by us to our doctors and
other healthcare professionals would lead to a reduction in our profitability. On the other hand, if we are
unable to offer our doctors or other healthcare professionals competitive fees, salaries and perquisites,
our relationship with them may deteriorate and consequently, we may be unable to retain them. We may
not be able to recruit suitable personnel to replace such doctors and medical staff in time, or at all. This
may negatively impact our ability to provide quality care to our patients resulting in a drop in the number
of new patients registered, and existent patients returning to avail our healthcare services. As a result,
our business and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.

We spend significant time and resources in training the doctors and other healthcare professionals we
recruit. Our success is substantially dependent on our ability to recruit, train and retain skilled doctors
and other healthcare professionals. However, due to the challenging nature of the job and frequent
poaching of manpower by competitors, there is a relatively higher rate of attrition in the healthcare sector.
For instance, our Company has initiated arbitration proceedings against Viral Shah and Praveen Saxena,
who were doctors engaged by us, for breach of the exclusivity terms of the consultancy agreements
executed by them with our Company and commencing competing practice. For further information on
the ongoing disputes involving our Company, Viral Shah and Praveen Saxena, see “Outstanding
Litigation and Material Developments — Litigation involving our Company — Outstanding litigation
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10.

involving our Company in accordance with the Materiality Policy — Civil Proceedings by our Company”
on page 390. Apart from doctors, we also face the challenge of a higher rate of attrition among our other
employees. The attrition rate of employees during the three months period ended June 30, 2017, Fiscal
2017, and Fiscal 2016, was 13.24%, 48.92%, and,69.64%, respectively. Higher rates of attrition lead to
an increase in our recruitment and training costs, which may have an adverse impact on our profitability
and financial condition. High rates of attrition and competition for manpower may limit our ability to
attract and retain the skilled manpower necessary for us to meet our future growth requirements. There
can be no assurance that skilled manpower will continue to be available in sufficient numbers and at
wages suitable to our requirement.

Delay in receipt of payment from our patients / customers may affect our cash flows, which may, in
turn affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Our patients either pay for their medical expenses themselves or through third party payers. Third party
payers include central, state and local government bodies, private and public insurers, and corporate
entities that pay for medical expenses of their employees. Agreements with third party payers typically
specify the services covered, the approved tariffs for each of the services and the terms of payment. Our
revenue received through such third party payers constitutes a key component of our total revenue from
operations. For the three months period ended June 30, 2017, Fiscal 2017, Fiscal 2016 and Fiscal 2015,
we billed ¥281.72 million, ¥1,049.79 million, ¥578.22 million and X843.71 million, respectively, to third
party payers, which represented 32.98%, 33.40%, 20.79% and 32.14%, respectively, of our total revenue
from operations for such periods. We are dependent on the timely payment of outstanding dues by such
third party payers and we suffer from recurring time lapses in recovering our fees and costs incurred from
such third party payers. If we do not receive payments on a timely manner from such third party payers,
our cash flows could be affected, which may, in turn, materially and adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations.

As at June 30, 2017, we had outstanding gross receivables amounting to ¥97.35 million (less advances)
from third party payers, which represented 25.35% of our gross trade receivables. We make provisions
for disallowances and doubtful trade receivables in our financial statements on account of the probability
of not being able to collect the amounts billed to third party payers, based on our actual experience of
disallowances and collection from each category of payers. Provisions for disallowances increase the
amounts we allocate towards provisions for doubtful trade receivables, increase our expenses, and reduce
our profitability.

Change in government policies that relate to patients covered by government schemes could impact
our revenue from operations.

We provide medical services under various government schemes. For instance, we provide healthcare
services to patients under the Central Government Health Scheme, the Ex-servicemen Contributory
Health Scheme, and the Employees’ State Insurance Scheme. Agreements with governmental
organisations such as the Central Organisation, Ex-servicemen Contributory Health Scheme, and the
Additional Director of the Central Government Health Scheme, specify applicable tariffs for the medical
services and the terms of payment. Resultantly, if the applicable tariffs specified in the agreements with
government payers or the extent of coverage or limits is reduced, or if the reimbursement policies are
changed in the agreements with the government payers, or if the government payers terminate their
agreements with us, the number of new patient registrations may decline and our revenue and profitability
could be adversely affected. We normally receive payments from government agencies within 30 — 45
days, however, we have experienced delays in receiving these payments occasionally due to reasons not
attributable to us.

Further, some of our hospitals may, in the future, be required to provide free or subsidised medical
services and consumables to patients belonging to economically disadvantaged sections of the society,
and certain other classes of patients. This may materially and adversely impact our financial condition,
cash flows, and results of operations. For the three months period ended June 30, 2017 and Fiscal 2017,
11.25% and 10.54%, respectively, of our revenue was generated through patients covered under various
government policies and schemes.
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We face competition from other hospitals and healthcare facilities. If we are unable to compete
effectively, our business and results of operations may be materially and adversely affected.

We compete with other hospitals, clinics and dispensaries of varying sizes with the ability to perform
different kinds of services, some or all of which we may or may not be able to offer. Our competitors
also include healthcare facilities owned or managed by government agencies and trusts, which may be
able to obtain financing or make expenditure on more favourable terms than private healthcare facilities
such as us. Our ability to compete in a given market is driven significantly by the extent and depth of
diagnosis and procedural capabilities of our competitors and the complexities involved. The healthcare
industry is driven by, amongst others, brand value and reputation, including skills of consulting doctors
and the abilities of the surgeons. We are constantly required to evaluate and increase our competitive
position in each of our markets, including meeting industry standards with regard to compensation of
doctors and paramedical staff and offering our patients competitive rates for diagnosis, treatment and
procedures. Some of our competitors may be more established and may have greater financial resources,
personnel and other resources than us. Existing or new competitors may also price their services at a
significant discount to ours or offer greater convenience or better services or amenities than we provide.
Our competitors may compete with us for doctors and other healthcare professionals. This may result in
a higher attrition rate at our hospital network and could negatively impact our ability to register new
patients and provide high quality services. Further, our competitors may plan to expand their healthcare
networks, which may exert further pricing and recruiting pressures on us. If we are unable to compete
effectively with our competitors, our business and results of operations could be materially and adversely
affected.

If we are unable to keep abreast with technological changes, new equipment and service introductions,
changes in patients’ needs and evolving industry standards, our business and financial condition may
be adversely affected. Further, we will also incur costs associated with replacing obsolete equipment.

Our business is characterised by periodic technological changes, new equipment and service
introductions, technology enhancements, changes in patients’ needs and evolving industry standards.
New equipment and services based on new or improved technologies or new industry standards can
render existing equipment and services obsolete. To effectively serve our patients, we have to continually
enhance and develop our equipment and technologies on a timely basis to satisfy the increasingly
sophisticated requirements of the medical professionals providing healthcare services at our hospitals.
Further, as industry standards evolve, we may be required to enhance and develop our internal processes
and procedures, as well as equipment and technologies, in order to comply with such standards and
maintain the accreditations that we have received. Additionally, there may be significant advances in
alternative treatment methods, which could reduce demand or even eliminate our existing services.

We cannot assure you that we will be able to procure the latest equipment and technologies at
commercially suitable terms and in a timely manner, or at all. Further, we cannot assure you that our
existent equipment and technologies are error-free, and incapable of malfunctioning. We may also incur
significant costs in replacing or modifying equipment in which we have already made a substantial
investment before the end of its anticipated useful life. There can be no assurance that we will have
sufficient funds to continually invest in such equipment and technologies on a timely basis, or at all. In
the event that we are unable to keep abreast with the current trends and needs of our business, or that we
lose any of our accreditations, we may lose our competitiveness and market share, which may adversely
affect our amount of revenue generated, business and financial condition.

Additionally, a number of medical equipment we use as part of our business have limited life span, and
may become obsolete, including by reason of advancement of technology. We may be required to
continually service our existing equipment and replace them whenever required, with new equipment.
Replacement of medical equipment may be costly, and may involve significant capital expenditure,
requiring that we plan for, and fund such expenditure in advance. Our cash flows and general financial
condition may constrain us from replacing our medical equipment as and when appropriate. Any
constraints on our ability to replace and upgrade our medical equipment may result in our inability to
offer services that involve the use of such equipment, thus adversely affecting our revenue.
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We have in the past ceased operations at certain facilities and / or decommissioned beds out of certain
facilities and may continue to do so, which could adversely affect our business, financial condition,
results of operations and prospects.

We are continually impacted by economic and social factors in each of the locations we operate from.
Our management decisions are influenced significantly by our current financial condition, expectations
of future growth, relationship with our partners and our perception of opportunities, together with
associated risks and costs. The foregoing factors may not enable us to implement our growth strategies
as we would expect to. Our strategies may also change over a period of time, including having to exit
certain markets, based on our experience with implementation and other market factors. For instance, in
Fiscal 2017, we have temporarily suspended operations of one of our hospitals, Vrundavan Shalby, which
led to the decommissioning of 41 beds on account of losses incurred. We will continue to cease
operations out of facilities, the operations of which we believe are not commercially viable, while seeking
to deploy our resources in more attractive opportunities. Cessation of operations, depending on the size
and scale of the facility, may impact our operating results, such as revenue and profits. Changes in our
strategies may require additional capital expenditure or writing-off investments already made.
Constraints around implementation of growth strategies and investments that do not meet our
expectations could adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects.

We may lose existing industry accreditations, fail to obtain accreditations for facilities for which we
have made applications, or fail to renew our accreditations if we are not able to maintain or meet
evolving accreditation standards.

Our hospitals, Krishna Shalby, SG Shalby, Shalby Indore and Shalby Jabalpur are accredited by the
NABH. Further, Krishna Shalby and SG Shalby are also accredited by the NABL. For further details,
see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Awards and Accreditations” on page 180. In addition, we
have submitted an application to the NABH for accreditation of Vijay Shalby. These applications are
pending scrutiny and inspection at various levels. Our ability to obtain and retain our accreditations
depends on the standards and protocols we are required to maintain by the accrediting body. We may
also be required to progressively achieve better standards and meet stricter requirements if norms for
accreditation are revised. We may not be able to meet such standards. There can be no assurance that our
pending applications for accreditations will be granted. We may face reputational risk if our
accreditations are either withdrawn or not renewed. Any such action may adversely affect our revenue,
prospects and results of operations.

Our Company is subject to certain financing covenants which, if breached, may trigger an event of
default under our financing arrangements.

Our Company has certain restrictive covenants, including financial covenants, under its financing
arrangements. These covenants may involve conflicting interpretations based on derivations of financial
information at certain dates. As a result, if our Company breaches certain covenants under such financing
arrangements, it may lead to events of default under the relevant facilities and trigger cross-default
provisions under other financing agreements, and entitle the respective lenders to enforce remedies under
the terms of the financing documents. The various remedies available to lenders include (i) accelerating
maturities of facilities sanctioned, (ii) terminating the loan and preventing any further drawing down of
available funds under the existing facilities, (iii) imposing default interest charges, (iv) enforcing their
security interests, (v) restriction from declaring or paying any dividend or other distribution in respect of
share capital, and restriction on pay-out by way of salary to directors (other than professional directors)
or by way of interest to other subordinated lenders, and (vi) exercising any other rights as may be
available to the lenders under the transaction documents and as per applicable law. Further, in case of
breach or event of default, the lenders / Reserve Bank of India / Credit Information Bureau of India
Limited will have the unqualified right to disclose the name of our Company and Directors as defaulters
in such manner and through such medium as they in their sole discretion deem fit.

We cannot assure you that one or more of our lenders under these financing agreements would not seek
to enforce any remedies following any breach or event of default under the relevant financing agreement,
as a result of which any one or all of the conditions set out above could be enforced resulting in a material
adverse effect on our financial condition, business and results of operations. For details of our total
outstanding borrowings, please see “Financial Indebtedness” on page 385.

25



16.

17.

18.

Third parties from whose hospitals we operate our SACE may not be compliant with applicable laws
relating to government approvals and licences, and may not have good and valid freehold or leasehold
rights to their respective properties. Any adverse action against such third parties or the respective
facilities may adversely affect our operations, revenue, and financial condition.

We operate our SACE out of hospitals which are owned, managed and operated by third parties. Our
revenue generation from our SACE in such hospitals is also dependent on patients visiting such hospitals.
We do not exercise any oversight or control over the running or management of such hospitals or the
doctors or paramedical staff employed in the hospitals. We are not in a position to monitor compliance
by these hospitals with applicable laws, including obtaining and renewing regulatory approvals and
licences. Any failure by the respective hospitals to obtain and renew regulatory approvals and licences
on a timely basis may potentially result in adverse action being taken against such hospitals, including
potentially, cessation of operations from such hospitals. To the extent that we operate out of these
hospitals and are also dependent on these hospitals for patient footfall, we may be adversely affected in
terms of revenue and financial position, as a result of non-compliance by the third parties with applicable
law.

Further, while establishing a SACE in a third party premise, we do not conduct a title due diligence to
verify if the third parties hold valid freehold or leasehold rights over the properties. While we believe
that we have obtained sufficient contractual assurances as to their capacity to enter into arrangements
with us, their title to properties may, as a matter of fact, be defective or subject to competing interests.
Any adverse claims as to title or possession with respect to these facilities may potentially result in our
inability to continue to operate out of them.

We may suffer reputational harm from the activities or omissions of hospitals managed by our partner
hospitals under our O&M arrangements.

As on the date of this Prospectus, three of our hospitals were being operated under our asset-light O&M
arrangement on a revenue sharing basis. As a part of our expansion strategies, we intend to strengthen
our hospital presence in western and central India through a combination of various strategies including
O&M arrangements with third party healthcare service providers. For further details, see “Our Business
— Our Business Strategy” on page 157. While we continue to expand our footprint by collaborating with
third party healthcare service providers, any reputational harm suffered by such third parties may directly
impact us and our ability to generate revenue from such hospitals, including a decline in our patient
footfall.

We are exposed to risks associated with clinical trials we undertake.

We undertake clinical trials for a number of pharmaceutical companies. For further details, see “Our
Business — Hospitals — Ancillary Business — Clinical Research” on page 167. Clinical trials involve the
testing of new drugs and biologics on human volunteers. This testing carries risks of liability for personal
injury, sickness or death of patients resulting from their participation in the study. These risks include,
among other things, unforeseen adverse side effects, improper application or administration of a new
drug or biologic, and professional malpractice. In addition, regulatory agencies may introduce new,
stricter regulations that prevent or restrict clinical trials. The clinical studies may also be the focus of
negative attention from special interest groups that oppose clinical trials on ethical grounds. We could
be held liable for errors or omissions in connection with the services we perform or for the general risks
associated with our clinical trials including, but not limited to, adverse reactions to the administration of
drugs. While we have constituted ethics committees to oversee the clinical trials we conduct, which are
duly registered with the licensing authority under the Drugs and Cosmetics Act, 1940, phase-wise
approvals for clinical trials and registration of trials with the Clinical Trials Registry — India are
undertaken by the sponsoring pharmaceutical companies. We do not monitor compliance by our
sponsoring pharmaceutical companies with regulatory requirements applicable to them. We have not
obtained any insurance coverage against risks associated with conducting clinical trials. If we are
required to pay damages or bear the costs of defending any claim outside the scope of, or in excess of,
the contractual indemnification provided by our clients, our business and results of operations may be
adversely impacted.

26



19.

20.

21.

Our indebtedness and the conditions and restrictions imposed by our financing arrangements may
limit our ability to grow our business and adversely impact our business. Further, we may require
additional funding to finance our operations, for which financing may not be available on terms
acceptable to us or at all.

As at October 31, 2017, on a consolidated basis, we had outstanding secured borrowings aggregating to
¥ 3,339.62 million. All borrowings availed by us have been utilised for purposes authorised under the
Memorandum of Association, and for such purposes for which the borrowings were advanced to us.
Many of our financing agreements include various conditions and covenants that require us to obtain
consents from lenders prior to carrying out certain activities and entering into certain transactions such
as altering the Memorandum and Articles of Association, effecting any change in our capital structure
and issuing any fresh capital. Our Company has received consent from its lender to undertake the Offer
and related activities, as applicable.For further details of the restrictive covenants, see “Financial
Indebtedness” on page 385. Further, a number of our lenders require that our Individual Promoter, Dr
Vikram Shah shall hold at least 51% of our Company's share capital, directly or indirectly, at all times.

We are dependent on financing facilities to run our business, and may continually require debt funding
for expansion and capital expenditure. For instance, we have financed, and will continue to finance the
purchase of medical equipment, buildings, and other installations through loans. We have created
security interests in favour of our creditors who have extended financing to us by way of hypothecation
and mortgages. We are required, on a continual basis to service these loans, including interest owed on
the loans. In the event we fail to service our debt obligations in a timely manner, we run the risk of our
creditors repossessing our assets hypothecated or mortgaged to them towards recovery of monies due
from us. If our lenders take any enforcement action with respect to our assets, we may not be able to
utilise such assets. Our financial condition and revenue may therefore be adversely affected as a result
of any such action.

Any failure to comply with the requirements, conditions or covenants of any of our financing agreements
that is not waived by our lenders or is not otherwise cured by us, may lead to a termination of our credit
facilities, acceleration of all amounts due under such facilities and trigger cross-default provisions under
certain of our other financing agreements, and may materially and adversely affect our ability to conduct
our business and operations or implement our business plans. Further, we cannot assure that we will have
adequate funds at all times to repay these credit facilities and may also be subject to demands for the
payment of penal interest. Any default and the consequences thereof may also result in a decline in the
trading price of our Equity Shares and you may lose all or part of your investment. Any action initiated
by a lender may result in the price of the Equity Shares being adversely affected along with our ability
to obtain further financing from banks and financial institutions. Moreover, our ability to borrow and the
terms of our borrowings depends on our financial condition, the stability of our cash flows and our
capacity to service debt in a fluctuating interest rate environment. As a result, our business and financial
condition may significantly and adversely be impacted.

Our Company and some of our Subsidiaries have availed of unsecured loans, which may be recalled
any time. Any recall of such loans may have an adverse effect on our financial condition and the
financial condition of our Company and our Subsidiaries.

As at October 31, 2017, on a consolidated basis, we had outstanding unsecured borrowings aggregating
to 750.00 million. There can be no assurance that the lenders will not recall such borrowings or if we
will be able to repay loans advanced to us in a timely manner or at all. Any failure to repay our loans
would expose us to a potential loss which could adversely affect our business, financial condition, cash
flows and results of operations. For more further details in relation to our unsecured loans and the
unsecured loans availed by our Subsidiaries, see “Financial Indebtedness” on page 385.

A portion of the Net Proceeds would be utilised to pre-pay a loan facility availed by our Company from
IDFC Bank Limited, which is one of the BRLMs.

Our Company has availed a loan from IDFC Bank Limited, one of our BRLMs, as part of its normal
borrowing activity (“IDFC Loan”). As part of Objects of the Offer, our Company proposes to repay or
pre-pay certain loans availed by our Company from various lenders including IDFC Bank Limited. In
terms of the sanction letter and the loan agreement for the IDFC Loan, our Company is required to
mandatorily prepay atleast 30% of the amount outstanding under the IDFC Loan from the Net Proceeds.
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Accordingly, a portion of the Net Proceeds would be utilised towards pre-payment of the IDFC Loan.
For further details of the IDFC Loan, see “Objects of the Offer” on page 107.

If we fail to achieve favourable pricing on medical equipment, drugs and consumables or are unable
to pass on any cost increases to our patients, our profitability could be materially and adversely
affected.

Our profitability is subject to the cost of medical equipment, drugs and consumables. The complex nature
of certain treatments, such as joint replacement surgeries, liver and kidney transplantations, and medical
procedures we perform, requires us to invest in technologically sophisticated equipment. Such equipment
is generally very expensive and forms a major component of our annual capital expenditure. For the three
months period ended June 30, 2017 and Fiscal 2017, our expenditure towards purchase of medical
equipment (gross block) was ¥1,548.89 million and %1,422.13 million, respectively, of our total
expenditure. Our profitability is affected by our ability to achieve favourable pricing on our medical
equipment, drugs and consumables from our vendors as well as other vendor financing received with
respect to our medical equipment in the normal course of business. As vendor negotiations are continuous
and reflect the on-going competitive environment, the variability in timing and amount of incremental
vendor discounts and rebates can affect our profitability. Further, such increased costs may negatively
impact our ability to deliver quality care to our patients at competitive prices, or at all. If we are unable
to adopt alternative means to deliver value to our patients, our revenue and profitability may be materially
and adversely affected. Further, we may be unable to anticipate and react to the increase in the cost of
medical equipment, drugs or consumables in future, or may be unable to pass on such cost increases to
our payers, which could materially and adversely affect our profitability.

We rely on third party suppliers and manufacturers for our equipment, reagents and drugs. Failure
of such third parties to meet their obligations, or our failure to negotiate better terms with such third
parties could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Hospitals require large quantities of medicines, drugs and equipment to treat patients. These will need to
be procured across our various locations on a regular basis and at certain quantities to be able to meet
expected patient demand. This makes our business heavily dependent on drug and equipment
manufacturers, who deal with hospitals through an array of intermediaries, such as distributors and
stockists.

We do not have long term contracts for the procurement of drugs, reagents, and equipment. We source
our equipment, reagents and drugs from third party suppliers under various arrangements on the basis of
various purchase orders issued by us from time to time. Our suppliers have no obligation to supply drugs
and reagents to us, or to negotiate any rates with us. They may choose not to renew existing arrangements,
which will result in our inability to procure drugs, reagents, and other medical consumables for our
hospitals. Further, our ability to obtain drugs or reagents of sufficient quantities is limited by
manufacturers’ production, and the demand for drugs and reagents in the market generally. A number of
micro and macro-economic factors impact the production and supply chain for drugs and reagents and
these have a direct bearing on the prices, the availability and our ability to procure drugs, reagents, and
other medical consumables from our distributors at competitive rates. Any failure to procure such
equipment, reagents or drugs on a timely basis, or at all, from such third parties and on commercially
suitable terms, could affect our ability to provide our services. In addition, manufacturers may
discontinue or recall equipment, reagents or drugs used by us, which could adversely affect our ability
to provide our services, and therefore, could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

As we continue to expand our footprint internationally, we remain subject to a variety of risks relating
to volatile economies, political instability, foreign currencies, and local laws.

Currently, our international footprint consists of five Outpatient Clinics and one SACE spread across
Ethiopia, Kenya, Tanzania, and Uganda in Africa, and two SACE in Ras al-Khaimah and Dubai in the
UAE. As we continue to expand our international footprint, some of the risks we are subject to include
the following:

= Difficulties and increased expenses in complying with a variety of foreign laws and regulations;

» Unfavourable tariffs and other barriers;
= Risk of change in international political or economic conditions;
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= Qur inability to defend prosecutions;

= Challenges in procuring qualified manpower, staffing, and managing foreign operations;

= Restrictions on repatriation of earnings;

»  Fluctuations in currency exchange and interest rates;

= Qur inability to successfully execute partnership arrangements with our SACE partners, and
other arrangements with qualified medical professionals;

=  Hyperinflation in some countries;

= Natural calamities and unfavourable global conditions such as political disturbances, terrorism,
and outbreak of epidemics; and

= The imposition of healthcare, employment, and environmental laws which we may not be able
to comply with.

The economies of African countries are extremely diverse and include some of the world’s fastest and
slowest growing economies. Their variances in gross domestic product place a heavy burden on us,
requiring us to have a strong appetite for risk while considering our expansion strategies into certain
African nations. Our international operations also expose us to different local political and business risks
and challenges. For example, as we continue to expand our presence into underpenetrated countries, we
may be faced with periodic political issues which could result in currency risks, or the risk that we are
required to include local ownership or management in our businesses. The abovementioned risks in
respect of foreign jurisdictions may impair our ability to generate revenue in those regions in future.

Our Company and certain doctors employed with our Company are involved in, and may in the future,
be involved in certain medical negligence cases, and the claims of the complainants in such cases may
exceed the professional indemnity insurance cover availed by our Company.

We are exposed to the risk of alleged malpractice claims and regulatory actions arising out of medical
services provided by us, including medical services provided to us through Shalby Homecare. For
instance, we are presently party to a civil proceeding instituted by one, Dr Mohamed Vadaliwala, seeking
damages amounting to 36.99 million for alleged medical negligence caused to him during a knee surgery
undertaken at SG Shalby. For details, see “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments —
Litigation involving our Company — Outstanding litigation involving our Company in accordance with
the Materiality Policy — Civil proceedings against our Company” on page 388. We rely on our doctors
and other healthcare staff to make proper clinical decisions regarding the diagnosis and treatment of our
patients at our hospitals and through Shalby Homecare. However, we do not have direct control over the
clinical activities of our doctors and other healthcare staff, as their diagnoses and treatments of patients
are subject to their professional judgement, and in most cases, must be performed on a real-time basis.
Any incorrect clinical decisions or actions on the part of our doctors and other healthcare staff or any
failure by us to properly manage their clinical activities may result in unsatisfactory treatment outcomes,
patient injuries or possible patient death. Current or former patients or their families may threaten or
commence litigation for medical negligence or malpractice against us. If such claims succeed, we may
become liable for damages and other financial consequences and may even be exposed to criminal
liability, which may materially and adversely affect our reputation, financial condition and results of
operations. While medical negligence cases are covered under professional indemnity insurance policies,
there can be no assurance that such insurance cover would be adequate to cover compensation claims in
such cases if these medical negligence cases were to be decided in favour of the claimants.

Additionally, our clinical trials may cause unforeseen adverse side effects resulting in personal injury,
sickness or death of patients participating in such trials. We could be held liable and may be required to
pay damages, for errors or omissions in connection with the services we perform with respect to such
clinical trials, or for the general risks associated with our clinical trials, including, but not limited to,
adverse reactions to the administration of drugs. Additionally, our clinical trials may also be the focus of
negative publicity from special interest groups that oppose clinical trials on ethical grounds. In addition,
the reputational consequences of any claims may materially and adversely affect our business, reputation
and operations. Regardless of their validity, negative publicity arising from such claims may tarnish our
professional standing and market reputation and / or that of the physicians and other healthcare staff
involved, and may adversely affect the number of new patients registered and treated and the amount of
revenue generated by us. Moreover, if any such claims succeed, we may become liable for the damages
and other financial consequences, which may materially and adversely affect our financial condition and
results of operations.
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Most of our radiotherapy and diagnostic imaging equipment contain radioactive and nuclear
materials or emit radiation during operation which could make us liable for damages.

Radioactive procedures are commonly used in medical applications. Beginning with x-rays, to scans and
advanced procedures to treat malignancy, our hospitals routinely use equipment that deal with radioactive
substances. We are required by various regulations promulgated under the Atomic Energy Act, 1962,
and administered by the Atomic Energy Regulatory Board (“AERB”), to obtain certifications, licences
and registrations for various processes and medical applications involving radioactive substances. The
AERB also imposes stringent control requirements as to the use, handling and disposal of radioactive
substances and procedures. A number of record maintenance requirements are also applicable to our
Company. Despite precautions and compliance with regulations, the risk exists that accidents could occur
during our operation of radiation generating equipment and use of radioactive material, resulting in the
release of radiation or leakage of substances in a manner or to an extent unsafe for human beings or for
the environment in general. Such accidents involving radioactive substances can be devastating to human
life and well-being, including causing death. We may be liable for all such damage caused as a result of
any accident, and may be required to compensate persons suffering injury as a result of such exposure to
radiation. Such damages may materially impact our business and financial condition.

Because of the risks typically associated with the operation of medical care facilities, patients may
contract serious communicable infections or diseases at our facilities.

Our operations involve treatment of patients with a variety of infectious diseases. Despite the exercise of
abundant caution by us, previously healthy or uninfected people may contract serious communicable
diseases in connection with their stay or visit at our facilities. This could result in significant claims for
damages against us and, as a result of reports and press coverage, loss of reputation. Furthermore, these
germs or infections could also infect employees and thus significantly reduce the treatment and care
capacity at our medical facilities in the short, medium and long-term. In addition to claims for damages,
any of these events may lead directly to limitations on the activities of our hospitals as a result of
quarantines, closing of parts of the hospitals at times for sterilisation, regulatory restrictions on, or the
withdrawal of, permits and authorisations, and it may indirectly result, through a loss of reputation, in
reduced utilisation of our hospitals. Any of these factors could have a material adverse effect on our
reputation and business.

We administer certain educational courses to doctors and paramedics. Resultantly, we are required to
meet accreditation requirements and standards stipulated by third parties as a result. Failure to meet
such requirements and standards could result in our being unable to provide these courses.

We offer certain educational programmes to doctors and paramedics through Shalby Academy, in
association with the Gujarat Paramedical Council, and the National Board of Examination. These
programmes include diploma in orthopaedics and fellowship in critical care. For further details, see “Our
Business — Description of our Business — Ancillary Business” on page 167. To this end, we are required
to comply with a number of accreditation requirements and maintain standards prescribed by such
organisations on a continual basis to be able to continue to provide these courses. Failure to meet such
requirements and standards could result in our being unable to provide these courses.

If we are unable to increase our hospital occupancy rates and reduce ALOS, we may not be able to
generate adequate returns on our capital expenditure.

We have invested and continue to invest a significant amount of capital expenditure in expanding bed
capacity and opening new hospitals. Our current expansion plan involves the setting up of two new
hospitals, namely, Shalby Nashik and Shalby Vadodara, and expansion of one existing hospital, namely
Zynova Shalby, in India. For details, see “Our Business — Description of Business — Hospitals —
Expansion Plans” on page 165. We have also introduced new technologies, modernized our facilities
and expanded our range of services.

We intend to focus on improving occupancy rates throughout our hospital network. Improving occupancy
rates at our hospitals is highly dependent on brand recognition, wider acceptance in the communities in
which we operate, our ability to attract and retain well-known and respected doctors, our ability to
develop practices and our ability to compete effectively with other hospitals and clinics.
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Our occupancy rates stood at 33.76%, 34.48%, 31.75% and 40.95% for the three months period ended
June 30, 2017, Fiscal 2017, Fiscal 2016, and Fiscal 2015, respectively, and we also incurred significant
capital expenditure (net) of ¥5,937.95 million, ¥5418.84 million, ¥4,003.39 million, and %2,496.18
million for the three months period ended June 30, 2017, Fiscal 2017, Fiscal 2016 and Fiscal 2015,
respectively. If we fail to improve our occupancy rates, but continue to incur significant expenditure in
the future, this could materially adversely affect our operating efficiencies and our profitability.

We are involved in certain legal proceedings, any adverse developments related to which could
materially and adversely affect our business, reputation and cash flows.

There are outstanding legal proceedings against and initiated by us, certain Subsidiaries, our Promoters,
our Directors, and certain Group Entities, which are pending at different levels of adjudication before
various courts, tribunals and other authorities. Such proceedings could divert management time and
attention and consume financial resources in their defence or prosecution. The amounts claimed in these
proceedings have been disclosed to the extent ascertainable and quantifiable and include amounts
claimed jointly and severally from our Company, our Subsidiaries and other parties. Any unfavourable
decision in connection with such proceedings, individually or in the aggregate, could adversely affect
our reputation, business, financial condition and results of operations. A list of outstanding legal
proceedings as on the date of this Prospectus are set out below:

Nature of cases No. of cases Total amount involved
(in X million)

Against our Company
Tax NIL NIL
Civil cases 21 70.18
Criminal cases NIL NIL
By our Company
Tax 12 674.71
Civil cases 13 274.77
Criminal cases 3 1.30
Against our Subsidiaries
Tax NIL NIL
Civil cases NIL NIL
Criminal cases NIL NIL
By our Subsidiaries
Tax 2 3.35
Civil cases NIL NIL
Criminal cases NIL NIL
Against our Promoters
Tax NIL NIL
Civil cases 5 11.09
Criminal cases 2 NIL
By our Promoters
Tax 5 43.45
Civil cases NIL NIL
Criminal cases NIL NIL
Against our Directors
Tax NIL NIL
Civil cases 5 11.09
Criminal cases 20 NIL
By our Directors
Tax 1@ 0.57
Civil cases NIL NIL
Criminal cases NIL NIL
Against our Group Entities
Tax NIL NIL
Civil cases 1 Negligible
Criminal cases NIL NIL
By our Group Entities
Tax NIL NIL
Civil cases 5 0.50
Criminal cases 2 2.45
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(1)  Includes criminal proceedings instituted against one of our Individual Promoters, Dr Vikram Shah.
(2)  Includes tax litigation initiated by one of our Individual Promoters, Dr Vikram Shah.

For further details, see “Outstanding Litigation and Material Developments” on page 387.

We cannot assure you that any of these matters will be decided in our favour or in favour of our
Subsidiaries, Promoters, Directors, and Group Entities, or that no additional liability will arise out of
these proceedings. Such proceedings could divert management time and attention, and consume financial
resources in their defence or prosecution. Further, an adverse judgment in any of these proceedings,
individually or in the aggregate could adversely affect our business, reputation and cash flows.

Our statutory auditors have included certain qualifications and matters of emphasis in their auditor’s
reports.

The Statutory Auditor’s report on our restated consolidated financial statements for Fiscals ended March
31,2015, March 31, 2014, and March 31, 2013 (“Auditor’s Report”), was qualified to indicate payments
made by VSHL to certain of its directors, without any contractual obligation on the part of VSHL to
make such payment. Further, the Auditor’s Report states that such payment made by VSHL to certain of
its directors, amounts to payments in the nature of loans and advances. However, these advances with
debit balances amounting to X12.17 million which stand receivable from the concerned directors of
VSHL, as well as the firm / company / trust in which such directors are interested, may not be recovered,
and have become doubtful recovery, especially in view of the fact that no recovery was made during the
Fiscal ended March 31, 2013. Further, the Statutory Auditor’s report for Fiscal ended March 31, 2013,
states that no appropriate provision has been made for doubtful advances and accordingly, the short term
loans and advances were overstated by X12.17 million. In the Statutory Auditor’s report for Fiscal ended
March 31, 2014, it was observed that the aforementioned short term loans and advances were overstated
by %9.87 million, resulting in the consolidated profits of our Company also being overstated, with no
appropriate provision having been made for doubtful advances. Further, the aforementioned short loans
and advances were advanced to the relative of a director, firm / company / trust, in which such director /
relatives of directors are interested, which could not be fully recovered and has hence, become a doubtful
recovery.

Further, during the Fiscals ended March 31, 2014 and March 31, 2015, 2.30 million and 0.54 million,
respectively, were recovered from the concerned directors and accordingly, the balance bad debt /
advances 0f%9.33 million was written off during the Fiscal ended March 31, 2015, and had been adjusted
against the balance amount of the provision so made. Further, in the Auditor’s Report for Fiscal ended
March 31, 2015, it has been stated that VSHL has carried the balances, including adverse and stagnant
balances of trade payables, trade receivables, loans and advances and borrowings from directors as
disclosed in the standalone financial statements of VSHL. While VSHL has claimed to have issued letters
to all vendors for balance confirmation, the impact of such non-reconciliation and non-adjustments, if
any, on the consolidated profit for the year has not been ascertained by the statutory auditors.

Further, the Company Auditors Report Order (“CARQO”) for Fiscal ending March 31, 2013 stated that as
per the information and explanation given to the Auditors, and on the basis of their overall examination
of the balance sheets of the Company, the funds raised on short term basis had been used for long term
investments (including deferred tax assets) to the extent of 313.25 million. Additionally, CAROS across
Fiscals ended March 31, 2013, March 31, 2014, March 31, 2015, and March 31, 2016 provided details
of disputed dues aggregating to ¥543.08 million, which have not been deposited in relation to demand
notices issued by assistant commissioners of income tax and sales tax. The CARO for the year ended
March 31, 2016 stated that the title deeds of immoveable properties are held in the name of the Company,
except freehold land and leasehold land aggregating to ¥473.33 million, which were acquired pursuant
to schemes of amalgamation in the nature of a merger. The aforementioned parcels of land are pending
for registration in the name of the Company. The aforementioned CARO further stated that all the
existing buildings of the Company are either constructed on freehold / leasehold land or acquired
pursuant to scheme of amalgamation in the nature of merger.

The Auditor’s Report also includes certain emphasis of matters. For details, see “Management’s

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations — Reservations or
qualifications or adverse remarks of auditors in the last five Fiscals” on page 377.
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We have issued Equity Shares during the last one year at a price that may be lower than the Offer
Price.

We have issued Equity Shares during the last one year at a price that may be lower than the Offer Price.
For details, see “Capital Structure — Share Capital History of our Company” on page 88.

We are dependent on obtaining and maintaining certain governmental and regulatory licences and
we have not obtained certain approvals, registrations and licences with respect to our operations in
certain facilities including our hospitals and domestic Outpatient Clinics, and certain approvals for
which we have made applications in the past, have been rejected. Our ability to operate out of such
facilities or carry on the relevant activity / procedures in question, may be impeded as a result, thus
adversely impacting our operations and revenue.

We operate in a heavily regulated environment and are required to periodically obtain a number of
approvals and licences from governmental and regulatory authorities. For an overview of the applicable
regulations and the nature of approvals and licences to be obtained, see “Regulations and Policies” on
page 172. Such approvals and licences may or may not be granted or renewed by the relevant
governmental or regulatory authorities. There is no assurance that such approvals and licences will be
granted or renewed in a timely manner. For instance, in December, 2014, the SMJH Trust made an
application with the Municipal Corporation of Jabalpur, for a works completion certificate in respect
Shalby Jabalpur’s hospital building. By way of a letter dated December 19, 2014, the Municipal
Corporation of Jabalpur, refused to accept the application submitted by SMJH Trust, on the grounds of
the public interest litigation, filed by Kamlesh Agrawal against the SMJH Trust in the High Court of
Madhya Pradesh, being unresolved and pending. For details, see “Outstanding Litigation and Material
Developments — Litigation involving our Company — Outstanding litigation involving our Company in
accordance with the Materiality Policy — Civil proceedings against our Company” on page 388.

Failure to obtain or renew such approvals and licences in a timely manner can prevent us from operating
the relevant facilities or from operating certain equipment which requires us to obtain the relevant
approval or licence. We may, as a result, be compelled to cease using such equipment, or cease operations
altogether from such facilities, until such time that the approval or licence applied for has been granted.
Our failure therefore to obtain or maintain licences and approvals on a timely basis may adversely affect
our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.

Further, as on the date of this Prospectus, we provide outpatient services through 42 domestic Outpatient
Clinics, of which three Outpatient Clinics are solely operated by us, and 39 are operated on the basis of
revenue sharing arrangements with third party healthcare service providers. In respect of our domestic
Outpatient Clinics that are being operated under revenue sharing arrangements, the obligation of
obtaining requisite licenses and registrations to operate such Outpatient Clinics lies with our third party
partner. For details, see “Our Business — Description of Business” on page 159. In respect of the three
Outpatient Clinics being solely operated by us, we have neither made applications for, nor obtained,
statutory approvals required to operate such Outpatient Clinics. Our failure to obtain such approvals
could require us to undertake significant changes to our business and operations. Further, we may also
be subject to penal action through fines and penalties, including the potential loss of business licenses
and suspension or cessation of operations of our Outpatient Clinics. The occurrence of such events may
materially and adversely affect our business and results of operations.

In respect of services offered at some of our hospitals, we have either submitted applications or are yet
to make applications for necessary permissions and licenses. Details of the pending approvals,
permissions and licenses in respect of our hospitals have been identified in “Government and other
Approvals — Pending Approvals” on page 400.

Where we have filed applications for grant of approvals, there is no assurance that approvals will be
forthcoming. The approvals, registrations and licences which we have not obtained are either
fundamental to our ability to continue operations from such facilities or performance of particular
procedures and our failure to obtain them may materially and adversely impact our operations and
revenue.
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Failure to comply with laws and regulations applicable to our business and the industry in which we
operate, could result in prosecution, including imprisonment and fines or incur costs that could have
a material adverse effect on our ability to run our business.

The healthcare industry in India is subject to various laws, rules, regulations, and procedures. For a
description of the regulations to which we are subject, see “Regulations and Policies” on page 172. Given
our line of business and current geographical presence, we are subject to various and extensive local
laws, rules, regulations, and procedures. These include laws which govern the stocking and distribution
of drugs, the minimum standards for clinical facilities and services provided by healthcare
establishments, laws which govern the transplantation of human organs for therapeutic purposes, as well
as laws which regulate the control and use of atomic energy in healthcare establishments. Typically, the
laws which we are governed by prescribe various standards governing factors such as the quality of
medical equipment and services, the adequacy of medical care offered by us, area and equipment
specifications, discharge of pollutants in the air and water, handling and disposal of biomedical,
radioactive and hazardous wastes, minimum qualifications of medical and support personnel,
confidentiality, and maintenance and security issues associated with health-related personal, sensitive
information and medical records. For instance, since we use equipment which emit radioactive
substances at our hospitals, we continue to remain governed by the Atomic Energy (Radiation Protection)
Rules, 2004 (“Radiation Protection Rules”). The Radiation Protection Rules inter alia, regulates the
handling and operation of any radiation generating equipment, and stipulates the requirement for a
permission to be obtained for such handling and operating. As per the Radiation Protection Rules, no
person is permitted to establish or decommission a radiation installation, or handle or operate any
radiation generating equipment, except in accordance with the terms and conditions prescribed under a
license obtained in accordance with the Radiation Protection Rules. Failure to comply with the provisions
of the Radiation Protection Rules entails imprisonment, which may extend to a term of five years, or
fine, or both. This apart, we are also governed by India’s information technology regulatory framework
which regulates the collection, storage, and dissemination of a patient’s medical records and history,
which are deemed to be sensitive data or information under the provisions of the Information Technology
(Reasonable Security Practices and Procedures and Sensitive Personal Data or Information) Rules, 2011.
In the event where a patient’s medical records and / or history are negligently handled by us, we may be
subject to penal action, and may also be required to pay an aggrieved patient damages in accordance with
the provisions of the Information Technology Act, 2000.

Similarly, the healthcare industry in India is heavily regulated by numerous environmental legislations.
The Environment Protection Act, 1986, and the rules made thereunder regulate our discharge of
pollutants in the air and water, whilst also dealing the manner in which we are required to handle and
dispose hazardous substances and bio-medical wastes. Under extant environmental laws, we are required
to obtain registrations from the relevant State Pollution Control Board to be able to discharge pollutants
in the air and water, and handle and dispose hazardous and bio-medical wastes. We are also required to
take a number of precautionary measures and follow prescribed practices in this regard. Our failure to
comply with these laws could result in us being prosecuted, including our directors and officers
responsible for compliance being subjected to imprisonment and fines. We may also be liable for damage
caused to the environment. Any such action could adversely affect our business and financial condition.

We have entered into, and will continue to enter into, related party transactions.

We have various transactions with related parties, including our Promoters, Group Entities and Directors.
These related party transactions include, among others, sale of pharmacy products and consumables,
implants and other consumables. For further details of our related party transactions, see “Financial
Statements — Annexure 35 — Standalone Summary Statement of Related Parties as restated” and
“Financial Statements — Annexure 35 — Consolidated Summary Statement of Related Parties as restated”
on pages 338 and 280.

Additionally, for details on the interests of our Promoters, Directors and Key Management Personnel,
other than reimbursement of expenses incurred, normal remuneration or benefits, see “Our Management”
and “Our Promoters and Promoter Group” on pages 188 and 205, respectively. These transactions may
involve conflicts of interests, which may be detrimental to us. We cannot assure you that such
transactions could not have been made on more favourable terms with unrelated parties. Wherever related
party transactions have not been undertaken by us on an arm’s length basis, the approval of our
shareholders has been obtained in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act, 2013. For
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instance, on February 6, 2017, the approval of our shareholders was obtained for the following related
party transactions, which were not being undertaken by our Company on an arm’s length basis: (i) the
execution of a lease agreement dated March 8, 2017, between our Company with Shalby Orthopaedic
Hospital and Research Centre, for lease of the land on which Vijay Shalby is located, for a period of ten
years with effect from March 1, 2007 to February 28, 2027, at a lease rental of 350,000 per month, (ii)
the execution of a lease agreement dated March 8, 2017, between our Company and our Individual
Promoter, Dr Vikram Shah, for lease of the land on which SG Shalby is located, for a period of ten years
with effect from March 1, 2017 to February 28, 2027, at a lease rental of 0.5 million per month, and
(iii) the execution of a lease agreement dated May 16, 2017, between our Company, Dr Vikram Shah
and Mr Uday Bhatt, for lease of the land on which Shalby Naroda is located, for a period of 30 years
with effect from the date on which the building use permission is granted by concerned authorities. The
total consideration payable by our Company to both Dr Vikram Shah and Uday Bhatt for use of the land
on which Shalby Naroda is located is inclusive of (a) a guaranteed minimum monthly rental of 0.1
million, and (b) a revenue sharing of 2.5% of the gross revenue received and / or generated by Shalby
Naroda, and booked on the credit side of profit and loss accounts, in the books of accounts of our
Company, payable by our Company to both Dr Vikram Shah and Uday Bhatt. For details, see “Our
Promoters and Promoter Group — Interests of Promoters” on page 207.

In the event that obligations owed to us arising from such transactions are not fulfilled, either individually
or in aggregate, our business and financial condition and / or results of operations may be adversely
affected. Any transactions we have entered into or may enter into in the future with a related party could
result in conflicts of interests that are detrimental to us. We will continue to enter into related party
transactions in the future, in the normal course of business, which may adversely affect our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.

We have not entered into formal agreements with some of the landlords / third party hospitals in
respect of the premises that we occupy to provide outpatient services through our Outpatient Clinics.
Our ability to continue operations from such premises may accordingly be limited or restricted.
Further, some of the agreements executed by us are inadequately stamped.

We occupy properties belonging to third parties for the purpose of operating our Outpatient Clinics under
various arrangements with the owners of such properties. As on the date of this Prospectus, we are yet to
enter into formal lease, leave and license or revenue sharing arrangements for 16 domestic Outpatient
Clinics. Accordingly, such arrangements may be viewed as a month to month tenancy, and we may be
required to vacate such premises and cease operations from such facilities in the event that we are not
able to formalise or renew our rights to such properties. Our revenue may be impacted as a result of loss
of rights to operate these clinics from such third party properties. During Fiscal 2017 and the three months
period ended June 30, 2017, the Outpatient Clinics generated a revenue of ¥2.47 million and 20.41
million, respectively. As at June 30, 2017, our Company has not incurred any capital expenditure in
operating these Outpatient Clinics. In the event where we are unable to execute formal agreements with
some of the landlords / third party hospitals in respect of our premises that we occupy to provide
outpatient services through Outpatient Clinics, we face the risk of losing future revenues that could be
generated through these Outpatient Clinics.

Further, our Company has entered into certain agreements in India which are inadequately stamped.
Failure to stamp a document does not affect the validity of the transaction embodied therein, but renders
the document inadmissible as evidence in India (unless stamped prior to enforcement with payment of
requisite penalties, which may be up to 10 times the stamp duty payable, and other such fees that may be
levied by the authorities). Further, documents which are insufficiently stamped are capable of being
impounded by a public officer. We cannot assure you that such agreements which are inadequately
stamped can be enforced by us. In addition, imposition of penalties by the authorities on us for inadequate
stamping of such agreements may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results
of operations.

We may not be able to protect our brand name and trademarks.
Our name and trademarks support our business. We believe that our reputation and brand are associated
with the “Shalby” name, and that this association has contributed towards the success of our business.

We believe that our trademarks and other proprietary rights have significant value and are important to
identifying and differentiating our healthcare services from those of our competitors and creating and
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sustaining demand for our healthcare services. As on the date of this Prospectus, we have filed seven
applications under Class 5, Class 10, Class 16, Class 35, Class 41, Class 42, and Class 44 for registration
of the trademark “Shalby”. This apart, we have also filed six applications under Class 5, Class 10, Class
42, and Class 44 for registration of the trademarks, ‘Keep Walking Get Going’, “KEEP WALKING”,
and “Shalby Homecare”.

Of these trademark applications, two applications have been objected, and three applications have been
opposed. We may be subjected to claims of infringement of trade mark by one or more persons, and
proceedings in this regard may be adverse to our Company. We may not be able to use trade marks in
the event we are found to be infringing third party intellectual property. Our Company may also be
refused registration in the event our Company’s trademarks do not qualify for registration. We have
neither performed a search nor conducted any enquiry as to the registrability of our trademarks, including
assessment of similarities and verification of prior use, if any, by third parties. We may be liable in
damages to third parties as a result of infringement of intellectual property.

Third parties may assert intellectual property claims against us, particularly as we expand our business
and the number of healthcare services we offer. Our defence of any claim, regardless of its merit, could
be expensive and time consuming and could divert management resources. Successful infringement
claims against us could result in significant monetary liability. In addition, resolution of claims may
require us to cease using those rights altogether.

Unauthorized use of our brand name or logo by third parties could adversely affect our reputation, which
could in turn adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations. Intellectual
property rights and our ability to enforce them may be unavailable or limited in some circumstances.
Loss of intellectual property may significantly affect our media and advertising activities, and loss of
equity for the “Shalby” brand, thus adversely affecting our business, revenue and prospects.

We may be subject to labour unrests, slowdowns and increased wage expenses which could materially
and adversely affect our business, financial condition and results of operations.

India has stringent labour legislation that protects the interests of workers, including legislation that sets
forth detailed procedures for the establishment of labour unions, dispute resolution and employee
removal and legislation that imposes certain financial obligations on employers upon retrenchment of
employees. Our employees are not unionised, and in the event that employees at our hospitals seek to
unionise, our costs may increase and our business could be adversely affected. Occurrence of any strikes
and work-stoppage in the future will adversely affect our reputation, business, financial condition and
results of operations.

The Promoter Group does not include Smita Shah and Parul Shah (sisters of Dr Vikram Shah and
sisters-in-law of Dr Darshini Shah, the Individual Promoters), or any entity in which they may have
an interest, respectively.

The Promoter Group does not include Smita Shah and Parul Shah (sisters of Dr Vikram Shah and sisters-
in-law of Dr Darshini Shah, the Individual Promoters), or an entity in which Smita Shah and Parul Shah
may have an interest. Due to their relationship with Dr Vikram Shah and Dr Darshini Shah, we have not
been able to obtain any information or undertakings from Smita Shah and Parul Shah, or any entity in
which they may have an interest, as the case may be, as is customarily obtained in offerings in the nature
of the Offer. As such, this Prospectus does not contain any information or undertakings in relation to
Smita Shah and Parul Shah, or an entity in which they may have an interest, respectively. For details, see
“Our Promoters and Promoter Group” on page 205.

Our insurance coverage may not adequately protect us against certain operating hazards and this may
have an adverse effect on our business. Further, our insurance premia may increase and any
significant deterioration in our claims experience, may result in insurance not being available to us
on acceptable terms.

Our existing insurance may not be sufficient to cover all damages, whether foreseeable or not. We have
not provided indemnity insurance for our doctors and there is no certainty that we will be able to
adequately satisfy all claims arising from medical negligence or malpractice. Additionally, although
pursuant to the terms of the medical consultancy contracts with our doctors, such doctors are required to
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obtain professional indemnity insurance, some of our specialist physicians do not maintain such
insurance. As a result, any successful claims against us in excess of the insurance coverage may adversely
affect our business, reputation, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows and prospects.
Insurance against losses of this type can be expensive and insurance premiums may increase in the near
future. Insurance rates may also vary by speciality and other factors. The rising costs of insurance
premiums could have a material adverse effect on our financial position and results of operations.

Additionally, although we maintain workmen’s compensation insurance to cover us for costs and
expenses we may incur due to radiation injuries to our employees in our workplace, including those
resulting from the use of hazardous materials, this insurance may not provide adequate coverage against
potential liabilities. Similarly, while we maintain fire insurance to cover us for costs and expenses arising
out of damage caused by fire, there is no certainty that such insurance will be adequate to cover all
liabilities that may arise on account of fire hazards at any of our hospitals.

We also do not maintain any business interruption insurance. Any business disruption could result in
substantial expenses, diversion of resources and could have a material adverse effect on our business,
financial condition and results of operations. Further, our expenditure towards obtaining insurance may
increase if the premium to be paid on our policies is increased by insurance companies. Further, the more
the number of claims we make on an insurer with respect to a particular risk, the worse our claim history
becomes, thus resulting in a potential increase in premium payable when we renew our insurance policies.
Increase in insurance premium payable may impact our profits adversely.

Lack of health insurance in India may affect our business, cash flows and results of operations.

Penetration of health insurance providers in India is very low. In the absence of health insurance,
procedures and diagnostics involving significant costs may not be affordable to a number of patients.
Such patients may choose not to undergo such procedures, despite being in need of them, or may choose
to undergo similar procedures from hospitals which are less costly.

Further, most indemnity plans under health insurance policies in India are designed so that the insured is
responsible to pay out-of-pocket expenses to the healthcare providers and then file a claim to get
reimbursed. This reimbursement policy favours wealthier patients. In contrast, the lower income
households are unable to afford the insurance premium or pay the medical fees upfront. Furthermore,
most health insurance policies in India cover only inpatient care costs. Consequently, higher out-of-
pocket expenses related to healthcare in India may make healthcare unaffordable for lower income
households. Due to the lack of viable health insurance policies in India, demand for our medical services
may not increase as expected. As a result, we may not be able to provide medical services and may not
benefit from the revenue we may expect to realise from such services.

Certain of our Subsidiaries have incurred losses in the past, which may have an adverse effect on our
reputation and business.

Certain of our Subsidiaries have incurred losses during Fiscals 2017, 2016, and 2015, as set out below.

Name of the Subsidiary Losses for the Fiscal
R in million)
2017 2016 2015
Yogeshwar Healthcare - (1.76) (3.11)
VSHL (22.45) (28.33) (28.76)
Shalby International (0.02) (0.26) -
Shalby Kenya - (2.22) Negligible

For further details on our Subsidiaries, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Our Subsidiaries”
on page 182.

There can be no assurance that our Subsidiaries will not incur losses in the future. Any losses incurred
by our Subsidiaries may have an adverse effect on our reputation and business.
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We have a number of contingent liabilities, and our profitability could be adversely affected if any of
these contingent liabilities crystallizes.

As at June 30, 2017, our contingent liabilities, as per Accounting Standards 29 — provisions, contingent
liabilities and contingent assets, that have not been provided for are as set out in the table below:

Sr.

No Particulars As at 30" June, 2017

A. | Contingent Liabilities not provided for in respect of

(i) | Claim against the company not acknowledged as debt 75.72
(i) | Income Tax Demand for Assessment Years
2010-2011 2461
2011-2012 13.43
2012-2013 2.06
2014-2015 13.31
Total 53.41
(iii) | Letter of Credit 11.98
(iv) | Bank Guarantee 8.56
W) Sales Tax Demand inpluding Interest anq Penalty for Financial Years
(Based on Expert Advice Received by Client)
2009-2010 5.42
2010-2011 2.02
2011-2012 1.82
2012-2013 1.96
2013-2014 2.94
(i) Tax Deducted at Sources Demand fo_r Assessment Year (Inclusive of
Interest) (Based on expert advice received by client)
2008-2009 to 2016 -2017 0.52
2014-2015 29.97*
(*Including Interest of X21.04 million)
(vii) | Export Obligation under EPCG Scheme 46.19

B. | Capital Commitments

Estimated amount of contract remaining to be executed on capital

accounts (Net of Advances) 507.27

If any of these contingent liabilities materialises, our results of operations and financial condition may
be adversely affected. For further details on our contingent liabilities, see “Financial Statements —
Annexure 5 — Standalone Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Notes to Accounts” and
“Financial Statements — Annexure 5 — Consolidated Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and
Notes to Accounts” on pages 295 and 231, respectively.

Our ability to pay dividends in the future will depend upon future earnings, financial condition, cash
flows, working capital requirements and capital expenditure.

As with any business, our ability to generate returns for Shareholders is dependent on a host of factors
that impact our business and financial condition. For details of dividends paid by our Company in the
past, see “Dividend Policy” on page 217. The amount of future dividend payments, if any, will depend
upon a number of factors, such as our future earnings, financial condition, cash flows, working capital
requirements, contractual obligations, applicable Indian legal restrictions, capital expenditure and cost
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of indebtedness. In addition, our ability to pay dividends may be impacted by a number of factors,
including restrictive covenants under the loan or financing agreements we may enter into. Even in years
in which we may have profits, we may decide to retain all of our earnings to finance the development
and expansion of our business and, therefore, may not declare dividends on our Equity Shares. We may
also require the consent of our lenders to be able to declare dividend, which consent may be withheld by
our lenders in their absolute discretion. There can therefore be no assurance that we will be able to pay
dividends in the future.

Any downtime for maintenance and repair of our medical equipment could lead to business
interruptions that could be expensive and harmful to our reputation and to our business.

Our equipment, including operation theatres, require constant maintenance, including cleaning, sanitising
and overhaul. Maintenance work on most equipment can be performed only by the manufacturer or a
designated service provider and involves significant downtime to complete maintenance. At times,
maintenance of some equipment cannot be performed at our hospitals, and may have to be moved to the
location of the manufacturer or service provider, adding to the downtime. Our equipment is subject to
normal wear and tear and will be in need of repairs from time to time. Some repairs may be routine in
nature, involving lower downtime, and some repairs may require replacement of parts of the equipment,
which may be time consuming. During such times, we may not be able to put the equipment to use. We
may, as a result, suffer losses by reason of not being able to use such equipment.

We are vulnerable to failures of our IT systems, which could adversely affect our business.

We are reliant on our centralised cloud-based ERP systems for all our clinical, administrative and
procurement needs for hospitals across locations. These systems are maintained and operated
electronically by third party technology service providers. We use our ERP systems to continually
monitor, respond to and interact with personnel in hospitals situated across the country on a variety of
issues, beginning general administration, finances, procurement, maintenance, handling of significant
events and compliance. A large part of our communications happens over email, which is cloud-based.
Our payroll processes are entirely electronic, operating from a hospital resource management system
platform. We are therefore dependent heavily on our IT systems to be able to undertake day-to-day
operations, management and administration. We have invested significantly in these resources, and our
ability to continue to use these facilities will depend on ongoing licence fees payable and capital
expenditure which we may be required to incur from time to time. Our business will be significantly
impacted if there are failures in our IT systems or are unable to negotiate favourable terms with our
technology service providers going forward.

We may not be able to effectively manage our growth, which may materially and adversely affect our
business, financial conditions and results of operations.

Our management adopts and implements business strategies taking into account a number of macro and
micro economic considerations, including our current financial condition and expected levels of growth
over the medium to long term. We routinely expand into and enter new markets within India, by either
setting up new hospitals on our own, or entering into lease or revenue share arrangements with existing
hospitals. Our entry into a given market is dictated by a host of factors and our perception of the potential
the market may offer. We may make significant investment decisions on the basis of the above. For
instance, we have recently acquired Shalby Mohali, which was earlier operated by us through an O&M
arrangement, from Kamesh hospital pursuant to a scheme of arrangement which was approved by the
NCLT by way of an order dated July 13, 2013 and by the High Court of Gujarat by way of an order dated
September 30, 2016. For further details, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Acquisition of
Business, Mergers and Amalgamations” on page 185. Since we are currently in the process of acquiring
Shalby Mohali, we are unable to accurately forecast the performance of our investment.

In undertaking an acquisition, we typically conduct limited due diligence exercises on the businesses and
entities, and rely heavily on representations, warranties, and indemnities provided by the sellers of their
businesses. Despite this, our analysis of a given market, including growth potential, may turn out to be
incorrect, regardless of any caution that we may exercise. As with an acquisition of third party businesses,
the underlying risk that undisclosed liabilities from the past and historic non-compliance in relation to
these businesses may exist, notwithstanding the exercise of due diligence by our Company, or the
obtaining of indemnities that our Company considers adequate in context of the acquisitions, including
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with respect to quantum, time periods, exclusions, and monetary limitations. The existence of
undisclosed liabilities or historic non-compliance may, depending on their nature and materiality, impact
the acquired business, including resulting in claims, damages, loss, and interruption to business. In such
an event, regardless of any contractual rights against counterparties that our Company may have, our
Company may have to bear the consequences of such undisclosed liabilities or historic non-compliance,
and be entangled in disputes over an indefinite period of time to enforce its rights. Such events may
materially affect our Company’s and the acquired business’ financial condition, revenue, and
profitability.

This apart, we may commit errors in judgment in analysing current and future demand for healthcare in
particular markets. We may make investments in markets which may take a long time to turn profitable.
For further details, see “Our Business — Description of Business — Hospitals — Expansion Plans” on page
165. Our business decisions are also influenced by our perception of existing competition in a market
and our ability to effectively compete with existing market participants. Our analysis of these factors
may turn out to be incorrect, thus materially affecting our business and financial condition.

We have had instances of non-compliances in relation to certain regulatory filings to be made with
the RoC in the past. Further, we have also had instances of errors in the regulatory filings made with
the RoC in the past.

We have had instances of certain non-compliances in the past in relation to certain regulatory filing under
the Companies Act, 1956 and the Companies Act, 2013. Further, we have also had instances of errors in
the regulatory filings made with the RoC under the Companies Act, 1956. In June 2013, our Company
filed an application for compounding before the Regional Director (North-Western Region), Ahmedabad
in connection with a delay in filing Form 8 in respect of creation of charge in favour of a lender. The
delay was compounded by the Regional Director (North-Western Region), Ahmedabad pursuant to an
order dated July 29, 2013 on payment of 4,000 by our Company. For further details, see “Outstanding
Litigation and Material Developments — Litigation involving our Company — Delays of prosecutions filed
(whether pending or not), fines imposed or compounding of offences effected in the last five years from
the date of filing of this Prospectus” on page 393. Further, for Fiscal 2016, our Company’s spend on CSR
activities has been less than the limits prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013. The deficiency in
spending the requisite amount has been disclosed by our Company, in terms of the requirement under
Companies Act, 2013, in the director’s report for Fiscal 2016. Going forward, our Company shall
endeavour to expend the minimum amount prescribed under the Companies Act, 2013, on CSR activities.
However, there is no assurance that our Company will be able to spend the amounts prescribed under the
Companies Act, 2013, in the future, towards CSR activities.

We continuously endeavour to ensure utmost compliance with applicable law at all times. However, with
the expansion of our operations there can be no assurance that deficiencies in our internal controls and
compliances will not arise, or that we will be able to implement, and continue to maintain, adequate
measures to rectify or mitigate any such deficiencies in our internal controls, in a timely manner or at all.

If we are unable to establish and maintain an effective system of internal controls and compliances,
our business and reputation could be adversely affected.

At present, our internal control and compliance records are maintained electronically and may be subject
to errors or manipulation. There can be no assurance that deficiencies in our internal controls will not
arise, or that we will be able to implement, and continue to maintain, adequate measures to rectify or
mitigate any such deficiencies in our internal controls. Any inability on our part to adequately detect,
rectify, or mitigate any such deficiencies in our internal controls may adversely impact our ability to
accurately report, or successfully manage, our financial risks, and to avoid fraud. Further, some of our
records may not be appropriately archived, and as a result, we may not have back-ups for our records,
and such records may also be susceptible to theft or destruction by fire and floods. If we are unable to
establish and maintain an effective system of internal controls and compliances, our business and
reputation could be adversely impacted.
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Our Promoters, some of our Group Entities, Directors and Key Management Personnel may have
interests in us other than reimbursement of expenses incurred or normal remuneration or benefits.

In addition to their respective shareholding in our Company, the commercial transactions undertaken by
our Company in the ordinary course of business, and any remuneration, benefits or reimbursements, our
Promoters, Group Entities, Directors and Key Management Personnel have certain other interests in us.
For instance, pursuant to a consultancy agreement dated February 5, 2014, amended by way of a
supplementary agreement dated January 28, 2016, Dr Vikram Shah has been designated as Head —
Department of Orthopaedics of our Company. In his capacity as Head — Department of Orthopaedics of
our Company, he is entitled to draw professional fees from our Company on the basis of certain agreed
margins for arthroplasty surgeries, non-arthroplasty surgery and zero technique procedures undertaken
by him at our hospitals. Similarly, by way of a consultancy agreement dated February 5, 2014, Dr
Darshini Shah has been designated as Head — Department of Dentistry of our Company. In accordance
with the terms of the abovementioned agreement, she is entitled to draw professional fee from our
Company on the basis of certain agreed margins from the gross dental income earned by Krishna Shalby,
SG Shalby, and Vijay Shalby. Further, pursuant to a letter of appointment dated October 5, 2013, Shanay
Shah has been designated as Director (International Business) of our Company. Apart from the
abovementioned agreements, our Company has also executed certain lease agreements with Dr Vikram
Shah.

For further details, see “Our Management — Interests of Directors”, “Our Management — Interests of Key
Management Personnel” and “Our Promoters and Promoter Group — Interests of Promoters” on pages
192, 203 and 206, respectively.

Further, some of Group Entities have certain business and other interests in our Company. For details,
see “Our Group Entities — Nature and extent of interest of Group Entities” on page 213.

Also see, “Financial Statements — Annexure 35 — Standalone Summary Statement of Related Parties as
restated” and “Financial Statements — Annexure 35 — Consolidated Summary Statement of Related
Parties as restated” on pages 338 and 280.

Our Promoters and Promoter Group will be able to exercise significant influence and control over our
operations after the Offer and may have interests that are different from those of our other
shareholders.

As of the date of this Prospectus, our Promoters and Promoter Group hold 97.86% of our issued and
outstanding Equity Share capital. Post the Offer, our Promoters and Promoter Group will continue to
hold 79.40% of our issued and outstanding Equity Share capital. By virtue of their shareholding, our
Promoters and Promoter Group will have the ability to exercise significant control and influence over
our affairs and business, including the appointment of Directors, the timing and payment of dividends,
the adoption of and amendments to our Memorandum and Articles of Association, the approval of a
merger, amalgamation or sale of substantially all of our assets and the approval of most other actions
requiring the approval of our shareholders. The interests of our Promoters and Promoter Group may be
different from or conflict with the interests of our other shareholders and their influence may result in
change of our management or in our control, even if such a transaction may not be beneficial to our other
shareholders.

We are significantly dependent on our current pool of Key Management Personnel to manage our
day-to-day operations and to execute our growth strategy going forward.

We depend on our current pool of Key Management Personnel to carry out our day-to-day management
and overseeing of operations. We also rely on them significantly to plan and execute our growth strategy
in the future. For details on our Key Management Personnel, see “Our Management — Key Management
Personnel” on page 201. The availability of senior management talent in the healthcare industry,
especially those with experience in handling large-scale hospitals is limited. We may not be able to retain
the services of the current management team, and could lose talent to competition. Replacement of Key
Management Personnel may not be easy, and we may need to wait indefinitely to fill positions until we
find suitable candidates. Any significant loss of senior management or key personnel could materially
and adversely affect our business and prospects.
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Third party statistical and financial data in this Prospectus may be incomplete and unreliable.

This Prospectus includes information that is derived from an industry report, “Independent Market
Assessment of Indian Healthcare Industry for IPO” published by Frost & Sullivan (the “F&S Report”).
For details, see “Industry Overview” on page 129. No person connected with this Offer has independently
verified the F&S Report. Generally industry reports and data disclaims the accuracy, adequacy or
completeness of information provided in such reports, and further disclaims any responsibility for any
errors or omissions in the information provided, or for the results obtained from the use of such industry
information. Further, the F&S Report is subject to many assumptions. There are no standard data
gathering methodologies in the industries in which we conduct our business, and methodologies and
assumptions may vary widely among different industry sources. Further, such assumptions may change
based on various factors. We cannot assure you that the assumptions considered in the F&S Report are
correct or will not change and accordingly our position in the market may differ from that presented in
this Prospectus. Further, the F&S Report is not a recommendation to invest / disinvest in the Equity
Shares. Further, generally industry reports and data disclaims all responsibility and liability for any costs,
damages, losses, liabilities incurred by any third party including subscribers / users / transmitters /
distributors in the Offer who uses or relies upon the industry information, or extracts there from.
Prospective investors are advised not to unduly rely on the F&S Report when making their investment
decisions.

The objects of the Offer for which funds are being raised have not been appraised by any bank or
financial institution.

Our funding requirements and the deployment of the Net Offer proceeds are based on management
estimates and discussions and have not been appraised by any bank or financial institution. Accordingly,
it cannot be assured that these estimates are accurate. We may have to revise our management estimates
from time to time and consequently, our funding requirements may also change. Our estimates may
exceed the value that would have been determined by third party appraisals and may require us to
reschedule our project expenditure, which may have a bearing on our expected revenue and earnings.
Further, if the actual expenditure for the objects of the Offer exceeds the estimates of our management,
we may be required to raise additional debt, on terms that may not be entirely favourable to us, which
may, in turn affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Any variation in the utilisation of the Net Proceeds as disclosed in this Prospectus shall be subject to
certain compliance requirements, including prior approval from Shareholders.

We propose to utilize the Net Proceeds towards (i) repayment or prepayment of certain loans availed by
our Company, (ii) purchase of medical equipment for existing, recently set up and upcoming hospitals,
(iii) purchase of interiors, furniture and allied infrastructure for upcoming hospitals, and (iv) general
corporate purposes. For further details of the proposed objects of the Offer, see “Objects of the Offer” on
page 107. At this point, we cannot determine with certainty if we would be able to completely utilise the
Net Proceeds towards the objects aforementioned. In accordance with Section 27 of the Companies Act,
2013, we cannot undertake any variation in the utilisation of the Net Proceeds as disclosed in the
Prospectus without obtaining the Shareholders’ approval through a special resolution. Further, our
Promoters or controlling shareholders would be required to provide an exit opportunity to the
Shareholders who do not agree with our proposal to modify the objects of the Offer, at a price and in the
;manner set out under the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Additionally, the requirement on Promoters or
controlling shareholders to provide an exit opportunity to such dissenting shareholders may deter the
Promoters or controlling shareholders from agreeing to the variation of the proposed utilisation of the
Net Proceeds, even if such variation is in our best interests. Further, we cannot assure you that the
Promoters or our controlling shareholders will have adequate resources at their disposal at the time,
which would enable them to provide an exit opportunity at the price prescribed by SEBI under Chapter
VI-A of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. In light of these factors, we may not be able to undertake variation
of objects of the Offer to use unutilised proceeds of the Offer, if any. This may restrict our ability to
respond to any change in our business or financial condition by re-deploying the unutilized portion of
the Net Proceeds, if any, which may adversely affect our business and results of operations.

The proceeds from Offer for Sale will not be available to us.
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This Offer comprises of a Fresh Issue of Equity Shares by our Company and an Offer for Sale of Equity
Shares by the Selling Shareholder. All the proceeds from the Offer for Sale will be remitted to the Selling
Shareholder, and such proceeds will not be available to our Company.

EXTERNAL RISK FACTORS
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Challenges that affect the healthcare industry will have an effect on our operations.

As a provider of health care services, we are impacted by challenges that affect the industry in general.
These include general economic conditions and outlook, improvements in technologies, increase in
operating costs, government regulation and policy and importantly, our competitive position in the
market in general. These factors will impact us and our business on an ongoing basis. We will be
constrained to respond to changes adequately to remain profitable, including bringing about changes to
operations, cutting down on costs, and reassessing growth plans and strategies. We are unable to predict
these challenges and cannot assure you that we will continue to maintain our current levels of financial
performance.

Compliance with applicable health, safety, environmental and other governmental regulations may be
costly and adversely affect our results of operations.

Compliance with applicable health, safety, environmental and other governmental regulations is time
consuming, costly and requires a number of dedicated personnel. We are subjected to payment of fees
and levies on an ongoing basis with respect to a number of licences, approvals, consents and permissions
we are required to obtain from governmental authorities. We are also required to avail a number of third
party services with respect to collection, treatment and disposal of wastes generated from our hospitals.
We expend significant funds in making such payments. We are required to periodically maintain a
number of records and registers and file a number of returns. Ensuring compliance requires that we hire
trained personnel across our locations. Our compliance costs may adversely affect our revenue.

Changing laws, rules and regulations and legal uncertainties, including adverse application of tax
laws and regulations, in India may adversely affect our business and financial performance.

Our business and financial performance could be adversely affected by unfavourable changes in, or
interpretations of existing laws, or the promulgation of new laws, rules and regulations applicable to us
and our business. See “Regulations and Policies” on page 172.

The regulatory and policy environment in which we operate is evolving and subject to change. There can
be no assurance that the Government of India may not implement new regulations and policies which
will require us to obtain approvals and licenses from the Government and other regulatory bodies, or
impose onerous requirements, conditions, costs and expenditure on our operations. Any such changes
and the related uncertainties with respect to the implementation of the new regulations may have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, we may
have to incur capital expenditure to comply with the requirements of any new regulations, which may
also materially harm our results of operations. Any changes to such laws, including the instances briefly
mentioned below, may adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of operations and
prospects:

" The Government of India has recently approved a comprehensive national GST regime that will
combine taxes and levies by the Central and State Governments into a unified rate structure. The
implementation of this new structure may be affected by any disagreement between certain State
Governments, which could create uncertainty. Any such future amendments may affect our
overall tax efficiency, and may result in significant additional taxes becoming payable.

] The General Anti Avoidance Rules (“GAAR”) have recently been notified by way of an
amendment to the IT Act, and have come into effect from April 1, 2017. While the intent of this
legislation is to prevent business arrangements set up with the intent to avoid tax incidence under
the IT Act, certain exemptions have been notified, viz., (i) arrangements where the tax benefit to
all parties under an arrangement is less than ¥30 million, (ii) where Foreign Institutional Investors
(“FI11s”) have not taken benefit of a double tax avoidance tax treaty under Section 90 or 90A of

43



60.

the IT Act and have invested in listed or unlisted securities with approval from SEBI, (iii) where
a non-resident has made an investment, either direct or indirect, by way of an offshore derivative
instrument in an FII. Further, investments made up to March 31, 2017 shall not be subject to
GAAR provided that GAAR may apply to any business arrangement pursuant to which tax benefit
is obtained on or after April 1, 2017, irrespective of the date on which such arrangement was
entered into.

. According to the Order dated August 16, 2017, by the National Pharmaceuticals Pricing
Authority, Department of Pharmaceuticals, Government of India, a cap has been introduced in the
pricing of orthopedic surgical procedures using knee implants performed by hospitals and clinics,
amongst others. As a result, our charges in relation to knee replacement surgeries may have to be
reduced in line with the requirements set out in the abovementioned order, which may in-turn
adversely impact our margins and profitability.

We have not determined the impact of these recent and proposed laws and regulations on our business.
Uncertainty in the applicability, interpretation or implementation of any amendment to, or change in,
governing law, regulation or policy in the jurisdictions in which we operate, including by reason of an
absence, or a limited body, of administrative or judicial precedent may be time consuming as well as
costly for us to resolve and may impact the viability of our current business or restrict our ability to grow
our business in the future. Further, if we are affected, directly or indirectly, by the application or
interpretation of any provision of such laws and regulations or any related proceedings, or are required
to bear any costs in order to comply with such provisions or to defend such proceedings, our business
and financial performance may be adversely affected.

We may be affected by competition laws, the adverse application or interpretation of which could
adversely affect our business.

The Competition Act, 2002, of India, as amended (“Competition Act”) regulates practices having an
appreciable adverse effect on competition in the relevant market in India (“AAEC”). Under the
Competition Act, any formal or informal arrangement, understanding or action in concert, which causes
or is likely to cause an AAEC is considered void and may result in the imposition of substantial penalties.
Further, any agreement among competitors which directly or indirectly involves the determination of
purchase or sale prices, limits or controls production, supply, markets, technical development, investment
or the provision of services or shares the market or source of production or provision of services in any
manner, including by way of allocation of geographical area or number of customers in the relevant
market or directly or indirectly results in bid-rigging or collusive bidding is presumed to have an AAEC
and is considered void. The Competition Act also prohibits abuse of a dominant position by any
enterprise.

On March 4, 2011, the Government notified and brought into force the combination regulation (merger
control) provisions under the Competition Act with effect from June 1, 2011. These provisions require
acquisitions of shares, voting rights, assets or control or mergers or amalgamations that cross the
prescribed asset and turnover based thresholds to be mandatorily notified to and pre-approved by the
Competition Commission of India (the “CCI”). Additionally, on May 11, 2011, the CCI issued
Competition Commission of India (Procedure for Transaction of Business Relating to Combinations)
Regulations, 2011, as amended, which sets out the mechanism for implementation of the merger control
regime in India.

The Competition Act aims to, among others, prohibit all agreements and transactions which may have
an AAEC in India. Consequently, all agreements entered into by us could be within the purview of the
Competition Act. Further, the CCI has extra-territorial powers and can investigate any agreements,
abusive conduct or combination occurring outside India if such agreement, conduct or combination has
an AAEC in India. However, the impact of the provisions of the Competition Act on the agreements
entered into by us cannot be predicted with certainty at this stage. However, since we pursue an
acquisition driven growth strategy, we may be affected, directly or indirectly, by the application or
interpretation of any provision of the Competition Act, or any enforcement proceedings initiated by the
CCl, or any adverse publicity that may be generated due to scrutiny or prosecution by the CCI or if any
prohibition or substantial penalties are levied under the Competition Act, it would adversely affect our
business, results of operations and prospects.
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The determination of the Price Band is based on various factors and assumptions and the Offer Price
may not be indicative of the market price of the Equity Shares once the Equity Shares are listed.
Further, the current market price of securities listed pursuant to certain initial public offerings
managed by the BRLMs is below their respective issue price.

The determination of the Price Band is based on various quantitative and qualitative factors and
assumptions, and shall be determined by our Company and the Selling Shareholder in consultation with
the BRLMs. Furthermore, the Offer Price will be determined by our Company and the Selling
Shareholder, in consultation with the BRLMs based on the book building process, on the basis of
assessment of market demand for the Equity Shares. For details, see “Basis of Offer Price” on page 118.
In addition to the above, certain previous initial public offerings managed by the BRLMs have opened
at a price lower than their issue price and continue to trade lower than their respective issue price. For
details of price information of past issues handled by the BRLMs, see “Other Regulatory and Statutory
Disclosures” on page 404. The factors that could affect the market price of the Equity Shares include,
among others, broad market trends, financial performance and results of our Company post-listing of its
Equity Shares, and other factors beyond our control. We cannot assure you that an active market will
develop or sustained trading will take place in the Equity Shares, or provide any assurance regarding the
price at which the Equity Shares will be traded after listing.

Any future issuance of Equity Shares may dilute your shareholdings, and sales of our Equity Shares
by our Promoters may adversely affect the trading price of the Equity Shares.

Any future equity issuances by us, may lead to the dilution of investors’ shareholdings in our Company.
In addition, any sales of substantial amounts of our Equity Shares in the public market after the
completion of this Offer, including by our Promoters or other major shareholders, or the perception that
such sales could occur, could adversely affect the market price of our Equity Shares and could materially
impair our future ability to raise capital through offerings of our Equity Shares. Our Promoters
currently hold an aggregate of 97.86% of our outstanding Equity Shares. After the completion of the
Offer, our Promoters will continue to hold a significant portion of our outstanding Equity Shares. We
cannot predict what effect, if any, market sales of our Equity Shares held by our Promoters or other major
shareholders or the availability of these Equity Shares for future sale will have on the market price of
our Equity Shares.

It may not be possible for investors outside India to enforce any judgment obtained outside India
against our Company or our management or any of our associates or affiliates in India, except by way
of a suit in India.

Our Company is incorporated as a public limited company under the laws of India and all of our directors
and executive officers reside in India. Further, certain of our assets, and the assets of our executive
officers and directors, are located in India. As a result, it may be difficult to effect service of process
outside India upon us and our executive officers and directors or to enforce judgments obtained in courts
outside India against us or our executive officers and directors, including judgments predicated upon the
civil liability provisions of the securities laws of jurisdictions outside India.

India has reciprocal recognition and enforcement of judgments in civil and commercial matters with only
a limited number of jurisdictions, which includes the United Kingdom, Singapore and Hong Kong. In
order to be enforceable, a judgment from a jurisdiction with reciprocity must meet certain requirements
of the Indian Code of Civil Procedure, 1908 (the “Civil Code”). The Civil Code only permits the
enforcement of monetary decrees, not being in the nature of any amounts payable in respect of taxes,
other charges, fines or penalties. Judgments or decrees from jurisdictions which do not have reciprocal
recognition with India cannot be enforced by proceedings in execution in India. Therefore, a final
judgment for the payment of money rendered by any court in a non-reciprocating territory for civil
liability, whether or not predicated solely upon the general laws of the non-reciprocating territory, would
not be enforceable in India. Even if an investor obtained a judgment in such a jurisdiction against us, our
officers or directors, it may be required to institute a new proceeding in India and obtain a decree from
an Indian court. However, the party in whose favour such final judgment is rendered may bring a fresh
suit in a competent court in India based on a final judgment that has been obtained in a non-reciprocating
territory within three years of obtaining such final judgment. It is unlikely that an Indian court would
award damages on the same basis or to the same extent as was awarded in a final judgment rendered by
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a court in another jurisdiction if the Indian court believed that the amount of damages awarded was
excessive or inconsistent with public policy in India. In addition, any person seeking to enforce a foreign
judgment in India is required to obtain prior approval of the RBI to repatriate any amount recovered
pursuant to the execution of the judgment.

Significant differences exist between Indian GAAP and other accounting principles, such as U.S.
GAAP and IFRS, which may be material to the financial statements prepared and presented in
accordance with SEBI Regulations contained in this Prospectus.

The financial statements included in this Prospectus are based on financial information that is based on
the audited financial statements that are prepared and presented in conformity with Indian GAAP and
restated in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, and no attempt has been made to reconcile any
of the information given in this Prospectus to any other principles or to base it on any other standards.
Indian GAAP differs from accounting principles and auditing standards with which prospective investors
may be familiar in other countries, such as U.S. GAAP and IFRS. Significant differences exist between
Indian GAAP and U.S. GAAP and IFRS, which may be material to the financial information prepared
and presented in accordance with Indian GAAP contained in this Prospectus. Accordingly, the degree to
which the financial information included in this Prospectus will provide meaningful information is
dependent on familiarity with Indian GAAP, the Companies Act and the SEBI Regulations. Any reliance
by persons not familiar with Indian GAAP on the financial disclosures presented in this Prospectus
should accordingly be limited.

Public companies in India, including us, are required to prepare financial statements under Ind AS
and compute Income Tax under the Income Computation and Disclosure Standards (the “ICDS”).
The transition to Ind AS and ICDS in India is very recent and we may be negatively affected by such
transition.

Our financial statements, including the restated financial information included in this Prospectus are
prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP and restated in accordance with the requirement of SEBI
ICDR Regulations. The Ministry of Corporate Affairs, Gol has, pursuant to a notification dated February
16, 2015, set out the Ind AS and the timelines for the implementation of Ind AS. Accordingly, our
Company is required to prepare its financial statements in accordance with Ind AS from April 1, 2017.
The Ind AS have been prepared on the basis of IFRS, and are different in many aspects from Indian
GAAP under which our financial statements are currently prepared and presented. For instance,
accounting policies related to determination of control for consolidation, accounting of
acquisitions/business combinations, recording of minority interest, accounting for leases and revenue
sharing arrangements, accounting of deferred taxes, use of fair value for recording assets and liabilities,
classification of financial assets and liabilities, disclosure impact in connection with financial
instruments, segment reporting, related party disclosures, interim financial reporting, etc. in terms of the
Ind AS are different from the accounting policies for these items under Indian GAAP. As a result, our
financial statements for the period commencing from April 1, 2017 may not be comparable to our
historical financial statements.

Further, there can be no assurance that the adoption of Ind AS will not affect our reported results of
operations or financial condition. Our management is currently devoting and will continue to need to
devote time and other resources for the successful and timely implementation of Ind AS. A failure to
successfully transition into the Ind AS regime may have an adverse effect on the trading price of the
Equity Shares and/or may lead to regulatory action and other legal consequences against our Company.
Moreover, our transition to Ind AS reporting may be hampered by increasing competition and increased
costs for the relatively small number of Ind AS-experienced accounting personnel available as more
Indian companies begin to prepare Ind AS financial statements. There is not yet a significant body of
established practice from which to draw references/judgments regarding the implementation and
application of Ind AS. Any of these factors relating to the use of Ind AS may adversely affect our financial
condition and results of operations. For further details in relation to the impact of Ind AS on the
preparation and presentation of our financial statements, see “Significant Differences between Indian
GAAP and Ind AS” on page 349.

Additionally, the Ministry of Finance, Gol has issued a notification dated March 31, 2015 notifying ICDS

which creates a new framework for the computation of taxable income. ICDS came into effect from April
1, 2015 and are applicable from Fiscal 2016 onwards. Therefore, ICDS will have a direct impact on
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computation of taxable income of our Company from Fiscal 2016 onwards. ICDS differs on several
aspects from accounting standards including the Indian GAAP and Ind AS. For instance, where ICDS-
based calculations of taxable income differ from Indian GAAP or Ind AS-based concepts, the ICDS-
based calculations have the effect of requiring taxable income to be recognized earlier, increasing overall
levels of taxation or both. For further details, see “Financial Statements” and “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” on pages 218 and 354, respectively.
There can be no assurance that the adoption of ICDS will not adversely affect our business, results of
operations and financial condition.

You may be subject to Indian taxes arising out of capital gains on the sale of the Equity Shares.

Under the IT Act, capital gains arising from the sale of equity shares in an Indian company are generally
taxable in India except any gain realised on the sale of shares on a stock exchange held for more than 12
months will not be subject to capital gains tax in India if the STT has been paid on the transaction. The
STT will be levied on and collected by an Indian stock exchange on which equity shares are sold. Any
gain realised on the sale of shares held for more than 12 months to an Indian resident, which are sold
other than on a recognised stock exchange and as a result of which no STT has been paid, will be subject
to long term capital gains tax in India. Further, any gain realised on the sale of shares on a stock exchange
held for a period of 12 months or less will be subject to short term capital gains tax. Further, any gain
realised on the sale of listed equity shares held for a period of 12 months or less which are sold other
than on a recognised stock exchange and on which no STT has been paid, will be subject to short term
capital gains tax at a relatively higher rate as compared to the transaction where STT has been paid in
India. Capital gains arising from the sale of shares will be exempt from taxation in India in cases where
an exemption is provided under a tax treaty between India and the country of which the seller is a resident.
Generally, Indian tax treaties do not limit India’s ability to impose tax on capital gains. As a result,
residents of other countries may be liable for tax in India as well as in their own jurisdictions on gains
arising from a sale of the shares subject to relief available under the applicable tax treaty or under the
laws of their own jurisdiction.

Government regulation of foreign ownership of Indian securities may have an adverse effect on the
price of the Equity Shares.

Foreign ownership of Indian securities is subject to government regulations. In accordance with foreign
exchange regulations currently in effect in India, under certain circumstances the RBI must approve the
sale of the Equity Shares from a non-resident of India to a resident of India or vice-versa if the sale does
not meet certain requirements specified by the RBI. Additionally, any person who seeks to convert the
Rupee proceeds from any such sale into foreign currency and repatriate that foreign currency from India
is required to obtain a no-objection or a tax clearance certificate from the Indian income tax authorities.
As provided in the foreign exchange controls currently in effect in India, the RBI has provided that
the price at which the Equity Shares are transferred be calculated in accordance with internationally accepted
pricing methodology for the valuation of shares at an arm’s length basis, and a higher (or lower, as applicable)
price per share may not be permitted. We cannot assure investors that any required approval from the
RBI or any other government agency can be obtained on terms favourable to a non-resident investor in
a timely manner or at all. Because of possible delays in obtaining requisite approvals, investors in the
Equity Shares may be prevented from realizing gains during periods of price increase or limiting losses
during periods of price decline.

A third party could be prevented from acquiring control of our Company because of anti-takeover
provisions under Indian law.

There are provisions in Indian law that may delay, deter or prevent a future takeover or change in control
of our Company, even if a change in control would result in the purchase of your Equity Shares at a
premium to the market price or would otherwise be beneficial to you. Such provisions may discourage
or prevent certain types of transactions involving actual or threatened change in control of our Company.
Under the Takeover Regulations, an acquirer has been defined as any person who, directly or indirectly,
acquires or agrees to acquire shares or voting rights or control over a company, whether individually or
acting in concert with others. Although these provisions have been formulated to ensure that interests of
investors/shareholders are protected, these provisions may also discourage a third party from attempting
to take control of our Company. Consequently, even if a potential takeover of our Company would result
in the purchase of the Equity Shares at a premium to their market price or would otherwise be beneficial
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69.

70.

to its stakeholders, it is possible that such a takeover would not be attempted or consummated because
of the Takeover Regulations.

Natural calamities could have a negative effect on the Indian economy and cause our business to
suffer.

India has experienced natural calamities such as earthquakes, tsunami, floods and drought in the past
few years. The extent and severity of these natural disasters determines their effect on the Indian
economy. Further prolonged spells of below normal rainfall or other natural calamities in the future
could have a negative effect on the Indian economy, adversely affecting our business and the price
of our Equity Shares.

Various political and economic factors, as well as the occurrence of man-made disasters could
adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.

Various political and economic factors within countries where we operate, such as a change in the
Government, a change in the economic and deregulation policies, high rate of inflation, poverty,
unemployment, illiteracy, a downgrade of India’s sovereign rating by international credit rating agencies,
and a slowdown in economic growth or financial instability, could affect our access to capital, and
adversely affect our business and results of operations. This apart, the occurrence of man-made disasters
such as acts of terrorism, civil unrests, military actions, and other acts of violence or war in India and
around the world could impair our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

PROMINENT NOTES:

a.

Our Company was originally incorporated as Shalby Hospital Private Limited on August 30, 2004 at
Ahmedabad, Gujarat, India, as a private limited company under the Companies Act, 1956. Subsequently,
our Company was converted to a public limited company and a fresh certificate of incorporation
consequent upon conversion to a public limited company was issued by the RoC on May 15, 2006 in the
name of Shalby Hospital Public Limited. The name of our Company was subsequently changed to Shalby
Hospitals Limited, and a fresh certificate of incorporation consequent upon change of name was issued by
the RoC on July 26, 2006. Thereafter, the name of our Company was changed to Shalby Limited, and a
fresh certificate of incorporation consequent upon change of name was issued by the RoC on February 13,
2008. For further details in relation to the change in the name of our Company, see “History and Certain
Corporate Matters — Brief History of our Company” on page 178.

This Offer of 20,354,838* Equity Shares for cash at price of 3248 (including a premium of I238
aggregating up to 5,048 million* comprising a Fresh Issue of 19,354,838* Equity Shares aggregating up
to %4,800.00 million* by our Company, and Offer for Sale of 1,000,000* Equity Shares aggregating up to
%248 million* by the Selling Shareholder. The Offer includes a reservation of 121,000* Equity Shares
aggregating up to 230.01 million* for Eligible Employees in the Employee Reservation Portion. The Offer
will constitute 18.85% of the post-Offer paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company and the Net Offer
will constitute 18.73% of the post-Offer paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company.

*Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment

Our net worth was ¥2,889.00 million as on June 30, 2017, as per our Restated Consolidated Financial
Statements and %2,973.42 million as on June 30, 2017, as per our Restated Standalone Financial
Statements, which are included in this Prospectus. For details, see “Financial Statements” on page 218.

Our net asset value per Equity Share was X32.59 as at June 30, 2017, as per our Restated Consolidated
Financial Statements and was 333.54 as at June 30, 2017 as per our Restated Standalone Financial
Statements.

The average cost of acquisition of Equity Shares by Dr Vikram Shah is 4.00 per Equity Share, Dr Darshini
Shah is ¥4.00 per Equity Share, Shanay Shah is ¥4.00 per Equity Share, Zodiac is ¥3.70 per Equity Share,
and Shah Family Trust is 20.00 per Equity Share. The average cost of acquisition of Equity Shares held by
the Promoters has been calculated by considering the total cost of Equity Shares held divided by the total
number of Equity Shares held (including bonus shares for which the Promoters have not paid any monies).
Further, the total number of Equity Shares held by the Promoters is calculated after taking into account the
number of Equity Shares transferred by or to the Promoters, as applicable.
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Except as disclosed in “Our Group Entities”, “Financial Statements — Annexure 35 — Standalone Summary
Statement of Related Parties as restated” and “Financial Statements — Annexure 35 — Consolidated
Summary Statement of Related Parties as restated” on pages 211, 337, and 279, respectively, none of our
Group Entities have any business interests or other interests in our Company.

For details of related party transactions entered into by our Company with the Group Entities, our
Subsidiaries and other related parties during the last Fiscal, the nature of transactions and the cumulative
value of transactions, see “Financial Statements — Annexure 35 — Standalone Summary Statement of
Related Parties as restated” and “Financial Statements — Annexure 35 — Consolidated Summary Statement
of Related Parties as restated” on pages 337 and 279, respectively.

Except for the interest free loan of ¥34.00 million advanced by our Promoter, Dr Vikram Shah to Shalby
Medicos Trust, to facilitate the subscription of Equity Shares by Shalby Medicos Trust, there have been no
financing arrangements whereby our Promoters, Promoter Group, our Directors and their relatives have
financed the purchase by any other person of securities of our Company other than in the normal course of
the business of the financing entity during the period of six months immediately preceding the filing of
this Prospectus.

Investors may contact any of the BRLMs for any complaints, information or clarification pertaining to the

Offer. For further information regarding grievances in relation to the Offer, see “General Information” on
page 77.
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SECTION I1I: INTRODUCTION
SUMMARY OF INDUSTRY

The information in this section has been extracted from the report titled ‘Independent Market Assessment of Indian
Healthcare Industry for IPO’ dated May 16, 2017 (“F&S Report”). We have commissioned the F&S Report to
provide industry data and an independent assessment of the healthcare industry. Industry sources and
publications generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from sources generally
believed to be reliable but their accuracy, completeness and underlying assumptions are not guaranteed and their
reliability cannot be assured. While we have exercised reasonable care in compiling and reproducing such
financial, industry, and market data in this document, it has not been independently verified by us or any of our
advisors, or the BRLMs or any of their advisors, and should not be relied on as if it had been so verified. Industry
publications are also prepared based on information as of specific dates and may no longer be current or reflect
current trends.

The information in this section should be read in conjunction with the sections “Risk Factors”, “Industry
Overview”, and “Our Business” on pages 18, 129, and 151, respectively.

Burgeoning population of India

The population of India is expected to grow at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of nearly 1.0 % between
2014 and 2020. Growing at this rate, India is expected to be home to 1.35 billion people by 2020.

Figure 1: Population and population growth rate of India (historical and expected)

CAGR (2014-
2020)

100% = 1.27 billion 1.29 billion 1.32 billion 1.35 billion

54+ years 12% 13% 14% 14%

35-54 years 24%

20-34 years 26%

24% 24% 25%

26% 25% 25% 0.7%

0-19 years 38% 37% 37% 36%

2014 [E] 2016 [E] 2018 [E] 2020 [E]

Source: National Commission on Population, Frost & Sullivan analysis

The fact that higher numbers of individuals are attaining old age in future trends (12% of the total population
above 54 years of age in 2014 to 14% of the total population in 2020), there is an increasing burden on the
healthcare resources as this segment of population is predisposed to various chronic diseases like diabetes, heart
diseases, degenerative diseases, neurological disorders and cancer. The burgeoning population of India could pose
a serious challenge to healthcare access for all, thereby reemphasizing the need for development of healthcare
infrastructure in India.

Overall market size
The Indian healthcare industry was estimated to be INR 9.2 trillion in 2016; grew at a CAGR of 14-15% over the

last five years (2011 to 2015). The healthcare industry is expected to grow at a CAGR of 15-16% during 2015-20
and expected to reach INR 17.2 trillion in 2020.
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Figure 2: Indian healthcare industry size (2015 — 2020)

INR Trillion
17.2
14.7
12.6
10.7
9.2
8-0 l
2015 2016 [E] 2017 [E] 2018 [E] 2019 [E] 2020 [E]

Source: Frost & Sullivan analysis

Figure 3: Indian Healthcare Industry size by segment (2016)

Split of Indian Healthcare Industry by segments
Total market size (2016): INR 9.2 trillion

Medical Health
Devices Insurance

Pharma

Diagnostics

Healthcare
Delivery-
Hospitals

Source: Frost & Sullivan analysis

The healthcare delivery segment is largely driven by private sector players and occupies a major share of nearly
70% in the total number of hospitals; of this, organized private corporate hospitals comprise less than 10%.
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Figure 4: Split of public and private hospitals in India

Split of public and private hospitals in India

Public
hospitals

€

Private corporate hospitals
@ account to less than 10 % of the

total private hospitals

Private
hospitals

Source: Frost & Sullivan analysis
Indian healthcare delivery industry
The healthcare delivery segment accounts for a major share of the Indian healthcare industry, contributing nearly
68% to the total healthcare industry, an estimated value of INR 6.2 trillion in 2016. One of the fast growing, the

healthcare delivery segment grew at a CAGR of 14-15% between 2011 and 2015; is expected to grow at a higher
CAGR of 15-16% between 2016 and 2020 to reach INR 11.7 trillion by 2020.

Figure 5: Indian healthcare delivery industry size (2015-2020)

1.7

2015 2016 [E] 2017 [E] 2018 [E] 2019 [E] 2020 [E]

Source: Frost & Sullivan analysis
Growth Drivers of Indian Healthcare Industry
The key growth drivers of the Indian healthcare industry are:

1. Deficient health infrastructure and lack of healthcare workforce;
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2. Increasing population and life expectancy;

3. Increasing urbanization and healthcare awareness;

4. Growing prevalence of lifestyle disease;

5. Rising income levels and affordability of healthcare;

6. Growth in insurance coverage;

7. Emergence of medical tourism;

8. Government policies driving healthcare;

9. Increasing private equity, venture capital funds and regulations pertaining to investment in sector; and
10. Licenses and statutory obligations.

Overview of orthopedic diseases in India:

Globally, the prevalence and burden from musculoskeletal conditions is high, the same is well reflected in India
as well. India has been facing exceptionally high disease burden of injury, neoplastic, degenerative and metabolic
conditions and musculoskeletal disorders.

Among musculoskeletal disorders, osteoarthritis has a high prevalence of 28.7% for the total population, and is
higher for females at 31.6% compared to males with 28.1%. Mostly affecting the joints and more often leading to
disability of knees and hips in the elderly population, osteoarthritis is expected to become a major disorder in
India. Having serious impact on the elderly population and often resulting in the need of joint replacement
surgeries; the 30-50 years-group that leads a sedentary lifestyle, lacks exercise, and has nutritional deficiencies is
also being affected by osteoarthritis. Specifically, the prevalence of osteoarthritis is at 19.2% for population under
50 years, increasing drastically to 30.7% for population aged between 50 and 59, 39.7% for population aged
between 60 and 69, and 54.1% for population over 70 years of age.

Rheumatoid Arthritis is prevalent in 0.7% of the total Indian population, and is more common in females than in
men. Gout has a prevalence of 0.12% in India, which is higher than the global prevalence of 0.08%. Gout is
another orthopedic disorder that has a higher prevalence in higher age groups, especially in men over 50 years of
age. Finally, Low Back Pain has become highly prevalent in India now due to lifestyle changes, and its prevalence
is found to be as low as 6.2% and as high as 9.2%.

India’s population is undergoing a demographic shift and gradually adding more numbers to its elderly segment.
With a growing elderly population highly susceptible to degenerative disorders and growing incidence of such
diseases in the younger population (30-50 years), lack of healthcare infrastructure to cater to rising demand of
orthopaedics related treatments is a major challenge. In India, nearly 23% of the population falls in the age group
of 45 years and above in 2015, the population group accounting for nearly 95% of joint replacement surgeries.
Though the share of population in the age group of 45 years and above is lower in India as compared to the other
countries, the large population base of India results in a much higher population in the age group category.
However, penetration of joint replacement surgeries is lower than the other countries.

Number of relevant specialists available in the country:

To serve orthopaedic patients in India, over 10,000 orthopaedic surgeons are registered with the Indian
Orthopaedic Association (I0A); another estimated 10,000 orthopaedic surgeons are not registered with the I0A.
Hence, the ratio of orthopaedic surgeons to total population of India is around 1 per 66,300 people. Of all the
orthopaedic surgeons in the country, only 20 to 25% are estimated to practice joint replacement surgeries, and
nearly two-thirds of those surgeons are concentrated in metropolitans and tier | cities. As a result, there are only
1.4 to 1.9 joint replacement surgeons per 100,000 populations above 45 years age in India. This is an extremely
skewed ratio considering the large requirement of joint replacement surgeries in India.

Healthcare overview and potential in Gujarat and selected states:

Compared to other states, death rate and infant mortality rate (IMR) in Gujarat are very high and given the current
status, there is a need to strengthen infant care and develop better infrastructure for elderly care. The neighboring
states of Madhya Pradesh and Rajasthan face a situation that is of greater concern due to relatively higher IMR;
stringent actions are needed in order to improve health status. In the current scenario, private sector healthcare
players have ample opportunities to penetrate with new hospitals and scale up the existing centres while supporting
the healthcare system.
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The states of Gujarat, Madhya Pradesh, Rajasthan and Maharashtra present underlying opportunities of expansion
of healthcare services. As a quick solution, state governments are now actively taking the PPP route to extend the
healthcare access to the masses opening better avenues for private healthcare players.

There is a wide gap in the availability of hospital beds in Gujarat, Madhya Pradesh and Rajasthan when compared
to the global average of 2.7 beds per 1,000 populations. The overall availability of private hospital beds is much
lower and also concentrated in the metro cities of these states, resulting in a higher burden on the private corporate
hospitals in metro cities. There is also an outward movement of patients to other nearby states and metro cities for
tertiary and quaternary care healthcare services.
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SUMMARY OF OUR BUSINESS

Some of the information in the following section, especially information with respect to our plans and strategies,
contain certain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should read the section titled
“Forward Looking Statements” on page 16 for a discussion of the risks and uncertainties related to those
statements, and also the section titled “Risk Factors” on page 18 for a discussion of certain risks that may affect
our business, financial condition, or results of operations. Our actual results may differ materially from those
expressed in, or implied by these forward-looking statements. Our Company’s strengths and its ability to
successfully implement its business strategies may be affected by various factors that have an influence on its
operations, or on the industry segment in which our Company operates, which have been disclosed in the section
titled “Risk Factors” on page 18. This section should be read in conjunction with such risk factors.

Our Financial Year ends on March 31 of each year, and references to a particular Financial Year are to the
twelve month period ended March 31 of that year.

Unless otherwise stated, or the context otherwise requires, the financial information used in this section is derived
from our Restated Financial Statements included in this Prospectus on page 218.

OVERVIEW

We are one of the leading multi-specialty chain of hospitals in India (Source: F&S Report). Our hospitals are
tertiary care hospitals, few of which also offer quaternary healthcare services to patients in various areas of
specialisation such as orthopaedics, complex joint replacements, cardiology, neurology, oncology, and renal
transplantations. As on the date of this Prospectus, we provide inpatient and outpatient healthcare services through
11 operational hospitals with an aggregate bed capacity of 2,012 beds. As on June 30, 2017, we had nine
operational hospitals with an aggregate operational bed count of 841 beds. We had a 15% market share of all joint
replacement surgeries conducted by private corporate hospitals in India in 2016 (Source: F&S Report). As on the
date of this Prospectus, we also provide outpatient services through 47 Outpatient Clinics and have ten shared
surgery centres within third party hospitals, which we call “Shalby Arthroplasty Centre of Excellence” (“SACE”),
where we offer orthopaedic healthcare services including surgeries. Since March 2007, we have conducted an
aggregate of 92,100 surgeries, and provided healthcare services to an aggregate of 1,025,533 patients, consisting
133,652 inpatients and 891,881 outpatients.

Headquartered in Ahmedabad, India, we have a domestic and overseas outreach through a network of hospitals in
India, and Outpatient Clinics and SACE located in India, Africa, and the Middle East. Having strong presence in
western and central India and focus on Tier — | and Tier — Il cities, our hospitals operate across five states, our
Outpatient Clinics operate across 37 cities in 12 states in India, and our SACE are present in seven cities in six
states in India. Our international footprint consists five Outpatient Clinics and one SACE in Africa, and two SACE
in the UAE. We are expanding our footprint in western and central India with hospitals being set up in Nashik
and Vadodara. For further details, see “Our Business — Description of Business — Hospitals — Expansion Plans”
on page 165.

Led by Dr Vikram Shah, an orthopaedic surgeon with more than 25 years of professional experience, we have
grown from a single hospital to a chain of multi-specialty hospitals. Our first hospital, Vijay Shalby, was
established by Shalby Orthopaedic Hospital and Research Centre, one of our Group Entities, in the year 1994,
From the year 2004, the operations of Vijay Shalby have been undertaken by our Company. Our second, and third
hospitals, SG Shalby and Vrundavan Shalby commenced operations in the year 2007 and the year 2011,
respectively. From four hospitals in April 2012, we have grown to 11 hospitals as on the date of this Prospectus.

We have benefited significantly from the experience and expertise of Dr Vikram Shah, one of our Promoters, who
has been credited by Ethicon India for his involvement in the development of the ‘OS Needle’. The OS Needle
has been successful in simplifying soft tissue procedures, thereby reducing the risk of infection and the high rates
of failure that once existed while undertaking orthopaedic surgeries. Apart from use of the OS Needle, we also
employ an innovative surgical procedure which we call ‘Zero Technique’ that involves minimum incision during
the surgery thereby reducing infection rates and surgical time required to complete a total knee replacement
surgery.

Apart from a focus on orthopaedics, our hospitals provide advanced levels of care across various specialties such

as neurology, cardiac care, critical care, oncology, and nephrology. It has been our endeavour to ensure that our
patients are offered quality healthcare services. To this end, our hospitals are equipped with modern medical
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equipment required to provide multispecialty healthcare services and employ practices and policies to ensure
quality of the healthcare services offered. Some of our hospitals are equipped with modern equipment which inter
alia, include linac systems, holmium lasers, thulium lasers, and intra-operative neuro monitoring systems. Our
hospitals, Krishna Shalby, SG Shalby, Shalby Indore and Shalby Jabalpur are accredited by the NABH. Further,
Krishna Shalby and SG Shalby are also accredited by the NABL. In addition, we have submitted applications to
the NABH for accreditation of one of our hospitals, Vijay Shalby.

We operate and expand our business through a combination of the following models:
= Owning and operating multi-specialty hospitals;
= Operating and managing hospitals on a revenue sharing basis, by adopting an asset-light model;

= Associating with third-party hospitals on a revenue sharing and/or professional fee basis to offer
orthopaedic healthcare services under SACE; and

= Providing orthopaedic healthcare services through Outpatient Clinics that are either independently
operated by us, or operated by us within third party premises on a revenue sharing basis.

As a part of our ancillary services, we offer certain educational programmes through “Shalby Academy” (“Shalby
Academy”), home-based healthcare services under “Shalby Homecare” (“Shalby Homecare”), and also
undertake clinical research trials. Through Shalby Academy, we offer educational programmes including
diplomas and fellowships in a range of medical and para-medical disciplines. Under Shalby Homecare, we offer
home-based healthcare services, which inter alia, include nursing services, physiotherapy services, and home
deputation of medical officers. Further, we have been engaged in conducting clinical research trials since 2006.
These clinical research trials are conducted at our hospitals SG Shalby and Krishna Shalby. The clinical research
trials are supervised and monitored by ethics committees, and are typically sponsored by pharmaceutical
companies and various clinical research organisations.

As of June 30, 2017, we employed 2,049 employees and engaged 319 professional consultants, consisting 294
doctors who are full-time consultants and 25 doctors who are part-time consultants. Our staff strength also
comprises 699 nurses and 1,350 paramedical, corporate and support staff and pharmacists.

We believe that our brand equity is strongly associated with our leadership in joint replacements. In recognition
of our service, clinical, and financial excellence, we have been recipients of various awards, which we believe
have created our strong brand value. These awards inter alia, include the “Best Multispecialty Hospital” award
under the “Metro” category, instituted by CNBC in the year 2015, the “Emerging Tertiary Care Hospital of the
Year” award instituted by VCCircle Network in the year 2015, and the “Healthcare Service Provider Company
of the Year” award instituted by Frost and Sullivan in the year 2013. For further details, see “History and Certain
Corporate Matters — Awards and Accreditations” on page 180.

We have invested in, and have established a robust IT system both for clinical purposes as well as integrating
systems and processes through ERP towards streamlining our clinical and administrative functions. We have
adopted technology with a view to ensure quick transmission of disease data, subsequent analysis, and prompt
disease management.

The key highlights of our financial and operating metrics on a consolidated basis from Fiscal 2013 to Fiscal 2017,
and for the three months period ended June 30, 2017, are set out in the table below:

Particulars Three months period Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
ended June 30, 2017® 2017@W 2016W 2015® 20140 20130

Total bed capacity® 2,012 2,0120) 1,295 907 674 674
Number of 8410 781 823 593 455 3730
operational beds®
Revenue (in X 905.99 3,328.62 2,925.56 2,776.26 2,616.76 2,298.28
million)
EBITDA  margin 28.85 22.24 19.10 24.50 24.20 18.45
(%)
Bed occupancy rate 33.76 34.48 31.75 40.95 39.62 49.030)
(%0)*
ARPOB (in 3)“ 36,720 33,032 34,173 39,904 39,349 40,838®
ALOS 3.88 3.99 4.14 4.03 3.96 4.10
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Particulars Three months period Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
ended June 30, 2017®W 20170 20160 2015® 2014® 2013®
Average RoCE (%) 3.660) 11.12 13.12 21.15 35.33 24.75
Inpatient volume 6,258 24,704 20,528 17,147 16,609 15,348
Outpatient volume 47,956 166,519 152,921 128,821 125,981 110,919

(1) Data in respect of Vrundavan Shalby has been considered until December 9, 2016, the date on which its operations were temporarily
suspended by our Company

(2) Total bed capacity and number of operational bed are as at the end of the relevant Fiscal or accounting period, as the case may be.

(3) Total bed capacity and number of operational beds as on March 31, 2017 June 30, 2017 do not consider Vrundavan Shalby since the
operations at Vrundavan Shalby were temporarily suspended by our Company from December 9, 2016. Further, number of operational
beds as on June 30, 2017 does not include Shalby Naroda and Shalby Surat which started providing in-patient services from July, 2017
and August, 2017, respectively.

(4) ARPOB is based on our Company’s revenue from operations. (EBITDA Margin also based on our revenue from operations).

(5) Does not include data pertaining to Shalby Vapi since occupancy data for Shalby Vapi is not available for Fiscal 2013.

(6) Average ROCE not annualised..

*  Bed occupancy rate, calculated by dividing the total number of occupied bed days by the total operational bed days.

As of June 30, 2017, we achieved a capital cost per bed of 4.2 million. The average capital cost per bed is arrived
at by dividing the total capital expenditure incurred by us, by the number of beds installed in a particular hospital.

OUR COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS

We believe that we are well-positioned to capture market opportunities and benefit from the expected growth in
the healthcare services market in India through our competitive strengths, which principally, include the
following:

Leadership in orthopaedics and strong capabilities in other specialties

We believe that our reputation and clinical capabilities in the field of orthopaedics, along with our continuing
expansion across other healthcare specialties position us favourably to benefit from the increasing demand in India
for quality healthcare services. Having performed approximately 54,105 joint replacements since 2007, our
Company has been a market leader in the area of joint replacement surgeries (Source: F&S Report). We provide
our patients with a wide range of orthopaedic services and to this end, we lay emphasis on providing end to end
services to our patients with preoperative, operative, and postoperative care. Through 47 Outpatient Clinics, we
offer orthopaedic consultation services to our patients, and through our chain of 11 operational hospitals and ten
SACE, we undertake orthopaedic surgeries and procedures.

Our chain of multi-specialty hospitals provide advanced levels of care in various specialties. To ensure that we
are able to provide multi-specialty healthcare services, our hospitals have been equipped with modern medical
equipment, which, inter alia, include linac systems which are used for cancer diagnosis and treatment, holmium
lasers, which are used to perform endoscopic lithotripsy, thulium lasers, which are used to perform soft tissue
surgeries, and intra-operative neuro monitoring systems which are used to monitor neural structures while
performing ENT procedures. Key volume statistics for our orthopaedic and non-orthopaedic surgeries and
procedures during from Fiscal 2013 to Fiscal 2017, and the three months period ended June 30, 2017, are set out
below:

Particulars Three months Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal CAGR®
period ended June 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 (%)
30, 2017
Orthopaedic surgeries 2,656 9,813 9,719 9,244 8,741 7,579 6.67
and procedures
Non-orthopaedic 1,051 5,402 4,567 4,447 3,701 2,267 24.24
surgeries and
procedures

(1) CAGR from Fiscal 2013 to Fiscal 2017.

Since Fiscal 2013, we have experienced a steady growth in providing orthopaedic and non-orthopaedic healthcare
services to our patients. Details of the number of patients who availed our orthopaedic and non-orthopaedic
services in the last five Fiscals, and the three months period ended June 30, 2017, is set out below:
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Particulars Three months Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal CAGR®
period ended 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 (%)
June 30, 2017
Orthopaedic 13,019 41,617 40,258 34,724 37,438 36,183 3.56
Services
Non-orthopaedic 41,195 149,606 133,191 111,244 105,152 90,084 13.52
services

(1) CAGR from Fiscal 2013 to Fiscal 2017.

Our leadership in the field of orthopaedics helps us in offering our other healthcare services to geriatric patients.
Joint replacements are typically required at an advanced age, and many of our elderly patients who require
treatment for one or more age related ailments such as cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, etc.

Integrated and scalable business model enhancing our patient reach

We have an integrated and scalable business model enabling us to provide comprehensive healthcare solutions
through a network of multi-specialty hospitals, Outpatient Clinics, and SACE.

Multi-specialty Hospitals:

From four hospitals in April 2012, we have grown to 11 operational hospitals which offer inpatient and outpatient
healthcare services, with an aggregate bed capacity of 2,012 beds. As on June 30, 2017, we had nine operational
hospitals with an aggregate operational bed count of 841 beds. Our expansion has been achieved through a
combination of greenfield or brownfield projects, strategic acquisitions, and operation and management (“O&M”)
arrangements. We carry out our O&M arrangements on an asset-light, revenue sharing basis with third party
healthcare service providers to ensure efficient capital deployment. We operate multi-specialty hospitals targeting
healthcare demands in Tier | Cities and Tier 1l Cities. Our hospitals are tertiary care hospitals, few of which also
offer quaternary healthcare services to patients.

Details of our operational hospitals, their respective locations and commencement of operations are set out below:

Hospital Location Date of commencement
Vijay Shalby Ahmedabad March, 1994
SG Shalby Ahmedabad March, 2007
Shalby Vapi Vapi April, 2012
Krishna Shalby Ahmedabad October, 2012
Shalby Jabalpur Jabalpur March, 2015
Shalby Indore Indore August, 2015
Shalby Mohali Mohali September, 2015
Zynova Shalby Mumbai January, 2017
Shalby Jaipur Jaipur March, 2017®W
Shalby Naroda Ahmedabad March, 2017®
Shalby Surat Surat March, 2017

(1) Refers to commencement of outpatient services only. Shalby Jaipur commenced providing inpatient services from April 2017, Shalby
Naroda commenced providing inpatient services from July 2017 and Shalby Surat commenced providing inpatient services from August
2017.

Our expansion strategies are also centred on establishing our presence in Tier Il Cities such as Nashik and
Vadodara. With an established brand equity in Gujarat, our existing network of hospitals and expansion strategies
are focused on strengthening our presence in western and central India.

Outpatient Clinics and SACE:

We have 47 Outpatient Clinics as on the date of this Prospectus. Through Outpatient Clinics that are operated by
us either independently, or within third party premises, we offer orthopaedic consultation services. Apart from
Outpatient Clinics, as on the date of this Prospectus, we have seven domestic SACE and three overseas SACE.
Through our SACE, we offer orthopaedic consultation services and undertake orthopaedic and spine surgeries.
Through our wide network of Outpatient Clinics and SACE, we have witnessed a steady increase inpatient footfall,
with patients travelling from various parts of the country and overseas to avail intensive diagnosis and treatment
at our hospitals. This apart, our Outpatient Clinics and SACE have also given us the opportunity to carry out
preliminary assessments on markets, which helps us in determining the feasibility of setting up full-fledged
hospitals in new locations, which may involve high capital expenditure. Our Outpatient Clinics and SACE have
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also been instrumental in setting up our presence overseas. Our international footprint consists five Outpatient
Clinics spread across Ethiopia, Kenya, Tanzania, and Uganda, and one SACE in Kenya in Africa, and two SACE
in Ras al-Khaimah and Dubai in the UAE. Our presence in Africa and the Middle East are established through
local tie-ups with established hospitals and medical centres, and has been largely instrumental in scaling our
presence across borders. During Fiscal 2017 and three months period ended June 30, 2017, our Outpatient Clinics
in India provided healthcare services to 5,580 patients and 1,851 patients respectively. The inpatient count at our
SACEs during Fiscal 2017 and three months period ended June 30, 2017 was 116 and 11, respectively.

Shalby Homecare:

We commenced the operations of Shalby Homecare in Fiscal 2015. Through Shalby Homecare, we have been
able to extend expert healthcare services at a patient’s doorstep, so as to facilitate a speedy and comfortable
recovery from diseases and other medical conditions from the comfort of one’s home. Shalby Homecare services
are offered through our hospitals located in Ahmedabad, Indore, Jabalpur, Jaipur, Mohali, Naroda, Surat, and
Vapi. Under Shalby Homecare, we offer a wide range of services which inter alia, include attendant services,
nursing services, physiotherapy services, pathology services, and home deputation of medical officers. As on June
30, 2017, we had 10 dedicated staff for Shalby Homecare. During Fiscal 2017 and the three months period ended
June 30, 2017, we serviced a total of 9,560 and 5,919 patients, respectively, through Shalby Homecare. We believe
that through Shalby Homecare, we will establish longstanding relationships with patients, which in turn will
increase patient footfalls in our hospitals.

Shalby Academy:

We commenced the operations of Shalby Academy in Fiscal 2016. Through Shalby Academy, we offer various
educational programmes. These programmes include diploma in orthopaedics, fellowship in critical care, and
courses offered by the Paramedical Council of Gujarat. Shalby Academy is functional at our hospitals located in
Ahmedabad, Jabalpur, and Indore. In Fiscal 2017 and the three months period ended June 30, 2017, Shalby
Academy catered to 48 and 155 students, respectively.

Experienced player with longstanding presence and brand recall

Although our Company was incorporated in the year 2004, healthcare services under the brand “Shalby” had
commenced as early as the year 1994. Vijay Shalby was set up under the aegis of our Group Entity, Shalby
Orthopaedic Hospital and Research Centre in the year 1994. From 2004, the operation of Vijay Shalby has been
undertaken by our Company. Our strong brand equity is evident from the consistent growth in our inpatient and
outpatient base from 15,348 and 110,919, respectively, during Fiscal 2013 to 24,704 and 166,519 during Fiscal
2017, with a CAGR of 12.63 % and 10.69 %, respectively.

We have an established presence and strong brand recall in Gujarat, and an emerging presence in western and
central India. We believe that our brand equity and operational experience in our core markets provides us with
the platform to further expand our presence and operations in select locations across the country. On account of
our brand equity, our hospitals have also seen a consistent growth in inpatient and outpatient volumes. For
instance, while Shalby Indore, commissioned in August 2015, serviced 56 inpatients and 358 outpatients during
the first quarter of its operations ending September 2015, for the quarter ended June 30, 2017, Shalby Indore
serviced 1,130 inpatients and 7,824 outpatients. Similarly, while Shalby Jabalpur, commissioned in March 2015,
serviced 106 inpatients and 312 outpatients during the first quarter of its operations ending March 2015, for the
quarter ended June 30, 2017, Shalby Jabalpur serviced 1,126 inpatients and 7,386 outpatients. According to the
F&S Report, we are one of the most active healthcare players in international medical tourism, having catered to
over 35,000 international patients since 2007.

We have benefited from the experience of Dr Vikram Shah, one of our Promoters, who has an experience spanning
over 25 years across various geographies including the United Kingdom and India. Dr Vikram Shah’s expertise
has significantly contributed in building our longstanding presence and brand recall. He has been credited by
Ethicon India for his involvement in developing the OS Needle, which has been successful in simplifying soft
tissue procedures, thereby reducing the risk of infection and diminishing the high rates of failure that once existed
while undertaking orthopaedic surgeries.

Our excellence in healthcare services has led to us being conferred with various awards. These awards inter alia,

include the “Best Multispecialty Hospital” award under the “Metro” category, instituted by CNBC in the year
2015, the “Emerging Tertiary Care Hospital of the Year” award instituted by VCCircle Network in the year 2015,
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the “Healthcare Service Provider Company of the Year” award instituted by Frost and Sullivan in the year 2013,
the “Rajiv Gandhi National Quality” award instituted by Bureau of Indian Standards, Ministry of Science and
Technology, Government of India in the year 2012 and the “FICCI Healthcare Operational Excellence” award
instituted by FICCI in the year 2011. For further details, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Awards
and Accreditations” on page 180.

We believe that we have been successful in being a trusted healthcare service provider to our patients. In Fiscal
2017 and for the three months period ended June 30, 2017, the number of revision cases (being patients
approaching us after undergoing treatment at other hospitals) referred to us was 36 and 7, respectively. Since
2004, we have also handled a number of complex surgeries and procedures. For instance, in January 2017, we
undertook a rare surgery which involved a dual kidney transplantation, extracted from a brain dead donor. This
apart, we also performed a complex bypass colostomy to extract a rusted iron rod from a patient’s body. We
believe that our brand equity and longstanding presence are as a result of our efforts to preserve and sustain quality
human life through facilitation of speedy recovery and indigenization of medical technology.

Track record of operating and financial performance and growth

We believe that our track record of consistent growth in revenue and profitability is one of our key competitive
strengths. Our growth in revenue and profitability can be credited to our strong operational efficiency, which we
achieve by streamlining our clinical and administrative functions, continually introducing process innovations,
and ensuring that we maintain economies of scale.

We incur lower capital expenses by making optimal use of the available built-up area in our hospitals. For instance,
we have 10 operation theatres in SG Shalby, which has a built-up area of 147,633.89 sq. ft., and nine operation
theatres in Shalby Indore, which has a built-up area of 169,942.61 sg. ft. By achieving an optimization of the built-
up area at our hospitals, we have been able to set up additional operation theatres. Apart from allowing us to
undertake more surgeries each day, this has also ensured that we maintain an average bed to operation theatre
ratio of 200:8 as on June 30, 2017. In Fiscal 2017 and the three months period ended June 30, 2017, we undertook
8,074 and 1,600 surgeries, respectively, in SG Shalby, which has a total of eight major and two minor operation
theatres. To ensure our financial efficiency and minimization of capital expenses, members from our management
lead the planning, development, and execution of our greenfield projects, brownfield projects, and strategic
acquisitions.

We believe that by reducing ALOS in our hospitals, we can increase our inpatient turnover rate, thereby ensuring
a growth in our financial performance. Our average earnings-per-bed during the first three days of an inpatient’s
stay is significantly higher than our average earnings-per-bed in servicing such patients for their stay beyond the
first three days. The ALOS during Fiscal 2013 and Fiscal 2017 was 4.10 and 3.99, respectively. During the three
months period ended June 30, 2017, the ALOS was 3.88. In our pursuit of ensuring our operational efficiency, we
have implemented a robust internal supply chain mechanism which inter alia, involves the centralized purchasing
of drugs and various other medical consumables required by us for the purposes of operating our hospitals. Along
with this, we consistently work towards optimizing procurement costs, standardizing the type of medical
consumables used across our chain of hospitals, consolidating our suppliers, and adopting guidelines for medical
procedures. This has resulted in reducing the expenses incurred by us towards procurement of medical
consumables. While in Fiscal 2013, we expended 29.12% of our revenue from operations, towards procurement
of medical consumables, in the three months period ended June 30, 2017, we expended 20.50% of our sales
towards such procurement.

For details of key highlights of our financial and operating metrics on a consolidated basis from Fiscal 2013 to
Fiscal 2017, and for the three months period ended June 30, 2017 see “Our Business — Overview” on page 151
above.

Our clinical and administrative functions are streamlined by staffing our hospitals with teams of qualified and
experienced doctors, who are available to use their expertise and specialties across regions. As on June 30, 2017,
we had 163 surgeons practicing across disciplines. On account of the humber of surgeons engaged by us, we are
capable of undertaking a higher number of surgeries each day, thereby enhancing our focus on being a surgery
oriented multi-specialty healthcare service provider. Unlike most other specialties, orthopaedic surgeries and
procedures are usually planned in advance. This provides us with the ability to organize such surgeries and
procedures, and utilize our manpower resource in a cost and time effective manner.
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On account of the operational efficiency factors described above, we believe that we have been able to reduce the
time required for our hospitals to achieve positive EBITDA from the date on which we commenced operating
these hospitals. For instance, SG Shalby achieved positive EBITDA in the first financial year after we commenced
operating SG Shalby in 2007.

Ability to attract quality doctors, nurses, paramedical, and other staff

As at June 30, 2017, we employed 2,049 employees and engaged 319 professional consultants, which comprised
294 doctors who are full-time consultants and 25 doctors who are part-time consultants. Our staff strength also
comprises 699 nurses and 1,350 paramedical, corporate and support staff and pharmacists. Since a majority of our
doctors are engaged full time by us, our doctors are generally available on-call, round the clock, and are able to
fulfil patient needs and requirements, while also effectively addressing emergencies. In respect of employees
engaged full time by us, our compensation structure comprises providing our employees with a fixed monthly
salary, performance based compensation and an annual pay-out of bonus. Typically, the remuneration paid to our
employees is negotiated within a framework of defined parameters, depending on an individual employee’s profile
and nature of work. With a view to incentivize our doctors, our Company has constituted the Shalby Medicos
Trust for the benefit of doctors associated with our Company. For details, see “Capital Structure — Shalby Medicos
Trust” on page 102.

We believe that it is important for a career in medicine to be well complemented with sufficient training. To meet
this end, we continually train our doctors, nurses, and paramedical staff and educate them on key developments,
protocols and practices in their respective areas of practice. This initiative has benefited us by ensuring that our
staff are kept abreast with global developments concerning the healthcare sector, and that they are aware of the
innovations introduced in the medical industry. In addition, our doctors are also provided specialised training by
the heads of various departments.

Our doctors and consultants are experienced professionals within their respective specialties and this gives us
ample leverage to handle highly complex and critical cases. It is our firm belief that our doctors, consultants,
nurses, paramedical staff, corporate staff members and pharmacists have contributed largely in building and
maintaining the “Shalby” brand and reputation. In a market where the availability of physicians, nurses, and
paramedical staff is highly scarce, we expect that our continuing need for quality human resources will be met by
the strong academic and learning environment we have created for prospective doctors, nurses, and paramedical
staff engaged by us. Through Shalby Academy, we have been successful in creating a pool of resourceful
manpower, some of whom, upon successful completion of their respective courses have enlisted with us as
permanent staff, or consultants as paramedical staff. We believe that our reputation for clinical excellence, amiable
work culture, professional ethics, and competitive compensation packages have all enabled us to successfully
attract talented doctors, nurses, paramedical staff, and other corporate staff members.

Experienced and qualified professional management team with strong execution track record

We believe that we are well guided, and continue to be led by a strong, highly qualified, experienced, and reliable
management team. To ensure that we are led by a right mix of professionals from various fields, our corporate
setup has been appropriately balanced to include healthcare and other management professionals.

Our Chairman and Managing Director, Dr Vikram Shah is a veteran and specializes in the field of orthopaedics.
With over 25 years of professional medical experience, Dr Vikram Shah has consulted across various geographies
including the United Kingdom and India. Dr Vikram Shah has been credited by Ethicon India for his involvement
in the development of the OS Needle, which has been successful in simplifying soft tissue procedures, thereby
reducing the risk of infection and diminishing high rates of failure that once existed while undertaking orthopaedic
surgeries. In recognition of his contributions to the healthcare sector, Dr Vikram Shah has been the recipient of
various awards. These include, the “Hercules Award” instituted by the Gujarat Innovation Society in 2014, and
the “Pathbreaking Services in the Field of Joint Replacement and Orthopaedic Surgery Award” instituted by
Rotary International in 2009. We believe that the credibility associated with Dr Vikram Shah’s vast experience,
as well as his diverse medical acumen has contributed significantly towards building our brand name.

Our Board is composed of accomplished Directors, having diverse experience in the sectors of medicine, finance,
and education. For further details, see “Our Management — Board of Directors — Brief biographies of Directors”
on page 190. Along with Dr Vikram Shah, we are also guided by our Chief Executive Officer, Ravi Bhandari,
who has an experience of 25 years in various industries, including, petrochemicals and refinery, telecom, and
healthcare. Ravi Bhandari is entrusted with the duties of managing our day-to-day operations across our domestic

61



and overseas network, and identifying and pursuing expansion opportunities. For further details, see “Our
Management — Key Management Personnel” on page 201.

We believe that the rich experience of our management team, coupled with their industry experience and business
acumen has contributed in us making effective strategy related decisions.

OUR BUSINESS STRATEGY

It is our mission to leverage our leadership in joint replacements to establishing multi-specialty care across
geographies. In tandem with our pursuance of the above mission, we also intend to build a longstanding, successful
relationship with our Shareholders. We aim to achieve the above mission and grow our business by pursuing the
following strategies:

Strengthen hospital presence in western and central India, and continue expanding into new geographies

We aim to continue to be one of the leading healthcare service providers in India by expanding our network of
hospitals owned and operated by us through greenfield projects and brownfield projects, strategic acquisitions,
and O&M arrangements with third party healthcare service providers. Towards this, we intend to strengthen our
hospital presence in western and central India, and establish hospitals in new geographies. Every opportunity for
expansion is viewed against the background of various factors such as local demography, catchment area served,
gentry and spending capacity, growth rate of population, patient flow, availability of local partners, location of
the property, expected investment, financial returns, local competition, and the availability of local talent.
Expansion of our network of hospitals will be undertaken through a combination of greenfield projects and
brownfield projects, strategic acquisitions, and O&M arrangements with third party healthcare service providers.
We will continue to focus on cities with high growth rate. We currently have presence in Ahmedabad, Mumbai,
Indore and Jaipur which are among the 10 most developed cities of India, based on GDP (Source: F&S Report).

In March 2017, we set up three new hospitals, Shalby Jaipur, Shalby Naroda, and Shalby Surat, which had an
aggregate bed capacity of 747 beds, which have commenced providing inpatient services from April, 2017, July,
2017 and August, 2017, respectively.

We are currently in the process of setting up hospitals for a total bed capacity of 263 beds in Nashik and VVadodara.
For further details, see “Our Business — Description of Business — Hospitals — Expansion Plans” on page 165.
Further, we also intend to expand our hospitals to northern India, eastern India, and north eastern India. As part
of our expansion strategies, we also intend on expanding our existing hospitals. For instance, we are presently in
the process of expanding Zynova Shalby, our hospital in Mumbai, by increasing the bed capacity from 50 to 150
beds. For further details, see “Our Business — Description of Business — Hospitals — Expansion Plans” on 165.
We believe that by expanding our chain of hospitals, we will be able to provide a greater range of healthcare
services to a larger population base.

Continue to enhance our outreach programmes

We aim to enhance our outreach programmes by establishing our Outpatient Clinics and SACE in various Tier |
Cities, Tier Il Cities, and Tier 11l Cities. This apart, we also intend on establishing additional Outpatient Clinics
and SACE in various cities across India where our Outpatient Clinics and SACE currently cater to patients. As a
part of our international expansion plans, we intend to set up Outpatient Clinics and SACE in certain SAARC
countries. We believe in adopting a long-term and sustainable strategy while expanding our overseas footprint.
To this end, we plan to enhance our international patient outreach by conducting health camps, screening camps,
and healthcare awareness lectures. Through our ‘star doctor’ programme, we engage the services of senior medical
practitioners, who bring with them an established practice, recurring patients, and a valuable knowledge base. As
a part of our outreach initiatives, we intend on engaging the services of additional established medical practitioners
who will be able to consistently grow our patient base, whilst diversifying our strength in multiple specialties of
healthcare.

Our domestic and international Outpatient Clinics are either solely operated by us, or operated on the basis of a
revenue sharing model. Our doctors consult in such domestic and international Outpatient Clinics on a daily,
weekly, fortnightly, or monthly basis. We believe that the strategies employed by us in establishing and operating
Outpatient Clinics have given us the leverage to venture into new markets, while ensuring that the expenses
incurred by us remain minimal. This apart, we believe that our asset-light Outpatient Clinics and SACE afford us
the opportunity to assess a market prior to setting up a full-fledged hospital. By referring patients to our hospitals
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for further diagnosis and treatment, our Outpatient Clinics and SACE have also been instrumental in building
brand recognition, and increasing patient footfall in our hospitals. We intend to continue to expand our presence
by establishing Outpatient Clinics and SACE in order to optimise the use of our capital, while facilitating the
growth of our portfolio and brand through partnerships and greenfield projects.

Continue to strengthen healthcare services across other specialties

Our expansion strategies are centred on establishing hospitals which focus on offering quality healthcare services
across a spectrum of specialties such as neurology, nephrology, cardiac care, critical care, and oncology. We
intend to continue to strengthen our capabilities in specialties other than orthopaedics. To this end, and together
with our strategy to expand our hospitals to new geographies, we intend to strengthen our specialties by setting
up multi-specialty hospitals which focus on specialties other than orthopaedics. For instance, in 2014, we
established Shalby Jabalpur as a multi-specialty hospital with a primary focus on cardiology. During Fiscal 2017,
and for the three months period ended June 30, 2017, Shalby Jabalpur contributed to 8.41% and 9.00 %
respectively, of our revenue. Further, during Fiscal 2017, and for the three months period ended June 30, 2017,
25.98 % and 27.34%, respectively, of Shalby Jabalpur’s revenue was generated from cardiology.

Further, for the purposes of strengthening our focus on other specialties, we intend to equip our hospitals with an
additional range of diverse healthcare equipment. These include equipment which are used for cancer diagnosis
and treatment, equipment which use nephelometric technology to manage a variety of diseases such as
cardiovascular diseases, and liver transplant equipment and instruments. Currently, Shalby Indore provides
advanced radiation therapy for the treatment of cancer. In addition to Shalby Indore, we intent to equip our recently
set up hospitals, Shalby Jaipur and Shalby Naroda with equipment to provide radiation therapy for the treatment
of cancer.

We have also engaged doctors with diverse areas of specialty. As at June 30, 2017, we engaged the services of 75
doctors with a specialisation in the area of orthopaedics, and 244 doctors with specialisations in other branches of
medicine. Further, in line with our strategy to further strengthen our capabilities in non-orthopaedic specialties,
we offer advance post-graduate diplomas in a range of disciplines including non-invasive cardiology, dialysis
management, oncology, and sports medicine through Shalby Academy. In Fiscal 2017 and the three months period
ended June 30, 2017, Shalby Academy catered to 48 and 155 students respectively. We also intend to offer courses
in newer disciplines and specialties through Shalby Academy.

Implement initiatives to improve operational efficiencies

We believe that improving operating efficiencies and profitability is critical to our growth. We intend to focus on
the following key areas to improve our clinical and administrative operating efficiencies and profitability:

= We aim to improve our daily ARPOB by enhancing our focus on high growth care areas such as
oncology, nephrology, and hepatology.

=  We intend to lower the costs of consumption by centralising our procurement function. To this end, we
intend on implementing various measures to improve our operational efficiencies, including undertaking
measures to reduce our consumption of disposable items and avoid wastage. Further, we also intend to
minimise our costs and leverage our economies of scale by standardizing the type of medical
consumables used at our hospitals, optimizing procurement costs, and consolidating our suppliers by
establishing and adopting strict guidelines for medical procedures across our hospitals.

= We intend to continue to minimise ALOS at our hospitals. Based on our past experience, revenue
generated by us in servicing our inpatients during their first three day of stay is higher than the revenue
generated by us in servicing the same patients for their stay from the fourth day onwards. We believe
that systematically reducing an inpatient’s ALOS at our hospitals will aid in improving our daily
ARPOB.

=  We intend to maximise our operational efficiency by achieving greater integration and by implementing
a stronger supply chain management.

= We intend to obtain NABH accreditations for all our operational and upcoming hospitals, which we
believe, will give us with the credibility to liaise with various government agencies, thereby attracting
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more patients to our hospitals. In addition, we also intend on obtaining certifications under the IT Act,
through which we can offer our services to public service undertakings, thereby increasing our target
group.

= Improve occupancy rates and the utilisation of key equipment and operating theatres, particularly at our
new hospitals, by placing greater emphasis on delivery of tertiary care services, expanding our referral
network and increasing community outreach programs.

= Through a systematic and mindful investment in our branding and marketing activities, including through
medical camps, seminars, hoardings, digital marketing, and periodicals, we intend on promoting our
hospitals, thereby increasing the patient turnover and occupancy rates. For further information on our
marketing activities, see “Our Business — Marketing and Promotional Activities” on page 170.

Continue to grow our ancillary businesses

Apart from offering multi-specialty tertiary and quaternary healthcare services, we also provide home-based
healthcare services under Shalby Homecare. Details of Shalby Homecare are set out below:

We have been engaged in providing home-based healthcare services since Fiscal 2015. In Fiscal 2017 and the
three months period ended June 30, 2017, Shalby Homecare catered to 9,560 and 5,919 patients, respectively.
Shalby Homecare services are being offered through our hospitals located in Ahmedabad, Indore, Jabalpur, Jaipur,
Mohali, Naroda, Surat, and Vapi, as on the date of this Prospectus. In the future, we intend to offer the Shalby
Homecare services through all our existing and upcoming hospitals.
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SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
CONSOLIDATED SUMMARY STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, AS RESTATED

(Rs. in million)

As at
30th June, As at 31st March
Particulars 2017 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ fund
Share capital 886.55 874.09 878.88 353.72 353.72 353.72
Reserves and surplus 2,002.45 1,782.94 1,171.36 1,330.54 1,054.98 665.58

2,889.00 | 2,657.03 | 2,050.24 | 1,684.26 | 1,408.70 | 1,019.30

Minority interest 0.58 0.58 3.69 23.34 25.31 38.03
Share application money pending

allotment 0.00 2.73 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Deferred Government subsidy 92.98 94.39 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Non-current liabilities

Long-term borrowings 2,5619.16 2,854.04 2,010.72 737.34 228.30 4.20
Deferred tax liabilities (Net) 230.64 228.32 20.83 111.65 26.90 0.00
Other non current liabilities 25.35 20.67 27.69 47.46 70.51 94.09
Long-term provisions 11.88 15.18 8.97 5.58 4.11 3.31

2,787.03 | 3,118.21 | 2,068.21 902.03 329.82 101.60

Current liabilities

Short-term borrowings 590.15 260.67 93.18 75.20 77.46 26.57
Trade payables 444.66 389.76 467.84 614.18 204.95 204.60
Other current liabilities 965.50 650.91 354.29 213.86 120.95 130.06
Short-term provisions 7.16 7.47 1.69 0.54 1.11 0.80

2,007.47 | 1,308.81 917.00 903.78 404.47 362.03

TOTAL 7,777.06 | 7,181.75 | 5,039.14 | 3,513.41 | 2,168.30 | 1,520.96
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 3,429.83 | 3,200.51 | 3,177.83 | 1,585.62 | 1,200.51 | 1,077.87
Intangible assets 1.44 1.66 3.63 3.40 5.87 4.79
Capital work-in-progress 2,504.41 | 2,214.40 821.87 907.10 50.99 21.09
Intangible assets under development 2.27 2.27 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06

5,937.95 | 5418.84 | 4,00339 | 2,496.18 | 125743 | 1,103.81

Goodwill on consolidation (Net) 11.34 11.34 11.34 161.67 96.49 83.49

Non-current investments 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.10 1.13 1.13
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As at
30th June, As at 31st March
Particulars 2017 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Deferred tax assets (Net) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 1.99
Long-term loans and advances 899.09 870.91 379.90 224.97 175.92 58.00
Other non-current assets 8.76 2.99 1.83 3.30 5.67 2.38
908.95 875.00 382.83 229.37 182.72 63.50
Current Assets
Current investments 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.88 1.00
Inventories 152.02 76.47 74.88 58.24 64.70 61.09
Trade receivables 384.00 379.60 314.29 215.47 149.94 115.63
Cash and bank balances 134.60 158.70 160.71 309.97 118.54 54.91
Short-term loans and advances 96.53 123.76 62.24 12.90 274.72 19.09
Other current assets 151.67 138.04 29.46 29.61 22.88 18.44
918.82 876.57 641.58 626.19 631.66 270.16
TOTAL 7,777.06 7,181.75 5,039.14 3,513.41 2,168.30 1,520.96

CONSOLIDATED SUMMARY STATEMENT OF PROFITS AND LOSSES, AS RESTATED

(Rs.in million)
For the
quarter
ended 30th For the year ended 31st March
Particulars June, 2017 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
REVENUE
Revenue from operations 892.28 3,253.87 2,904.06 2,754.17 2,588.85 2,251.25
Other income 13.71 74.75 21.50 22.09 27.91 47.03
Total Revenue 905.99 3,328.62 2,925.56 2,776.26 2,616.76 2,298.28
EXPENSES
Purchases of traded goods 17.30 58.31 43.95 43.68 39.61 46.03
Operative expenses 459.50 1,823.48 1,783.74 1,670.64 1,559.36 1,406.11
Change in inventories (3.54) (4.75) 0.62 0.83 0.59 (1.35)
Employee benefits expenses 90.93 392.56 289.21 198.43 169.49 153.20
Finance costs 40.68 97.94 103.85 54.23 22.78 3.49
Depreciation and amortization
(Net) 44.49 168.00 113.33 212.37 110.13 271.85
Administrative and other
expenses 70.64 260.63 231.62 165.74 193.36 231.97
Total Expenses 720.00 2,796.17 2,566.32 2,345.92 2,095.32 2,111.30
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Profit before Tax 185.99 532.45 359.24 430.34 521.44 186.98

Tax expenses

Current tax 38.95 119.22 84.00 100.00 115.00 45.39
Tax in respect of earlier year 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.08 0.00
MAT credit entitlement 0.00 (410.00) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Deferred tax 2.29 207.49 (87.95) 84.82 28.89 (8.50)

41.24 (83.29) (3.95) 184.82 143.97 36.89

Profit for the vyear after
Tax(before Share of Profit /
(Loss) of Minority Interest) 144.75 615.74 363.19 245.52 377.47 150.09

Add: Share in (Profit) / Loss of
Minority Interest (0.84) 9.89 12.64 11.81 12.80 20.95

Profit for the year ended, as
restated 143.91 625.63 375.83 257.33 390.27 171.04

Earning per Equity Share

Basic and diluted 1.63 7.16 4.30 7.36 11.16 4.90
Basic and diluted(Adjusted
for bonus issue) 1.63 7.16 4.30 2.94 4.47 1.96

CONSOLIDATED SUMMARY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS, AS RESTATED

(Rs.in million)
For the
quarter
ended 30th For the year ended 31st March

Particulars June, 2017 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
[A] Cash flow from operating activities
Profit/(Loss) for the year before taxation
and exceptional items 185.99 532.45 359.24 430.34 521.44 186.98

Adjustments for:

Depreciation and amortization (Net)
44.49 168.00 113.33 212.37 110.13 271.85
Bad Debt Written Off

0.00 0.00 0.30 8.90 0.00 10.12
Project Expenses written off

0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 6.54 0.00
Provision for bad and doubtful debts

0.00 8.29 0.00 0.45 9.33 18.68
Provision for impairment loss

0.00 0.00 0.53 0.00 0.00 0.00

(Profit) / Loss on sale / discard of Fixed
Assets(Net) 0.00 (2.16) 0.46 8.06 3.05 0.31
Gain on sale of investment

0.00 0.00 (0.75) (2.87) (0.06) 0.00

Deferred capital subsidy

(1.41) (5.61) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Interest subsidy

(1.50) (10.88) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Dividend income

(1.01) (0.19) (1.90) (3.35) (9.41) (6.81)
Interest income

(3.84) (19.88) (8.52) (4.43) (6.11) (13.46)
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For the

quarter
ended 30th For the year ended 31st March
Particulars June, 2017 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Interest expenses
41.42 99.56 65.15 37.80 20.09 3.01
Operating profit before working capital
changes 264.14 769.58 527.84 687.27 655.00 470.68
Changes in working capital :
Adjustments for (increase) / decrease in
operating assets :
Long-term loans and advances
(37.55) (93.99) (140.50) (34.69) (102.06) (3.85)
Other non-current assets
(5.77) (1.16) 1.37 2.65 (3.29) 1.22
Inventories
(75.55) (1.59) (16.64) 6.46 (3.61) (15.76)
Trade receivables
(4.39) (73.60) (99.12) (74.88) (43.64) (33.10)
Short-term loans and advances
32.24 (31.29) (50.27) 261.82 (255.63) (7.33)
Other current assets
(9.02) 3.38 (34.99) 21.26 (33.50) 346.90
Adjustments for increase / (decrease) in
operating liabilities :
Other non current liabilities
4.68 (7.02) (19.77) (23.05) (23.58) 94.09
Trade payables
54.91 (78.08) (146.34) 409.23 0.35 104.37
Other current liabilities
306.48 299.50 120.90 89.88 (9.36) 87.26
Provisions
(3.61) 12.25 4.50 0.89 1.06 1.02
Cash generated from operations
526.56 797.98 146.98 1,346.84 181.74 1,045.50
Direct taxes Refund/(paid)
(29.58) (106.24) (101.30) (114.42) (130.93) (91.80)
Net cash from operating activities [A] 496.98 691.74 45.68 1,232.42 50.81 953.70
[B] Cash flow from investing activities
(Purchase) / Sale of fixed assets
(563.59) | (1,581.30) (991.37) (634.34) (273.35) (106.85)
(Purchase) / Sale of investments
0.00 0.00 0.75 3.75 0.18 (1.26)
Dividend received
1.01 0.19 1.90 3.35 9.41 6.81
Interest received
0.73 18.81 8.50 3.97 3.36 13.20
Net cash used in investing activities [B] (561.85) | (1,562.30) (980.22) (623.27) (260.40) (88.10)
[C] Cash flow from financing activities
Issue / (Redemption) of Share capital
12.46 0.54 1.03 0.00 0.00 2.62
Share Premium on Issue / (Redemption) of
Share capital 74.76 (12.36) 4.43 0.00 0.00 3.78
Share application money received
(2.73) 2.73 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Merger and Consolidation Adjustment
0.00 0.00 (494.84) (872.13) (13.00) (904.34)
Changes in Minority Interest
0.00 0.00 (7.01) 10.46 (0.54) 8.04
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For the

quarter
ended 30th For the year ended 31st March
Particulars June, 2017 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Procurement/(Repayment) of long / short
term borrowings (5.40) 1,010.81 1,291.36 506.78 274.99 30.46
Dividend paid
0.00 (0.50) (0.26) (0.25) (0.19) (0.01)
Interest paid
(33.31) (102.44) (45.62) (34.77) (19.85) (2.97)
Net cash flow from financial activities
[C] 45.78 898.78 749.09 (389.91) 241.41 (862.42)
Net Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash
equivalents [A+B+C] (19.09) 28.22 (185.45) 219.24 31.82 3.18
Cash and cash equivalents opening 117.37 89.15 274.60 55.36 23.54 20.36
Cash and cash equivalents closing 98.28 117.37 89.15 274.60 55.36 23.54
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STANDALONE SUMMARY STATEMENT OF ASSETS AND LIABILITIES, AS RESTATED

(Rs.in million)
As at 30th As at 31st March
Particulars June, 2017 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
EQUITY AND
LIABILITIES
Shareholders’ funds
Share capital 886.55 874.09 878.88 353.72 353.72 353.72
Reserves and surplus 2,086.87 1,869.32 1,244.02 1,368.70 1,107.37 695.76
2,973.42 2,743.41 2,122.90 1,722.42 1,461.09 1,049.48
Share application money
pending allotment 0.00 2.73 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Deferred government
subsidy 92.98 94.39 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Non-current liabilities
Long-term borrowings 2,519.16 2,854.04 2,010.72 737.34 228.30 4.20
Deferred tax liabilities (Net) 230.68 228.39 19.56 107.20 21.29 0.00
Other non current liabilities 25.35 20.67 27.69 47.46 70.51 94.09
Long-term provisions 11.88 15.18 7.79 3.45 2.09 1.48
2,787.07 3,118.28 2,065.76 895.45 322.19 99.77
Current liabilities
Short-term borrowings 557.70 229.72 64.78 70.00 77.45 26.56
Trade payables 453.53 389.28 449.66 577.84 180.92 173.00
Other current liabilities 956.34 639.21 345.32 203.74 110.00 120.15
Short-term provisions 7.16 7.47 1.57 0.43 0.93 0.66
1,974.73 1,265.68 861.33 852.01 369.30 320.37
Total 7,828.20 7,224.49 5,049.99 3,469.88 2,152.58 1,469.62
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 3,342.61 3,112.02 3,082.62 1,437.95 1,047.72 909.84
Intangible assets 1.40 1.61 3.46 3.10 5.38 3.83
Capital work-in-progress 2,504.41 2,214.40 821.87 907.10 47.68 20.74
Intangible assets under
development 2.27 2.27 0.06 0.06 0.06 0.06
5,850.69 5,330.30 3,908.01 2,348.21 1,100.84 934.47
Non-current investments 94.10 94.10 93.97 261.05 190.17 176.63
Deferred tax assets (net) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 7.70
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As at 30th As at 31st March
Particulars June, 2017 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Long-term loans and advances 896.79 867.65 373.78 214.50 167.00 50.26
Other non-current assets 8.63 2.74 1.61 3.31 5.67 2.39
999.52 964.49 469.36 478.86 362.84 236.98
Current assets
Current investments 9.72 4.30 0.00 0.01 0.00 1.00
Inventories 150.23 75.58 73.37 51.32 56.23 54.72
Trade receivables 382.09 377.82 306.71 203.18 138.38 102.61
Cash and bank balances 133.18 157.04 153.60 295.90 112.74 47.03
Short-term loans and advances 130.54 159.50 96.18 42.76 347.59 70.79
Other current assets 172.23 155.46 42.76 49.64 33.96 22.02
977.99 929.70 672.62 642.81 688.90 208.17
Total 7,828.20 7,224.49 5,049.99 3,469.88 2,152.58 1,469.62

71




STANDALONE SUMMARY STATEMENT OF PROFITS AND LOSSES, AS RESTATED

(Rs.in million)
For the
quarter
ended 30th For the year ended 31st March
Particulars June, 2017 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
REVENUE
Revenue from operations 895.70 3,239.97 2,868.48 2,627.61 2,411.90 2,083.44
Other income 7.78 68.17 23.67 30.20 32.54 49.43
Total Revenue 903.48 3,308.14 2,892.15 | 2,657.81 | 2,444.44 2,132.87
EXPENSES
Purchases of traded goods 17.30 57.55 42.31 33.66 33.19 28.35
Operative expenses 465.33 1,822.49 1,755.29 | 1,584.48 | 1,440.52 1,305.72
Change in inventories (2.64) (4.75) 0.33 0.73 0.39 (1.86)
Employee benefits expenses 90.48 380.48 271.34 168.15 133.94 124.00
Finance costs 38.11 94.06 101.92 53.65 22.72 3.23
Depreciation and amortization (Net) 43.20 161.05 106.34 200.71 95.03 256.06
Administrative and other expenses 69.62 249.36 222.94 145.79 162.79 187.45
Total Expenses 721.40 2,760.24 2,500.47 | 2,187.17 | 1,888.58 1,902.95
Profit before Tax 182.08 547.90 391.68 470.64 555.86 229.92
Tax expenses
Current tax 37.00 116.50 84.00 100.00 115.00 45.00
MAT credit entitlement 0.00 (410.00) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Deferred tax 2.29 208.84 (87.65) 85.91 29.00 (14.03)
39.29 (84.66) (3.65) 185.91 144.00 30.97

Profit for the period / year after tax 142.79 632.56 395.33 284.73 411.86 198.95
Earning per Equity Share:

Basic and diluted 1.62 7.24 452 8.14 11.78 5.70

Basic and diluted(Adjusted for
bonus issue) 1.62 7.24 4.52 3.26 4.71 2.28
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STANDALONE SUMMARY STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS, AS RESTATED

73

(Rs.in million)

For the For the year ended 31st March

quarter

ended

30th June,
Particulars 2017 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013

[A] Cash flow from
operating activities
Profit/(Loss) for the year
before taxation and
exceptional items 182.08 547.90 391.68 470.64 555.86 229.92
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization
(Net) 43.20 161.05 106.34 200.71 95.03 256.06
Share in Profit from LLP 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Bad debt written off 0.00 0.00 0.30 8.63 0.00 10.12
Project Expense Written Off 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 6.55 0.00
Provision for bad and doubtful
debts 0.00 3.80 0.00 0.00 9.33 0.00
(Profit) / Loss on sale /discard
of Fixed Assets (Net) 0.00 (2.34) 0.43 8.39 0.04 0.31
Gain on sale of investment 0.00 0.00 (0.75) 0.00 0.00 0.00
Deferred capital subsidy (1.40) (5.61) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Interest subsidy (1.50) (10.89) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Dividend income (1.01) (0.19) (1.90) (3.29) (9.38) (6.81)
Interest income (3.84) (24.65) (12.86) (15.14) (14.75) (17.39)
Interest expenses 38.86 95.69 63.22 37.23 20.03 2.75
Operating profit before
working capital changes 256.39 764.76 546.46 707.17 662.71 474.96
Changes in working capital :
Adjustments for (increase) /
decrease in operating assets :
Long-term loans and advances (37.56) (93.87) (142.44) (34.73) (103.17) (3.10)
Other non-current assets (5.89) (1.13) 1.70 2.36 (3.28) 1.21
Inventories (74.65) (2.21) (22.05) 491 (1.51) (13.67)
Trade and other receivables (4.27) (74.91) (103.83) (73.43) (45.10) (37.79)
Short-term loans and advances 33.86 (33.58) (53.42) 304.83 (276.80) (45.57)
Other current assets (9.02) 3.38 (35.33) 21.77 (33.21) 347.04
Adjustments for increase /
(decrease) in operating
liabilities :
Other non-current liabilities 4.68 (7.02) (19.77) (23.05) (23.58) 94.09
Trade payables 64.24 (60.38) (128.18) 396.92 7.92 90.49




For the

For the year ended 31st March

quarter
ended
30th June,
Particulars 2017 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013
Other current liabilities 309.58 300.26 123.18 91.21 (10.40) 91.10
Provisions (3.61) 13.55 5.44 0.86 0.82 0.50
Cash generated from
operations 533.75 808.85 171.76 1,398.82 174.40 999.26
Direct taxes Refund/(paid) (28.58) (106.50) (100.85) (112.77) (128.57) (89.11)
Net cash from operating
activities [A] 505.17 702.35 70.91 1,286.05 45.83 910.15
[B] Cash flow from
investing activities
(Purchase) / Sale of fixed
assets (563.59) (1,581.01) (1,499.47) (1,479.60) (268.01) (869.39)
(including adjustment on
account of merger)
Share in Profit from LLP 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
(Purchase) / Sale of
Investments (5.42) (4.43) 0.76 (70.90) (12.53) (91.71)
Dividend Received 1.01 0.19 1.90 3.29 9.38 6.81
Interest received (2.41) 19.46 18.68 6.31 4.20 13.73
Net cash used in investing
activities [B] (570.41) (1,565.79) (1,478.13) (1,540.90) (266.96) (940.56)
[C]
Cash flow from financing
activities
Issue / (Redemption) of Equity
Share Capital 12.46 0.54 1.03 0.00 0.00 2.62
Share Premium on Issue /
(Redemption) of Equity Share
Capital 74.76 3.24 4.43 0.00 0.00 3.78
Share application money
received (2.73) 2.73 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Redemption of shares
including Premium 0.00 (15.60) 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00
Procurement / (Repayment) of
long/ short-term borrowings (6.90) 1,008.26 1,268.16 501.59 274.99 30.45
Dividend paid 0.00 (0.49) (0.26) (0.25) (0.19) (0.01)
Interest paid (31.31) (102.06) (44.83) (34.71) (19.78) (2.72)
Net cash flow from financial
activities [C] 46.28 896.62 1,228.53 466.63 255.02 34.12
Net Increase/(Decrease) in
cash and cash equivalents
[A+B+C] (18.96) 33.18 (178.69) 211.78 33.89 3.71
Cash and cash equivalents
opening 115.82 82.64 261.33 49.55 15.66 11.95
Cash and cash equivalents
closing 96.86 115.82 82.64 261.33 49.55 15.66
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THE OFFER

The following table summarizes the offer details:

Equity Shares offered

Offer of Equity Shares

20,354,838* Equity Shares, aggregating up to
5,048 million*

of which:

Fresh Issue®

19,354,838* Equity Shares, aggregating up to
%4,800.00 million*

Offer for Sale®?

1,000,000* Equity Shares, aggregating up to
%248 million* by the Selling Shareholder

The Offer comprises of:

Employee Reservation Portion®

121,000* Equity Shares aggregating up to
%30.01 million*

Net Offer 20,233,838* Equity Shares aggregating up to
%5,017.99 million*
of which:
A) QIB Portion®) 10,116,918* Equity Shares
of which:
(i Anchor Investor Portion 6,070,150* Equity Shares
(i) Balance available for allocation to QIBs other than Anchor | 4,046,768* Equity Shares
Investors (assuming Anchor Investor Portion is fully
subscribed) (“Net Q1B Portion”)
of which:
(@) Awvailable for allocation to Mutual Funds only (5% of | 2,023,384* Equity Shares
the Net QIB Portion)
(b) Balance for all QIBs including Mutual Funds 4,046,768* Equity Shares
B) Non-Institutional Portion® 3,035,076* Equity Shares
C) Retail Portion® 7,081,844* Equity Shares

Pre and post Offer Equity Shares

Equity Shares outstanding prior to the Offer

88,654,932* Equity Shares

Equity Shares outstanding after the Offer

108,009,770* Equity Shares

Use of Net Offer Proceeds

See “Objects of the Offer” on page 107 for
information about the use of the Gross
Proceeds. Our Company will not receive any
proceeds from the Offer for Sale.

Allocation to all categories, except the Anchor Investor Portion and the Retail Portion, if any, shall be made on a
proportionate basis, subject to valid Bids received at or above the Offer Price. The allocation to each Retail
Individual Bidder shall not be less than the minimum Bid Lot, subject to availability of shares in Retail Portion,
and the remaining available Equity Shares, if any, shall be Allocated on a proportionate basis. For further details,

see “Offer Procedure” on page 426.

The Fresh Issue has been authorized by a resolution of our Board of Directors dated March 6, 2017, and by a special resolution

Dr Vikram Shah has consented to participate in the Offer for Sale and to offer up to 1,000,000 Equity Shares in the Offer pursuant

to a letter dated May 19, 2017. Dr Vikram Shah, the Selling Shareholder, confirms that the Equity Shares being offered by him in
the Offer, have been held by him for a period of at least one year prior to the filing of the Draft Red Herring Prospectus with SEBI
calculated in the manner as set out under Regulation 26(6) of SEBI ICDR Regulations, and are eligible for being offered for sale

Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion should ensure that the Bid Amount does not exceed <500,000.

However, Allotment to an Eligible Employee in the Employee Reservation Portion may exceed 3I200,000 only in the event of an
undersubscription in the Employee Reservation Portion and such undersubscribed portion may be Allotted on a proportionate
basis to Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion, subject to the total Allotment to an Eligible Employee
not exceeding ¥500,000. The unsubscribed portion, if any, in the Employee Reservation Portion (after allocation over 2200,000),
shall be added to the Net Offer. Retail Individual Bidders Bidding in the Retail Portion shall ensure that the Bid Amount does not

@

of our Shareholders in their EGM dated March 30, 2017.
)

in the Offer as required by the SEBI ICDR Regulation.
©))

exceed 3200,000.
4

Our Company and the Selling Shareholder in consultation with the BRLMs, allocated up to 60% of the QIB Portion to Anchor

Investors on a discretionary basis. The QIB portion was accordingly be reduced for the shares allocated to Anchor Investors. One-
third of the Anchor Investor Portion was reserved for domestic Mutual Funds, subject to valid Bids being received from domestic
Mutual Funds at or above the Anchor Investor Allocation Price. In the event of undersubscription in the Anchor Investor Portion,
the remaining Equity Shares was to be added to the QIB Portion. 5% of the QIB Portion (excluding Anchor Investor Portion) was
be available for allocation on a proportionate basis to Mutual Funds only, and the remainder of the QIB Portion (excluding Anchor

75




®)

Investor Portion) was available for allocation on a proportionate basis to all QIB Bidders (other than Anchor Investors), including
Mutual Funds, subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price. However, as the aggregate demand from Mutual
Funds was less than 2,023,384 Equity Shares, the balance Equity Shares available for Allotment in the Mutual Fund Portion will
be added to the QIB Portion (excluding Anchor Investor Portion) and allocated proportionately to the QIB Bidders (other than
Anchor Investors) in proportion to their Bids. For details, see “Offer Procedure” on page 426.

Subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price, undersubscription, if any, in any category except the QIB Portion,
would be allowed to be met with spill over from any other category or combination of categories (including the Employee
Reservation Portion) at the discretion of our Company and the Selling Shareholder, in consultation with the BRLMs and the
Designated Stock Exchange. However, undersubscription, if any, in the QIB Portion will not be allowed to be met with spill-over
from other categories or a combination of other categories (including the Employee Reservation Portion). Balance Equity Shares
arising out of undersubscription, if any, in the Employee Reservation Portion will be added to the Net Offer. In case of
undersubscription, if any, in the Net Offer, spill-over to the extent of undersubscription shall be permitted to be met with spill over
from the Employee Reservation Portion, subject to compliance with Rule 19(2)(b) of the SCRR. Further, a Bidder Bidding in the
Employee Reservation Portion can also Bid under the Net Offer and such Bids will not be treated as multiple Bids. In the event of
an undersubscription in the Offer, Equity Shares offered pursuant to the Fresh Issue shall be allocated in the Fresh Issue, prior to
the Equity Shares offered pursuant to the Offer for Sale. However, after receipt of minimum-subscription of 90% of the Fresh Issue,
Equity Shares offered pursuant to the Offer for Sale, shall be allocated prior to the Equity Shares offered pursuant to the Fresh
Issue.

Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Our Company was originally incorporated as Shalby Hospital Private Limited on August 30, 2004 at Ahmedabad,
Guijarat, India, as a private limited company under the Companies Act, 1956. Subsequently, our Company was
converted to a public limited company and a fresh certificate of incorporation consequent upon change of name
on conversion to a public limited company was issued by the RoC on May 15, 2006, in the name of Shalby
Hospital Public Limited. The name of our Company was subsequently changed to Shalby Hospitals Limited, and
a fresh certificate of incorporation consequent upon change of name was issued by the RoC on July 26, 2006.
Thereafter, the name of our Company was changed to Shalby Limited, and a fresh certificate of incorporation
consequent upon change of name was issued by the RoC on February 13, 2008. For details of change in the name
and Registered Office of our Company, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Changes in Registered
Office” on page 178.

For details of the business of our Company, see “Our Business” on page 151.
REGISTERED AND CORPORATE OFFICE OF OUR COMPANY

Shalby Limited

Opposite Karnawati Club

Sarkhej Gandhinagar Highway

Near Prahlad Nagar Garden
Ahmedabad — 380 015

Guijarat, India

Tel: +91 79 4020 3000

Fax: +91 79 4020 3120

E-mail: companysecretary@shalby.in
Website: www.shalby.org

Corporate Identity Number: U85110GJ2004PLC044667
Registration Number: 044667

For details in relation to changes in the Registered Office, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Changes
in Registered Office” on page 178.

ADDRESS OF THE ROC

Our Company is registered with the RoC situated at the following address:
Registrar of Companies

RoC Bhavan, Opposite Rupal Park Society

Behind Ankur Bus Stop, Naranpura

Ahmedabad — 380 013

Guijarat, India

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board of our Company as on the date of filing this Prospectus, comprises the following:

Name Designation DIN Address
Dr Vikram Shah Chairman and 00011653 6, Rupam Society
Managing Director Near Memnagar Fire Station

Vijay Cross Roads, Navrangpura
Ahmedabad — 380 009

Gujarat, India

Dr Darshini Shah Non-Executive, Non- | 00013903 6, Rupam Society

Independent Director Near Memnagar Fire Station
Vijay Cross Roads, Navrangpura
Ahmedabad — 380 009

Gujarat, India
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Name Designation DIN Address
Shyamal Joshi Non-Executive, Non- | 00005766 40, Prerana Tirth—1,B/H
Independent Director Someshwar — 1, Satellite
Ahmedabad — 380 015
Gujarat, India
Umesh Menon Non-Executive, 00086971 B-9, New Adhyashakti Tenaments
Independent Director B / H Falgun Society, Satellite Road
Jodhpur Village
Ahmedabad — 380 015
Gujarat, India
Ashok Bhatia Non-Executive, 02090239 16 Pushp Bunglows, 5AB Ashok Vatika
Independent Bopal Ambali Road
Director® Ahmedabad — 380 058
Gujarat, India
Tej Malhotra Non-Executive, 00122419 B-101, Ashavari Towers
Independent Director B / H Karnavati Bungalows
Near Ramdev Chokdi, Near S.G. Highway
Satellite, Ahmedabad — 380 015
Gujarat, India

(1) Ashok Bhatia has been appointed as an Additional Non-Executive Independent Director pursuant to circular resolution dated October
23, 2017, passed by our Board, and is expected to be regularised in the forthcoming General Meeting of our Company.

For further details of our Directors, see “Our Management — Board of Directors” on page 188.
COMPANY SECRETARY AND COMPLIANCE OFFICER

Jayesh Patel

Shalby Limited

Opposite Karnawati Club

Sarkhej Gandhinagar Highway

Near Prahlad Nagar Garden
Ahmedabad — 380 015

Guijarat, India

Tel: +91 79 4020 3000

Fax: +91 79 4020 3120

E-mail: companysecretary@shalby.in

CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

Shantilal Kothari

Shalby Limited

Opposite Karnawati Club

Sarkhej Gandhinagar Highway

Near Prahlad Nagar Garden
Ahmedabad — 380 015

Guijarat, India

Tel: +91 79 4020 3000

Fax: +91 79 4020 3120

E-mail: chieffinancialofficer@shalby.in

INVESTOR GRIEVANCES

Investors can contact the Company Secretary and the Compliance Officer, the BRLMs or the Registrar to
the Offer in case of any pre-Offer or post-Offer related problems, such as non-receipt of Allotment Advice,
non-credit of Allotted Equity Shares in the respective beneficiary account, non-receipt of refund orders
and funds by electronic mode.

All Offer related grievances may be addressed to the Registrar to the Offer with a copy to the relevant Designated
Intermediary to whom the Bid cum Application Form was submitted. The Bidder should give full details such as
name of the sole or first Bidder, Bid cum Application Form number, Bidder DP ID, Client ID, PAN, date of the
submission of Bid cum Application Form, address of the Bidder, number of the Equity Shares applied for and the
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name and address of the Designated Intermediary where the Bid cum Application Form was submitted by the

Bidder.

Further, the investor shall also enclose a copy of the Acknowledgment Slip received from the Designated
Intermediaries in addition to the documents / information mentioned hereinabove.

All grievances relating to Bids submitted with Registered Brokers may be addressed to the Stock Exchanges with

a copy to the Registrar to the Offer.

Book Running Lead Managers
Edelweiss Financial Services Limited
14™ Floor, Edelweiss House

Off C.S.T. Road, Kalina

Mumbai — 400 098

Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 4009 4400

Fax: +91 22 4086 3610

E-mail: shalby.ipo@edelweissfin.com
Investor Grievance
E-mail:customerservice.mb@edelweissfin.com
Website: www.edelweissfin.com
Contact Person: Shubham Mehta

SEBI Registration No.: INM0000010650

IIFL Holdings Limited

10" Floor, IIFL Centre

Kamala City, Senapati Bapat Marg

Lower Parel (West), Mumbai — 400 013
Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 4646 4600

Fax: +91 22 2493 1073

E-mail: shalby.ipo@iiflcap.com

Investor Grievance E-mail: ig.ib@iiflcap.com
Website: www.iiflcap.com

Contact Person: Vishal Bangard / Abhishek Joshi

SEBI Registration No: MB/INM000010940

Syndicate Members

Edelweiss Securities Limited

2nd Floor, M.B. Towers

Plot No. 5, Road No. 2

Banjara Hills, Hyderabad-500 034
Telangana, India

Tel: +91 22 4063 5569

Fax: +91 22 6747 1347

Email: shalby.ipo@edelweissfin.com
Website: www.edelweissfin.in

Contact Person: Prakash Boricha

SEBI Registration No.: INB011193332 (BSE),
INB231193310 (NSE), INB261193396

India Infoline Limited

IIFL Centre, Kamala City

Senapati Bapat Marg, Lower Parel (West)
Mumbai 400 013

Tel: +91 22 4249 9000

Fax: +91 22 2495 4313

E-mail: cs@indiainfoline.com
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IDFC Bank Limited

Naman Chambers, C — 32, G Block

Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra (East)
Mumbai — 400 051

Mabharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 6622 2600

Fax: +91 22 6622 2501

E-mail: shalby.ipo@idfcbank.com

Investor Grievance E-mail: mb.ig@idfcbank.com
Website: www.idfcbank.com

Contact Person: Akshay Bhandari

SEBI Registration No: MB/INM000012250

IDFC Securities Limited
Naman Chambers, C-32, G Block
Bandra Kurla Complex

Bandra (East), Mumbai 400 051
Tel: +91 22 6622 2585

Fax: +91 22 6622 2504

E-mail: idfcsec.ie@idfc.com
Investor Grievance E-mail:
investorgrievance@idfc.com
Website: www.idfccapital.com
Contact Person: Amit Gangnaik
SEBI Registration No.: INB231291437,
INB011291433

Sharekhan Limited

10th Floor, Beta Building, Lodha iThink Techno
Campus Off Jogeshwari-Vikhroli Link Road
Next to Kanjurmarg Railway Station
Kanjurmarg (East) Mumbai 400 042

Tel: +91 22 6115 0000

Fax: +91 22 6748 1899

E-mail: ipo@sharekhan.com


mailto:shalby.ipo@edelweissfin.com
https://apac01.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=http%3A%2F%2Fwww.edelweissfin.in&data=02%7C01%7Csuman.prabhu%40khaitanco.com%7C17c70c5e61c34d3d2b8508d52cd8ad65%7C4e30ff55ee3046c6a82703e4c3eac70c%7C0%7C0%7C636464231513786823&sdata=dzCFycEEPYHkkAWpzET5%2Fa8kTwek3P7YwqwN5crrhUY%3D&reserved=0

Syndicate Members

Investor Grievance E-mail: Investor Grievance E-mail:

customergrievance@indiainfoline.com myaccount@sharekhan.com

Website: www.indiainfoline.com Website: www.sharekhan.com

Contact Person; Prasad Umarale Contact Person: Pravin Darji and Mehul Koradia

SEBI Registration No.: INB231097537, INB011097533  SEBI Registration No.: INB011073351,
INB231073330

Legal Counsel to our Company
Khaitan & Co
Simal, 2" Floor
711, Ulsoor Road
Bengaluru — 560 042
Karnataka, India
Tel: +91 80 4339 7000
Fax: +91 80 2559 7452

Legal Counsel to the BRLMSs
Shardul Amarchand Mangaldas
Express Towers

23 floor, Nariman Point

Mumbai — 400 021

Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 4933 5555

Fax: +91 22 4933 5550

Statutory Auditors to our Company

G. K. Choksi & Co.

“Madhuban”, Near Madalpur Underbridge
Ellisbridge, Ahmedabad — 380 006
Guijarat, India

Tel: +91 79 3001 2009

Fax: +91 79 2656 9929

E-mail: info@gkcco.com

Contact Person: Rajendra M Mulani

Firm Registration Number: FRN 101895W
Peer Review Number: 008731

Registrar to the Offer

Karvy Computershare Private Limited
Karvy Selenium, Tower B

Plot 31-32, Gacchibowli

Financial District, Nanakramguda
Hyderabad — 500 032

Telangana, India

Tel: +91 40 6716 2222

Fax: +91 40 2343 1551

E-mail: einward.ris@karvy.com

Investor Grievance E-mail: shalby.ipo@karvy.com
Website: https://karisma.karvy.com
Contact Person: M Muralikrishna

SEBI Registration No.: INR000000221

Escrow Collection Bank, Public Offer Account Bank and Refund Bank
HDFC Bank Limited

5™ Floor, Tower B

Peninsula Business Park

Senapati Bapat Marg

Lower Parel, Mumbai-400 013

Tel: +91 22 3395 8630
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Fax: +91 22 2579 9801

Email: Vikas.jajoo@hdfcbank.com/Sharman.dandekar@hdfcbank.com

Contact Person: Vikas Jajoo / Sharman Dandekar

Website: www.hdfcbank.com
SEBI Registration No.: INBI00000063

Bankers to our Company

HDFC Bank Limited

HDFC Bank House,

Near Mithakhali Six Road, Navrangpura
Ahmedabad — 380 009, Gujarat

India

Tel: +91 79 2644 1020

Fax: +91 79 6631 7777

E-mail: avinash.sharma@hdfcbank.com
Contact Person: Avinash Sharma
Website: www.hdfcbank.com

Kotak Mahindra Bank Limited

7t Floor B — Wing Venus Amadeus
Jodhpur Cross Road, Ahmedabad — 380 015
Guijarat, India

Tel: +91 79 6716 8753

Fax: -

E-mail: darshan.gopani@kotak.com /
sesoahmd@kotak.com

Contact Person: Darshan Gopani

Website: www.kotak.com

Export-Import Bank of India

Centre One Building, Floor 21

World Trade Centre Complex

Cuffe Parade, Mumbai — 400 005
Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 2217 2469

Fax: +91 22 2218 8076

E-mail: manjunaath.p@eximbankindia.in /
julian.j@exisbankindia.in

Contact Person: Manjunaath / Joseph Julian
Website: www.eximbankindia.com

DESIGNATED INTERMEDIARIES

Self-Certified Syndicate Banks

IDFC Bank Limited

Sun Square Complex, Off C G Road,
Ahmedabad- 380 006

Gujarat, India

Tel: +91 79 6621 6317

Fax: +91 79 2644 5511

E-mail: Birud.shah@idfcbank.com
Contact Person: Birud Shah
Website: www.idfcbank.com

Barclays Investments and Loans (India) Limited
10, Block B — 6, Nirlon Knowledge Park

Off Western Express Highway, Goregaon (East)
Mumbai — 400 063, Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 6175 4348 / +91 22 6175 4244

Fax: +91 22 6175 4099

E-mail: mumcreditoperations@barclays.com
Contact Person: Ruzbeh Sutaria

Website: www.barclays.in/bill

Bank of Maharashtra

Lokmanagal, 1501

Shivaji Nagar, Pune — 411 005
Mabharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 2284 4882

Fax: +91 22 2285 0750

E-mail: bom972@mahabank.co.in
Contact Person: Bibhas Chakraborty
Website: www.bankofmaharashtra.in

The list of banks that have been notified by SEBI to act as the SCSBs for the ASBA process is provided on the
website of SEBI at http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes and as updated
from time to time. For the list of branches of the SCSBs named by the respective SCSBs to receive the ASBA
Forms from the Designated Intermediaries, please refer to the above-mentioned link. Further, the branches of the
SCSBs where the Syndicate at the Specified Locations could submit the Bid cum Application Form is provided
on the website of SEBI at http://www.sebi.gov.in/sebiweb/other/OtherAction.do?doRecognised=yes, as updated
from time to time.

Registered Brokers

The list of the Registered Brokers, including details such as postal address, telephone number and e-mail address,
is provided on the websites of the Stock Exchanges at
http://www.bseindia.com/Markets/Publiclssues/brokercentres_new.aspx?expandable=3 and
http://www.nseindia.com/products/content/equities/ipos/ipo_mem_terminal.htm, respectively, as updated from
time to time.
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RTAs

The list of the RTAs eligible to accept ASBA Forms at the Designated RTA Locations, including details such as
address, telephone number and e-mail address, is provided on the websites of the Stock Exchanges at
http://www.bseindia.com/Static/Markets/Publiclssues/RtaDp.aspx?expandable=6 and
http://www.nseindia.com/products/content/equities/ipos/asba_procedures.htm, respectively, as updated from time
to time.

Collecting Depository Participants

The list of the CDPs eligible to accept ASBA Forms at the Designated CDP Locations, including details such as
name and contact details, is provided on the websites of the Stock Exchanges at
http://www.bseindia.com/Static/Markets/Publiclssues/RtaDp.aspx?expandable=6 and
http://www.nseindia.com/products/content/equities/ipos/asba_procedures.htm, respectively, as updated from time
to time.

Experts

Except as stated below, our Company has not obtained any expert opinions:

Our Company has received written consent dated November 17, 2017, from the Statutory Auditors hamely, G. K.
Choksi & Co., Chartered Accountants, to include their name as required under Section 26(1)(a)(v) of the
Companies Act, 2013 in this Prospectus and as an “Expert” as defined under Section 2(38) of the Companies Act,
2013, in respect of the reports of the Statutory Auditors on the Restated Standalone Financial Statements and
Restated Consolidated Financial Statements, each dated September 28, 2017, and the statement of tax benefits
dated November 17, 2017, included in this Prospectus and such consent has not been withdrawn as on the date of
this Prospectus. However, the term “Expert” shall not be construed to mean an “expert” as defined under the
Securities Act.

Monitoring Agency

HDFC Bank Limited has been appointed as the Monitoring Agency for monitoring the utilization of Net Proceeds,
as our Offer Size (excluding the Offer for Sale by the Selling Shareholder) exceeds X 1,000 million in accordance
with Regulation 16 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Our Audit Committee and the Monitoring Agency will
monitor the utilization of the Net Proceeds.

IPO Grading

No credit rating agency registered with SEBI has been appointed for grading the Offer.

Appraising Entity

None of the objects of the Offer for which the Net Proceeds will be utilised have been appraised by any agency.
Credit Rating

As this is an offer of Equity Shares, credit rating is not required for the Offer.

Trustee(s)

As this is an offer of Equity Shares, the appointment of trustee(s) is not required.

INTER-SE ALLOCATION OF RESPONSIBILITIES

The following table sets forth the inter-se allocation of responsibilities for various activities among the BRLMs
for the Offer:
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Sr. No

Activity

Responsibility

Co-ordinator

Capital structuring with the relative components and
formalities such as composition of debt and equity, type of
instruments, and positioning strategy

Edelweiss, IDFC, IIFL

Edelweiss

Pre-Offer due diligence of our Company including its
operations / management / business plans / legal etc.,
Drafting and design of the Draft Red Herring Prospectus,
the Red Herring Prospectus and Prospectus. Ensure
compliance and completion of prescribed formalities with
the Stock Exchanges, SEBI and RoC including finalisation
of RHP, Prospectus and RoC filing

Edelweiss, IDFC, IIFL

Edelweiss

Drafting and approval of all statutory advertisements

Edelweiss, IDFC, IIFL

IDFC

Drafting and approval of all publicity material other than
statutory advertisements as mentioned in #3 above,
including corporate advertising, brochures, media
monitoring etc.

Edelweiss, IDFC, IIFL

IDFC

Appointment of Registrar to the Offer, Printers, Banker(s)
to the Offer, advertising agency (including coordinating all
agreements to be entered with such parties)

Edelweiss, IDFC, IIFL

IFL

Preparation of road show presentation and FAQs for the
road show team

Edelweiss, IDFC, IIFL

Edelweiss

International institutional marketing of the Offer, which
will cover, inter alia:

Institutional marketing strategy;

Finalizing the list and division of international investors for
one-to-one meetings; and

Finalizing international road show and investor meeting
schedules

Edelweiss, IDFC, IIFL

Edelweiss

Domestic institutional marketing of the Offer, which will
cover, inter alia:

Finalizing the list and division of domestic investors for
one-to-one meetings; and

Finalizing domestic road show and investor meeting
schedules

Edelweiss, IDFC, IIFL

IDFC

Conduct non-institutional marketing of the Offer

Edelweiss, IDFC, IIFL

IFL

10.

Conduct retail marketing of the Offer, which will cover,
inter-alia:

Finalising media, marketing, public relations strategy and
publicity budget;

Finalising collection centres;

Finalising centres for holding conferences for brokers etc.;
and

Follow-up on distribution of publicity and Offer material
including form, RHP / Prospectus and deciding on the
guantum of the Offer material

Edelweiss, IDFC, IIFL

Edelweiss

11.

Coordination with Stock Exchanges for book building
software, bidding terminals and mock trading

Edelweiss, IDFC, IIFL

IFL

12.

Coordination with Stock Exchanges for deposit of 1%
security deposit

Edelweiss, IDFC, IIFL

IFL

13.

Managing the book and finalization of pricing in
consultation with the Company

Edelweiss, IDFC, IIFL

Edelweiss

14.

Post-Bidding activities — managing Anchor book related
activities and submission of letters to regulators post
completion of Anchor issue, management of escrow
accounts, coordinating underwriting, coordination of non-
institutional allocation, finalization of the basis of allotment
based on technical rejections, listing of instruments, demat
credit and refunds / unblocking of funds announcement of
allocation and dispatch of refunds to Bidders, etc, payment
of the applicable STT, coordination with SEBI and Stock
Exchanges for refund of 1% security deposit and media
compliance report

Edelweiss, IDFC, IIFL

IDFC
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BOOK BUILDING PROCESS

The Offer is being undertaken in accordance with Rule 19(2)(b) of the SCRR, as amended, in compliance with
Regulation 26(1) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. The book building, in the context of the Offer, refers to the
process of collection of Bids on the basis of the Red Herring Prospectus within the Price Band, which was decided
by our Company and the Selling Shareholder, in consultation with the BRLMs, and advertised in all editions of
Financial Express- English, all editions of Jansatta and Ahmedabad edition of Financial Express-Gujarati, each of
which are widely circulated English, Hindi and Gujarati newspapers, respectively, (Gujarati being the regional
language of Gujarat where our Registered and Corporate Office is located), each with wide circulation, at least
five working days prior to the Bid / Offer Opening Date. The Offer Price was finalised after the Bid / Offer Closing
Date. The principal parties involved in the Book Building Process are:

our Company;

the Selling Shareholder;

the BRLMs;

the Syndicate Members;

the SCSBs;

the Registered Brokers;

the Registrar to the Offer;

the Escrow Collection Bank(s);

the RTAs; and

the Collecting Depository Participants.

The Offer is being made through the Book Building Process in compliance with Regulation 26(1) of the SEBI
ICDR Regulations, wherein 50% of the Net Offer shall be allotted on a proportionate basis to QIBs, of which 5%
(excluding Anchor Investor Portion) shall be reserved for allocation on a proportionate basis to Mutual Funds
only. Our Company and the Selling Shareholder may, in consultation with the BRLMs, allocate up to 60% of the
QIB Portion to Anchor Investors on a discretionary basis, and one-third of the Anchor Investor Portion shall be
available for allocation to domestic Mutual Funds, only subject to valid Bids being received from domestic Mutual
Funds at or above the Anchor Investor Allocation Price. An Anchor Investor shall make a minimum Bid of such
number of Equity Shares that the Bid Amount is at least ¥100.00 million.

Not less than 15% of the Net Offer will be available for allocation on a proportionate basis to Non-Institutional
Investors and not less than 35% of the Net Offer will be available for allocation to Retail Individual Investors,
subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price. Further, up to 121,000 Equity Shares will be
available for allocation on a proportionate basis to Eligible Employees, subject to valid Bids being received from
them at or above the Offer Price.

Subject to valid Bids being received at or above the Offer Price, undersubscription, if any, in any category except
in the QIB category would be allowed to be met with spill-over from other categories or a combination of
categories at the discretion of our Company, in consultation with the BRLMs and the Designated Stock Exchange,
subject to applicable law.

All Bidders, except Anchor Investors, participated in the Offer only through the ASBA process.

In accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, QIBs bidding in the QIB Portion and Non-Institutional
Bidders bidding in the Non-Institutional Portion are not allowed to withdraw or lower the size of their Bids
(in terms of the quantity of the Equity Shares or the Bid Amount) at any stage. Retail Individual Bidders
and Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion can revise their Bids during the
Bid/Offer Period and withdraw their Bids until the Bid / Offer Closing Date. Further, Anchor Investors
cannot withdraw their Bids after the Anchor Investor Bid / Offer Period. Allocation to the Anchor Investors
will be on a discretionary basis.

Our Company confirms that it will comply with the SEBI ICDR Regulations and any other directions issued by
SEBI for this Offer. The Selling Shareholder confirms that he will comply with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, and
any other directions issued by SEBI, as applicable, to the portion of his Equity Shares offered in the Offer for
Sale. The process of Book Building under the SEBI ICDR Regulations and the Bidding Process are subject to
change from time to time and the investors are advised to make their own judgment about investment through this
process prior to submitting a Bid in the Offer. For further details on the method and procedure for Bidding, see
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“Offer Structure” and “Offer Procedure” on pages 424 and 426. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Offer is also
subject to obtaining (i) the final approval of the RoC after the Prospectus is filed with the RoC; and (ii) final listing
and trading approvals of the Stock Exchanges, which our Company shall apply for after Allotment.

Illustration of Book Building Process and Price Discovery Process

For an illustration of the Book Building Process and price discovery process, see “Offer Procedure — Part B —
Basis of Allocation - lllustration of the Book Building and Price Discovery Process” on page 457.

UNDERWRITING AGREEMENT

Our Company and the Selling Shareholder have entered into an Underwriting Agreement with the Underwriters
for the Equity Shares proposed to be offered through the Offer. The underwriting is to the extent of the Bids
uploaded, subject to Regulation 13 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Pursuant to the terms of the Underwriting
Agreement dated December 11, 2017, the obligations of the Underwriters will be several and will be subject to
certain conditions specified therein. By way of the Underwriting Agreement, the Underwriters have indicated
their intention to underwrite the following number of Equity Shares:

Name, address, telephone number, fax number and e-mail address | Indicative number of Equity Amount

of the Underwriters Shares to be underwritten underwritten
(X in million)
Edelweiss Financial Services Limited 6,784,846 1,682.64

14™ Floor, Edelweiss House, Off C.S.T. Road, Kalina
Mumbai — 400 098, Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 4009 4400, Fax: +91 22 4086 3610
E-mail: shalby.ipo@edelweissfin.com

IDFC Bank Limited 6,784,746 1,682.62
Naman Chambers, C — 32, G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex, Bandra
(East), Mumbai — 400 051, Maharashtra, India

Tel: +91 22 6622 2600, Fax: +91 22 6622 2501

E-mail: shalby.ipo@idfcbank.com

I1FL Holdings Limited 6,784,846 1,682.64
10" Floor, IIFL Centre, Kamala City, Senapati Bapat Marg
Lower Parel (West), Mumbai — 400 013, Maharashtra, India
Tel: +91 22 4646 4600, Fax: +91 22 2493 1073

E-mail: shalby.ipo@iiflcap.com

Edelweiss Securities Limited 100 0.02
2nd Floor, M.B. Towers, Plot No. 5, Road No. 2
Banjara Hills, Hyderabad-500 034, Telangana, India
Tel: +91 22 4063 5569, Fax: +91 22 6747 1347
Email: shalby.ipo@edelweissfin.com

IDFC Securities Limited 100 0.02
Naman Chambers, C-32, G Block, Bandra Kurla Complex
Bandra (East), Mumbai - 400 051, India

Tel: +91 22 6622 2585, Fax: +91 22 6622 2504

E-mail: idfcsec.ie@idfc.com

India Infoline Limited 100 0.02
IIFL Centre, Kamala City, Senapati Bapat Marg
Lower Parel (West), Mumbai 400 013

Tel: +91 22 4249 9000, Fax: +91 22 2495 4313
E-mail: cs@indiainfoline.com

Sharekhan Limited 100 0.02
10th Floor, Beta Building, Lodha iThink Techno Campus Off
Jogeshwari-Vikhroli Link Road, Next to Kanjurmarg Railway Station
Kanjurmarg (East) Mumbai 400 042

Tel: +91 22 6115 0000, Fax: +91 22 6748 1899

E-mail: ipo@sharekhan.com

85


mailto:shalby.ipo@edelweissfin.com
mailto:ipo@sharekhan.com

The above-mentioned is indicative underwriting and will be finalised after determination of Offer Price and Basis
of Allotment and actual allocation and subject to the provisions of the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

In the opinion of the Board of Directors (based on representations made by the Underwriters), the resources of the
Underwriters are sufficient to enable them to discharge their respective underwriting obligations in full. The
Underwriters are registered with SEBI under Section 12(1) of the SEBI Act or registered as brokers with the Stock
Exchange(s). The IPO Committee, at its meeting held on December 11, 2017, has accepted and entered into the
Underwriting Agreement mentioned above on behalf of our Company.

Allocation among the Underwriters may not necessarily be in proportion to their underwriting commitment set
forth in the table above.

Notwithstanding the above table, the Underwriters shall be severally responsible for ensuring payment with
respect to the Equity Shares allocated to investors procured by them in accordance with the Underwriting
Agreement. In the event of any default in payment, the respective Underwriter, in addition to other obligations
defined in the Underwriting Agreement, will also be required to procure subscribers for or subscribe to the Equity
Shares to the extent of the defaulted amount in accordance with the Underwriting Agreement. The extent of
underwriting obligations, and the Bids to be underwritten in the Offer shall be as per the Underwriting Agreement.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE

The share capital of our Company as at the date of this Prospectus is set forth below:

(%, except share data)

Sr. Particulars Aggregate value at face value Aggregate
No. value at Offer
Price
A. AUTHORIZED SHARE CAPITAL
117,750,000 Equity Shares 1,177,500,000
TOTAL 1,177,500,000
B. ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP CAPITAL BEFORE THE OFFER
88,654,932 Equity Shares | 886,549,320

C. | PRESENT OFFER IN TERMS OF THIS PROSPECTUS*
Offer of 20,354,838* Equity Shares
aggregating up to 35,048 million of

which

Fresh Issue of 19,354,838* Equity | 193,548,380* 4,799,999,824*
Shares aggregating up to 34,800.00

million®*

Offer for Sale of 1,000,000* Equity | 10,000,000* 248,000,000*
Shares aggregating up to 248

million®@~

which includes

Employee Reservation Portion of | 1,210,000* 30,008,000*

121,000* Equity Shares aggregating
up to 230.01 million*

Net Offer 202,338,380* 50,179,918,240*
D. | ISSUED, SUBSCRIBED AND PAID-UP CAPITAL AFTER THE OFFER

108,009,770 Equity Shares | 1,080,097,700* |
E. | SECURITIES PREMIUM ACCOUNT

Before the Offer 78,000,000

After the Offer 4,684,451 444

(1) The Fresh Issue has been authorized by a resolution passed by of our Board of Directors on March 6, 2017, and a special resolution
passed by our Shareholders in their EGM held on March 30, 2017.

(2) For details of the authorisation letter received from the Selling Shareholder for the Offer for Sale, see “The Offer” on page 75. The
Equity Shares being offered by the Selling Shareholder has been held by him for a period of at least one year prior to the date of filing
of the Draft Red Herring Prospectus with SEBI, calculated in the manner as set out under Regulation 26(6) of SEBI ICDR Regulations,
and are eligible for being offered for sale in the Offer.

*  Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment.

NOTES TO THE CAPITAL STRUCTURE

1. CHANGES IN AUTHORISED SHARE CAPITAL OF OUR COMPANY

Sr. Date o.f Shareholders’ : : _ _
No Resolutlgn [ order of the Details of changes in the Authorised Share Capital
) High Court

1. June 20, 2006 Initial authorised capital of 10,000,000 divided into 1,000,000 Equity Shares was
increased to 100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000 Equity Shares.

2. December 24, 2007 Authorised share capital of 100,000,000 divided into 10,000,000 Equity Shares
was increased to 3250,000,000 divided into 25,000,000 Equity Shares.

3. August 16, 2010 Authorised share capital of 250,000,000 divided into 25,000,000 Equity Shares
was increased to 500,000,000 divided into 50,000,000 Equity Shares.

4, October 14, 2011 Authorised share capital of 500,000,000 divided into 50,000,000 Equity Shares

of 210 each was reclassified into 48,000,000 Equity Shares and 2,000,000
Preference Shares.

5. September 3, 2013 Authorised share capital of 500,000,000 divided into 48,000,000 Equity Shares
and 2,000,000 Preference Shares was increased to ¥892,500,000 divided into
87,250,000 Equity Shares and 2,000,000 Preference Shares®,

6. April 30, 2015 Authorised share capital of 892,500,000 divided into 87,250,000 Equity Shares
and 2,000,000 Preference Shares was increased to ¥942,500,000 divided into
92,250,000 Equity Shares and 2,000,000 Preference Shares®.
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Date of Shareholders’

El:). Resolution / order of the Details of changes in the Authorised Share Capital
: High Court
7. August 5, 2016 Authorised share capital of 942,500,000 divided into 92,250,000 Equity Shares

and 2,000,000 Preference Shares was increased to ¥1,012,500,000 divided into
99,250,000 Equity Shares and 2,000,000 Preference Shares®),

8. February 6, 2017 Authorised share capital 0f%1,012,500,000 divided into 99,250,000 Equity Shares
and 2,000,000 Preference Shares was increased to X1,112,500,000 divided into
109,250,000 Equity Shares and 2,000,000 Preference Shares.

9. February 6, 2017 Authorised share capital of ¥1,112,500,000 divided in to 109,250,000 Equity
Shares and 2,000,000 Preference Shares was reclassified into 111,250,000 Equity
Shares.
10. | July 13,2017 Authorised share capital of %1,112,500,000 divided into 111,250,000 Equity
Shares was increased to %1,177,500,000 divided into 117,750,000 Equity
Shares®:
) This increase in our Company’s authorised share capital was on account of the scheme of arrangement between our Company
and Yogeshwar Healthcare, sanctioned by an order passed by the High Court of Gujarat on September 3, 2013.
2) This increase in our Company’s authorised share capital was on account of the scheme of arrangement between our Company
and Hari Om Health Care Private Limited, sanctioned by an order passed by the High Court of Gujarat on April 30, 2015.
3) This increase in our Company’s authorised share capital was on account of the scheme of arrangement between our Company,

Shalby Surat Hospitals Private Limited, and Kusha Healthcare Limited, sanctioned by an order passed by the High Court of
Gujarat on August 5, 2016.

4 This increase in our Company’s authorised share capital was on account of the scheme of arrangement between our Company
and Kamesh Hospital, sanctioned by an order passed by the National Company Law Tribunal, Chandigarh on July 13, 2017.

2. SHARE CAPITAL HISTORY OF OUR COMPANY

(@) The history of the Equity Share capital of our Company is set out in the table below:

Number of | Face value | Issue price Cumulative C_:umulatwg
Date of ; . . Nature of Nature of paid-up Equity
allotment Sy SEEs 6 STy e ey consideration | transaction I K7 @ Share Capital
allotted Share R) | Share (%) Equity Shares ?
August 19, 10,000 10 10|Cash Initial 10,000 100,000
2004 subscription to
MoA®
March 28, 500,000 10 10|Cash Preferential 510,000 5,100,000
2005 allotment®
April 8, 400,000 10 10|Cash Preferential 910,000 9,100,000
2005 allotment®
March 20, 50 10 10|Cash Preferential 910,050 9,100,500
2006 allotment®
July 25, 2,089,950 10 10/Cash Preferential 3,000,000 30,000,000
2006 allotment®
December 6,500,000 10 10|Cash Preferential 9,500,000 95,000,000
15, 2007 allotment®
February 8,240,000 10 10|Cash Preferential 17,740,000 177,400,000
12, 2008 allotment®
March 29, 750,000 10 10/Cash Preferential 18,490,000 184,900,000
2008 allotment®
June 12, 1,510,300 10 10|Cash Preferential 20,000,300 200,003,000
2008 allotment®
November 2,085,000 10 10|Cash Preferential 22,085,300 220,853,000
10, 2008 allotment®
April 26, 2,800,000 10 10/Cash Preferential 24,885,300 248,853,000
2010 allotment?)
April 18, 9,954,120 10 10|Cash Rights issue? 34,839,420 348,394,200
2011
November 64,200 10 20|Cash Preferential 34,903,620 349,036,200
25,2011 allotment(13)
December 38,352 10 -|Other than cash |Allotment 34,941,972 349,419,720
19, 2013 pursuant to
demerger4

March 26, 52,412,960 10 -|Bonus issue Bonus issue) 87,354,932 873,549,320
2016
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Date of
allotment

Number of
Equity Shares
allotted

Face value

per Equity
Share (%)

Issue price

per Equity
Share (%)

Nature of
consideration

Nature of
transaction

Cumulative
number of
Equity Shares

Cumulative
paid-up Equity
Share Capital

R®)

March
2017

6, 54,000

10

70

Cash

Preferential

87,408,932

874,089,320

allotment(16)

April
2017

24, 1,246,000 10 70|Cash Preferential

allotment(?)

88,654,932 886,549,320

)
@
®
4

®)
©®)
™
®)
©
(10)
(11)

(12)
(13)

(14)

(15)

(16)

an

5,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Dr Vikram Shah, and 5,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Dr Darshini Shah.

500,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Dr Vikram Shah.

400,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Dr Vikram Shah.

10 Equity Shares were allotted to Shanay Shah, 10 Equity Shares were allotted to Madhukanta Shah, 10 Equity Shares were
allotted to Prakash Nayak, 10 Equity Shares were allotted to V. Raghunathan, and 10 Equity Shares were allotted to Rupen
Kapadia.

2,089,950 Equity Shares were allotted to Dr Vikram Shah.

6,500,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Dr Vikram Shah.

8,240,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Dr Vikram Shah.

250,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Dr Vikram Shah, and 500,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Dr Darshini Shah.
1,340,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Dr Vikram Shah, 170,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Dr Darshini Shah, 100 Equity
Shares were allotted to Tejas Patel, 100 Equity Shares were allotted to Sandip Shah, and 100 Equity Shares were allotted to
Nilesh Shah.

1,500,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Dr Vikram Shah, 530,000 Equity Shares to Dr Darshini Shah, and 55,000 Equity Shares
to Shanay Shah.

2,800,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Zodiac.

9,954,120 Equity Shares were allotted to Zodiac.

5,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Amish Kshatriya, 18,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Bharat Gajjar, 2,000 Equity Shares
were allotted to Yudhishthir Dave, 6,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Govind Agrawal, 4,000 Equity Shares were allotted to
Natverlal Thakkar, 6,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Shrirang Deodhar, 7,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Ashish Sheth,
3,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Dhiraj Marothi, 3,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Nalin Shah, 5,000 Equity Shares were
allotted to Kalpesh Shah, 100 Equity Shares were allotted to Shyamal Joshi, 100 Equity Shares were allotted to Kiritbhai Shah,
and 5,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Namrata Pachore.

Allotment of Equity Shares pursuant to the order dated September 3, 2013 passed by the High Court of Gujarat, approving the
composite scheme of arrangement in the nature of de-merger and transfer of Ghuma division of Yogeshwar Healthcare to our
Company. In accordance with the terms of the aforementioned order, the share exchange ratio for the demerger of Yogeshwar
Healthcare from our Company would entail that one Equity Share as fully paid-up of our Company be credited against 51 equity
shares of Yogeshwar Healthcare. Accordingly, 7,879 Equity Shares were allotted to Muthuswamy Krishnamurthy jointly with
Lalitha Krishnamurthy, 7,879 Equity Shares were allotted to Balaji Gopalakrishnan jointly with Sarada Krishnamurthy, 21,585
Equity Shares were allotted to Zodiac, 197 Equity Shares were allotted to N. L. Dave, 778 Equity Shares were allotted to Shashin
Parikh, 2 Equity Shares were allotted to Viral Shah, 2 Equity Shares were allotted to Pratish Shah, 2 Equity Shares were allotted
to Shyamal Joshi, 2 Equity Shares were allotted to Ravi Bhandari, 2 Equity Shares were allotted to Raviraj Karia, 2 Equity
Shares were allotted to Sunil Bhagat, 2 Equity Shares were allotted to Jayesh Patel, 2 Equity Shares were allotted to Rohan
Gupta, 2 Equity Shares were allotted to Mikita Shah, 2 Equity Shares were allotted to Nishita Shukla, 2 Equity Shares were
allotted to Medhavini Ayachit, 2 Equity Shares were allotted to Nayan Parmar, 2 Equity Shares were allotted to Nilesh Soni, 2
Equity Shares were allotted to Yogesh Karel, 2 Equity Shares were allotted to Ishwendra Jhala, 2 Equity Shares were allotted to
Kaushal Rajgor, and 2 Equity Shares were allotted to Ankur Mahendru. Further, for details of the composite scheme of
arrangement between Yogeshwar Healthcare and our Company, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Acquisition of
Business, Mergers and Amalgamations " on page 185.

Bonus issue in the ratio of three Equity Shares for every two Equity Shares to the then existing Shareholders, authorised by way
of a resolution passed by the Shareholders at the EGM held on March 25, 2016. 31,237,575 Equity Shares were allotted to Dr
Vikram Shah, 1,807,500 Equity Shares were allotted to Dr Darshini Shah, 82,515 Equity Shares were allotted to Shanay Shah,
15 Equity Shares were allotted to Madhukanta Shah, 15 Equity Shares were allotted to Prakash Nayak, 15 Equity Shares were
allotted to V. Raghunathan, 15 Equity Shares were allotted to Rupen Kapadia, 150 Equity Shares were allotted to Nilesh J. Shah,
19,163,609 Equity Shares were allotted to Zodiac, 7,500 Equity Shares were allotted to Amish Kshatriya, 27,000 Equity Shares
were allotted to Bharat Gajjar, 3,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Yudhishthir Dave, 9,000 Equity Shares were allotted to
Govind Agrawal, 6,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Natverlal Thakkar, 9,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Shrirang
Deodhar, 10,500 Equity Shares were allotted to Ashish Sheth, 4,500 Equity Shares were allotted to Dhiraj Marothi, 4,500 Equity
Shares were allotted to Nalin Shah, 7,500 Equity Shares were allotted to Kalpesh Shah, 150 Equity Shares were allotted to
Shyamal Joshi, 150 Equity Shares were allotted to Kiritbhai Shah 7,500 Equity Shares were allotted to Namrata J. Pachore, 150
Equity Shares were allotted to Maitreya Shah, jointly with Deepa Shah, 11,819 Equity Shares were allotted to Muthuswamy
Krishnamurthy, jointly with Lalitha Krishnamurthy, 11,819 Equity Shares were allotted to Balaji Gopalakrishnan, jointly with
Sarada Krishnamurthy, 1,167 Equity Shares were allotted to Shashin Parikh, and 296 Equity Shares were allotted to Atul Choksi.
2,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Nilay Bramhachari, 2,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Viral Shah, 4,000 Equity Shares
were allotted to Jayesh Patel, 2,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Sachin Baid, 2,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Shailesh
Rathod, 18,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Nishita Shukla, 3,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Rakesh Shukla, 6,000 Equity
Shares were allotted to Shantilal Kothari, 5,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Kunwar Bikram Sehgal, and 10,000 Equity Shares
were allotted to Ravi Bhandari.

2,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Priyank Gupta, 5,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Ashish Sheth, 2,000 Equity Shares
were allotted to Jayesh Patil, 2,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Ranat Vishnoi, 2,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Dhiraj
Marothi, 2,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Umesh Menon, 3,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Manu Sharma, 10,000 Equity
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Shares were allotted to Deepak Saini, 2,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Namrata Babariya, 5,000 Equity Shares were allotted
to Amit Chauhan, 2,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Pradip Chudasama, 2,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Pravin Agarwal,
5,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Bhanupratap Singh, and 2,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Mausami Shah jointly with
Kairav Shah, and 1,200,000 Equity Shares were allotted to Shalby Medicos Trust (acting through its trustees Viral Shah, Nishita
Shukla, and Pratish Shah).

(b) The table below sets out details of the Equity Shares issued by our Company at a price which may be
lower than the Offer Price during a period of one year preceding the date of this Prospectus. Other than
as disclosed in this Prospectus, our Company has not issued any Equity Shares to members of our
Promoter Group:

Date of Number of Name of allottee(s) Face Issue Reason for Whether
allotment Equity value price allotment allotment to
Shares per per Promoter(s)
allotted Equity Equity and/ or
Share Share member(s) of
(€3] ® the Promoter
Group
March 6, 54,000 | Nilay Bramhachari, Viral 10 70 | Preferential No
2017 Shah, Jayesh Patel, Sachin allotment

Baid, Shailesh Rathod, Nishita
Shukla, Rakesh  Shukla,
Shantilal Kothari, Kunwar
Bikram Sehgal, and Ravi

Bhandari

April 24, 1,246,000 | Priyank Gupta, Ashish Sheth, 10 70 | Preferential Except for

2017 Jayesh Patil, Ranat Vishnoi, allotment Kairav Shah who
Dhiraj Marothi, Umesh is jointly holding
Menon, Manu Sharma, Equity  Shares
Deepak  Saini, Namrata with  Mausami
Babriya, Amit  Chauhan, Shah, none of the
Pradip Chudasama, Pravin other allottees are
Agarwal, Bhanupratap Singh, members of the
Mausami Shah jointly with Promoter Group

Kairav Shah, and Shalby
Medicos Trust (acting through
its trustees Viral Shah, Nishita
Shukla, and Pratish Shah)

(c) By way of a resolution passed by the Board of Directors on December 20, 2016, an aggregate of 533,100
Preference Shares were redeemed by the Company in accordance with Section 55 of the Companies Act,
2013. As on the date of filing this Prospectus, our Company does not have any Preference Shares. The
history of the Preference Share capital of our Company is set out in the table below:

Dateof | Dt oreterence. | preforonce | Nawreof - Natureor | CURLECE
el sttt Shares allotted Share (%) Share (%) ERRERIELEN | e e Preference Shares
February 196,000 10 20|Cash Preferential 196,000
11, 2012 allotment®
March 30, 10,000 10 20|Cash Preferential 206,000
2012 allotment®
July 24, 140,500 10 25|Cash Preferential 346,500
2012 allotment®
January 17, 83,600 10 30/Cash Preferential 430,100
2013 allotment®
May 21, 103,000 10 53|Cash Preferential 533,100
2015 allotment®
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30,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Amish Kshatriya, 20,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Bharat Gajjar, 20,000
Preference Shares were allotted to Govind Agrawal, 2,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Natverlal Thakkar, 30,000
Preference Shares were allotted to Shrirang Deodhar, 30,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Ashish Sheth, 30,000 Preference
Shares were allotted to Dhiraj Marothi, 4,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Nalin Shah, and 30,000 Preference Shares were
allotted to Kalpesh Shah.

10,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Bharat Gajjar.

5,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Minesh Mehta, 4,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Nimish Sharma, 1,000
Preference Shares were allotted to Nilesh Bavishi, 10,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Pranav Shah, 1,000 Preference
Shares were allotted to Tejash Parikh, 5,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Bhavin Desai, 1,000 Preference Shares were
allotted to Kamlesh Devmurari, 5,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Sandeep Agarwala, 1,500 Preference Shares were
allotted to Hetal Shah, 10,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Kinner Shah, 1,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Arvind
Sharma, 2,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Kamal Goplani, 5,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Prathmesh Jain,
10,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Hasmukh Nagwadia, 3,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Siddharth Mavani, 1,000
Preference Shares were allotted to Falguni lyer, 5,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Nimisha Pandya, 3,000 Preference
Shares were allotted to Rashmi Chovatia, 500 Preference Shares were allotted to Tejas Shah, 4,000 Preference Shares were
allotted to Kanu Kataria, 1,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Manoj Shah, 1,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Tejal
Mehta, 10,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Kalpesh Shah, 10,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Lav Selarka, 1,000
Preference Shares were allotted to Namrata Babriya, 1,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Bhavin Kapadiya, 1,000 Preference
Shares were allotted to Samidh Jani, 4,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Snehal Brahmbhatt, 5,000 Preference Shares were
allotted to Nimesh Prajapati, 10,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Mahendra Rajgor, 500 Preference Shares were allotted
to Shaileshkumar Patel, 10,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Paresh Prajapati, 4,000 Preference Shares were allotted to
Dhaval Shah, and 4,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Bhavinkumar Shah.

1,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Chinubhai Shah, 2,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Viral Shah, 2,000 Preference
Shares were allotted to Pratish Shah, 1,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Sunil Bhagat, 1,000 Preference Shares were allotted
to Raviraj Karia, 1,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Kashmira Bhatt, 10,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Ashish
Sheth, 10,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Dhiraj Marothi, 500 Preference Shares were allotted to Ketan Parikh, 10,000
Preference Shares were allotted to Amish Kshatriya, 5,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Ravi Bhandari, 4,000 Preference
Shares were allotted to Nishita Shukla, 10,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Shrirang Deodhar, 2,000 Preference Shares
were allotted to Nilesh Soni, 1,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Mikita Shah jointly with Kamlesh Shah 10,000 Preference
Shares were allotted to Kalpesh Shah, 1,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Mini Biju, 500 Preference Shares were allotted to
Letha Kishore, 200 Preference Shares were allotted to Trupti Chokshi, 200 Preference Shares were allotted to Priyal Mistry, 1,000
Preference Shares were allotted to Rakesh Sharma, 2,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Jayesh Patel, 200 Preference Shares
were allotted to Jalpa Shah, 500 Preference Shares were allotted to Ashish Bafna, 4,000 Preference Shares were allotted to
Maitreya Shah, jointly with Deepa Shah, 1,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Ravin Bhojani, jointly with Barsha Dutta
Bhojani, 500 Preference Shares were allotted to Monika Saini, and 2,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Deepak Saini.

3,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Nishita Shukla jointly with Viral Shukla, 3,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Reena
Sharma, 10,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Ravi Bhandari, 4,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Suneel Mundra jointly
with Pratima Mundra, 5,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Shalin Thakore, 2,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Rajiv
Bhattacharya, 2,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Kairav Shah jointly with Mausami Shah, 5,000 Preference Shares were
allotted to Niraj Vasavada, 2,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Chandraprakash Devpura, 2,000 Preference Shares were
allotted to Viral Shah, 50,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Zodiac, 2,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Ashish
Mahuvakar jointly with Rekha Mahuvakar, 5,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Bhavesh Patel, 6,000 Preference Shares were
allotted to Maitreya Shah jointly with Deepa Shah and 2,000 Preference Shares were allotted to Tejas Pravinkumar Shah.

ISSUE OF EQUITY SHARES IN THE LAST TWO PRECEDING YEARS

For details of issue of Equity Shares by our Company in the last two preceding years, see “Capital
Structure — Share Capital History of our Company” on page 88.

ISSUE OF SHARES FOR CONSIDERATION OTHER THAN CASH

Our Company has not issued any Equity Shares or Preference Shares out of revaluation of reserves.
Except as set out below, our Company has not issued Equity Shares for consideration other than cash.
Further, except as disclosed below, no benefits have accrued to our Company on account of allotment of
Equity Shares for consideration other than cash:
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Date of Number of Name of Face Issue Reason for Benefits accrued to our
allotment Equity allottee(s) value price allotment Company
Shares per per
allotted Equity | Equity
Share Share
® ®
December 38,352 | Shareholders 10 - | Pursuant to the | Ghuma division of
19, 2013 of Yogeshwar scheme of | Yogeshwar Healthcare was
Healthcare® arrangement in the | transferred to our Company.
nature of de-merger | For further details, see
and transfer of | “History and  Certain
Ghuma division of | Corporate  Matters  —
Yogeshwar Acquisition of Business,
Healthcare to our | Mergers, and
Company Amalgamations” on page
185.
March 26, 52,412,960 | Then existing 10 - | Bonus issue in the | -
2016 shareholders ratio 3:2@
of our
Company®
@) Allotment of Equity Shares pursuant to the order dated September 3, 2013, passed by the High Court of Gujarat, approving the

composite scheme of arrangement in the nature of demerger, pursuant to which the Ghuma division of Yogeshwar Healthcare was
demerged, and transferred to our Company. In accordance with the terms of the aforementioned order, the share exchange ratio
for the demerger of Yogeshwar Healthcare from our Company would entail that one Equity Share as fully paid-up of our Company
be credited against 51 equity shares of Yogeshwar Healthcare. For further details regarding the composite scheme of arrangement
between Yogeshwar Healthcare and our Company, please see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Acquisition of Business,
Mergers and Amalgamations” on page 185.

@

passed at the EGM held on March 25, 2016.

©)]

Bonus issue of Equity Shares in the ratio of 3:2 to the then existing Shareholders, authorised by way of a Shareholders resolution

Bonus issue of Equity Shares were carried out of our Company’s general reserve account and securities premium account.

5. HISTORY OF THE EQUITY SHARE CAPITAL HELD BY OUR PROMOTERS,
PROMOTERS’ CONTRIBUTION AND LOCK-IN

As on the date of this Prospectus, our Promoters hold 86,758,098 Equity Shares, equivalent to 97.86%
of the issued, subscribed and paid-up Equity Share capital of our Company.

(@ Build-up of our Promoters’ shareholding in our Company
The build-up of the equity shareholding of our Promoters since incorporation of our Company
is set out in the tables below:
(i Dr Vikram Shah
Date of Nature of Number of Nature of Face Issue price / | Percentage of | Percentage of
allotment / | transaction | Equity Shares consideration | value per  Transfer | the pre-Offer | the post-Offer
transfer Equity price per capital capital™ (%0)
Share ) Equity Share (%)
®
August 19, Initial 5,000|Cash 10 10 Negligible Negligible
2004 subscription to
MOA
March 28, Preferential 500,000|Cash 10 10 0.56 0.46
2005 allotment
April 8, Preferential 400,000|Cash 10 10 0.45 0.37
2005 allotment
July Preferential 2,089,950|Cash 10 10 2.36 1.93
25,2006 allotment
December  |Preferential 6,500,000 Cash 10 10 7.33 6.02
15, 2007 allotment
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Date of Nature of Number of Nature of Face Issue price / | Percentage of | Percentage of
allotment / | transaction | Equity Shares consideration | value per  Transfer | the pre-Offer | the post-Offer
transfer Equity price per capital capital* (%0)

Share ()  Equity Share (%)
®)
February 12, Preferential 8,240,000|Cash 10 10 9.29 7.63
2008 allotment
March 29, Preferential 250,000|Cash 10 10 0.28 0.23
2008 allotment
June 12,|Preferential 1,340,000|Cash 10 10 1.51 1.24
2008 allotment
November |Preferential 1,500,000|Cash 10 10 1.69 1.39
10, 2008 allotment
February 16, Transferred 100|Cash 10 10 Negligible Negligible
2013 from Tejas
Patel
March 26, Bonus issue 31,237,575|Bonus issue 10 - 35.24 28.92
2016
April 13, Transfer® (43,327,132) |Gift 10 - 48.87 40.11
2017
Total 8,735,493 9.85 8.09
@) Transfer of 43,327,132 Equity Shares by way of a gift deed dated April 12, 2017, to the Shah Family Trust, acting through its
trustees, Dr Vikram Shah and Dr Darshini Shah.
* Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment.
(i) Dr Darshini Shah
Date of Nature of Number of = Nature of Face | Issue price/ Percentage Percentage of
allotment / transaction Equity | consideration | value Transfer | of the pre- the post-
transfer Shares per price per | Offer capital Offer
Equity Equity (%) capital* (%0)
Share (), Share (%)
August 19, |Initial subscription to 5,000|Cash 10 10 Negligible Neglible
2004 MOA
March 29, Preferential allotment 500,000/ Cash 10 10 0.56 0.46
2008
June 12,|Preferential allotment 170,000|Cash 10 10 0.19 0.16
2008
November |Preferential allotment 530,000|Cash 10 10 0.60 0.49
10, 2008
March 26, Bonus issue 1,807,500 Bonus issue 10 - 2.04 1.67
2016
Total 3,012,500 3.40 2.79
* Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment.
(iii) Shanay Shah
Date of Nature of | Number of  Nature of |Face value Issue price/ | Percentage of | Percentage of
allotment / | transaction | Equity | consideration |per Equity | Transfer price @ the pre-Offer | the post-Offer
transfer Shares Share ) per Equity capital capital* (%)
Share }) (%)
March  20,|Preferential 10|Cash 10 10 Negligible Negligible
2006 allotment
November |Preferential 55,000|Cash 10 10 0.06 0.05
10, 2008  |allotment
March 26, Bonus issue 82,515|Bonus issue 10 - 0.09 0.08
2016
Total 137,525 0.16 0.13

*

Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment.
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(iv) Zodiac

Date of Nature of Number of Equity Nature of |Face value | Issue price | Percentage @ Percentage
allotment/ | transaction Shares consideration| per Equity  / Transfer | of the pre- | of the post-
transfer Share ) | price per Offer Offer
Equity capital |capital* (%)
Share }) (%)
April 26, 2010 |Preferential 2,800,000|Cash 10 10 3.16 2.59
allotment
April 18, 2011 |Rights issue 9,954,120|Cash 10 10 11.23 9.22
December 19,|Allotment 21,585|Cash 10 - 0.02 0.02
2013 pursuant  to
demerger
February 19, Transfer® 34|Cash 10 10| Negligible] Negligible
2014
March 26, Bonus issue 19,163,609 Bonus issue 10 - 21.62 17.74
2016
January  19,|Transfer® (264,200)|Cash 10|Refer to 0.30 0.24
2017 footnote (2)
February 3, Transfer® (41,700)|Cash 10|Refer to 0.05 0.04
2017 footnote (3)
February 10, Transfer® (46,700)|Cash 10|Refer to 0.05 0.04
2017 footnote (4)
February 20, Transfer® (23,700)|Cash 10|Refer to 0.03 0.02
2017 footnote (5)
March 6, 2017 | Transfer(® (2,000)|Cash 10|Refer to| Negligible| Negligible
footnote (6)
April 7,2017 |Transfer(® (10,300)|Cash 10|Refer to 0.01 0.01
footnote (7)
April 10, 2017 | Transferred 200|Cash 10 70| Negligible| Negligible
from Naman
Shah
October  5,|Transfer® (1,000)|Cash 10 70,  Negligible|  Negligible
2017
November 3, Transfer® (1,500)|Cash 10 70| Negligible,  Negligible
2017
November 10, Transfer(®) (3,000)|Cash 10 70| Negligible,  Negligible
2017
Total 31,545,448 35.58 29.21
@) Two Equity Shares were transferred from Viral Shah, two Equity Shares were transferred from Pratish Shah, two Equity Shares
were transferred from Shyamal Joshi, two Equity Shares were transferred from Ravi Bhandari, two Equity Shares were transferred
from Raviraj Karia, two Equity Shares were transferred from Sunil Bhagat, two Equity Shares were transferred from Jayesh Patel,
two Equity Shares were transferred from Rohan Gupta, two Equity Shares were transferred from Mikita Shah, two Equity Shares
were transferred from Nishita Shukla, two Equity Shares were transferred from Medhavani Ayachit, two Equity Shares were
transferred from Nayan Parmar, two Equity Shares were transferred from Nilesh Soni, two Equity Shares were transferred from
Yogesh Karel, two Equity Shares were transferred from Ishwendra Jhala, two Equity Shares were transferred from Kaushal Rajgor,
and two Equity Shares were transferred from Ankur Mahendru.
2) 40,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Amish Kshatriya at a transfer price of 322.50 per Equity Share, 40,000 Equity Shares
were transferred to Ashish Sheth jointly with Nareshchandra Sheth at a transfer price of ¥22.50 per Equity Share, 30,000 Equity
Shares were transferred to Bharat Gajjar at a transfer price of 320.00 per Equity Share, 40,000 Equity Shares were transferred to
Dhiraj Marothi at a transfer price of 22.50 per Equity Share, 10,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Maitrey Shah jointly with
Deepa Shah at a transfer price of I43.80 per Equity Share, 40,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Shrirang Deodhar at a
transfer price of ¥22.50 per Equity Share, 4,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Viral Shah at a transfer price of I41.50 per
Equity Share, 1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Chinubhai Shah at a transfer price of ¥30.00 per Equity Share, 2,000 Equity
Shares were transferred to Kairav Shah jointly with Mausami Shah at a transfer price of ¥53.00 per Equity Share, 5,000 Equity
Shares were transferred to Minesh Mehta at a transfer price of 325.00 per Equity Share, 2,000 Equity Shares were transferred to
Natvarlal Thakkar at a transfer price of ¥20.00 per Equity Share, 5,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Niraj Vasavada at a
transfer price of Z53.00 per Equity Share, 200 Equity Shares were transferred to Jalpa Shah at a transfer price of ¥30.00 per
Equity Share, 1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Namrata Babriya at a transfer price of 325.00 per Equity Share, 4,000
Equity Shares were transferred to Snehal Brahmbhatt at a transfer price of 325.00 per Equity Share, and 40,000 Equity Shares
were transferred to Kalpesh Shah at a transfer price of I22.50 per Equity Share.
3) 4,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Nalin Shah at a transfer price of 320.00 per Equity Share, 5,000 Equity Shares were

transferred to Bhavin Desai at a transfer price of ¥25.00 per Equity Share, 1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Bhavin
Kapadiya at a transfer price of 25.00 per Equity Share, 10,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Mahendra Rajgor jointly with
Pijnita Rajgor at a transfer price of ¥25.00 per Equity Share, 4,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Bhavin Shah at a transfer
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®)

(6)
Q]

®)
©)
(10)

price of 25.00 per Equity Share, 2,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Nilesh Soni at a transfer price of <30.00 per Equity
Share, 1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Samidh Jani at a transfer price of ¥25.00 per Equity Share, 2,000 Equity Shares
were transferred to Deepak Saini at a transfer price of ¥30.00 per Equity Share, 2,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Jayesh
Patel at a transfer price of 30.00 per Equity Share, 10,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Paresh Prajapati at a transfer price
0f ¥25.00 per Equity Share, 500 Equity Shares were transferred to Letha Kishore at a transfer price of 330.00 per Equity Share,
and 200 Equity Shares were transferred to Priyal Mistry at a transfer price of ¥30.00 per Equity Share.

15,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Ravi Bhandari at a transfer price of ¥45.33 per Equity Share, 2,000 Equity Shares were
transferred to Pratish Shah at a transfer price of 330.00 per Equity Share, 7,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Nishita Shukla
at a transfer price of ¥39.86 per Equity Share, 20,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Govind Agrawal at a transfer price of
%20.00 per Equity Share, 2,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Ashish Mahuvakar jointly with Rekha Mahuvakar at a transfer
price of 53.00 per Equity Share, 500 Equity Shares were transferred to Monika Saini at a transfer price of Z30.00 per Equity
Share, and 200 Equity Shares were transferred to Trupthi Choksi at a transfer price of ¥30.00 per Equity Share.

4,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Kanu Kataria at a transfer price of T25.00 per Equity Share, 10,000 Equity Shares were
transferred to Kinner Shah at a transfer price of 25.00 per Equity Share, 1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Manoj Shah at
a transfer price of ¥25.00 per Equity Share, 500 Equity Shares were transferred to Shaileshkumar Patel at a transfer price of
225.00 per Equity Share, 2,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Tejas Shah at a transfer price of T53.00 per Equity Share, 1,000
Equity Shares were transferred to Mini Biju at a transfer price of ¥30.00 per Equity Share, 3,000 Equity Shares were transferred
to Rashmi Chovatia jointly with Chirag Chovatia at a transfer price of 325.00 per Equity Share, 1,000 Equity Shares were
transferred to Nilesh Soni at a transfer price of T53.00 per Equity Share, 500 Equity Shares were transferred to Chintan Patel at
a transfer price of ¥70.00 per Equity Share, 500 Equity Shares were transferred to Nitish Patil at a transfer price of <70.00 per
Equity Share, and 200 Equity Shares were transferred to Naman Shah at a transfer price of Z70.00 per Equity Share.

1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Shalinder Madhok at a transfer price of Z70.00 per Equity Share, and 1,000 Equity Shares
were transferred to Falguni Iyer jointly with Vivek Iyer at a transfer price of ¥25.00 per Equity Share.

3,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Reena Sharma at a transfer price of T53.00 per Equity Share, 1,000 Equity Shares were
transferred to Kashmira Bhatt at a transfer price of ¥30.00 per Equity Share, 400 Equity Shares were transferred to Pooja
Prajapati at a transfer price of 70.00 per Equity Share, 400 Equity Shares were transferred to Vertika Sisodia at a transfer price
0f 70.00 per Equity Share, 1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Jalpa Shah at a transfer price of Z70.00 per Equity Share,
1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Krunal Shah at a transfer price of 70.00 per Equity Share, 1,500 Equity Shares were
transferred to Kinjal Harkhani at a transfer price of ¥70.00 per Equity Share, 500 Equity Shares were transferred to Abhilash Nair
at a transfer price of Z70.00 per Equity Share, 500 Equity Shares were transferred to Animesh Shah at a transfer price of <70.00
per Equity Share, 500 Equity Shares were transferred to M V Anand Raman at a transfer price of ¥70.00 per Equity Share, and
500 Equity Shares were transferred to Parth Banerji at a transfer price of T70.00 per Equity Share.

1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Mritunjay Maheshwari at a transfer price of €70.00 per Equity Share.

1500 Equity Shares transferred to Indrajeet Kumar at a transfer price of 70.00 per Equity Share.

3,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Babu Thomas at a transfer price of 70.00 per Equity Share.

Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment.

(v) Shah Family Trust

Date of Nature of Number of Equity Nature of |Face value | Issue price | Percentage @ Percentage
allotment/ | transaction Shares consideration| per Equity | / Transfer | of the pre- | of the post-
transfer Share () | price per Offer Offer

Equity capital |capital* (%)
Share ) (%)

April 13, 2017 | Transferred 43,327,132|Gift 10 - 48.87 40.11

from Dr
Vikram
Shah®

0]

*

Transfer of 43,327,132 Equity Shares by way of a gift deed dated April 12, 2017, to the Shah Family Trust, acting through its
trustees Dr Vikram Shah and Dr Darshini Shah.

Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment.

All the Equity Shares held by our Promoters were fully paid-up on the respective dates of acquisition of such
Equity Shares.

(b) Shareholding of our Promoters, Promoter Group and Directors of Zodiac

The details of the shareholding of our Promoters, the members of the Promoter Group and the directors of Zodiac
as on the date of filing of this Prospectus are as follows:

Name of the shareholder Total Equity Percentage (%) of pre-Offer
Shares capital
Promoters
Dr Vikram Shah 8,735,493 9.85
Dr Darshini Shah® 3,012,500 3.40
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Name of the shareholder Total Equity Percentage (%) of pre-Offer
Shares capital

Shanay Shah® 137,525 0.16
Zodiac 31,545,448 35.58
Shah Family Trust® 43,327,132 48.87
Total Holding of the Promoters (A) 86,758,098 97.86
Promoter Group

Kairav Shah jointly with Mausami Shah 2,000 Negligible
Kiritbhai Shah 250 Negligible
Total holding of the Promoter Group (other than 2,250 Negligible
Promoter) (B)

Total Holding of Promoters and Promoter Group (A+B) 86,760,348 97.86

Q) Dr Darshini Shah, Shanay Shah, and Kairav Shah, are also directors of Zodiac. Other than Dr Darshini Shah, Shanay Shah, and
Kairav Shah, none of the directors of Zodiac hold any Equity Shares.
) 43,327,132 Equity Shares constituting 48.87% of our Company’s pre-Offer paid-up capital are held by the Shah Family Trust
acting through its trustees Dr Vikram Shah and Dr Darshini Shah.
(© Details of Promoters’ contribution and lock-in:
0] Pursuant to Regulations 32 and 36(a) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, an aggregate of
20% of the fully diluted post-Offer Equity Share capital of our Company held by our
Promoters shall be locked-in for a period of three years as minimum promoters’
contribution from the date of Allotment (“Promoters’ Contribution”), and our
Promoters’ shareholding in excess of 20% shall be locked-in for a period of one year
from the date of Allotment.
(i) As on the date of this Prospectus, our Promoters, Dr Vikram Shah, Dr Darshini Shah,
Shanay Shah, Shah Family Trust, and Zodiac, together hold 86,758,098 Equity Shares,
out of which 1,000,000 Equity Shares held by one of our Individual Promoters, Dr
Vikram Shah, were offered under the Offer for Sale.
(iii) Details of the Equity Shares to be locked-in for three years as minimum Promoters’
Contribution are as follows:
Name of | Date of Date of | Nature of No. of Face Issue / No. of | Percentage | Date up
the allotment | transaction | transaction  Equity | value | acquisition Equity of the to which
Promoter | of the and when Shares per | price per Shares | post-Offer the
Equity | made fully Equity | Equity locked-in | paid-up Equity
Shares paid-up Share | Share ) capital* Shares
® (%) are
subject to
Lock-in
Zodiac April April 26, Cash 2,405,900 10 10| 2,405,900 2.23 | December
26,2010 | 2010 15, 2020
April 18, | April 18, Cash 9,954,120 10 10| 9,954,120 9.22 | December
2011 2011 15, 2020
December | December | Cash 21,585 10 10 21,585 0.02 | December
19,2013 |19, 2013 15, 2020
February |February Cash 34 10 10 34| Negligible | December
19,2014 |19, 2014 15, 2020
March 26, | March 26, | Bonus issue | 19,163,609 10 10| 9,220,315 8.54 | December
2016 2016 15, 2020
Total 21,601,954 20.01
* Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment.
(iv) Zodiac has, pursuant to its letter dated May 17, 2017, given consent to include such

number of Equity Shares held by it as may constitute 20% of the fully diluted post-
Offer Equity Share capital of our Company as Promoters’ Contribution, and has agreed
not to sell, transfer, charge, pledge, or otherwise encumber in any manner, the
Promoters’ Contribution from the date of filing of the Draft Red Herring Prospectus
until completion of the lock-in period specified above, or for such other time, as
required under the SEBI ICDR Regulations.
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(d)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

Our Promoters have confirmed to our Company and the BRLMs that the Equity Shares
held by our Promoters which shall be locked-in for three years as Promoters’
contribution have been financed from their personal funds / respective internal accruals
and no loans or financial assistance from any bank or financial institution have been
availed by them for this purpose. Further, as on the date of this Prospectus, our
Promoters have not pledged any of the Equity Shares that they hold in our Company.

The minimum Promoters’ Contribution has been brought in to the extent of not less
than the specified minimum lot and from the person defined as ‘promoter’ under the
SEBI ICDR Regulations. Our Company undertakes that the Equity Shares that are
being locked-in are not ineligible for computation of Promoters’ contribution in terms
of Regulation 33 of SEBI ICDR Regulations.

In this connection, we confirm the following:

= The Equity Shares offered for Promoters’ contribution do not include (a) Equity
Shares acquired in the last three years for consideration other than cash wherein
revaluation of assets or capitalisation of intangible assets was involved, or (b)
bonus shares out of revaluation reserves or unrealised profits of our Company or
bonus shares issued against Equity Shares which are otherwise ineligible for
computation of Promoters’ contribution;

= The Promoters’ contribution does not include any Equity Shares acquired during
the preceding one year, and at a price lower than the price at which the Equity
Shares are being offered to the public in the Offer;

= All the Equity Shares held by the Promoters are in dematerialized form; and

=  The Equity Shares forming part of the Promoters’ contribution are not pledged
with any creditor.

Other lock-in requirements:

(i)

(i)

(iii)

In addition to the 20% of the fully diluted post-Offer shareholding of our Company
held by our Promoters and locked-in for three years as specified above, the entire pre-
Offer Equity Share capital of our Company, except the Equity Shares being offered by
the Selling Shareholder in the Offer as part of the Offer for Sale, will be locked-in for
a period of one year from the date of Allotment. However, if Equity Shares which are
offered by the Selling Shareholder in the Offer as part of the Offer for Sale remain
unsold, such unsold Equity Shares will also be locked-in for a period of one year from
the date of Allotment.

The Equity Shares held by our Promoters which are locked-in may be transferred to
and among the Promoter Group or to any new promoter or persons in control of our
Company, subject to continuation of the lock-in in the hands of the transferees for the
remaining period and compliance with the Takeover Regulations, as applicable, and
such transferee shall not be eligible to transfer them till the lock-in period continues.

Pursuant to Regulation 39(a) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the Equity Shares held
by our Promoters which are locked-in for a period of three years from the date of
Allotment may be pledged only with scheduled commercial banks or public financial
institutions as collateral security for loans granted by such banks or public financial
institutions, provided that the loan has been granted by such bank or institution for the
purpose of financing one or more of the objects of the Offer and pledge of the Equity
Shares is a term of sanction of the loan.
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(iv)

(v)

(vi)

Pursuant to Regulation 39(b) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, the Equity Shares held
by our Promoters which are locked-in for a period of one year from the date of
Allotment may be pledged only with scheduled commercial banks or public financial
institutions as collateral security for loans granted by such banks or public financial
institutions, provided that such pledge of the Equity Shares is one of the terms of the
sanction of such loans.

The Equity Shares held by persons other than our Promoters and locked-in for a period
of one year from the date of Allotment in the Offer may be transferred to any other
person holding the Equity Shares which are locked-in, subject to continuation of the
lock-in in the hands of transferees for the remaining period and compliance with the
Takeover Regulations.

Any Equity Shares Allotted to Anchor Investors under the Anchor Investor Portion
shall be locked-in for a period of 30 days from the date of Allotment.
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6. SHAREHOLDING PATTERN OF OUR COMPANY

The table below presents the shareholding pattern of our Company as on the date of this Prospectus:

Promoters &
(A) Promoter
Group

~
o

86,760,348 0 86,760,348 97.86 86,760,348 | 86,760,348 97.86 0 97.86 0 0 86,760,348

(8) |Public 87| 874334 0 0| 874334 0.99 874,334 874,334 0.99 0 0.99 0 0 832,400

Non

© Promoter-
Non Public
Shares
underlying
depository
receipts
Shares held
(C2) |by employee 0 0 0 0 0 0.00 0 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0 0
trusts
Total 9

[N

1,020,250 0 0] 1,020,250 115 1,020,250 1,020,250 115 0 115 0 0 1,020,250

(C1) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.00 0 0.00 0 0 0

a1
o

88,654,932 0 88,654,932 100.00 88,654,932 | 88,654,932 100.00 0 100.00 0 0 88,612,998
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7. LIST OF TOP 10 SHAREHOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The list of top 10 Shareholders of our Company and the number of Equity Shares held by them as on the date of this
Prospectus, 10 days before the date of filing, and two years prior the date of filing of this Prospectus are set forth

below:
@) The top 10 Shareholders as on the date of filing of this Prospectus are as follows:
Sr. No. Name of the shareholder No. of Equity Shares Percentage of the pre-Offer capital (%0)

1. Shah Family Trust® 43,327,132 48.87
2. Zodiac 31,545,448 35.58
3. Dr Vikram Shah 8,735,493 9.85
4. Dr Darshini Shah 3,012,500 3.40
5. Shalby Medicos Trust® 1,020,250 1.15
6. Shanay Shah 137,525 0.16
7. Bharat Gajjar 112,500 0.13
8. Ashish Sheth 93,750 0.11
9. Shrirang Deodhar 86,250 0.10
10. Amish Kshatriya 83,750 0.09
10. Kalpesh Shah 83,750 0.09

TOTAL 88,238,348 99.53

1)
trustees Dr Vikram Shah and Dr Darshini Shah.

(2) Acting through its trustees Viral Shah, Nishita Shukla, and Pratish Shah.

43,327,132 Equity Shares constituting 48.87% of our Company’s pre-Offer paid-up capital are held by the Shah Family Trust, acting through its

(b) The top 10 Shareholders 10 days prior to the date of filing of this Prospectus are as follows
Sr. No. Name of the shareholder No. of Equity Shares Percentage of the pre-Offer capital (%)

1. Shah Family Trust® 43,327,132 48.87
2. Zodiac 31,545,448 35.58
3. Dr Vikram Shah 8,735,493 9.85
4. Dr Darshini Shah 3,012,500 3.40
5. Shalby Medicos Trust® 1,020,250 1.15
6. Shanay Shah 137,525 0.16
7. Bharat Gajjar 112,500 0.13
8. Ashish Sheth 93,750 0.11
9. Shrirang Deodhar 86,250 0.10
10. Amish Kshatriya 83,750 0.09
10. Kalpesh Shah 83,750 0.09

TOTAL 88,238,348 99.53

(1) 43,327,132 Equity Shares constituting 48.87% of our Company’s pre-Offer paid-up capital are held by the Shah Family Trust, acting through its

trustees Dr Vikram Shah and Dr Darshini Shah.

(2) Acting through its trustees Viral Shah, Nishita Shukla, and Pratish Shah.

(c) The top 10 Shareholders two years prior to the date of filing of this Prospectus are as follows:
Sr. No. Name of the Shareholder No. of Equity Shares Percentage of the pre-Offer capital (%)
1. Dr Vikram Shah 20,825,050 23.49
2. Zodiac 12,775,739 14.41
3. Dr Darshini Shah 1,205,000 1.36
4, Shanay Shah 55,010 0.06
5. Bharat Gajjar 18,000 0.02
6. Muthuswamy Krishnamurthy
jointly with Lalitha
Krishnamurthy 7,879 0.01
7. Balaji Gopalakrishnan jointly
with Sarada Krishnamurthy 7,879 0.01
8. Ashish Sheth 7,000 0.01
9. Govind Agrawal 6,000 0.01
10. Shrirang Deodhar 6,000 0.01
TOTAL 34,913,557 39.38

8. DETAILSOF EQUITY SHARESHELD BY THE DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL

OF OUR COMPANY
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@) Set out below are details of the Equity Shares held by our Directors in our Company as on the date of this

Prospectus:
Sr. No. Name No. of Equity Shares Percentage of the Percentage of the post-
pre-Offer capital Offer capital* (%0)
(%)
1. Dr Vikram Shah® 8,735,493 9.85 8.09
2. Dr Darshini Shah® 3,012,500 3.40 2.79
3. Umesh Menon 2,000 Negligible Negligible
4. Shyamal Joshi 250 Negligible Negligible

(1) 43,327,132 Equity Shares constituting 48.87% of our Company'’s pre-Offer paid-up capital are held by the Shah Family Trust, acting through its
trustees, Dr Vikram Shah and Dr Darshini Shah.
* Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment.

(b) For details of the shareholding of Key Management Personnel, see “Our Management — Key Management
Personnel — Shareholding of Key Management Personnel” on page 202.

9. As on the date of this Prospectus, the BRLMSs and their respective associates (as per the Companies Act, 2013) do
not hold any Equity Shares in our Company.

10. Except for the allotment of 38,352 Equity Shares pursuant to an order passed by the High Court of Gujarat dated
September 3, 2013, approving the composite scheme of arrangement in the nature of de-merger and transfer of
Ghuma division of Yogeshwar Healthcare to our Company, our Company has not allotted any Equity Shares pursuant
to any scheme approved under Sections 391 to 394 of the Companies Act, 1956, or corresponding provisions under
the Companies Act, 2013. Details of the Equity Shares allotted pursuant to the aforementioned order passed by the
High Court of Gujarat are set out below:

Date of Number of Name of allottee(s) Face value Issue price Reason for allotment
allotment Equity Shares per Equity per Equity
allotted Share }) Share })
December 38,352 | Shareholders of 10 - | Pursuant to the scheme of arrangement for
19, 2013 Yogeshwar the demerger and transfer of the Ghuma
Healthcare® division of Yogeshwar Healthcare to our
Company

(1) Allotment pursuant to the order dated September 3, 2013, passed by the High Court of Gujarat, approving the composite scheme of arrangement in
the nature of de-merger and transfer of Ghuma division of Yogeshwar Healthcare to our Company. In accordance with the terms of the
aforementioned order, one Equity Share as fully paid-up of our Company was allotted against 51 equity shares of Yogeshwar Healthcare to the then
shareholders of Yogeshwar Healthcare. For details regarding the composite scheme of arrangement between Yogeshwar Healthcare and our
Company, please see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Acquisition of Business, Mergers and Amalgamations” on page 185.

11. Except for the allotment of 9,954,120 Equity Shares on April 18, 2011 pursuant to a rights issue of Equity Shares,
our Company has not made any public issue or rights issue of any kind or class of securities since its incorporation.
Details of the Equity Shares allotted pursuant to the aforementioned rights issue are set out below:

Date of Number of Equity Name of Face value per Issue price per Nature of Nature of
allotment Shares allotted allottee(s) Equity Share Equity Share consideration transaction
® ®)
April 18, 9,954,120 | Zodiac 10 10 | Cash Rights issue
2011

12. No payment, direct or indirect in the nature of discount, commission and allowance or otherwise shall be made either
by us, or our Promoters to the persons who are Allotted Equity Shares.

13. Our Company, does not have an employee benefit scheme existing as on the date of this Prospectus.
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14. SHALBY MEDICOS TRUST

Our Company has constituted the Shalby Medicos Trust (“Medicos Trust”), for the benefit of doctors associated or
to be associated in future with our Company, brief details of the Medicos Trust are provided below:

Medicos Trust is an irrevocable trust established by a trust deed dated December 20, 2016 (“Trust Deed”), for the
benefit of doctors associated with our Company through a subsisting valid contract of consultation for their services,
rendered in connection with our Company’s business (“Trust Beneficiaries”). The Trust Beneficiaries do not include
our Promoters, any members of the Promoter Group, or employees of our Company. The settlors of Medicos Trust,
being, Dr Vikram Shah, Dr Darshini Shah, and Shanay Shah (“Settlors”), have established Medicos Trust with an
initial corpus of %30,000. The initial trustees of Medicos Trust are Nishita Shukla, Viral Shah, and Pratish Shah
(“Trustees”). Pursuant to the Trust Deed, our Company has, on April 24, 2017, allotted 1,200,000 Equity Shares,
constituting 1.35% of the pre-Offer paid-up capital of our Company, at a consideration of X70 per Equity Share to
Medicos Trust (“Trust Shares”). The Trust Shares shall be held by Medicos Trust, in the name of the Trustees, in
trust for, and on behalf of the Trust Beneficiaries. To facilitate the Medicos Trust in subscribing to the Trust Shares,
Dr Vikram Shah, one of our Promoters, in his capacity as Settlor of Medicos Trust, has advanced an unsecured and
interest free loan of ¥34.00 million to the Medicos Trust. This apart, the Medicos Trust has also availed a loan of 350
million from Barclays Investment & Loans (India) Limited to subscribe to the Trust Shares. Additionally, Dr Vikram
Shah has also agreed to grant loans to Medicos Trust, as and when required, so as to enable Medicos Trust in meeting
its lawful expenses.

In accordance with the terms of the Trust Deed, Medicos Trust shall not accept contributions from any person other
than the Settlors unless such persons are approved by the Settlors. However, the Trust may, for the benefit of the
Beneficiaries, avail loans from banking companies, non-banking financial companies, or any other financial
institutions, subject to applicable law. The Trustees have been entrusted with various duties and administrative
powers, which, inter alia, include the power to affect any transaction relating to the management, administration or
disposition of the Medicos Trust’s fund. The power of appointing additional trustees and removing existing trustees
lies with Dr Vikram Shah, and in his absence, Dr Darshini Shah, and in her absence, Shanay Shah. The Doctor
Engagement Cell, a cell working under the supervision of our Company’s management, and in accordance with the
directions and recommendations of which, the Trustees shall distribute Medicos Trust’s fund and properties among
the Trust Beneficiaries, shall identify Trust Beneficiaries and communicate details of such identification to the
Trustees. Presently, the Doctor Engagement Cell is headed by Dhiren Mankad. Pursuant to such intimation, the Trust
Beneficiaries shall be provided a grant letter by the Trustees, which inter alia, sets out details indicating the number
of Trust Shares such Trust Beneficiary is entitled to, and the manner in which such Trust Shares will be vested in
such Trust Beneficiary. The Trust Shares shall be transferred to the Trust Beneficiaries in tranches, as mentioned in
the grant letter provided to each Trust Beneficiary.

The Trust Shares shall not be transferrable by Medicos Trust for a period of one year from the date of Allotment of
Equity Shares in the Offer. The term of Medicos Trust, as set out under the Trust Deed is a period of 30 years and
three months, expiring on March 31, 2047 (“Trust Period”). Medicos Trust may, before completion of the Trust
Period, be wound up on obtaining the unanimous approval of the Trustees, and after attainment of the objectives of
Medicos Trust, and distribution of Medicos Trust’s fund among the Trust Beneficiaries. As on the date of this
Prospectus, 179,750 Equity Shares have been transferred by Medicos Trust to the Trust Beneficiaries in the following

manner:
Name of Trust Date Number of Equity Price per Equity Total consideration paid by Trust
Beneficiary Shares transferred Share®) Beneficiary (%)

Bharat Rajpurohit October  5,/1,000 100 100,000
2017

Bharatkumar Govindlal |November 10,/37,500 80 3,000,000

Gajjar 2017

Amish Shankerlal|November 10, /31,250 80 2,500,000

Kshatriya 2017

Kalpesh Pravin Shah November 31,250 80 2,500,000
10, 2017

Sheth Ashish N November 31,250 80 2,500,000
10, 2017

Shrirang Madhukar|November 31,250 80 2,500,000

Deodhar 10, 2017

Deepak Saini November 13,110,000 80 800,000
2017

Dhiraj Kumar Marothi  [November 13,/6,250 80 500,000
2017
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15. Except as stated below, none of our Promoters, members of the Promoter Group, directors of Zodiac, our Directors,
and their relatives (as defined under the Companies Act, 2013) have purchased or sold any securities of our Company
and its Subsidiaries during the period of six months immediately preceding the date of filing of the Draft Red Herring
Prospectus with SEBI, and during the period between the date of the Draft Red Herring Prospectus and the date of
this Prospectus:

(@) Purchase of securities:

Sr. Name of shareholder Promoter / Promoter Date Nature of Number of Percentage of
No. Group / Directors of Transaction Equity Shares = the pre-Offer
Zodiac / Directors / purchased capital (%0)
Relatives
1. |Kairav Shah jointly with|Promoter Group January  19,|Transfer® 2,000 Negligible
Mausami Shah 2017
2. |Zodiac Promoter April 10,| Transfer® 200 Negligible
2017
3. |Shah Family Trust (acting/Promoter April 13, Transfer® 43,327,132 48.87
through its trustees Dr 2017
Vikram Shah and Dr
Darshini Shah)

(1) 2,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Kairav Shah jointly with Mausami Shah at a transfer price of ¥53.00 per Equity Share.
(2) 200 Equity Shares were transferred to Zodiac by Naman Shah at a transfer price of ¥70.00 per Equity Share.
(3) 43,327,132 Equity Shares were transferred to the Shah Family Trust, acting through its trustees, Dr Vikram Shah and Dr Darshini Shah, pursuant to
a gift deed dated April 12, 2017.
(b) Sale of securities:
Sr. Name of Promoter / Promoter Date Nature of Number of Equity | Percentage of the pre-
No. | shareholder Group / Directors of Transaction Shares sold Offer capital (%)
Zodiac / Directors /
Relatives
1. |Zodiac Promoter January 19, Transfer® 264,200 0.30
2017
2. |Zodiac Promoter February  3,|Transfer® 41,700 0.05
2017
3. |Zodiac Promoter February 10,|Transfer® 46,700 0.05
2017
4. |Zodiac Promoter February 20, Transfer® 23,700 0.03
2017
5. |Zodiac Promoter March 6,| Transfer® 2,000 Negligible
2017
6. |Zodiac Promoter April 7, 2017 |Transfer® 10,300 0.01
7. |Dr Vikram Shah |Promoter April 13, | Transfer® 43,327,132 48.87
2017
8. |Zodiac Promoter October 5,/ Transfer® 1,000 Negligible
2017
9. |Zodiac Promoter November 3, |Transfer® 1,500 Negligible
2017
10. |Zodiac Promoter November 10, Transfer(9) 3,000 Negligible
2017
(1) 40,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Amish Kshatriya at a transfer price of ¥22.50 per Equity Share, 40,000 Equity Shares were transferred to
Ashish Sheth jointly with Nareshchandra Sheth at a transfer price of ¥22.50 per Equity Share, 30,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Bharat Gajjar
at a transfer price of T20.00 per Equity Share, 40,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Dhiraj Marothi at a transfer price of 322.50 per Equity Share,
10,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Maitrey Shah jointly with Deepa Shah at a transfer price of I43.80 per Equity Share, 40,000 Equity Shares
were transferred to Shrirang Deodhar at a transfer price of ¥22.50 per Equity Share, 4,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Viral Shah at a transfer
price of I41.50 per Equity Share, 1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Chinubhai Shah at a transfer price of 30.00 per Equity Share, 2,000 Equity
Shares were transferred to Kairav Shah jointly with Mausami Shah at a transfer price of ¥53.00 per Equity Share, 5,000 Equity Shares were transferred
to Minesh Mehta at a transfer price of 325.00 per Equity Share, 2,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Natvarlal Thakkar at a transfer price of T20.00
per Equity Share, 5,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Niraj Vasavada at a transfer price of <53.00 per Equity Share, 200 Equity Shares were
transferred to Jalpa Shah at a transfer price of 30.00 per Equity Share, 1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Namrata Babriya at a transfer price
0f %25.00 per Equity Share, 4,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Snehal Brahmbhatt at a transfer price of 325.00 per Equity Share, and 40,000
Equity Shares were transferred to Kalpesh Shah at a transfer price of <22.50 per Equity Share.
(2) 4,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Nalin Shah at a transfer price of ¥20.00 per Equity Share, 5,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Bhavin

Desai at a transfer price of 325.00 per Equity Share, 1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Bhavin Kapadiya at a transfer price of 325.00 per Equity

Share, 10,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Mahendra Rajgor jointly with Pijnita Rajgor at a transfer price of ¥25.00 per Equity Share, 4,000

Equity Shares were transferred to Bhavin Shah at a transfer price of ¥25.00 per Equity Share, 2,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Nilesh Soni at
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a transfer price of ¥30.00 per Equity Share, 1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Samidh Jani at a transfer price of 25.00 per Equity Share, 2,000
Equity Shares were transferred to Deepak Saini at a transfer price of ¥30.00 per Equity Share, 2,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Jayesh Patel
at a transfer price of 330.00 per Equity Share, 10,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Paresh Prajapati at a transfer price of 325.00 per Equity
Share, 500 Equity Shares were transferred to Letha Kishore at a transfer price of ¥30.00 per Equity Share, and 200 Equity Shares were transferred to
Priyal Mistry at a transfer price of ¥30.00 per Equity Share.

15,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Ravi Bhandari at a transfer price of 45.33 per Equity Share, 2,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Pratish
Shah at a transfer price of T30.00 per Equity Share, 7,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Nishita Shukla at a transfer price of ¥39.86 per Equity
Share, 20,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Govind Agrawal at a transfer price of ¥20.00 per Equity Share, 2,000 Equity Shares were transferred
to Ashish Mahuvakar jointly with Rekha Mahuvakar at a transfer price of I53.00 per Equity Share, 500 Equity Shares were transferred to Monika
Saini at a transfer price of ¥30.00 per Equity Share, and 200 Equity Shares were transferred to Trupthi Choksi at a transfer price of ¥30.00 per Equity
Share.

4,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Kanu Kataria at a transfer price of 25.00 per Equity Share, 10,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Kinner
Shah at a transfer price of 325.00 per Equity Share, 1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Manoj Shah at a transfer price of 325.00 per Equity Share,
500 Equity Shares were transferred to Shaileshkumar Patel at a transfer price of 25.00 per Equity Share, 2,000 Equity Shares were transferred to
Tejas Shah at a transfer price of T53.00 per , 1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Mini Biju at a transfer price of ¥30.00 per Equity Share, 3,000
Equity Shares were transferred to Rashmi Chovatia jointly with Chirag Chovatia at a transfer price of ¥25.00 per Equity Share, 1,000 Equity Shares
were transferred to Nilesh Soni at a transfer price of 53.00 per Equity Share, 500 Equity Shares were transferred to Chintan Patel at a transfer price
0f 70.00 per Equity Share, 500 Equity Shares were transferred to Nitish Patil at a transfer price of ¥70.00 per Equity Share, and 200 Equity Shares
were transferred to Naman Shah at a transfer price of X70.00 per Equity Share.

1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Shalinder Madhok at a transfer price of 70.00 per Equity Share, and 1,000 Equity Shares were transferred
to Falguni Iyer jointly with Vivek Iyer at a transfer price of 325.00 per Equity Share.

3,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Reena Sharma at a transfer price of ¥53.00 per Equity Share, 1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Kashmira
Bhatt at a transfer price of ¥30.00 per Equity Share, 400 Equity Shares were transferred to Pooja Prajapati at a transfer price of ¥70.00 per Equity
Share, 400 Equity Shares were transferred to Vertika Sisodia at a transfer price of 70.00 per Equity Share, 1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to
Jalpa Shah at a transfer price of ¥70.00 per Equity Share, 1,000 Equity Shares were transferred 10 to Krunal Shah at a transfer price of ¥70.00 per
Equity Share, 1,500 Equity Shares were transferred to Kinjal Harkhani at a transfer price of ¥70.00 per Equity Share, 500 Equity Shares were
transferred to Abhilash Nair at a transfer price of ¥70.00 per Equity Share, 500 Equity Shares were transferred to Animesh Shah at a transfer price of
Z70.00 per Equity Share, 500 Equity Shares were transferred to M V Anand Raman at a transfer price of ¥70.00 per Equity Share, and 500 Equity
Shares were transferred to Parth Banerji at a transfer price of 70.00 per Equity Share.

43,327,132 Equity Shares were transferred to the Shah Family Trust, acting through its trustees, Dr Vikram Shah and Dr Darshini Shah, pursuant to
a gift deed dated April 12, 2017.

1,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Mritunjay Maheshwari at a transfer price of 70.00 per Equity Share.

1,500 Equity Shares were transferred to Indrajeet Kumar at a transfer price of ¥70.00 per Equity Share.

(10) 3,000 Equity Shares were transferred to Babu Thomas at a transfer price of 70.00 per Equity Share.

(c) Purchase or sale of securities of our Subsidiaries:

Date of Nature of Number of Equity Nature of Face value per | Transfer price per
transfer transaction Shares transferred consideration | Equity Share %) Equity Share %)
September 15, |Purchase ® 1 Cash 100 100
2017

(1) One equity share of VSHL was transferred to Shanay Shah from Sachindra Sirdesai at a transfer price of ¥100.00 per share.
16. As of the date of the filing of this Prospectus, the total number of our Shareholders is 95.

17. Neither our Company, nor our Directors have entered into any buy-back, safety net and / or standby arrangements
for purchase of Equity Shares from any person. Further, the BRLMs have not entered into any buy-back, safety net
and / or standby arrangements for purchase of Equity Shares from any person.

18. All Equity Shares issued pursuant to the Offer shall be fully paid-up at the time of Allotment and there are no partly
paid-up Equity Shares as on the date of this Prospectus.

19. Any oversubscription to the extent of 10% of the Offer can be retained for the purposes of rounding off to the nearer
multiple of minimum allotment lot, while finalising the Basis of Allotment. Consequently, the Allotment may
increase by a maximum of 10% of this Offer, as a result of which, the post-Offer paid-up capital would also increase
by the excess amount of the Allotment so made. In such an event, the Equity Shares to be locked-in towards the
Promoter’s Contribution shall be suitably increased, so as to ensure that 20% of the post-Offer paid-up capital is
locked-in.

20. By way of a trust deed dated December 20, 2016, executed among Dr Vikram Shah, Dr Darshini Shah, and Shanay
Shah, acting as settlors of Shalby Medicos Trust, and Nishita Shukla, Viral Shah, and Pratish Shah as trustees of
Shalby Medicos Trust, Dr Vikram Shah, Dr Darshini Shah, and Shanay Shah have together advanced a sum of
%30,000.00 to Shalby Medicos Trust as initial corpus. Further, Dr Vikram Shah has also advanced an unsecured loan
0f%34.00 million to Shalby Medicos Trust for the purposes of enabling Shalby Medicos Trust to subscribe to Equity
Shares. Details of the Equity Shares allotted to Shalby Medicos Trust pursuant to the abovementioned financing
arrangement are set out below:
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Date of Number of Name of allottee(s) Face value Issue price Nature of Nature of
allotment Equity Shares per Equity per Equity consideration transaction
allotted Share ) Share )
April 24, 1,200,000 | Shalby Medicos Trust (acting 10 70 | Cash Preferential
2017 through its trustees Viral Shah, allotment
Nishita Shukla, and Pratish
Shah)

21.

22.

23.

24.

25.

26.

Apart from the above, there have been no financing arrangements whereby our Promoter Group, directors of Zodiac,
our Directors and their relatives have financed the purchase by any other person of securities of our Company, other
than in the normal course of business of the financing entity during a period of six months preceding the date of
filing of the Draft Red Herring Prospectus with SEBI and during the period between the date of filing of the Draft
Red Herring Prospectus with SEBI and the date of filing of this Prospectus.

Our Company presently does not intend, or propose to alter its capital structure for a period of six months from the
Bid / Offer Opening Date, by way of split or consolidation of the denomination of Equity Shares or further issue of
Equity Shares (including issue of securities convertible into or exchangeable, directly or indirectly for Equity Shares)
whether on a preferential basis or by way of issue of bonus shares or on a rights basis or by way of further public
issue of Equity Shares or qualified institutions placements or otherwise. Provided, however, that the foregoing
restrictions do not apply to: (a) the issuance of any Equity Shares under this Offer; and (b) any issuance, offer, sale
or any other transfer or transaction of a kind referred to above of any Equity Shares under or in connection with the
exercise of any options or similar securities, as disclosed in the Red Herring Prospectus and this Prospectus, provided
they have been approved by our Board.

In terms of Rule 19(2)(b) of the SCRR and in compliance with Regulation 26(1) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations, this
is an Offer wherein not more than 50% of the Net Offer was allocated on a proportionate basis to QIBs. Our Company
and the Selling Shareholder, in consultation with the BRLMs, allocated the Anchor Investor Portion on a
discretionary basis, out of which at least one-third was available for allocation to domestic Mutual Funds subject to
valid Bids being received from domestic Mutual Funds at or above the Anchor Investor Allocation Price. Such
number of Equity Shares representing 5% of the Net QIB Portion was available for allocation on a proportionate
basis to Mutual Funds only, and the remaining Net QIB Portion was available for allocation on a proportionate basis
to all QIBs (other than Anchor Investors), including Mutual Funds, subject to valid Bids being received at, or above
Offer Price. Further, not less than 15% of the Net Offer was available for allocation on a proportionate basis to Non-
Institutional Investors, and not less than 35% of the Net Offer was available for allocation to Retail Individual
Investors in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations, subject to valid Bids being received from them at or above
the Offer Price. Further, up to 121,000 Equity Shares was available for allocation on a proportionate basis to Eligible
Employees, subject to valid Bids being received from them at or above the Offer Price. All Investors (except Anchor
Investors) was required to mandatorily participate in this Offer only through the ASBA process, and was to provide
details of their respective bank account in which the Bid amount will be blocked by the SCSBs. For further details,
see “Offer Procedure” on page 426.

Any unsubscribed Equity Shares in the Employee Reservation Portion shall be added back to the Net Offer.
Undersubscription, if any, in any category, except in the QIB Portion, would be allowed to be met with spill over
from any other category or a combination of categories at the discretion of our Company and the Selling Shareholder,
in consultation with the BRLMs and the Designated Stock Exchange. Such inter-se spill over, if any, would be
effected in accordance with applicable laws, rules, regulations and guidelines. Undersubscription, if any, in the QIB
Category will not be allowed to be met with spill over from any category or combination thereof.

Except for the Offer, there will be no further issue of Equity Shares whether by way of issue of bonus shares,
preferential allotment, rights issue or in any other manner during the period commencing from filing of the Draft
Red Herring Prospectus with SEBI until the Equity Shares have been listed on the Stock Exchanges or until all the
application moneys have been refunded, as the case may be.

Only Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion are eligible to apply in the Offer under the
Employee Reservation Portion on a competitive basis. Bids by Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee
Reservation Portion could also be made in the Net Offer and such Bids would not be treated as multiple Bids. The
Employee Reservation Portion would not exceed 5% of the post-Offer capital of our Company.

The maximum Bid Amount under the Employee Reservation Portion by an Eligible Employee shall not exceed
%500,000. However, Allotment to an Eligible Employee in the Employee Reservation Portion may exceed 200,000
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217.

28.

29.

30.

31.

32.

33.

only in the event of an undersubscription in the Employee Reservation Portion and such unsubscribed portion may
be Allotted on a proportionate basis to Eligible Employees Bidding in the Employee Reservation Portion for a value
in excess of 200,000, subject to total Allotment to an Eligible Employee not exceeding 3500,000.

Our Company has not been formed by the conversion of a partnership firm.
There shall be only one denomination of the Equity Shares, unless otherwise permitted by law.

Our Company shall comply with such disclosure and accounting norms as may be specified by SEBI from time to
time.

Other than the sale of Equity Shares by Dr. Vikram Shah, one of our Promoters, in the Offer for Sale, our Promoters
and members of the Promoter Group, Group Entities and Subsidiaries will not participate in the Offer.

Our Company shall ensure that transactions in the Equity Shares by our Promoters and the Promoter Group between
the date of filing of the Red Herring Prospectus with RoC and the date of closure of the Offer shall be intimated to
the Stock Exchanges within 24 hours of such transaction.

No person connected with the Offer, including, but not limited to, the BRLMs, the members of the Syndicate, our
Company, the Directors, the Promoters, members of our Promoter Group and Group Entities, shall offer any
incentive, whether direct or indirect, in any manner, whether in cash or kind or services or otherwise to any Bidder
for making a Bid.

There are no outstanding convertible securities or any other right which would entitle any person any option to
receive Equity Shares, as on the date of this Prospectus.
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OBJECTS OF THE OFFER

The Offer comprises of the Fresh Issue and the Offer for Sale.
OFFER FOR SALE

Our Company will not receive any proceeds from the Offer for Sale. All the expenses in relation to the Offer other than listing
fees (which will be borne by our Company), shall be shared between our Company and the Selling Shareholder in accordance
with applicable laws. The Selling Shareholder shall reimburse our Company for all expenses incurred by our Company in
relation to his Equity Shares offered in the Offer for Sale.

REQUIREMENT OF FUNDS
Our Company proposes to utilise the Net Proceeds from the Fresh Issue towards the following objects:

Repayment or prepayment in full, or in part of certain loans availed by our Company;
Purchase of medical equipment for existing, recently set up and upcoming hospitals;
Purchase of interiors, furniture, and allied infrastructure for upcoming hospitals; and
General corporate purposes.

o

together, the “Objects”.

In addition, our Company expects to receive the benefits of listing of the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges, enhancement
of our Company’s brand name, and creation of a public market for our Equity Shares in India.

The main objects clause as set out in the Memorandum of Association enables our Company to undertake its existing activities,
and the activities for which funds are being raised by our Company through the Fresh Issue.

OFFER PROCEEDS AND NET PROCEEDS

The details of the proceeds of the Fresh Issue are summarised in the table below:

Particulars Amount (in  million)
Gross Proceeds of the Fresh Issue 4,800.00
(Less) Fresh Issue related expenses® 235.72
Net Proceeds 4,564.28

() The fees and expenses relating to the Offer shall be shared between the Company and the Selling Shareholder in accordance with applicable law.
REQUIREMENT OF FUNDS AND UTILISATION OF NET PROCEEDS

The proposed utilisation of the Net Proceeds is set forth in the table below:

Particulars Amount (in X million)
Repayment or prepayment in full or in part of certain loans availed 3,000.00
by our Company
Purchase of medical equipment for existing, recently set up and 635.80
upcoming hospitals®
Purchase of interiors, furniture, and allied infrastructure for 111.84
upcoming hospitals
General corporate purposes® 816.64
Net Proceeds 4,564.28*

@ Unless specifically included in the quotations received from vendors by our Company, freight expenses and other taxes shall be funded from the internal
accruals of our Company.

@To be finalised upon determination of the Offer Price and updated in the Prospectus prior to filing with the RoC. The amount shall not exceed 25% of
the Gross Proceeds of the Fresh Issue.

* Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment.

The fund requirements for the Objects are based on management estimates and financing, and other agreements entered into
by our Company and have not been verified by the BRLMs, appraised by any bank or financial institution, or any other
external agency. Since the fund requirements are based on current circumstances of our business and our Company, we may
have to revise its estimates from time to time on account of various factors beyond our control, such as market conditions,
economic conditions, changing regulatory policies, and competition. In case of a shortfall of Net Proceeds, our management
may explore alternate means for shortfall, including utilization of internal accruals or further debt financing. We believe that
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such alternate arrangements would be available to fund any such shortfalls. Given the dynamic nature of our business, we
may have to revise our funding requirements and deployment on account of various factors such as our financial condition,
business and strategy, as well as external factors such as market conditions, competitive environment, interest or exchange
rate fluctuations, and finance charges, which may not be within the control of our management.

Subject to applicable law, in case of variations in the actual utilisation of funds earmarked for the purposes set forth above,
increased fund requirements for a particular purpose may be financed by surplus funds, if any, available in respect of the other

purposes for which funds are being raised in the Fresh Issue.

SCHEDULE OF DEPLOYMENT OF NET PROCEEDS

We intend to deploy the Net Proceeds in accordance with the schedule set forth below:

Particulars Amount to be Funded Estimated Utilisation of Net Proceeds (in I million)
from the Net Proceeds Fiscal 2018 Fiscal 2019 Fiscal 2020
(in X million)

Repayment or prepayment in full or in part 3,000.00 3,000.00 NIL NIL
of certain loans availed by our Company
Purchase of medical equipment for existing, 635.80 246.37 200.73 188.70
recently set up and upcoming hospitals @
Purchase of interiors, furniture, and allied 111.84 NIL 29.81 82.03
infrastructure for upcoming hospitals
General corporate purposes®” 816.64* 544.43* 272.21* NIL
Total 4,564.28 3,790.80 502.75 270.73

@ Unless specifically included in quotations received from vendors by our Company, freight expenses and other taxes shall be funded from the internal
accruals of our Company.

@ To be finalised upon determination of the Offer Price. The amount shall not exceed 25% of the Gross Proceeds of the Fresh Issue.

* Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment.

As indicated above, our Company proposes to deploy the entire Net Proceeds towards the Objects during Fiscal 2018, Fiscal
2019, and Fiscal 2020. In the event that the estimated utilisation of the Net Proceeds in a scheduled financial year is not
completely met, the same shall be utilised in the next Fiscal. Further, if the Net Proceeds are not completely utilised for the
Obijects stated above by Fiscal 2020 due to factors such as (i) economic and business conditions, (ii) increased competition,
(iii) timely completion of the Offer on account of market conditions outside the control of our Company, and (iv) other
commercial consideration, the same would be utilised (in part or full) in Fiscal 2021, or a subsequent period as may be
determined by our Company in accordance with applicable law.

MEANS OF FINANCE

The fund requirements set out below are proposed to be entirely funded from the Net Proceeds. Accordingly, our Company
confirms that there is no requirement to make firm arrangements of finance through verifiable means towards at least 75% of
the stated means of finance, excluding the amount to be raised from the Fresh Issue and existing identifiable internal accruals,
as required under the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

DETAILS OF THE OBJECTS
Repayment or prepayment in full or in part of certain loans availed by our Company

Our Company has entered into certain financing arrangements with, inter alia, various banks / financial institutions.
Arrangements entered into by our Company include borrowings in the form of long term and short term, secured and
unsecured loans, and working capital facilities. For details on our debt financing arrangements, see “Financial Statements”
on page 218 and “Financial Indebtedness” on page 385.

Our Company proposes to utilise an amount of ¥3,000.00 million from the Net Proceeds towards repayment / prepayment, in
full or in part of certain loans availed by our Company. We believe that such repayment will help reduce our outstanding
indebtedness and debt servicing costs, and enable utilisation of our internal accruals for further investment in our expansion
strategies. In addition, we believe that this would improve our ability to raise further resources in the future to fund our
potential business developments opportunities.

The selection of borrowings proposed to be repaid or prepaid will be based on various factors, including (i) any conditions
attached to the borrowings restricting our ability to prepay / repay the borrowings and time taken to fulfil, or obtain waivers
for fulfilment of, such conditions, (ii) receipt of consents or waivers for prepayment from respective lenders, the terms and
conditions of such consents and waivers, and the levy of any prepayment penalties and the quantum thereof, (iii) provisions
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of any laws, rules and regulations governing such borrowings, and (iv) other commercial considerations including, among
others, the interest rate on the loan facility, the amount of the loan outstanding and the remaining tenor of the loan.

Given the nature of these borrowings and terms of repayment, the aggregate outstanding amount may vary from time to time.
The amounts outstanding under our working capital facilities are dependent on various factors, and may vary with the business
cycle and could include interim repayments. We may repay or refinance some of the existing loans set forth below, prior to
Allotment by availing additional financing from banks / financial institutions. Accordingly, we may utilise the Net Proceeds
for repayment or prepayment of any such additional loans. However, the aggregate amount to be utilised from the Net Proceeds
towards repayment or prepayment of loans (including refinanced loans availed) would not exceed %3,000.00 million.

The details of the outstanding loans proposed for repayment or prepayment, in full or in part from the Net Proceeds, without
any obligation to any particular bank or financial institution are set forth below:

Sr. Name of the lender and Sanctioned Amount Interest Repayment Prepayment Purpose
No documentation amount outstanding Rate penalty
(in% as on October
million) 31, 2017®
(in million)
1. EXIM Bank® Term loan | Term loan: | Term loan: | Term loan: | Refer footnote | (i) Towards meeting
and buyer’s | ¥538.23 HDFC Repayable in | (4) capital
(i) Sanction letter dated | credit: Bank base | 24 equal expenditure  for
March 3, 2015; and %750.00 Buyer’s rate + | quarterly Shalby Indore;
(ii) Amendatory  facility credit: USD | 1.25% = | instalments (if) Towards meeting
agreement dated 2.88, being | 10.15% commencing capital
October 14, 2016, %186.45 and | (HDFC from  June, expenditure  for
executed among our €0.26  being | Bank’s 2019. Shalby Jaipur; and
Company, EXIM Bank, 319.23® current base (iii) Towards meeting
HDFC Bank, Bank of rate is | Buyer’s capital
Maharashtra, and Dena 8.90%, with | credit: Tenor expenditure ~ for
Bank. effect from | of 180 days Shalby Naroda.
June 30, | with our
2017) Company
being eligible
Buyer’s for a rollover
credit: thereafter,
Ranged subject to a

between 6M | maximum

LIBOR + | tenor of up to
15BPS to | three  years
6M LIBOR | from the date
+ 175BPS of drawdown.

2. Bank of Maharashtra® Term loan: | ¥708.22 HDFC Repayable in | Refer footnote Towards meeting
%750.00 Bank base | 24 equal | (4) capital
(i) Sanction letter dated rate + | quarterly expenditure  for
July 8, 2015; 1.10% = | instalments Shalby Indore;
(ii) Sanction letter dated 10.35% commencing Towards meeting
August 13, 2015; (HDFC from  June, capital
(iii) Sanction letter dated Bank’s 2019. expenditure  for
October 7, 2016; current base Shalby  Jaipur;
(iv) Amendatory  facility rate is and
agreement dated 9.25%) Towards meeting
October 14, 2016, capital
executed among our expenditure  for
Company, EXIM Bank, Shalby Naroda.

HDFC Bank, Bank of
Maharashtra, and Dena

Bank.
3. HDFC Bank® Term loan | Term loan: | One year | Term loan: | Refer footnote | Term loan:
and buyer’s | 3491.12 MCLR  + | Repayable in | (4)

(i) Sanction letter dated | credit: 180% = |24 equal (i) Towards meeting
October 9, 2014; %593.00 9.95% quarterly capital

(i) Facility agreement (Currently, instalments expenditure  for
dated October 9, 2014, the one year | commencing Shalby Indore;
executed between our MCLR is | from  June, (ii) Towards meeting
Company and HDFC 8.15%) 2019. capital
Bank; and expenditure  for

(iii) Amendatory  facility Buyer’s Shalby Jaipur; and
agreement dated credit: Up to (iif) Towards meeting
October 14, 2016, 180 days and capital
executed among our eligible  for expenditure  for
Company, EXIM Bank, roll over Shalby Naroda.
HDFC Bank, Bank of thereafter,
Maharashtra, and Dena subject to a
Bank. maximum

tenor of up to
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Sr. Name of the lender and Sanctioned Amount Interest Repayment Prepayment Purpose
No documentation amount outstanding Rate penalty
(in% as on October
million) 31, 2017®
(in million)
three  years
from the date
of first
drawdown.
4. HDFC Bank Term loan | Term loan: One year | Term loan: | Refer footnote | (i) Reimbursement
and buyer’s | ¥275.91 MCLR  + | Repayable in | (5) of capital
(i) Sanction letter dated | credit: 180% =] 20 equal expenditure
October 9, 2014; and %400.00 9.95% quarterly incurred in the 12
(ii) Facility agreement (Currently, instalments month period
dated October 9, 2014, the one year | commencing preceding the date
executed between our MCLR is | from of the first
Company and HDFC 8.15%) February, drawdown;
Bank. 2017. (if) Reimbursement
of routine capital
Buyer’s expenditure that
credit: Up to was incurred
180 days and during Fiscal
eligible  for 2015 by Krishna
roll over Shalby and SG
thereafter, Shalby; and
subject to a (iif) Towards meeting
maximum capital
tenor of up to expenditure  for
three  years Shalby Jabalpur.
from the date
of first
drawdown.
5. HDFC Bank Term loan | Term loan: One year | Term loan: | Refer footnote | (i) Towards meeting
and buyer’s | %90.93 MCLR  + | Repayable in | (6) capital
(i) Sanction letter dated | credit: 200% = | 57 equal expenditure  for
November 7, 2013; and | ¥317.00 10.15% monthly SG Shalby; and
(i) Term loan agreement | (includes (Currently, instalments (ii) Reimbursement
dated June 2, 2014, | buyer’s the one year | commencing for costs incurred
executed between our | credit of MCLR is | from January, towards
Company and HDFC | ¥100.00) 8.15%) 2015. acquisition of
Bank. shares of
Yogeshwar
Healthcare.
6. HDFC Bank Buyer’s UsD 3.29 Ranges Tenor of 180 | NA Towards import of
credit: being 3213.34 | between 6M | days, with our medical equipment and
The buyer’s credit is | Amount and €1.15 LIBOR +15 | Company supplies.
governed under the | sanctioned being ¥86.73® | BPS to 6M | being eligible
documentation  governing | for buyer’s LIBOR + | for rollover
the term loans set out under | credit is 175 BPS thereafter,
serial numbers 3, 4, and 5, | inclusive of subject to a
above. the sanction maximum
limits set out tenor of up to
for term three  years
loans under from the date
serial of first
numbers 3, 4, drawdown.
and 5, above.
7. HDFC Bank 3265.00 %81.59 One  year | Repayable in | Refer footnote | Towards meeting
MCLR + | 50 equal | (7) renovation and
(i) Sanction letter dated 2.00% = | monthly modification work of
February 20, 2013; 10.15% instalments Krishna Shalby.
and (Currently, commencing
(ii) Facility — agreement one year | from August,
dated October 30, MCLR is | 2014.
2013 executed 8.15%)
between HDFC Bank
and our Company.
8. Barclays Investments and | 500.00 %300.00 8.50% | Repayable Refer footnote | Towards purchase,
Loans (India) Limited: within a| (8 expansion and
maximum renovation of Shalby
(i) Offer letter dated period of two Mohali (earlier known
September 22, 2016; years as Shalby Silver Oaks).
(ii) Sanction letter dated (reviewed
January 27, 2017; and annually),
(iii) Pledge  agreement subjec} 1o
dated September 29, lender’s right
to terminate
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Sr. Name of the lender and Sanctioned Amount Interest Repayment Prepayment Purpose
No documentation amount outstanding Rate penalty
(in% as on October
million) 31, 2017®
(in million)
2016, Dr Vikram Shah the  facility
and Barclays and demand
Investments and repayment at
Loans (India) Limited any time,
unless
otherwise
agreed by
them.
9. HDFC Bank: Working %150 8.50% | Repayable in | Refer footnote | Towards working
capital loan: amaximum of | (9) capital requirements
Sanction letter dated | %150.00 150 days by
September 15, 2017 way of-
e Bullet
payment of
%50.00
million at
the end of
90 days;
e Bullet
payment of
%50.00
million at
the end of
120 days;
and
e Bullet
payment of
%50.00
million at
the end of
150 days.
10. Kotak Mahindra Bank: Short term | %300 8.80% | Repayable by | Refer footnote | Towards cash flow
loan: way of a | (10) mismatch
Sanction letter dated April 6, | %300.00 bullet
2017. payment at the
end of six
months
(maximum
tenor 12
months).
11. | Kotak Mahindra Bank: Working %164.65 10.00% | 12 months. NIL Towards working
capital / capital requirements
Master facility | overdraft:
agreement dated | 200.00
December 22, 2014,
executed between our
Company and Kotak
Mahindra Bank
Limited;
(if) Sanction letter dated
July 8, 2015; and
(iii) Sanction letter dated
April 12, 2016.
12. IDFC Bank Limited ®V: Term loan: %477.80 IDFC Bank | In 28 | Refer footnote | For reimbursement of
Sanction letter dated | Tranche 1: One year structured (12) expenses incurred in
April 21, 2017 %497.50 MCLR + quarterly Fiscal 2017 and Fiscal
Term loan agreement 0.70% = instalments 2018 towards
dated June 5, 2017 9.30% starting from construction of new
(Currently, June 30, 2019 hospitals being built by
IDFC Bank | and ending on our Company in Surat.
one year March 31,
MCLR is 2026.
8.60%)
TOTAL %4,722.50 34,084.20
(1) Ascertified by G. K. Choksi & Co., Chartered Accountants, pursuant to their certificate dated November 17, 2017. Further, Chartered Accountants

2
©)

have certified that as on October 31, 2017, our Company has utilised the amounts drawn down under each of the loan facilities mentioned above

for the purpose for which such loan was granted.

Disbursed as a part of a consortium involving EXIM Bank, HDFC Bank, and Bank of Maharashtra.

2017.
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(4) If prepaid within 45 days of interest reset date, our Company has the option to prepay the amount of principal outstanding against the facility, in
part or in full, without any prepayment penalty. Prepayment on any other dates, other than mandatory prepayment event, shall be subject to a
prepayment penalty of 2% of the principal amount being prepaid for the residual maturity of the facility. However, if prepayment is made by our
Company from fresh issuance of equity or internal accruals, no prepayment penalty shall be payable. Should our Company opt to exercise the
prepayment option, the bank must be intimated in writing at least 15 working days before the date of exercising of the prepayment option. In case
of part prepayments, such prepayment shall be applied proportionately on the balance repayments pertaining to the facility.

(5) If prepaid within 30 days of interest reset date, our Company has the option to prepay the amount of principal outstanding against the facility, in
part or in full, without any prepayment penalty. Prepayment on any other dates, other than mandatory prepayment event, shall be subject to a
prepayment penalty of 2% of the principal amount being prepaid for the residual maturity of the facility. However, if prepayment is made by our
Company from fresh issuance of equity or internal accruals, no prepayment penalty shall be payable. Should our Company opt to exercise the
prepayment option, the bank must be intimated in writing at least 15 working days before the date of exercising of the prepayment option. In case
of part prepayments, such prepayment shall be applied proportionately on the balance repayments pertaining to the facility.

(6) A prepayment penalty of 2% shall be applicable on any amount prepaid during the first two years of the tenor, if such prepayment is being made
through borrowings from banks or financial institutions. After completion of the first two years of the tenor, a prepayment penalty of 1% shall be
applicable for a period of two years after the initial two years, and nil thereafter.

(7) Same as (6) above.

(8) A prepayment penalty of 1% shall be applicable on any amount prepaid. Additionally, any and all breakage costs and expenses, if applicable, and
as determined by the bank, shall be payable at the time of such prepayment.

(9) If after completion of a period of three months from the date of disbursement our Company repays the loan through the Offer Proceeds, issuance of
equity or internal accruals, no prepayment penalty shall be levied.

(10) No prepayment charges applicable if the outstanding loan amount is paid three months from the date of disbursement with a prior notice of 30 days
issued by our Company. If the loan is prepaid prior to completion of tenor, a prepayment penalty of 2% on the outstanding loan amount if applicable.

(11) The term loan agreement dated June 5, 2017 and the sanction letter dated April 21, 2017 in respect of the term loan from IDFC Bank Limited
stipulates that our Company should mandatorily prepay at least 30% of the outstanding amount under the IDFC Facility by utilising the Net
Proceeds.

(12) A prepayment penalty of 2% of the principal amount being prepaid. However, prepayment penalty is not applicable to: (i) a prepayment in full or
part within 30 days of interest reset date; (ii) mandatory prepayment of at least 30% of the outstanding amount using proceeds from an initial public
offering of equity shares of our Company.

In due course of business, due to various operational benefits, our Company may explore possibilities of other banks
participating in existing loans either in full or in part, including the loans mentioned above. Some of our financing agreements
provide for the levy of prepayment penalties. Given the nature of these borrowings and the terms of prepayment, the aggregate
outstanding loan amounts may vary from time to time. In the event that there are any prepayment penalties required to be paid
under the terms of the relevant financing agreements, the amount of such prepayment penalties shall be paid by our Company
out of our internal accruals.

Purchase of medical equipment for existing, recently set up and upcoming hospitals

With a focus on growing our multi-specialty healthcare services, we plan to equip our operational hospitals and upcoming
hospitals with a wide range of advanced and diverse medical equipment. For further details, see “Our Business — Our Business
Strategy” on page 157. We intend to undertake the purchase of such medical equipment under the following broad heads:

1. Purchase of medical equipment for our hospitals being set up in Nashik and Vadodara;
2. Purchase of medical equipment for our recently set up hospitals, Shalby Naroda, and Shalby Surat; and
3. Purchase of medical equipment for our existing hospitals, Krishna Shalby, SG Shalby, and Shalby Vapi.

Our Company proposes to expend approximately 3635.80 million in Fiscal 2018, Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2020 towards
purchase of such medical equipment. The breakdown of such estimated costs are set forth below:

Particulars Total Estimated Costs
® in million)

Purchase of medical equipment for our hospitals being set up in Nashik 389.42
and Vadodara
Purchase of medical equipment for our recently set up hospitals, Shalby 142.30
Naroda, and Shalby Surat
Purchase of medical equipment for our existing hospitals Krishna 104.08
Shalby, SG Shalby and Shalby Vapi

Total 635.80

Purchase of medical equipment for our hospitals being set up in Nashik and Vadodara

We are in the process of setting up hospitals in Nashik and Vadodara with a bed capacity of 113 beds and 150 beds,
respectively. Scheduled to be operational in Fiscal 2019, the hospital in Nashik is being set up jointly with Samruddhi on the
basis of an O&M arrangement. Our hospital in Vadodara is scheduled to be operational in Fiscal 2020, and is being set up on
the basis of a memorandum of understanding executed among our Company, Akshar PHC Realcon, Mukesh Shah, Amit Shah,
and Surbhit Shah. For further details, see “Our Business — Description of Business — Hospitals — Expansion Plans” on page
165. We plan on equipping our hospital being established in Nashik and Vadodara with a range of (i) cardiology equipment,
(ii) radiology equipment, and (iii) other medical equipment.
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Our Company proposes to expend approximately ¥389.42 million in Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2020 towards purchase of such

medical equipment. The breakdown of such estimated costs is set forth below:

Particulars Total Estimated Costs
(in million)
Cardiology equipment 3174.330
Radiology Equipment 7180.20@
Other medical equipment 334.890
Total %389.42

(1) Based on: (a) quotations from Siemens Healthcare Private Limited which are valid for a period of six months until April 29, 2018; (b) quotations from
Maquet Medical India Private Limited (Getinge Group) which are valid for a period of six months until April 29, 2018; (c) quotations from Nihon
Kohden India Private Limited which are valid for a period of 180 days until April 30, 2018; and (d) quotations from Siemens Healthcare Private
Limited which are valid for a period of six months until April 29, 2018.

(2) Based on: (a) quotations from AGFA Healthcare India Private Limited which are valid for a period of 180 days until May 1, 2018; (b) quotations from
Samsung Electronics India Limited which are valid for a period of six months until April 27, 2018; (c) quotations from Siemens Healthcare Private
Limited which are valid for a period of six months until April 29, 2018; (d) quotations from Siemens Healthcare Private Limited which are valid for a
period of six months until April 29, 2018; and (e) quotation from Wipro GE Medical Systems Private Limited, trading as Wipro GE Healthcare which
is valid for a period of 6 months until April 30, 2018.

(3) Based on: (a) quotation from AD Surgical which is valid for a period of six months until April 28, 2018; (b) quotations from Healthware Private Limited
which are valid for a period of 283 days until December 31, 2017; and (c) quotations from J.B. Biomedical (Karl Storz) which are valid for a period
of 30 days until December 16, 2017.

Purchase of medical equipment for our recently set up hospitals, Shalby Naroda, and Shalby Surat

In March 2017, we commenced providing outpatient services at Shalby Naroda, and Shalby Surat. With an aggregate bed
capacity of 510 beds, Shalby Naroda and Shalby Surat commenced providing inpatient services from July, 2017 and August,
2017, respectively. For further details, see “Our Business — Description of Business — Hospitals — Operational Hospitals” on
page 161.

For the purposes of offering quality inpatient healthcare services, we propose to equip Shalby Naroda, and Shalby Surat with
(i) radiology equipment, and (ii) cardiology equipment. Our Company proposes to expend approximately X142.30 million in
Fiscal 2018 towards purchase of such medical equipment. The breakdown of such estimated costs is set forth below:

Particulars Total Estimated Costs
® in million)
Radiology equipment 394.02
Cardiology equipment 348.280
Total 142.30

(1) Based on purchase order dated December 21, 2016 for Shalby Naroda and purchase order dated December 26, 2016 for Shalby Surat issued by our
Company to Siemens Healthcare Private Limited.

Purchase of medical equipment for our existing hospitals Krishna Shalby, SG Shalby, and Shalby Vapi

In keeping with our strategy to focus on multi-specialty healthcare services, we plan on equipping our existing hospitals,
Krishna Shalby, SG Shalby and Shalby Vapi, with (i) cardiology equipment and (ii) neurology equipment. Our Company
proposes to expend approximately ¥104.08 million in Fiscal 2018 towards purchase of such medical equipment. The
breakdown of such estimated costs is set forth below:

Particulars Total Estimated Costs
(in million)
Cardiology equipment 789.000
Neurology equipment €0.2, being 215.08C)
Total %104.08

(1) Based on quotations from Wipro GE Healthcare which are valid for a period of six months until April 29, 2018.
(2) Based on a quotation from Carl Zeiss India (Bangalore) Private Limited which is valid for a period of six months until April 29, 2018.

(3) Thevalue in INR has been arrived at based on the exchange rate of, 1 EUR equal to INR 75.42 as on October 31, 2017.

Cardiology equipment

Cardiology is a branch of medicine dealing with disorders of the heart as well as parts of the circulatory system. We propose
to purchase a range of equipment used in cardiological procedures such as intra-aortic balloon pumps, catheterization
equipment, ventilators, and electrocardiogram equipment. Intra-aortic balloon pumps are mechanical devices that help the
heart in pumping blood. These devices are inserted into the aorta and assist in increasing myocardial oxygen perfusion, which
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resultantly increase cardiac output. Catheterization equipment are used in diagnostic laboratories which are typically used to
visualise the arteries and chambers of the heart, and to facilitate the treatment of stenosis or other cardiovascular abnormalities.
While ventilators are used to move breathable air into, and out of the lungs, electrocardiogram equipment are used to record
the electrical activity of the heart over a period of time, by use of electrodes placed on the skin.

Radiology Equipment

Radiology equipment provide detailed insight into the location and extent of a disease in a patient and thus help in accurately
diagnosing such diseases. We propose to purchase radiology equipment such as MRI scanning machines, computed
radiography machines, CT scanning machines, and x-ray machines. MRI scanning machines are used to form pictures of the
anatomy and physiological processes of the body. Further, while x-ray machines are used to acquire x-ray images of internal
structures such as bones, CT scanning machines are used to create cross-sectional images of bones, blood vessels and soft
tissues using x-ray images.

Neurology Equipment

Neurology is a branch of medicine dealing with disorders of the nervous system. We intend on purchasing surgical
microscopes which are typically used in undertaking neurological surgeries. Surgical microscopes are adapted for performing
surgeries involving the brain, spinal cord, and spine.

Other Medical Equipment

We propose to purchase a diverse range of medical equipment to inter alia, diagnose and treat medical conditions across
specialties. These include equipment such as endoscopy systems, ultrasound systems, and drill and saw systems. While
endoscopy systems are instruments used to examine the interior of a hollow organ or cavity of the body, ultrasound systems
are used to see internal body structures such as tendons, muscles, and internal organs. Drill and saw systems are used to drill
through bones for the purposes of fixing implants during orthopaedic surgeries.

Apart from raising purchase orders in respect of a few equipments, we have also received quotations from various vendors,
each of which are valid as on the date of this Prospectus. However, we have not entered into any definitive agreements with
any of these vendors and there can be no assurance that the same vendors would be engaged to eventually supply the medical
equipment, or at the same costs. The actual mode of deployment has not been finalised as on the date of this Prospectus. Our
Promoters or Directors have no interest in the proposed procurements, as stated above. Any expenses towards procurement
of equipment which are in excess of the prices quoted in the quotations received by us shall be paid by our Company out of
our internal accruals.

None of the vendors of the proposed procurements are related to the Promoters or Directors of our Company.

Purchase of interiors, furniture, and allied infrastructure for upcoming hospitals in Nashik and Vadodara

We plan to fit our hospitals being constructed in Nashik and Vadodara with modern interiors, furniture, and medical allied
infrastructure. We intend to undertake the purchase of such interiors, furniture, and infrastructure under the following broad

heads:

1. Purchase of interiors, furniture, and allied infrastructure for our hospital being constructed in Nashik; and
2. Purchase of interiors, furniture, and allied infrastructure for our hospital being constructed in Vadodara.

Our Company proposes to expend approximately 3111.84 million in Fiscal 2019 and Fiscal 2020 towards purchase of such
interiors, furniture, and allied infrastructure. The breakdown of such estimated costs is set forth below:

Particulars Total Estimated Costs
® in million)
Purchase of interiors, furniture, and allied infrastructure for our hospital 82.03
being constructed in VVadodara
Purchase of interiors, furniture, and allied infrastructure for our hospital 29.81
being constructed in Nashik
Total 111.84

Purchase of interiors, furniture, and allied infrastructure for our hospital being constructed in Vadodara

We plan on fitting our hospital being established in VVadodara with a range of interiors, furniture, and allied infrastructure.
Our Company proposes to expend approximately ¥82.03 million in Fiscal 2020 towards purchase of such interiors, furniture,
and allied infrastructure. The breakdown of such estimated costs is set forth below:
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Category Particulars Total Estimated Costs
® in million)

Interiors and furniture Medical furniture® 15.63

Chairs 1.20

Curtains 1.20

Sub-total (A) 18.03

Allied infrastructure Heating, ventilation and air conditioning 64.00
systems

Sub-total (B) 64.00

Total (A + B) 82.03@

(1) Medical furniture inter alia, includes beds with mattresses, stretchers, bedside tables, cardiac tables, crash carts, dressing trolleys,
instrument trolleys, wheel chairs, operation trays, tray stands, examination couch, patient stools, and foot stools.

(2) Based on quotations from Evercrest Projects Private Limited which are valid for a period of six months until April 15, 2018.

Purchase of interiors, furniture, and allied infrastructure for our hospital being constructed in Nashik

We plan on fitting our hospital being established in Nashik with a range of interiors, furniture, and infrastructure. Our
Company proposes to expend approximately ¥29.81 million in Fiscal 2019 towards purchase of such interiors, furniture, and
allied infrastructure. The breakdown of such estimated costs is set forth below:

Category Particulars Total Estimated Costs
® in million)

Interiors and furniture Medical furniture® 10.65
Carpentry furniture® 8.87

Chairs 2.15

Modular furniture® 2.64

Sub-total (A) 24.31

Allied infrastructure | Medical gas piping systems 5.50
Sub-total (B) 5.50

Total (A + B) 29.81@

(1) Medical furniture inter alia, includes beds with mattresses, stretchers, bedside tables, cardiac tables, crash carts, dressing trolleys,
instrument trolleys, wheel chairs, operation trays, tray stands, examination couch, patient stools, and foot stools.

(2) Carpentry furniture inter alia, includes reception tables, file storages and overhead storages, full storages, working tables, partitions,
wardrobes, wooden trapdoors, and display units.

(3) Modular furniture inter alia, includes working tables, tables for file storage, sofa-cum-beds, wooden beds, conference tables, meeting
tables, sofas, and dining tables.

(4) Based on quotations from Evercrest Projects Private Limited which are valid for a period of six months until April 15, 2018

Interiors and furniture

It is our aim to ensure that our hospitals are fitted with modern interiors and furniture, which are required for institutions such
as ours which offer professional medical services. To this end, we intend to adequately furnish our hospitals which are being
constructed in Nashik and Vadodara with a mixed range of medical and carpentry furniture, modular furniture, chairs, and
curtains.

Allied infrastructure

We propose to equip our hospitals being constructed in Nashik and VVadodara with medical gas piping systems to ensure that
medical gases that are directly administered to our patients, are highly pure and supplied under stable pressure. Further, since
our hospital in Vadodara is being constructed on an expansive area admeasuring 24,000 sq. ft., we intend to fit the hospital
with central heating, ventilation and air conditioning systems to ensure indoor environmental comforts of our patients and
other occupants.

General corporate purposes

Our Company proposes to deploy the balance Net Proceeds aggregating to ¥816.64* million towards general corporate
purposes, subject to such utilisation not exceeding 25% of the Net Proceeds, in compliance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations.
In accordance with policies adopted by our Board from time to time, we will have the flexibility in utilising the balance Net
Proceeds if any, for general corporate purposes, subject to such utilisation not exceeding 25% of the Gross Proceeds from the
Fresh Issue, in accordance with Regulation 4(4) of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. Such general corporate purposes may include
strategic initiatives and acquisitions, funding initial stages of equity contribution towards our projects, working capital
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requirements, purchase of equipment, investments into our subsidiaries, part or full debt repayment / prepayment of our
Company or any of our Subsidiaries, and further strengthening our marketing capabilities. Our Company’s management, in
accordance with policies adopted by the Board, will have the flexibility in utilising surplus amounts, if any. In case of variation
in the actual utilisation of funds designated for the purposes set forth above, increased fund requirements for a particular
purpose may be financed by surplus funds, if any, which are not applied to the other purposes, set out above.

*Subject to finalisation of Basis of Allotment.
Offer related expenses

The total expenses of the Offer are estimated to be approximately ¥247.90 million. The Offer related expenses consist of
listing fees, underwriting fees, selling commission and brokerage, fees payable to the BRLMs, legal counsels, Registrar to the
Offer, Bankers to the Offer, including processing fees to the SCSBs for processing ASBA Forms submitted by ASBA Bidders
procured by the Syndicate and submitted to the SCSBs, brokerage and selling commission payable to Registered Brokers,
RTAs and CDPs, printing and stationery expenses, advertising and marketing expenses, and all other incidental expenses for
listing the Equity Shares on the Stock Exchanges. All expenses in relation to the Offer other than listing fees (which will be
borne by our Company) shall be shared between our Company and the Selling Shareholder in accordance with applicable
laws. The Selling Shareholder shall reimburse our Company for the expenses incurred by our Company in relation to his
Equity Shares offered in the Offer for Sale. The break-up for the estimated Offer expenses are as follows:

Activity Amount® As a % of the Total As a % of the
(in% Estimated Offer Offer Size®
million) Expenses (%)
Payment to BRLMs (including underwriting commission, brokerage, 103.78 41.86 2.06
selling commission, and Bidding fees)®
Brokerage and selling commission, processing / uploading charges to 15.31 6.18 0.30

Sydicate Members, RTAs and CDPs; Processing / uploading charges for
Registered Brokers; Commission and processing fees for SCSBs®®

Fees to the Registrar to the Offer 0.22 0.09 Negligible

SEBI, BSE, and NSE processing fees, other regulatory expenses and 21.78 8.79 0.43

listing fees

Printing and stationery expenses 16.63 6.71 0.33

Advertising and marketing expenses 68.78 27.75 1.36

Miscellaneous expenses 21.40 8.63 0.42
TOTAL ESTIMATED OFFER EXPENSES \ 247.90 | 100.00 491

(1) Will be completed after finalisation of the Offer Price
(2) Members of the Syndicate (including their sub-syndicate members), Registered Brokers, RTAs, CDPs, and SCSBs (for the ASBA Forms directly
procured by them) will be entitled to selling commission as below:

Portion Selling Commision
Retail Individual Bidders 0.35% of the Amount Allotted* (plus applicable GST)
Non-Institutional Bidders 0.20% of the Amount Allotted* (plus applicable GST)
Eligible Employees 0.25% of the Amount Allotted* (plus applicable GST)

* Amount Allotted is the product of the number of Equity Shares Allotted and the Offer Price.

(1) Selling commission payable to SCSBs, Registered Brokers RTAs and CDPs will be determined on the basis of the bidding terminal identity as
captured in the Bid Book of BSE or NSE.

(2) Selling commission payable to the Members of the Syndicate/Sub-Syndicate Members will be determined on the basis of the Bid cum Application
Form number/series, provided that the application is also Bid by the respective Syndicate/Sub-Syndicate Member. For clarification, if a Syndicate
ASBA application on the application form number/series of a Syndicate/Sub-Syndicate Member, is Bid by an SCSB, the selling commission will be
payable to the SCSB and not to the Syndicate/Sub-Syndicate Member.

(3) SCSBs will be entitled to a processing fee of 10 (plus applicable GST) per valid application for processing the ASBA Forms procured by members
of the Syndicate, sub-syndicate / agents, Registered Brokers, RTAs or CDPs, and submitted to the SCSBs. No processing fees shall be payable by
our Company and the Selling Shareholder to the SCSBs on the applications directly procured by them.

(4) Bidding/uploading Charges payable to Members of the Syndicate (including their sub-Syndicate Members), Registered Brokers, RTAs and CDPs
on the portion for Retail Individual Bidders, Non-Institutional Bidders and Eligible Employees which are procured by them and submitted to SCSB
for blocking, would be ¥ 10 (plus applicable GST) per valid application. Bidding/uploading charges payable to the Members of the Syndicate
(including their sub-Syndicate Members), Registered Brokers, RTAs and CDPs will be determined on the basis of the bidding terminal id as captured
in the Bid Book of BSE or NSE.

(5) The commission and processing fees shall be payable within 30 Working Days post the date of receipt of final invoices of the respective Designated
Intermediaries by the Company.

MONITORING OF UTILISATION OF FUNDS

The Company has appointed HDFC Bank Limited as the Monitoring Agency in relation to the Offer in accordance with
Regulation 16 of the SEBI ICDR Regulations. The Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Monitoring Agency will
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monitor the utilisation of the Net Proceeds. The Company will disclose the utilisation of the Net Proceeds under a separate
head along with details, for all such proceeds of the Fresh Issue that have not been utilised clearly specifying the purpose for
which such Net Proceeds have been utilised in the interim. The Company will indicate investments, if any, of unutilised Net
Proceeds in the balance sheet of the Company for the relevant financial years subsequent to the listing.

Pursuant to the Listing Regulations, our Company shall disclose to the Audit and Risk Management Committee the uses and
application of the Net Proceeds, on a quarterly basis. The Audit and Risk Management Committee shall make
recommendations to our Board for further action, if appropriate. Our Company shall, on an annual basis, prepare a statement
of funds utilised for purposes other than those stated in this Prospectus and place it before the Audit and Risk Management
Committee. Such disclosure shall be made only till such time that all the Net Proceeds have been utilised in full. The statement
shall be certified by the statutory auditors of our Company. Furthermore, in accordance with the Listing Regulations, our
Company shall furnish to the Stock Exchanges, on a quarterly basis, a statement including deviations, if any, in the utilisation
of the Net Proceeds of the Offer from the objects of the Offer as stated above. The information will also be published in
newspapers simultaneously with the submission of such information to the Stock Exchanges, after placing the same before
the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

INTERIM USE OF NET PROCEEDS

Our Company, in accordance with the policies formulated by our Board from time to time, reserves the flexibility to deploy
the Net Proceeds. Pending utilisation of the Net Proceeds for the purposes described above, our Company will temporarily
invest the Net Proceeds in deposits in one or more Scheduled Commercial Banks, included in the Second Schedule of the
Reserve Bank of India Act, 1934, as may be approved by our Board.

In accordance with Section 27 of the Companies Act, 2013, our Company confirms that it shall not use the Net Proceeds for
buying, trading, or otherwise dealing in shares of any other listed company, or for any investment in the equity markets.

BRIDGE FINANCING FACILITIES

Our Company has not raised any bridge loans from any bank or financial institution as on the date of this Prospectus, which
are proposed to be repaid from the Net Proceeds.

VARIATION IN OBJECTS

In accordance with Section 13(8) and Section 27 of the Companies Act, 2013, our Company shall not vary the objects of the
Fresh Issue, without our Company being authorised to do so by the Shareholders, by way of a special resolution through postal
ballot. In addition, the notice issued to the Shareholders in relation to the passing of such special resolution (“Postal Ballot
Notice”) shall specify the prescribed details as required under the Companies Act, 2013 and the rules prescribed thereunder.
The Postal Ballot Notice shall simultaneously be published in the newspapers, one in English and one in Gujarati, the
vernacular language of the jurisdiction where our Registered and Corporate Office is situated. Our Promoters will be required
to provide an exit opportunity to such shareholders who do not agree to the above stated proposal, at a price, and in such
manner as prescribed in Chapter VI-A of the SEBI ICDR Regulations.

OTHER CONFIRMATIONS

No part of the Net Proceeds will be paid by our Company as consideration to our Promoters, our Board of Directors, our Key
Management Personnel or Group Entities. There are no existing or anticipated transactions in relation to utilisation of Net
Proceeds with our Promoters, our Board of Directors, our Key Management Personnel, or our Group Entities.
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BASIS FOR OFFER PRICE

The Offer Price has been determined by our Company and the Selling Shareholder, in consultation with the BRLMSs, on the
basis of assessment of market demand for the Equity Shares, offered through the Book Building Process and on the basis of
quantitative and qualitative factors as described below. The face value of the Equity Shares is %10 each and the Offer Price is
24.5 times the Face Value at the lower end of the Price Band and 24.8 times the Face Value at the higher end of the Price
Band. Investors should also refer to “Our Business”, “Risk Factors” and “Financial Statements” on pages 151, 18 and 218,
respectively, to have an informed view before making an investment decision.
QUALITATIVE FACTORS
We believe that the following business strengths allow us to successfully compete in the industry:

= Leadership in orthopaedics and strong capabilities in other specialties;

» Integrated and scalable business model enhancing our patient reach;

= Experienced player with longstanding presence and brand recall;

= Track record of operating and financial performance and growth;

= Ability to attract quality doctors, nurses, paramedical, and other staff; and

= Experienced and qualified professional management team with strong execution track record.
For details, see “Our Business — Our Competitive Strengths” on page 153.
QUANTITATIVE FACTORS
The information presented below relating to our Company is based on the Restated Standalone Financial Statements and the
Restated Consolidated Financial Statements prepared in accordance with Indian GAAP, and the Companies Act, 2013 and
restated in accordance with the SEBI ICDR Regulations. For details, see “Financial Statements” on page 218.
Some of the quantitative factors which may form the basis for computing the Offer Price are as follows:

(a) Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share (“EPS”):

On a standalone basis:

Financial Year ended Basic and Diluted
EPS () Weight
March 31, 2015 3.26 1
March 31, 2016 4.52 2
March 31, 2017 7.24 3
Weighted Average 5.67
For the three months period ended June 30, 2017, the Basic and Diluted EPS (not annualized) was ¥1.62, on a standalone basis.
On a consolidated basis:
Financial Year ended Basic and Diluted
EPS () Weight
March 31, 2015 2.94 1
March 31, 2016 4.30 2
March 31, 2017 7.16 3
Weighted Average 5.50

For the three months period ended June 30, 2017, the Basic and Diluted EPS (not annualized) was <1.63, on a consolidated basis.
Note:

1. On March 26, 2016, by way of a resolution passed by the Company’s Board of Directors in the meeting held on March 26, 2016, the Company allotted
52,412,960 Equity Shares as a bonus issue in the ratio of 3:2. Accordingly, the number of Equity Shares outstanding before the event is adjusted for
the proportionate change in the number of Equity Shares outstanding as if the event had occurred at the beginning of the earliest period reported.

2. The Company had dilutive capital in the form of Preference Shares. Since the Board of Directors have the option to either convert the Preference
Shares or have them redeemed at a predetermined premium into Equity Shares at fair value, which is not ascertainable at present, diluted potential
Equity Shares of the Preference Shares are not quantified / considered for calculating the diluted EPS. Further, all Preference Shares have been
redeemed by way of a resolution passed by the Board of Directors in the meeting held on December 20, 2016. For details, see “Capital Structure —
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Share Capital History of our Company ” on page 88.

2.

(€)

3. Earning-per share (EPS) calculation is in accordance with Accounting Standard 20 "Earnings per share" prescribed by the Companies (Accounting
Standards) Rules, 2006.
4. The ratios have been computed as below:
a. Basic and Diluted earnings per share = Restated profit after tax attributable to equity shareholders for the period / weighted average number
of shares outstanding during the period.
(b)  Price / Earning (“P | E”) ratio in relation to Price Band of 245 to 248 per Equity Share:
P / E at the lower end of . .
Particulars the Price Band (no. of FUEATEE hlg(;:(?roefrlcijnc]);‘st)he FivEe e
times) )
Based on basic EPS as per the Restated Standalone
Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, | 33.84 34.25
2017
Based on basic EPS as per the Restated Consolidated
Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, | 34.22 34.64
2017
Based on diluted EPS as per the Restated Standalone
Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, | 33.84 34.25
2017
Based on diluted EPS as per the Restated Consolidated
Financial Statements for the year ended March 31, | 34.22 34.64
2017
(¢)  Industry Peer Group P/ E ratio
Particulars P/E ratio Name of the company Face value of equity shares (%)
Highest 111.12 | Healthcare Global Enterprises Limited 10.00
Lowest 14.89 | Fortis Healthcare Limited 10.00
Average 67.58
(d)  Return on Net Worth (“RoNW”)
As per Standalone Restated Financial Statements:
Financial Year ended RoNW (%) Weight
March 31, 2015 16.52 1
March 31, 2016 18.61 2
March 31, 2017 23.05 3
Weighted Average 20.48
Note: For the three months period ended June 30, 2017, the RoNW (not annualized) was 4.80%, on a restated standalone basis.
As per consolidated Restated Financial Statements:
Financial Year ended RoNW (%) Weight
March 31, 2015 15.26 1
March 31, 2016 18.32 2
March 31, 2017 23.54 3
Weighted Average 20.42
Note: For the three months period ended June 30, 2017, the RONW (not annualized) was 4.98%, on a restated consolidated basis.
Note:
1. Return on net worth (%) = Restated profit after tax attributable to equity shareholders for the year / net worth as at the end of year

Net worth represents sum of share capital and reserves and surplus (securities premium, capital reserve, general reserve and

surplus) excluding revaluation reserve

Minimum Return on Increased Net Worth after Offer needed to maintain Pre-Offer EPS for the year ended March

31, 2017

Particulars

Floor Price

Cap Price

To maintain pre-Offer basic EPS

As per Restated Standalone Financial Statements

10.27%

10.25%
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Particulars Floor Price Cap Price
As per Restated Consolidated Financial Statements 10.27% 10.25%
To maintain pre-Offer diluted EPS
As per Restated Standalone Financial Statements 10.27% 10.25%
As per Restated Consolidated Financial Statements 10.27% 10.25%
(f)  Net Asset Value (“NAV?”) per Equity Share of face value of ¥10 each
(i) NAYV per Equity Share as on March 31, 2017 on a standalone basis is ¥31.39
(i) NAV per Equity Share as on March 31, 2017 on a consolidated basis is ¥30.40
(iii)  After the Offer, on a standalone basis:
(@) At the Floor Price: ¥70.49
(b) At the Cap Price: 270.65
(iv)  After the Offer, on a consolidated basis:
(a) At the Floor Price: 369.69
(b) At the Cap Price: 269.85
(v)  Offer Price: 3248
Note:
1. For the three months period ended June 30, 2017, the NAV per Equity Share was 333.54, on a restated standalone basis, and ¥32.59 on a restated
consolidated basis.
2. Net asset value = Net Worth, as restated at the end of the period / Number of equity shares outstanding at the end of the period
3. Offer Price per Equity Share will be determined on conclusion of the Book Building Process.
(g) Comparison with Listed Industry Peers
Name of the Face Closing price on Revenue for EPS ) NAVOR | P/E® | RoNwW®
company value % November 23, Fiscal 2017 (inX | Basic | Diluted® | per share) (%)
per share) 2017 ®)© million) ®
Shalby Limited 10.00 - 3,253.87 | 7.16 7.16 30.40 - 23.54
Apollo Hospitals 5.00 1,135.15 72,549.06 | 15.88 15.88 279.44 | 71.48 2.80
Enterprise Limited
Fortis Healthcare 10.00 132.05 45,737.15 8.87 8.87 121.89 14.89 7.20
Limited
Narayana 10.00 297.90 18,781.65 | 4.10 4.09 4714 | 7284 8.60
Hrudayalaya
Limited
Healthcare Global 10.00 298.90 7,001.11 2.69 2.69 57.18 | 111.12 4.70
Enterprises
Limited

Source: All financial information for listed industry peers mentioned above is presented on a consolidated basis and is sourced from the annual report of the
respective company, for the year ended March 31, 2017
Source for Shalby Limited: Based on the Restated Consolidated Financial Statements for Fiscal ended March 31, 2017

Note:

(1)  Revenue indicates revenue from operations.

@
©)]

@

®)

(6)

Diluted EPS refers to the Diluted EPS sourced from the annual reports of the respective company for the year ended March 31, 2017.

P/E Ratio has been computed based on the closing market price of equity shares on November 23, 2017, divided by the Diluted EPS provided under
Note (1).

RoNW is computed as total comprehensive income divided by closing net worth. Net worth has been computed as sum of share capital, reserves
(including capital reserve and excluding debenture redemption reserve, if any), minority interest, deferred government subsidy, and compulsorily
convertible preference shares.

NAV is computed as the closing net worth divided by the closing outstanding number of equity shares as on March 31, 2017.

Share prices have been sourced from BSE website.
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(h)  The Offer Price will be 24.8 times of the face value of the Equity Shares

The Offer Price of X248 has been determined by our Company and the Selling Shareholder in consultation with the BRLMs
on the basis of assessment of market demand from investors for Equity Shares through the Book Building Process and is
justified in view of the above qualitative and quantitative parameters.

Investors should read the above mentioned information along with “Risk Factors”, “Our Business”, “Management’s

Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and “Financial Statements” on pages 18, 151,
354 and 218, respectively, to have a more informed view.
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STATEMENT OF TAX BENEFITS
To,

The Board of Directors,
Shalby Limited

Opp. Karnavti Club,

S G Highway,
Ahmedabad-380054

Dear Sirs,

Subject: Statement of possible Direct Tax Benefits (“the Statement”) available to Shalby Limited (“the Company”)
and its shareholders prepared in accordance with the requirement in SCHEDULE VIII — CLAUSE (VII1) (L) of
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Issue of Capital Disclosure Requirements) Regulations 2009, as amended
(“the Regulations”)

We report that the enclosed statement states the possible direct tax (viz under the Indian Income Tax Act,1961) benefits
available to the Company or its shareholders under the current direct tax law referred to above, presently in force in
India. Several of these benefits are dependent on the Company or its shareholders fulfilling the conditions
prescribed under the relevant provisions of the statute. Hence, the ability of Company or its shareholders to derive
these direct tax benefits is dependent upon their fulfilling such conditions, which based on business imperatives the
Company faces in the future, the Company may or may not choose to fulfil.

The possible direct tax benefits discussed in the enclosed annexure are not exhaustive. This statement is only intended to
provide general information to investors and is neither designed nor intended to be a substitute for professional tax
advice. In view of the individual nature of the tax consequences and the changing tax laws, each investor is advised to
consult his or her own tax consultant with respect to the specific tax implications arising out of their participation
in the Issue particularly in view of the fact that certain recently enacted legislation may not have a direct legal
precedent or may have a different interpretation on the benefits, which an investor can avail. Neither are we suggesting
nor are we advising the investor to invest money based on this statement.

We do not express any opinion or provide any assurance as to whether:

(i)  The Company or its shareholders will continue to obtain these benefits in future; or
(i)  The conditions prescribed for availing the benefits have been/would be met with.

The contents of the enclosed statement are based on the representations obtained from the Company and on the basis of our
understanding of the business activities and operations of the Company.

This statement is intended solely for information and for inclusion in offer documents in relation to the Issue and is not to
be used, circulated or referred to for any other purpose without our prior written consent.

Our views are based on 'the existing provisions of law referred to earlier and its interpretation, which are subject to change
from time to time. No assurance is given that the revenue authorities / courts will concur with the views expressed in this Tax
Benefit Statement. We do not assume responsibility to update the views consequent to such changes..

FOR G. K. CHOKSI & CO.

[Firm Registration No. 101895W]
Chartered Accountants

SHAUNAK V. MUZUMDAR
Place : Ahmedabad Partner
Date : 17 November 2017 Mem. No. 37571

Encl. : Annexure
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ANNEXURE TO THE STATEMENT OF POSSIBLE DIRECT TAX BENEFITS AVAILABLE TO THE

COMPANY AND TO ITS SHAREHOLDERS

Under the Income-tax Act, 1961 (“the Act/ IT Act”)

Special tax benefits available to the Company

The Company is entitled to the deduction under the sections mentioned hereunder from its total income chargeable to
Income Tax

1.

Subject to fulfillment of conditions such as obtaining Audit report in form 10CCB and conditions as specified in
section 35AD of the Act, the company is entitled to claim deduction of specified capital expenditure incurred for the
specified business to the extent of 150% of capital expenditure. The company

has claimed deduction u/s 35AD for Jabalpur Unit for the financial year 2014 -15 & 2015-16 and for its Indore unit
for 2015-16.

General tax benefits available to Companies

As per section 10(34) of the Act, any income by way of dividends referred to in section 1150 received on the shares
of any Indian company is exempt from tax. Such dividend is to be excluded while computing Minimum Alternate
Tax (“MAT”) liability.

As per section 10(34A) of the Act, any income arising to the company in the capacity of shareholder on account of
buy back of shares ( not being listed on recognized stock exchange) by the other company as referred to in section
115QA is exempt from tax. Such income is to be excluded while computing Minimum Alternate Tax (“MAT”)
liability.

As per section 10(35) of the Act, the following income will be exempt in the hands of the Company: a) Income
received in respect of the units of a Mutual Fund specified under clause (23D) of section 10; or b) Income received
in respect of units from the Administrator of the specified undertaking; or c) Income received in respect of units from
the specified company: However, this exemption does not apply to any income arising from transfer of units of the
Administrator of the specified undertaking or of the specified Company or of a mutual fund, as the case may be.

As per section 32(iia) of the Act the company is entitled to additional depreciation at the rate of 20% on actual cost
of new plant or machinery subject to conditions as prescribed over and above normal depreciation available under
Act.

Capital assets may be categorized into short term capital assets or long term capital assets based on the period of
holding. Capital assets being shares or any other security( other than unit) listed in a recognized Stock Exchange in
India or unit of Unit Trust of India or unit of a Mutual Fund (Equity Oriented) specified under section 10(23D) or a
zero coupon bond held by the assessee for a period of more than 12 months are considered as long term capital assets.
Consequently, capital gains arising on sale of these assets held for more than 12 months are considered as long term
capital gains (“LTCG”). Capital gains arising on sale of these assets held for 12 months or less are considered as
short term capital gains (“STCG”). In respect of any other capital assets, the holding period should exceed 36 months
to be considered as long term capital assets except in case of share of a company (not being share listed in recognized
stock exchange in India) wherein the holding period should exceed 24 months to be considered as long term capital
asset.

As per provisions of Section 48 of the Act, LTCG arising on transfer of capital assets, other than bonds and
debentures (excluding capital indexed bonds issued by the Government) and depreciable assets, is computed by
deducting the indexed cost of acquisition and indexed cost of improvement from the full value of consideration.

As per section 10(38) of the Act, LTCG arising to the Company from the transfer of long term capital asset being an
equity share in a company or a unit of an equity oriented fund or unit of a business trust where such transaction has
been entered into on a recognized stock exchange of India and is chargeable to securities transaction tax (“STT”)
will be exempt in the hands of the Company. However, income by way of LTCG shall not be reduced in computing
the book profits for the purposes of computation of minimum alternate tax (“MAT”) under section 115JB of the Act.

In accordance with section 112 of the Act, LTCG to the extent not exempt under Section 10(38) of the Act would be
subject to tax at the rate of 20% (plus applicable surcharge and education cess) with indexation benefits. However,
as per the proviso to Section 112 of the Act, if the tax on LTCG is resulting from transfer of listed securities (other
than unit) or zero coupon bonds, then LTCG will be chargeable to tax at the rate lower of the following: - a. 20%
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10.

11.

12.

13.

14.

(plus applicable surcharge and education cess) of the capital gains as computed after indexation of the cost; or b.
10% (plus applicable surcharge and education cess) of the capital gains as computed without indexation.

Under section 54EC of the Act and subject to the conditions and to the extent specified therein, LTCG (in case not
covered under section 10(38) of the Act) arising on the transfer of a Long Term Capital Asset would be exempt from
tax if such capital gain is invested within 6 months from the date of such transfer in a “long term specified asset”. A
“long term specified asset” means any bond, redeemable after three years and issued on or after 1st day of April 2007
by the: a. National Highways Authority of India constituted under Section 3 of The National Highways Authority of
India Act, 1988; or b. Rural Electrification Corporation Limited, a company formed and registered under the
Companies Act, 1956. The total deduction with respect to investment in the long term specified assets is restricted
to * 50 lakhs whether invested during the financial year in which the capital asset is transferred or in subsequent year.
Where the “long term specified asset” are transferred or converted into money within three years from the date of
their acquisition, the amount so exempted is taxable as capital gains in the year of transfer / conversion.

As per section 111A of the Act, STCG arising to the Company from the sale of equity share or a unit of an equity
oriented fund or a unit of business trust, where such transaction is chargeable to STT will be taxable at the rate of
15% (plus applicable surcharge and education cess). Further, STCG as computed above that are not liable to STT
would be subject to tax as calculated under the normal provisions of the IT Act.

As per section 70 read with section 74 of the IT Act, Short Term Capital Loss (“STCL”) computed for the given year
is allowed to be set off against STCG as well as LTCG computed for the said year. The balance loss, which is not
set off, is allowed to be carried forward for subsequent eight assessment years for being set off against subsequent
years’ STCG as well as LTCG. However, the long term capital loss (“LTCL”) computed for a given year is allowed
to be set off only against the LTCG. The balance loss, which is not set off, is allowed to be carried forward for
subsequent eight assessment years for being set off only against subsequent years’ LTCG.

Business losses, if any, for an assessment year can be carried forward and set off against business profits for eight
subsequent years.

Unabsorbed depreciation, if any, for an assessment year can be carried forward indefinitely and set off against any
sources of income in the same year or any subsequent assessment years as per section 32(2) of the Act subject to the
provisions of section 72(2) and section 73(3) of the Act.

As per section 115JAA of the Act, credit is allowed in respect of any MAT paid under section 115JB of the Act for
any assessment year commencing on or after 1st day of April 2006. Tax credit to be allowed shall be the difference
between MAT paid and the tax computed as per the normal provisions of the Act for that assessment year. The MAT
credit is allowed to be set-off in the subsequent years to the extent of difference between MAT payable and the tax
payable as per the normal provisions of the Act for that assessment year. The MAT credit shall not be allowed to be
carried forward beyond fifteen assessment year immediately succeeding the assessment year in which tax credit
become allowable.

The law stated below is as per the Income-tax Act, 1961 as amended by the Finance - Act, 2017 and on the assumption
that the Equity Shares would not be held by the shareholders as stock-in-trade.

I11. General tax benefits available to Resident Shareholders

1.

As per section 10(34) of the Act, any income by way of dividends referred to in section 1150 received on the shares
of any Indian company is exempt from tax. As per the Finance Act 2016, income by way of dividend in excess of
10 lakh shall be chargeable to tax in the case of an individual, Hindu undivided family (HUF) or a firm who is
resident in India, at the rate of 10% plus applicable surcharge and cess.

As per provisions of section 48 of the Act, LTCG arising on transfer of capital assets, other than bonds and debentures
(excluding capital indexed bonds issued by the Government) and depreciable assets, is computed by deducting the
indexed cost of acquisition and indexed cost of improvement from the full value of consideration.

As per section 10(38) of the Act, LTCG arising from the transfer of a long term capital asset being an equity share
of the company, where such transaction has been entered into on a recognized stock exchange of India and is
chargeable to STT , will be exempt in the hands of the shareholder.

In accordance with section 112 of the Act, LTCG to the extent not exempt under section 10(38) of the Act would be
subject to tax at the rate of 20% (plus applicable surcharge and education cess) with indexation benefits. However,
as per the proviso to section 112 of the Act, if the tax on LTCG is resulting from transfer of listed securities (other
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than unit) or zero coupon bonds, then LTCG will be chargeable to tax at the rate lower of the following: - a. 20%
(plus applicable surcharge and education cess) of the capital gains as computed after indexation of the cost; or b.
10% (plus applicable surcharge and education cess) of the capital gains as computed without indexation

Under section 54EC of the Act and subject to the conditions and to the extent specified therein, LTCG (in case not
covered under section 10(38) of the Act) arising on the transfer of a Long Term Capital Asset would be exempt from
tax if such capital gain is invested within 6 months from the date of such transfer in a “long term specified asset”. A
“long term specified asset” means any bond, redeemable after three years and issued on or after 1st day of April 2007
by the: a. National Highways Authority of India constituted under section 3 of The National Highways Authority of
India Act, 1988; or b. Rural Electrification Corporation Limited, ta company formed and registered under the
Companies Act, 1956. The total deduction with respect to investment in the long term specified assets is restricted
to * 50 lakhs whether invested during the financial year in which thecapital asset is transferred or in subsequent year.
Where the “long term specified asset” are transferred or converted into money within three years from the date of
their acquisition, the amount so exempted is taxable as capital gains in the year of transfer / conversion.

As per section 54F of the Act, LTCG in cases not covered under section 10(38) arising on the transfer of the shares
of the company held by an Individual or Hindu Undivided Family (HUF) will be exempt from capital gains tax if the
net consideration is utilized to purchase or construct one residential house in India. The residential house is required
to be purchased within a period of one year before or two year after the date of transfer or to be constructed within
three years after the date of transfer.

As per section 111A of the Act, STCG arising from the sale of equity shares of the company, where such transaction
is chargeable to STT, will be taxable at the rate of 15% (plus applicable surcharge and education cess). Further,
STCG as computed above that are not liable to STT would be subject to tax as calculated under the normal provisions
of the IT Act. As per section 70 read with section 74 of the IT Act, Short Term Capital Loss computed for the given
year is allowed to be set off against STCG as well as LTCG computed for the said year. The balance loss, which is
not set off, is allowed to be carried forward for subsequent eight assessment years for being set off against subsequent
years’ STCG as well as LTCG. However, the long term capital loss computed for a given year is allowed to be set
off only against the LTCG. The balance loss, which is not set off, is allowed to be carried forward for subsequent
eight assessment years for being set off only against subsequent years’ LTCG.

No income tax is deductible at source from income by way of capital gains under the present provisions of the Act
in case of residents.

IV. General tax benefits available to Non-Resident Shareholders (Other than Foreign Institutional Investors (“FII’s”)
/ Foreign Portfolio Investors (“FPI’s”))

1.

As per section 10(34) of the Act, any income by way of dividends referred to in section 115-O received on the shares
of any Indian company is exempt from tax.

As per first proviso to section 48 of the Act, in case of a non-resident shareholder, the capital gain/loss arising from
transfer of shares of the company, acquired in convertible foreign exchange, is to be computed by converting the cost
of acquisition, sales consideration and expenditure incurred wholly and exclusively in connection with such transfer,
into the same foreign currency which was initially utilized in the purchase of shares. Cost Indexation benefit will not
be available in such a case.

As per section 10(38) of the Act, LTCG arising from the transfer of long term capital asset being an equity share of
the company, where such transaction has been entered into on a recognized stock exchange of India and is chargeable
to STT, will be exempt in the hands of the shareholder.

As per section 112 of the Act, LTCG to the extent not exempt under section 10(38) of the Act, would be subject to
tax at the rate of 20% (plus applicable surcharge and education cess) after giving effect to the first proviso to section
48 of the Act. If the tax payable on transfer of listed securities exceeds 10% of the LTCG, the excess tax shall be
ignored for the purpose of computing tax payable by the assesse.

Under section 54EC of the Act and subject to the conditions and to the extent specified therein, LTCG (in case not
covered under section 10(38) of the Act) arising on the transfer of a Long Term Capital Asset would be exempt from
tax if such capital gain is invested within 6 months from the date of such transfer in a “long term specified asset”. A
“long term specified asset” means any bond, redeemable after three years and issued on or after 1st day of April 2007
by the: (a) National Highways Authority of India constituted under section 3 of The National Highways Authority
of India Act, 1988; or (b) Rural Electrification Corporation Limited, the company formed and registered under the
Companies Act, 1956. The total deduction with respect to investment in the long term specified assets is restricted
to * 50 lakhs whether invested during the financial year in which the capital asset is transferred or in subsequent year.
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10.

Where the “long term specified asset” are transferred or converted into money within three years from the date of
their acquisition, the amount so exempted is taxable as capital gains in the year of transfer / conversion.

As per section 54F of the Act, LTCG (in cases not covered under section 10(38) arising on the transfer of the shares
of the Company held by an Individual or Hindu Undivided Family (HUF) will be exempt from capital gains tax if
the net consideration is utilized to purchase or construct one residential house in India. The residential house is
required to be purchased within a period of one year before or two years after the date of transfer or to be constructed
within three years after the date of transfer.

As per section 111A of the Act, STCG arising from the sale of equity shares of the Company, where such transaction
is chargeable to STT, will be taxable at the rate of 15% (plus applicable surcharge and education cess). Further,
STCG as computed above that are not liable to STT would be subject to tax as calculated under the normal provisions
of the IT Act.

As per section 70 read with section 74 of the IT Act, STCL computed for the given year is allowed to be set off
against STCG as well as LTCG computed for the said year. The balance loss, which is not set off, is allowed to be
carried forward for subsequent eight assessment years for being set off against subsequent years’ STCG as well as
LTCG. However, the LTCL computed for a given year is allowed to be set off only against the LTCG for the said
year. The balance loss, which is not set off, is allowed to be carried forward for subsequent eight assessment years
for being set off only against subsequent years’ LTCG.

In respect of non-residents, the tax rates and consequent taxation mentioned above will be further subject to any
benefits available under the Tax Treaty, if any, between India and the country in which the non-resident is considered
resident in terms of such Tax Treaty. As per the provisions of section 90(2) of the Act, the provisions of the Act
would prevail over the provisions of the Tax Treaty to the extent they are more beneficial to the non-resident. As per
section 90(4) of the Act, an assessee being a non-resident, shall not be entitled to claim relief under section 90(2) of
the Act, unless a certificate of his resident in any country outside India, is obtained by him from the government of
that country or any specified territory. As per section 90(5) of the Act, the nonresident shall be required to provide
such other information, as has been notified.

As per clause (fb) and (iid) of Explanation 1 to section 115JB of the Act, the income from transactions in securities
(other than STCG arising on transactions on which STT is not chargeable), interest, royalty, or fees for technical
services arising to a foreign company, shall be excluded from the computation of book profit liable to MAT and the
book profit shall be increased by the amount of expenditure corresponding to such income.

Special tax benefits available to Non-Resident Indians

1.

As per section 115C(e) of the Act, the term “non-resident Indians” means an individual, being a citizen of India or a
person of Indian origin who is not a “resident”. A person shall be deemed to be of Indian origin if he, or either of his
parents or any of his grand-parents, was born in undivided India.

As per section 115E of the Act, in the case of a shareholder being a non-resident Indian, and subscribing to the shares
of the Company in convertible foreign exchange, in accordance with and subject to the prescribed conditions, LTCG
on transfer of the shares of the Company (in cases not covered under section 10(38) of the Act) will be subject to tax
at the rate of 10% (plus applicable surcharge and education cess), without any indexation benefit.

As per section 115F of the Act and subject to the conditions specified therein, in the case of a shareholder being a
non-resident Indian, gains arising on transfer of a long term capital asset being shares of the Company which were
acquired, or purchased with or subscribed to in, convertible foreign exchange, will not be chargeable to tax if the
entire net consideration received on such transfer is invested within the prescribed period of six months in any
specified asset or savings certificates referred to in section 10(4B) of the Act. If part of such net consideration is
invested within the prescribed period of six months in any specified asset or savings certificates referred to in section
10(4B) of the Act then this exemption would be allowable on a proportionate basis. Further, if the specified asset or
saving certificates in which the investment has been made is transferred within a period of three years from the date
of investment, the amount of capital gains tax exempted earlier would become chargeable to tax as long term capital
gains in the year in which such specified asset or savings certificates are transferred.

As per section 115G of the Act, non-resident Indians are not obliged to file a return of income under section 139(1)
of the Act, if their only source of income is income from specified investments or long term capital gains earned on
transfer of such investments or both, provided tax has been deducted at source from such income as per the provisions
of Chapter XVII-B of the Act.

As per section 115H of the Act, where non-resident Indian becomes assessable as a resident in India, he may furnish
a declaration in writing to the Assessing Officer, along with his return of income for that year under section 139 of
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the Act to the effect that the provisions of Chapter XII-A shall continue to apply to him in relation to investment
income derived from the investment in equity shares of the Company as mentioned in section 115C(f)(i) of the Act
for that year and subsequent assessment years until assets are converted into money.

As per section 1151 of the Act, a Non-Resident Indian may elect not to be governed by the provisions of “Chapter
XI11-A — Special Provisions Relating to Certain Incomes of Non-Residents” for any assessment year by furnishing a
declaration along with his return of income for that assessment year under section 139 of the Act, that the provisions
of Chapter X1I-A shall not apply to him for that assessment year and accordingly his total income for that assessment
year will be computed in accordance with the other provisions of the Act.

In a situation where the shareholder transfers the shares of the Company, which are held as ‘long-term capital assets’
and such transaction is not covered by the provisions of section 10(38) of the Act as referred to earlier, the shareholder
can consider availing the benefit as provided in section 54F of the Act. Shareholders being individuals can consider
the conditions so stated in section 54F of the Act and examine the availability of the benefit based on their individual
tax position.

In respect of non-resident Indian, the tax rates and consequent taxation mentioned above will be further subject to
any benefits available under the Tax Treaty, if any, between India and the country in which the non-resident is
considered resident in terms of such Tax Treaty. As per the provisions of section 90(2) of the Act, the provisions of
the Act would prevail over the provisions of the Tax Treaty to the extent they are more beneficial to the non-resident.
As per section 90(4) of the Act, an assessee being a non-resident Indian, shall not be entitled to claim relief under
section 90(2) of the Act, unless a certificate of his resident in any country outside India, is obtained by him from the
government of that country or any specified territory. As per section 90(5) of the Act, the nonresident Indian shall
be required to provide such other information, as has been notified.

V1. Benefits available to Flls / FPIs Special tax benefits

VII.

1.

Under section 115AD(1)(ii) of the IT Act, income by way of STCG arising to the FIlI on transfer of shares shall be
chargeable at a rate of 30%, where such transactions are not subjected to STT, and at the rate of 15% if such
transaction of sale is entered on a recognised stock exchange in India and is chargeable to STT. The above rates are
to be increased by applicable surcharge and education cess. Under Section 115AD(1)(iii) of the IT Act income by
way of LTCG arising from the transfer of shares (in cases not covered under Section 10(38) of the IT Act) held in
the company will be taxable at the rate of 10% (plus applicable surcharge and education cess). The benefits of
indexation of cost and of foreign currency fluctuations are not available to Flls. Further, for the purposes of section
115AD, FPIs would get similar treatment as available to Flls.

As per section 196D(2) of the Act, no deduction of tax at source will be made in respect of income by way of capital
gain arising from the transfer of securities referred to in section 115AD.

In respect of Flls and FPlIs, the tax rates and consequent taxation mentioned above will be further subject to any
benefits available under the Tax Treaty, if any, between India and the country in which the FlIs/FPIs is considered
resident in terms of such Tax Treaty. As per the provisions of section 90(2) of the Act, the provisions of the Act
would prevail over the provisions of the Tax Treaty to the extent they are more beneficial to the non-resident. As per
section 90(4) of the Act, an assessee being a non-resident, shall not be entitled to claim relief under section 90(2) of
the Act, unless a certificate of his resident in any country outside India, is obtained by him from the government of
that country or any specified territory. As per section 90(5) of the Act, the nonresident shall be required to provide
such other information, as has been notified.

As per clause (fb) and (iid) of Explanation 1 to section 115JB of the Act, the income from transactions in securities
(other than STCG arising on transactions on which STT is not chargeable), interest, royalty, or fees for technical
services arising to a FlI, shall be excluded from the computation of book profit liable to MAT and the book profit
shall be increased by the amount of expenditure corresponding to such income. As per section 2(14) of the Act, any
securities held by a FII / FPI which has invested in such securities in accordance with the regulations made under
Securities & Exchange Board of India Act, 1992 would be treated as a capital asset only so that any income arising
from transfer of such security by a FIl / FP1 would be treated in the nature of capital gains.

Special tax benefits available to Mutual Funds

As per section 10(23D) of the Act, any income of Mutual Funds registered under the Securities and Exchange Board of

India Act, 1992 or Regulations made thereunder, Mutual Funds set up by public sector banks or public financial
institutions and Mutual Funds authorised by the Reserve Bank of India will be exempt from income tax, subject to such
conditions as the Central Government may, by notification in the Official Gazette, specify in this behalf.
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VIII. THE WEALTH TAX ACT, 1957

Wealth Tax Act, 1957 has been abolished with effect from Assessment Year 2016-17.

IX. BENEFITS AVAILABLE UNDER THE GIFT TAX ACT, 1958

Gift tax is not leviable in respect of any gift made on or after 1 October 1998. Therefore any gift of share of a company
will not attract gift tax.

NOTES:

1.

10.

The statement of tax benefits enumerated above is as per the Income Tax Act 1961 including amendments as set out in
the Finance Act 2017.

As per the FA, surcharge is to be levied on individuals, HUF, AOP, body of individuals, artificial juridical person, co-
operative society and local authorities at the rate of 10% if the total income exceeds Rs 50 lakhs and is upto Rs. 1 crore
and at the rate of 15% if income exceeds Rs 1 Crore.

Surcharge is levied on domestic companies at the rate of 7% where the income exceeds Rs 1 crore but does not exceed
Rs 10 crores and at the rate of 12% where the income exceeds ~ 10 crores.

Surcharge is levied on every company other than domestic company at the rate of 2% where the income exceeds Rs 1
crore but does not exceed Rs 10 crores and at the rate of 5% where the income exceeds ~ 10 crores.

A 2% education cess and 1% secondary and higher education cess on the total income is payable by all categories of
taxpayers.

The above statement of possible direct tax benefits sets out the provisions of law in a summary manner only and is not a
complete analysis or listing of all potential tax consequences of the purchase, ownership and disposal of Shares.

In respect of non-residents, the tax rates and the consequent taxation mentioned above shall be further subject to any
benefits available under the tax treaty, if any, between India and the country in which the non-resident has fiscal domicile.

This statement is intended only to provide general information to the investors and is neither designed nor intended to be
substituted for professional tax advice. In view of the individual nature of tax consequences, each investor is advised to
consult his/her own tax advisor with respect to specific tax consequences of his/her participation in the scheme.

No assurance is given that the revenue authorities/courts will concur with the views expressed herein. Our views are
based on the existing provisions of law and its interpretation, which are subject to changes from time to time. We do not
assume responsibility to update the views consequent to such changes.

This statement of possible direct tax benefits enumerated above is as per the Act as amended by the Finance Act from
time to time.

Above are the possible tax benefits available to the shareholders under the current tax laws in India. Several of these benefits
are dependent on the shareholders fulfilling the conditions prescribed under the relevant tax laws. Hence, the ability of the
shareholders to derive the tax benefits is dependent upon fulfilling such conditions. The benefits discussed above are not
exhaustive. This statement is only intended to provide general information to the investors and is neither designed nor intended
to be a substitute for professional tax advice. In view of the individual nature of the tax consequences and the changing tax
laws, each investor is advised to consult his or her own tax consultant with respect to the specific tax implications arising out
of their participation in the issue particularly in view of the fact that certain recently enacted legislation may not have a direct
legal precedent or may have a different interpretation on the benefits, which an investor can avail.
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SECTION IV: ABOUT OUR COMPANY
INDUSTRY OVERVIEW

The information in this section has been extracted from certain publications prepared by third party sources as cited in this
section. Industry sources and publications generally state that the information contained therein has been obtained from
sources generally believed to be reliable. However, their accuracy, completeness, and underlying assumptions are not
guaranteed and their reliability cannot be assured. While we have exercised reasonable care in compiling and reproducing
such official, industry, market, and other data in this document, it has not been independently verified by us, or any of our
advisors, or any of the BRLMs or any of their advisors, and should not be relied on as if it had been so verified.

The information set out below is inter alia, based on the report titled ‘Independent Market Assessment of Indian Healthcare
Industry for IPO’ dated May 16, 2017 curated by Frost & Sullivan (“F&S Report”). The findings on the Report, apart from
being based on industry estimates, have been extracted from numerous third party sources such as those listed in the table
below:

SOURCE

National Commission on Population

Census of India

International Monetary Fund Estimates

National Accounts Statistics

World Health Organization Global Health Expenditure Database
World Bank

Ministry of Health and Family Welfare (MOHFW)
National Health Profile (NHP)

9. World Health Statistics

10. World Health Organization (WHO)

11. Central Statistics Office

12. Insurance Regulatory and Development Authority (IRDA)
13. Ministry of Tourism

14. Department of Industrial Policy and Promotion (DIPP)

0 N O W 3

15. The Association of Physicians of India
16. National Centre for Disease Information and Research
17. Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)

18. Atomic Energy Regulatory Board (AERB)

19. SRS Bulletin

20. Esopb.gov.in

21. Hospital websites, annual reports, and investor’s presentations

The F&S Report has been prepared by Frost & Sullivan, at the specific request of our Company. The market research process
for the report has been undertaken through secondary / desktop research as well as primary research, which involved
discussing the status of the market with leading participants and experts.

The information set out below has also been disclaimed by Frost & Sullivan. A copy of the disclaimer provided by Frost &
Sullivan has been reproduced below:

“The market research process for this study has been undertaken thorough secondary / desktop research as well as primary
research, which involves discussing the status of the market with leading participants and experts. The research methodology
used is the Expert Opinion Methodology. Quantitative market information was sourced from interviews by way of primary
research as well as from trusted portals, and therefore, the information is subject to fluctuations due to possible changes in
the business and market climate. Frost & Sullivan’s estimates and assumptions are based on varying levels of quantitative
and qualitative analyses, including industry journals, company reports and information in the public domain.

Forecasts, estimates, predictions, and other forward-looking statements contained in this report are inherently uncertain
because of changes in factors underlying their assumptions, or events or combinations of events that cannot be reasonably
foreseen. Actual results and future events could differ materially from such forecasts, estimates, predictions, or such
statements.

This study has been prepared for inclusion in the draft and final Prospectus and Offering Memorandum of "THE CLIENT ”
in relation to an initial public offering (“1PO”) in connection with its listing on one of the leading global stock exchanges

This report and extracts thereof are for use in the draft and final Prospectus and Offering Memorandum issued by the

Company and all presentation materials (including press releases) prepared by or on behalf of the Company (and reviewed
by Frost & Sullivan) in relation to the Listing exercise. The company is permitted to use the same in internal and external
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communications as needed in the context of the Listing exercise. However, no part of the report may be distributed for any
other commercial gain to parties not connected with the said Listing exercise.

This report has exclusively been prepared for the consumption of "THE CLIENT”, and any unauthorised access to or usage
of this material by others is forbidden and illegal.

Frost & Sullivan has prepared this study in an independent and objective manner, and it has taken adequate care to ensure
its accuracy and completeness. We believe that this study presents a true and fair view of facilities management, corporate
catering, industrial asset management, and human resources solutions industry within the limitations of, among others,
secondary statistics and primary research, and it does not purport to be exhaustive. Our research has been conducted with
an “overall industry” perspective, and it will not necessarily reflect the performance of individual companies in the industry.
Frost & Sullivan shall not be liable for any loss suffered because of reliance on the information contained in this study. This
study should also not be considered as a recommendation to buy or not to buy the shares of any company or companies as
mentioned in it or otherwise.”

Demographic, Macroeconomic and Healthcare Overview of India

Burgeoning population of India

The population of India is expected to grow at a compound annual growth rate (CAGR) of nearly 1.0 % between 2014 and
2020. Growing at this rate, India is expected to be home to 1.35 billion people by 2020.

Figure 1: Population and population growth rate of India (historical and expected)

CAGR (2014-
2020)

100% = 1.27 billion 1.29 billion 1.32 billion 1.35 billion
54+ years 12% 13% 14% 14%
s5-54years a9 24% 24% 25%
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years 6% 26% 25% 25%
0-19 years 38% 37% 37% 36%
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Source: National Commission on Population, Frost & Sullivan analysis

The fact that higher numbers of individuals are attaining old age in future trends (12% of the total population above 54 years
of age in 2014 to 14% of the total population in 2020), there is an increasing burden on the healthcare resources as this segment
of population is predisposed to various chronic diseases like diabetes, heart diseases, degenerative diseases, neurological
disorders and cancer. The burgeoning population of India could pose a serious challenge to healthcare access for all, thereby
reemphasizing the need for development of healthcare infrastructure in India.

130



Figure 2: Per capita income 2011-2014 in INR’000 (India Vs selected states)
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GDP growth of India

India is the third largest economy of Asia and is one of the fastest growing economies across the globe. India grew at a robust
pace of 7.2% in 2014 along with China at 7.3% and is expected to grow at 7.7% 2018 onwards, higher than other economies.

Figure 3: GDP growth (%) of India and other countries
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Source: International Monetary Fund Estimates, 2017

According to the IMF, the Indian economy is poised to be one of the top 5 economies by 2020 following a robust GDP growth
supported by a strong industry base, a growing population, and other socio-demographic factors. With steady economic
growth, the per capita income of the population is rising and so is the economic stability of the burgeoning middle class
population.

Healthcare expenditure and out-of-pocket expenditure
The healthcare industry in India is growing at a fast pace and is expected to grow further with the government’s increased

interest. Though, India’s total healthcare expenditure (as a percent of GDP) increased from 4.3% in 2000 to 4.7% in 2014, is
currently lower than other South Asian countries like Singapore and China.
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Figure 4: Total healthcare expenditure (% of GDP) and share of out-of-pocket spend

Total Healthcare Expenditure
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Source: World Health Organization Global Health Expenditure database

The public healthcare expenditure of India accounts to only 30% of total healthcare expenditure in 2014, considerably lower
than other countries, thus leading to higher out-of- pocket spend on healthcare. This massive shortfall in public healthcare in
India is filled up by private healthcare providers.

Figure 5: India’s public healthcare expenditure (% of total healthcare expenditure) vs global
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Source: World Health Organization Global Health Expenditure database

With growing penetration of insurance, out-of-pocket spend in India reduced considerably from 67.9% in year 2000 to 62.4%
in 2014, compared to other Asian countries like Singapore and Malaysia, which have an increasing trend of out-of-pocket
expenditure, However, the out-of-pocket spend on healthcare in India is still much higher than the other developed economies.
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Figure 6: Share of out-of-pocket spend on healthcare (% of total healthcare expenditure)
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Gujarat outshines neighbouring states in terms of its per capita spending on healthcare. In 2013, Gujarat had the highest per
capita expenditure compared to neighbouring states.

Figure 7: Per capita healthcare expenditure of selected Indian states in INR (2013-14)
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The first state in India to have National Accreditation Board for Hospitals and Healthcare Providers (NABH) and National
Accreditation Board for Testing and Calibration Laboratories (NABL) accreditation process, Gujarat is rapidly evolving as a
healthcare hub with favourable government policies. Taking forward the momentum to improve the healthcare delivery
services, it is contemplating setting up multispecialty hospitals on a PPP basis, wherein the private party is expected to
construct, equip, staff and operate the core and support facilities at the hospital and get all relevant approvals.

There are plans to set up nursing and paramedic training institutes with intake capacity of 360 students in addition to the
already existing 41 nursing colleges with 2,195 seats, addressing the need for healthcare manpower.

Owing to its investment policies, Gujarat is an investment magnet attracting investments in various sectors including
healthcare.
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Over the last decade organized healthcare players in Gujarat have grown, maximizing opportunities: many of these groups
have plans to increase bed capacity in region.

Structure of Healthcare Delivery in India

The healthcare delivery system in India is classified as follows:

Figure 8: Healthcare delivery system in India
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Source: Frost & Sullivan analysis

1.

Primary care facilities: Providing basic level of healthcare services, primary healthcare facilities serves as a first point
of contact between individuals and the health system chain providing outpatient consultation, routine health screening,
birth control programs, emergencies, immunization and vaccinations.

Primary care in India is generally delivered by single physician outpatient clinics and dispensaries providing basic
medical and preventive healthcare facilities. Since the medical infrastructure at the primary facilities is limited with no
ICU beds or operation theatre; these act as referral centres to secondary and tertiary healthcare centres for treatment of
chronic ailments and other complex diseases.

Secondary care facilities: Bridging the gap between primary and tertiary healthcare services, secondary care facilities
are the second tier of health system. They act as the key healthcare facility for patients who are referred for further
diagnosis and treatment of complex conditions from primary care facility.

Tertiary care facilities: The third level of healthcare system specializes in consultative care, specialised intensive care,
advanced diagnostics support, and availability of specialised medical personal. The tertiary care facilities provide a wide
range of specialties like cardiothoracic surgery, neurosurgery, nephrology, surgical oncology, neonatology, orthopedics,
endocrinology, plastic and cosmetic surgery, organ transplants and nuclear medicine etc.

The government tertiary care facilities usually work on referrals from primary and secondary medical facilities while the
hospitals in private sector get direct patients. These hospitals may have over 200 hospitals beds (20-30% of which are
dedicated for critical care).

There are basically two types of tertiary care facilities:

a. Single specialty tertiary care hospitals: These hospitals focus on a single specialty providing end to end
diagnostic and therapeutic treatment for select specialty such as cardiac sciences, oncology etc.

b. Multi-specialty tertiary care hospitals: These hospitals provide multispecialty care under one roof and treat
complex high risk cases along with multi-level trauma.

Quaternary care facilities: An advanced facility offering services which are similar to tertiary care hospitals along with
providing a high-end infrastructure for treatment/ diagnosis and may also offer research facilities. These hospitals focus
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on high-end procedures and complex cases such as cardiothoracic surgeries, complex neurosurgeries, robotic surgeries,
organ transplants, oncology etc.

Classification of the Healthcare Industry

Overall market size

The Indian healthcare industry was estimated to be INR 9.2 trillion in 2016; grew at a CAGR of 14-15% over the last five
years (2011 to 2015). The healthcare industry is expected to grow at a CAGR of 15-16% during 2015-20 and expected to
reach INR 17.2 trillion in 2020.

Figure 9: Indian healthcare industry size (2015 — 2020)
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Source: Frost & Sullivan analysis

The Indian healthcare industry has five key functional segments i.e. healthcare delivery, pharmaceutical industry, diagnostics
industry, healthcare insurance industry and medical devices industry: healthcare delivery (hospitals) is the largest contributing
segment.

Figure 10: Classification of healthcare industry in India

Healthcare delivery
(Hospitals)

Pharmaceutical
industry

Classification of ﬂ)
Healthcare industry in -
India )

\ Health
insurance

Medical equipment
industry

Source: Frost & Sullivan analysis
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Figure 11: Indian Healthcare Industry size by segment (2016)
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The healthcare delivery segment is largely driven by private sector players and occupies a major share of nearly 70% in the
total number of hospitals; of this, organized private corporate hospitals comprise less than 10%.

Figure 12: Split of public and private hospitals in India
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Indian healthcare delivery industry

The healthcare delivery segment accounts for a major share of the Indian healthcare industry, contributing nearly 68% to the
total healthcare industry, an estimated value of INR 6.2 trillion in 2016. One of the fast growing, the healthcare delivery

segment grew at a CAGR of 14-15% between 2011 and 2015; is expected to grow at a higher CAGR of 15-16% between
2016 and 2020 to reach INR 11.7 trillion by 2020.
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Figure 13: Indian healthcare delivery industry size (2015-2020)
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Source: Frost & Sullivan analysis

The volumes from inpatient admissions contribute ~80% of value to the healthcare delivery while remaining ~20% is
contributed by the outpatient volumes (which includes doctor consultation, day-care surgeries and diagnostics; and excludes
pharmaceuticals purchased).

Driven largely by private players, healthcare delivery services in India are restricted majorly to metro and tier | cities, leading
to a disproportionate distribution of services in rural and urban areas. There lies immense scope for penetration of hospitals
in India, thus presenting ample opportunity for development of healthcare industry.

GROWTH DRIVERS OF INDIAN HEALTHCARE INDUSTRY

Indian healthcare sector has been growing rapidly and has emerged as one of the largest sectors in terms of size and humber
of people employed.

The key growth drivers of Indian healthcare industry are:
1. Deficient healthcare infrastructure and lack of healthcare workforce
a. Healthcare Infrastructure

The Indian healthcare sector is facing a massive scarcity of both infrastructure and skilled workforce. In the present
day scenario, per capita infrastructure availability is poor as compared to global standards.

In terms of healthcare infrastructure, India lags behind other countries. China, despite being one of the most populous
countries of the world, features well on the hospital bed density with 3.8 beds per 1,000 populations compared to
India with 0.7 hospitals beds per 1,000 populations, much lower than WHO recommendation of 3.5 beds per 1,000
people and global average of 2.7 beds per 1,000 populations.

To achieve the global average of 2.7 beds per 1,000 populations, an additional 2.7 million beds need to be added in

India by 2020. This figure escalates to 3.8 million beds to achieve the WHO norm of 3.5 beds per 1,000 populations,
denoting the need of radical reforms in the industry to deal with the challenge.
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Figure 14: Hospital bed density per 1,000 people, 2011
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New initiatives by the Government including adding 17 new All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AlIIMS), and
20 cancer institutes, plans to increase public health expenditure to 2.5% of GDP from existing 1.4%, and various
benefits like tax holidays, easy route for foreign direct investment, emphasizing the need of greater participation of
private healthcare players will accelerate the growth of healthcare sector.

The phenomenon of rapid growth of the private health sector has resulted in a large share of health infrastructure
being provided by private players. Despite the rapid growth of private healthcare players in India offering quality
healthcare, the bed density of private hospital beds per 1,000 populations is only 0.4 hospital beds per 1,000 in 2016.

Considering the high dependency on private healthcare and low public healthcare expenditure, the current private
healthcare infrastructure would fall insufficient to meet the need to growing healthcare demands of India’s
population.

At the national level, there is a huge imbalance in terms of availability and utilization of hospital beds. In metropolitan

and tier | cities, the density of hospital beds is higher providing better access to healthcare to the larger masses, while
in tier 11 and 111 cities the hospitals bed density is relatively lower.
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Figure 15: State wise hospital bed density per 1,000 people, 2016
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States like Gujarat, Madhya Pradesh, Punjab and Rajasthan have a higher number of hospital beds per 1,000
populations compared to the national average of 0.7 beds but lower than the global average of 2.7 beds per 1,000
populations, clearly indicating a higher burden on the system and the need for more hospital beds.

Healthcare Manpower
India faces an acute deficit of trained and skilled healthcare workforce. The situation seems grim considering the fact
that a high proportion of workforce is inactive and not involved in the formal healthcare system, thereby putting

additional pressure on formal healthcare practitioners.

In 2011, physician density in India, estimated at 0.74 physicians per 1,000 people was lower than the global average
of 1.39 and also lower than other South Asian countries like Singapore (1.75) and China (1.49).
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2.

Figure 16: Physician density — India and other countries, 2011
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Nearly 70% of the total doctors are concentrated in urban India, serving nearly 33% of the total population. Further,
the availability of skilled and trained doctors in urban regions is majorly in the metros and tier | cities, leaving the
tier Il and tier 111 cities and rural areas deprived of quality medical services.

In a swift move to cater to the situation, the Government has identified a few medical colleges in India with minimum
capacity of 200 beds to be upgraded to medical colleges, thus adding nearly 10,000 M.B.B.S. seats in the country in
the coming years. A recent move by the Gol in reducing the land requirement to set up a medical college from 10
acres to 60,000 sg. m. in a city with population of 1 million will further enhance the supply of healthcare manpower

in India.
Increasing population and life expectancy
Considering the fast growing population at a CAGR of nearly 1.0%, India would be home to nearly 1.35 billion people
by 2020. Further, a larger share of this growing population will comprise the elderly, leading to a rising share of

population with chronic non- communicable diseases requiring better medical services. Managing these chronic patients
with varying level of disabilities is bound to increase the financial demand on our healthcare system.

Figure 17: Trends in life expectancy at birth and infant mortality rate (per 1,000 people) in India
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Source: World Bank, 2015
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Currently dealing with the challenge of low bed density of 0.7 beds per 1,000 people against the WHO guideline of 3.5
beds per 1,000 people and global average of 2.7 beds in 2011, it would be challenging for India to meet its rising healthcare
demand of the population with its existing healthcare infrastructure.

3. Increasing urbanization and healthcare awareness
Based on analysis by the World Bank, the level of urbanization in India has risen from 31% in 2011 to 33% in 2015 and
is expected to be 36% by 2020. Growing urbanization offers many benefits to the population; at the same time gives rise

to problems which form a barrier to balanced and inclusive development.

Figure 18: State wise share of urban and rural population in India, 2011

60.4 72.6 112.4 27.7 68.6
100% = million million million million million

Rural

Urban

Gujarat Madhya Pradesh ~ Maharashtra Punjab Rajasthan
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Among the selected states, Gujarat has a higher ratio of urban population compared to the neighbouring states, except
Maharashtra. Gujarat being one of the most industrially developed states has seen a large migration of rural population
to urban regions with a growth of 6% in the urban population from 2001-2011.

4. Growing prevalence of lifestyle disease
India is facing a growing burden of Non-Communicable Diseases (NCD), largely caused by sedentary life styles, rise in

pollution levels, global warming, and other factors. There has been a gradual transition in disease patterns, with NCDs
emerging as a major killer, responsible for 60% of deaths in the country.
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Figure 19: Causes of deaths in India, 2012
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= Diabetes: As per the International Diabetic Federation, there were about 69.2 million (20-79 years of age) diabetics
in 2015, making India home to the second highest diabetic population after China with 109.6 million diabetics.
India’s numbers are expected to rise by 81% reaching 125.3 million in year 2040.

= Obesity: Obesity has reached epidemic proportions, globally, with approximately 4 billion adults being overweight
and at least 600 million of them being clinically obese. India is the third most obese country in the world with nearly
30 million obese people in 2014.

= Cardiovascular disease: Cardiovascular diseases (CVD) are the leading cause of death across the globe, accounting
for 31% of all global deaths (17.5 million) in 2012.

In India, CVD account for (26%) of the total deaths caused by NCDs According to WHO estimates, CVD accounted
for 1.5 million deaths in India in 2012; 16% of the total 9.8 million deaths. An increasing number of young Indians
are falling victim to the CVD. An area which needs a major initiative to be undertaken at the national level, major
health gains can be made through increased intervention of private healthcare players and public health measures.

= Cancer: Cancer is among the leading causes of deaths in India accounting for 7% of the total deaths in India. In
2016, India had 4-5 million patients suffering from cancer, with nearly 1.45 million new patients added in 2016.

According to Indian Council of Medical Research (ICMR), India is expected to have more than 1.7 million new cases
of cancer per year and 0.9 million deaths due to cancer by 2020. Despite the rising prevalence of disease, there is
very low awareness and accessibility for the treatment with only 12.5% patients availing treatment in early stage.

» Neurology: India is facing a growing burden of neurological diseases that is expected to increase further due to stress,
smoking, nutritional deficiency, high cholesterol, changing lifestyle, obesity, hypertension and other factors. Among
neurological disorders, epilepsy, dementia, cerebrovascular disorder (stroke), movement disorders (Parkinson’s
disease, tremors) are common disorders with increasing prevalence and incidence: stroke and epilepsy are the most
common.

According to a study, nearly 30 million people suffer from neurological disorders (excluding neuro-infections and
traumatic injuries), considering a prevalence of 2,394 per 100,000 population. India, like other developing countries,
is in the midst of a stroke epidemic. The prevalence rate of strokes is estimated to be 244-262 per 100,000 populations
in rural India and 334-424 out of 100,000 populations in cities.

=  Chronic respiratory disease: According to the WHO, chronic respiratory diseases account for 13% of the total deaths
in India. Among these chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is the most common among men, mainly
attributed to tobacco smoking. In India, there is an approximate prevalence of 6 to 7% for the respiratory symptoms
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among non-smokers and up to 14% in smokers. ICMR has estimated the incidence of COPD as 5% in Indian men.
The number of COPD patients is estimated to increase from 13 million in 1996 to 22 million by 2016.

5. Rising income levels and affordability of healthcare

In the country with an out-of-pocket spend on healthcare as high as 62%, growing disposable income has made healthcare
affordable. The disposable income of Indian population grew from INR 16,695 in 2000 to 82,000 in 2015 and is expected
to reach INR 139,258 by 2020 growing at a CAGR of 11% from 2015 to 2020.

A rising middle class with growing income levels has a higher awareness of health related services and demands better
healthcare services and good infrastructure. This shift in the demand pattern has opened avenues for penetration of private
corporate players delivering high quality healthcare services with sophisticated infrastructure and a high level of clinical

excellence.

Figure 20: Growth of Disposable income in India
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6. Growth in health insurance coverage

In 2014, India had only 288 million people covered under any kind of health insurance. This accounted for nearly 25%
of the total population, out of which nearly 90% are covered under government schemes like Central Government Health
Scheme (CGHS), Employment State Insurance Scheme (ESIS), Rashtriya Swasthya Bima Yojana (RSBY), Aarogyasti
Schemes and other group schemes and only 10% were covered by individual insurance.

Figure 21: Health insurance penetration in India (2011-2014)

100% = (million 212 207 216 288
of people) - -
Individual

Group
(other than
Government

Government

2011 2012 2013 2014

Source: IRDA Annual Report 2014-15

143



The health insurance premium in India has grown at a CAGR of 16% much higher than the growth of health insurance
penetration. Though, individual insurance comprises merely 10% of the total health insurance holders in India, it occupies
a major share of 46% in the health insurance premium segment in 2014.

Figure 22: Health insurance premium in India (2011-2014)
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There is immense scope for growth of the healthcare delivery industry given the current low penetration of health
insurance. The fact that health insurance premium has grown at a CAGR of ~16% between 2011 and 2014, indicates a
bright scenario for the healthcare insurance industry. Individual insurance has seen tremendous growth, contributing 44%
of the total premium and registering the highest CAGR of 21.4% between 2011 and 2014.

7. Emergence of medical tourism

In Asia, India is one of the major medical tourism destinations attracting patients from across the world, mainly from
developing and underdeveloped countries lacking advanced medical facilities and sophisticated infrastructure.

Majority of the medical tourists in India are from the neighbouring countries of Bangladesh and Afghanistan accounting

for 65% of the total arrivals. This is followed by patients from Africa, the Gulf Cooperation Council (GCC) and
Commonwealth of Independent States (CIS).

Figure 23: Nationality wise break-up of FTA for medical treatment purpose in India, 2015
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In recent years, the availability of a vast pool of skilled and trained medical professional, increased government
intervention to support healthcare industry, increased penetration of corporate hospitals, improved healthcare
infrastructure, growing technical expertise and the rich cultural heritage of India has been a boon to Indian medical
tourism industry and helped India to make a mark on the global healthcare industry.

Figure 24: FTA for medical treatment in India
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Although allopathic surgical treatment is the most sought for, demand for Yoga, Meditation, Ayurveda and other
traditional alternative sciences has also been attracting medical tourists from across the globe. According to the Ministry
of Tourism, medical visa tourist arrivals increased by more than 100% between 2013 and 2015.

Figure 25: Country-wise cost of treatments (3$)

iy US Thaland _ SgaporeMalaysia s

43 I 12

I40 I1o

Source: Frost & Sullivan analysis

8. Government policies driving healthcare
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In order to promote the penetration and availability of healthcare, the Government is also taking certain measures for the
collective benefit of the industry and the people. The NITI Aayog (National Institute for Transforming India) has been
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working on reforms in the public health system to increase the outsourcing of primary healthcare to private doctors and
promoting competition between government and private hospitals at the secondary level. The private sector will also
benefit from the provisions of the IT act that enables financial institutions to provide long-term capital to hospitals with
100 or more beds. There is also a push for Public Private Partnerships (PPP), providing a big boost to private sector
players. In addition to the developments in urban areas, the Government is supporting the establishment of hospitals in
rural areas by extending tax holidays.

The key incentives offered to the healthcare sector are summarized in the figure below.

Figure 26

Budget allocation to National Health Mission increased to INR 200.37
billion, a rise of ~9% respectively over the previous budget.

Increase in budget allocation to Ministry of Health and Family Welfare
(MoHFW) to INR 395.33 billion, a rise of 13 percent over the last year
budget

Tax holiday will be provided to start-ups established before April
1, 2019 for a period of three consecutive years out of five years

Emphasize the need for greater private participation, opening
avenues for private healthcare players

Decrease the investment linked deduction from 150 per cent to 100
per cent in the case of operating hospitals with effect from April 1,
2017

Raise the public health expenditure to 2.6 percent of GDP from
existing 1.4 percent

Source: Frost & Sullivan analysis

Increasing private equity, venture capital funds and regulations pertaining to investment in the sector

FDI equity inflow in the health sector has increased significantly in last five years and stands at INR 142 billion as of
2014. In this sector drugs and pharmaceutical industry saw the highest flow of FDI till 2014 with a slight slump in 2015,
followed by hospitals. FDI in hospitals saw an exponential increase in 2013 with year-on-year increase of 180% to reach
~INR 40 billion.
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Figure 27: FDI in Indian Healthcare (INR billion)
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10. Licenses and Statutory obligations

The Indian healthcare delivery sector is governed by an extensive list of 72 licenses and statutory obligations, in addition
to other requirements. These licenses and obligations pertain to various operational aspects regarding facility
infrastructure, use of drugs and other chemicals, human resources, and other financial and legal aspects. Almost all of
these regulations have been well founded and established for several years, and their applicability varies for different
types of healthcare delivery setups. While most secondary and tertiary healthcare facilities comply with these licenses,
numerous facilities fail to do so.

Recently, several healthcare facilities have opted for NABH accreditation, which requires stringent and compulsory
compliance with all licenses and statutory obligations.

As the improvement requires a lot of capital infusion, the government hospitals often lag behind, thereby creating
immense opportunity for private players. Firstly, private hospitals have the opportunity to diligently acquire NABH
accreditation and solidify their image and better capabilities to serve the public. Secondly, as CGHS and ESI require a
minimum requirement of NABH accreditation for empanelment, private hospitals can also capitalize on the opportunity
to serve patients with government insurance coverage.

As the Indian patients and families are becoming more cognizant and conscious of high healthcare standards and quality,
all hospitals are going for NABH accreditation. Hence, full compliance with the licenses and statutory obligations, by the
way NABH accreditation, has become a mark of high quality healthcare delivery.

Key Speciality and State-wise Healthcare Overview

Overview of orthopedic diseases in India:

Globally, the prevalence and burden from musculoskeletal conditions is high, the same is well reflected in India as well. India
has been facing exceptionally high disease burden of injury, neoplastic, degenerative and metabolic conditions and
musculoskeletal disorders.

Among musculoskeletal disorders, osteoarthritis has a high prevalence of 28.7% for the total population, and is higher for
females at 31.6% compared to males with 28.1%. Mostly affecting the joints and more often leading to disability of knees and
hips in the elderly population, osteoarthritis is expected to become a major disorder in India. Having serious impact on the
elderly population and often resulting in the need of joint replacement surgeries; the 30-50 years-group that leads a sedentary
lifestyle, lacks exercise, and has nutritional deficiencies is also being affected by osteoarthritis. Specifically, the prevalence
of osteoarthritis is at 19.2% for population under 50 years, increasing drastically to 30.7% for population aged between 50
and 59, 39.7% for population aged between 60 and 69, and 54.1% for population over 70 years of age.
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Rheumatoid Arthritis is prevalent in 0.7% of the total Indian population, and is more common in females than in men. Gout
has a prevalence of 0.12% in India, which is higher than the global prevalence of 0.08%. Gout is another orthopedic disorder
that has a higher prevalence in higher age groups, especially in men over 50 years of age. Finally, Low Back Pain has become
highly prevalent in India now due to lifestyle changes, and its prevalence is found to be as low as 6.2% and as high as 9.2%.

India’s population is undergoing a demographic shift and gradually adding more numbers to its elderly segment. With a
growing elderly population highly susceptible to degenerative disorders and growing incidence of such diseases in the younger
population (30-50 years), lack of healthcare infrastructure to cater to rising demand of orthopaedics related treatments is a
major challenge. In India, nearly 23% of the population falls in the age group of 45 years and above in 2015, the population
group accounting for nearly 95% of joint replacement surgeries. Though the share of population in the age group of 45 years
and above is lower in India as compared to the other countries, the large population base of India results in a much higher
population in the age group category. However, penetration of joint replacement surgeries is lower than the other countries.

Number of relevant specialists available in the country:

To serve orthopaedic patients in India, over 10,000 orthopaedic surgeons are registered with the Indian Orthopaedic
Association (I0A); another estimated 10,000 orthopaedic surgeons are not registered with the I0OA. Hence, the ratio of
orthopaedic surgeons to total population of India is around 1 per 66,300 people. Of all the orthopaedic surgeons in the country,
only 20 to 25% are estimated to practice joint replacement surgeries, and nearly two-thirds of those surgeons are concentrated
in metropolitans and tier | cities. As a result, there are only 1.4 to 1.9 joint replacement surgeons per 100,000 populations
above 45 years age in India. This is an extremely skewed ratio considering the large requirement of joint replacement surgeries
in India.

Overview of cancer market in India:

Cancer cases have been rising at an alarming rate in India: among the leading causes of deaths accounting for 7% of the total
deaths. In 2016, India had 4-5 million patients suffering from cancer, with nearly 1.45 million new cases per year. According
to the ICMR, India is expected to have more than 1.7 million new cases of cancer per year and 0.9 million deaths due to cancer
by 2020.

Over the past decade, there has been significant rise in the incidence of breast cancer among female population. Among male
population, although tobacco related cancer still is the major killer, there has been a rise in the incidence of gastrointestinal
cancers.

In order to address the growing demand of cancer treatment, India needs significant addition to the infrastructure. At present,
45-55% of the existing 397 facilities are concentrated in metros, further leading to an imbalance in the treatment delivery
across India. Among these 397 facilities only 50-60% provides comprehensive cancer care (surgical, medical and radiation
care) under one roof, while rest offer limited services only. Considering, the current imbalance in the distribution of cancer
care facilities, there are opportunities for penetration in tier | and Il cities.

Overview of cardiovascular disease (“CVD”) market in India:

In India, CVD is the largest cause of mortality accounting to (26%) of the total deaths caused by non-communicable diseases.
Overall, cardiovascular disease accounted for around 1.5 million deaths in India in 2012 which is expected to rise to 2.6
million per year by 2020, with nearly half of these deaths likely to occur in young and middle age individuals between 30-69
years of age which is a bigger cause of national concern.

Major gains can be made through increased intervention of private healthcare players and public health measures. Currently,
Indians experience CVD deaths at least a decade earlier than other countries with established market economies (EME). It is
estimated that 52% of CVD deaths occur below the age of 70 years as compared to 23% EME, resulting in a profound adverse
impact on the economy as well.

According to National Interventional Council, India performed nearly 375,000 angioplasties and 475,000 angiographies in
2015 across 614 healthcare facilities delivering cardiac care. In 2015, there has been a rise of 42% in the number of
angioplasties performed compared to 2014 and growth of more than 200% since 2011 with nearly 120,000 angioplasties.

There is an acute shortage of cardiologists in India. As per the membership of cardiology society of India (CSI), there were
only 3,588 qualified cardiologists and 1,200 qualified cardiac surgeons in 2014. This accounts for 2.8 cardiologists per million
populations against a minimum of 50 cardiologists per million supported in Europe. Due to the shortage of cardiologists,
currently general physicians are being actively used to treat heart ailments. Moreover, at present, 70-80% of the existing
facilities are concentrated in metros, further widening the gap in delivery of care. With the increasing focus of the Government
on the PPP, private players have enough opportunities to further increase their penetration across India.
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Healthcare overview and potential in Gujarat and selected states:

Compared to other states, death rate and infant mortality rate (IMR) in Gujarat are very high and given the current status,
there is a need to strengthen infant care and develop better infrastructure for elderly care. The neighboring states of Madhya
Pradesh and Rajasthan face a situation that is of greater concern due to relatively higher IMR; stringent actions are needed in
order to improve health status. In the current scenario, private sector healthcare players have ample opportunities to penetrate
with new hospitals and scale up the existing centres while supporting the healthcare system.

The states of Gujarat, Madhya Pradesh, Rajasthan and Maharashtra present underlying opportunities of expansion of
healthcare services. As a quick solution, state governments are now actively taking the PPP route to extend the healthcare
access to the masses opening better avenues for private healthcare players.

There is a wide gap in the availability of hospital beds in Gujarat, Madhya Pradesh and Rajasthan when compared to the
global average of 2.7 beds per 1,000 populations. The overall availability of private hospital beds is much lower and also
concentrated in the metro cities of these states, resulting in a higher burden on the private corporate hospitals in metro cities.
There is also an outward movement of patients to other nearby states and metro cities for tertiary and quaternary care
healthcare services.

Competition Analysis and Conclusion

Since 1990, India has witnessed a number of private sector companies setting up their hospitals across the country. With the
growing demand of private healthcare in the country, there has been emergence of prominent hospital groups like Apollo
Hospitals, Care Hospitals, Columbia Asia, Fortis Hospitals, Gleneagles Global Hospitals, Manipal Hospitals, Max Hospitals,
Narayana Health and others, establishing a network of hospitals.

In addition to these groups with a pan India presence, there are various regional players commanding a sizable market share
in their territory and expanding footprints in other regions. In Gujarat, the private healthcare sector majorly includes a mix of
players with pan India presence like Apollo Hospitals and players with regional presence like Care Institute of Medical Science
(CIMS) (1 unit), Shalby Limited (6 units), Sterling Hospitals (4 units) and Zydus Hospitals (2 units). However, most of these
players have restricted their presence to the region except Shalby Limited, expanding its network in the central, western and
northern India and operating a network of 11 multispecialty hospitals, 62 patient outreach centres and 5 SACE clinics across
India. In fact, besides Shalby Limited, most other private players in Gujarat have restricted themselves to Ahmedabad only,
while a few players like Sterling hospital and Zydus hospital have a presence across other cities of Gujarat.

In the past two decades, the healthcare sector in Gujarat has seen tremendous development with the establishment of private
corporate healthcare players like Apollo Hospitals, CIMS, Narayana Multispecialty Hospital (Narayana Health) Shalby
Limited, Sterling Hospitals, Zydus Hospitals and others.

Apollo Hospitals, CIMS and Narayana Multispecialty Hospital have an average capacity of 300 beds while other hospitals
like Sterling Hospitals operates with a bed strength of nearly 862 beds across 4 hospitals in Gujarat and Zydus Hospitals has
nearly 710 beds across its 2 hospitals. Out of these players, Shalby Limited has evolved as one of the largest private corporate
healthcare groups in Gujarat with a network of 6 hospitals with a capacity of 1,104 beds in 2017, well spread across Gujarat.
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Figure 28: Comparison of Shalby Limited and other key private hospitals in Gujarat
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The key private corporate hospitals with a major presence in orthopedics are Apollo Hospitals, Shalby Hospitals, Max
Hospitals, Fortis Hospitals, Max Hospitals, Sunshine Hospitals, and others. In 2016, private corporate hospitals in India
accounted for nearly 35% of total joint replacements (total knee replacement and total hip replacement) performed. With
~7,600 joint replacements (total knee replacement and total hip replacement) in 2016 across all units, Shalby Limited is one
of the largest players with ~15% share among private corporate hospitals across India.

Financial Indicators

Metric Shalby Limited | Apollo Hospitals H e';:)tﬁcl:: re Nﬁ;;?ﬁr? a Othg[a;iigonal
ARPOB per day (in INR)* 34,034 28,036 37,534 17,534 20,000-28,000
EBITDA Margin (%) 19% 21% - 12% 12-18%
EBITDA Growth (2010-15) 20% 20% - 26% 12-15%
ALOS 4.1 days 4.2 days 3.6 days 4.3 days 4-5 days

*Figures for 2015-16

Source: Company websites; Annual reports, Frost & Sullivan analysis
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OUR BUSINESS

Some of the information in the following section, especially information with respect to our plans and strategies, contain
certain forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. You should read the section titled “Forward Looking
Statements” on page 16 for a discussion of the risks and uncertainties related to those statements, and also the section titled
“Risk Factors” on page 18 for a discussion of certain risks that may affect our business, financial condition, or results of
operations. Our actual results may differ materially from those expressed in, or implied by these forward-looking statements.
Our Company'’s strengths and its ability to successfully implement its business strategies may be affected by various factors
that have an influence on its operations, or on the industry segment in which our Company operates, which have been
disclosed in the section titled “Risk Factors” on page 18. This section should be read in conjunction with such risk factors.

Our Financial Year ends on March 31 of each year, and references to a particular Financial Year are to the twelve month
period ended March 31 of that year.

Unless otherwise stated, or the context otherwise requires, the financial information used in this section is derived from our
Restated Financial Statements included in this Prospectus on page 218.

OVERVIEW

We are one of the leading multi-specialty chain of hospitals in India (Source: F&S Report). Our hospitals are tertiary care
hospitals, few of which also offer quaternary healthcare services to patients in various areas of specialisation such as
orthopaedics, complex joint replacements, cardiology, neurology, oncology, and renal transplantations. As on the date of this
Prospectus, we provide inpatient and outpatient healthcare services through 11 operational hospitals with an aggregate bed
capacity of 2,012 beds. As on June 30, 2017, we had nine operational hospitals with an aggregate operational bed count of
841 beds. We had a 15% market share of all joint replacement surgeries conducted by private corporate hospitals in India in
2016 (Source: F&S Report). As on the date of this Prospectus, we also provide outpatient services through 47 Outpatient
Clinics and have ten shared surgery centres within third party hospitals, which we call “Shalby Arthroplasty Centre of
Excellence” (“SACE”), where we offer orthopaedic healthcare services including surgeries. Since March 2007, we have
conducted an aggregate of 92,100 surgeries, and provided healthcare services to an aggregate of 1,025,533 patients, consisting
133,652 inpatients and 891,881 outpatients.

Headquartered in Ahmedabad, India, we have a domestic and overseas outreach through a network of hospitals in India, and
Outpatient Clinics and SACE located in India, Africa, and the Middle East. Having strong presence in western and central
India and focus on Tier — | and Tier — 11 cities, our hospitals operate across five states, our Outpatient Clinics operate across
37 cities in 12 states in India, and our SACE are present in seven cities in six states in India. Our international footprint
consists five Outpatient Clinics and one SACE in Africa, and two SACE in the UAE. We are expanding our footprint in
western and central India with hospitals being set up in Nashik and Vadodara. For further details, see “Our Business —
Description of Business — Hospitals — Expansion Plans” on page 165.

Led by Dr Vikram Shah, an orthopaedic surgeon with more than 25 years of professional experience, we have grown from a
single hospital to a chain of multi-specialty hospitals. Our first hospital, Vijay Shalby, was established by Shalby Orthopaedic
Hospital and Research Centre, one of our Group Entities, in the year 1994. From the year 2004, the operations of Vijay Shalby
have been undertaken by our Company. Our second, and third hospitals, SG Shalby and Vrundavan Shalby commenced
operations in the year 2007 and the year 2011, respectively. From four hospitals in April 2012, we have grown to 11 hospitals
as on the date of this Prospectus.

We have benefited significantly from the experience and expertise of Dr Vikram Shah, one of our Promoters, who has been
credited by Ethicon India for his involvement in the development of the ‘OS Needle’. The OS Needle has been successful in
simplifying soft tissue procedures, thereby reducing the risk of infection and the high rates of failure that once existed while
undertaking orthopaedic surgeries. Apart from use of the OS Needle, we also employ an innovative surgical procedure which
we call ‘Zero Technique’ that involves minimum incision during the surgery thereby reducing infection rates and surgical
time required to complete a total knee replacement surgery.

Apart from a focus on orthopaedics, our hospitals provide advanced levels of care across various specialties such as neurology,
cardiac care, critical care, oncology, and nephrology. It has been our endeavour to ensure that our patients are offered quality
healthcare services. To this end, our hospitals are equipped with modern medical equipment required to provide multispecialty
healthcare services and employ practices and policies to ensure quality of the healthcare services offered. Some of our
hospitals are equipped with modern equipment which inter alia, include linac systems, holmium lasers, thulium lasers, and
intra-operative neuro monitoring systems. Our hospitals, Krishna Shalby, SG Shalby, Shalby Indore and Shalby Jabalpur are
accredited by the NABH. Further, Krishna Shalby and SG Shalby are also accredited by the NABL. In addition, we have
submitted applications to the NABH for accreditation of one of our hospitals, Vijay Shalby.
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We operate and expand our business through a combination of the following models:
= Owning and operating multi-specialty hospitals;
= Operating and managing hospitals on a revenue sharing basis, by adopting an asset-light model;

= Associating with third-party hospitals on a revenue sharing and/or professional fee basis to offer orthopaedic
healthcare services under SACE; and

= Providing orthopaedic healthcare services through Outpatient Clinics that are either independently operated by us,
or operated by us within third party premises on a revenue sharing basis.

As a part of our ancillary services, we offer certain educational programmes through “Shalby Academy” (“Shalby
Academy”), home-based healthcare services under “Shalby Homecare” (“Shalby Homecare”), and also undertake clinical
research trials. Through Shalby Academy, we offer educational programmes including diplomas and fellowships in a range
of medical and para-medical disciplines. Under Shalby Homecare, we offer home-based healthcare services, which inter alia,
include nursing services, physiotherapy services, and home deputation of medical officers. Further, we have been engaged in
conducting clinical research trials since 2006. These clinical research trials are conducted at our hospitals SG Shalby and
Krishna Shalby. The clinical research trials are supervised and monitored by ethics committees, and are typically sponsored
by pharmaceutical companies and various clinical research organisations.

As of June 30, 2017, we employed 2,049 employees and engaged 319 professional consultants, consisting 294 doctors who
are full-time consultants and 25 doctors who are part-time consultants. Our staff strength also comprises 699 nurses and 1,350
paramedical, corporate and support staff and pharmacists.

We believe that our brand equity is strongly associated with our leadership in joint replacements. In recognition of our service,
clinical, and financial excellence, we have been recipients of various awards, which we believe have created our strong brand
value. These awards inter alia, include the “Best Multispecialty Hospital” award under the “Metro” category, instituted by
CNBC in the year 2015, the “Emerging Tertiary Care Hospital of the Year” award instituted by VCCircle Network in the
year 2015, and the “Healthcare Service Provider Company of the Year” award instituted by Frost and Sullivan in the year
2013. For further details, see “History and Certain Corporate Matters — Awards and Accreditations” on page 180.

We have invested in, and have established a robust IT system both for clinical purposes as well as integrating systems and
processes through ERP towards streamlining our clinical and administrative functions. We have adopted technology with a
view to ensure quick transmission of disease data, subsequent analysis, and prompt disease management.

The key highlights of our financial and operating metrics on a consolidated basis from Fiscal 2013 to Fiscal 2017, and for the
three months period ended June 30, 2017, are set out in the table below:

Particulars Three months period ended Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal
June 30, 2017® 2017® 2016® 2015@ 20140 2013@

Total bed capacity® 2,0120) 2,012 1,295 907 674 674
Number of operational 8410 781 823 593 455 3730
beds®
Revenue (in % million) 905.99 3,328.62 2,925.56 2,776.26 2,616.76 2,298.28
EBITDA margin (%) 28.85 22.24 19.10 24.50 24.20 18.45
Bed occupancy rate 33.76 34.48 31.75 40.95 39.62 49,030
(%0)*
ARPOB (in )@ 36,720 33,032 34,173 39,904 39,349 40,83806)
ALOS 3.88 3.99 4.14 4.03 3.96 4.10
Average RoCE (%) 3.66©) 11.12 13.12 21.15 35.33 24.75
Inpatient volume 6,258 24,704 20,528 17,147 16,609 15,348
Outpatient volume 47,956 166,519 152,921 128,821 125,981 110,919

(1) Data in respect of Vrundavan Shalby has been considered until December 9, 2016, the date on which its operations were temporarily suspended by
our Company

(2) Total bed capacity and number of operational bed are as at the end of the relevant Fiscal or accounting period, as the case may be.

(3) Total bed capacity and number of operational beds as on March 31, 2017 June 30, 2017 do not consider Vrundavan Shalby since the operations at
Vrundavan Shalby were temporarily suspended by our Company from December 9, 2016. Further, number of operational beds as on June 30, 2017
does not include Shalby Naroda and Shalby Surat which started providing in-patient services from July, 2017 and August, 2017, respectively.

(4) ARPOB is based on our Company’s revenue from operations. (EBITDA Margin also based on our revenue from operations).

(5) Does not include data pertaining to Shalby Vapi since occupancy data for Shalby Vapi is not available for Fiscal 2013.

(6) Average ROCE not annualised..

*  Bed occupancy rate, calculated by dividing the total number of occupied bed days by the total operational bed days.

As of June 30, 2017, we achieved a capital cost per bed of I4.2 million. The average capital cost per bed is arrived at by
dividing the total capital expenditure incurred by us, by the number of beds installed in a particular hospital.
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OUR COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS

We believe that we are well-positioned to capture market opportunities and benefit from the expected growth in the healthcare
services market in India through our competitive strengths, which principally, include the following:

Leadership in orthopaedics and strong capabilities in other specialties

We believe that our reputation and clinical capabilities in the field of orthopaedics, along with our continuing expansion across
other healthcare specialties position us favourably to benefit from the increasing demand in India for quality healthcare
services. Having performed approximately 54,105 joint replacements since 2007, our Company has been a market leader in
the area of joint replacement surgeries (Source: F&S Report). We provide our patients with a wide range of orthopaedic
services and to this end, we lay emphasis on providing end to end services to our patients with preoperative, operative, and
postoperative care. Through 47 Outpatient Clinics, we offer orthopaedic consultation services to our patients, and through our
chain of 11 operational hospitals and ten SACE, we undertake orthopaedic surgeries and procedures.

Our chain of multi-specialty hospitals provide advanced levels of care in various specialties. To ensure that we are able to
provide multi-specialty healthcare services, our hospitals have been equipped with modern medical equipment, which, inter
alia, include linac systems which are used for cancer diagnosis and treatment, holmium lasers, which are used to perform
endoscopic lithotripsy, thulium lasers, which are used to perform soft tissue surgeries, and intra-operative neuro monitoring
systems which are used to monitor neural structures while performing ENT procedures. Key volume statistics for our
orthopaedic and non-orthopaedic surgeries and procedures during from Fiscal 2013 to Fiscal 2017, and the three months
period ended June 30, 2017, are set out below:

Particulars Three months period Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal CAGR®
ended June 30, 2017 2017 2016 2015 2014 2013 (%)
Orthopaedic surgeries and 2,656 9,813 9,719 9,244 8,741 7,579 6.67
procedures
Non-orthopaedic surgeries 1,051 5,402 4,567 4,447 3,701 2,267 24.24
and procedures

(2) CAGR from Fiscal 2013 to Fiscal 2017.

Since Fiscal 2013, we have experienced a steady growth in providing orthopaedic and non-orthopaedic healthcare services to
our patients. Details of the number of patients who availed our orthopaedic and non-orthopaedic services in the last five
Fiscals, and the three months period ended June 30, 2017, is set out below:

Particulars Three months Fiscal 2017 Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal Fiscal CAGR®
period ended June 2016 2015 2014 2013 (%)
30, 2017
Orthopaedic services 13,019 41,617 40,258 34,724 37,438 36,183 3.56
Non-orthopaedic 41,195 149,606 133,191 111,244 105,152 90,084 13.52
services

(2) CAGR from Fiscal 2013 to Fiscal 2017.

Our leadership in the field of orthopaedics helps us in offering our other healthcare services to geriatric patients. Joint
replacements are typically required at an advanced age, and many of our elderly patients who require treatment for one or
more age related ailments such as cardiovascular diseases, diabetes, etc.

Integrated and scalable business model enhancing our patient reach

We have an integrated and scalable business model enabling us to provide comprehensive healthcare solutions through a
network of multi-specialty hospitals, Outpatient Clinics, and SACE.

Multi-specialty Hospitals:

From four hospitals in April 2012, we have grown to 11 operational hospitals which offer inpatient and outpatient healthcare
services, with an aggregate bed capacity of 2,012 beds. As on June 30, 2017, we had nine operational hospitals with an
aggregate operational bed count of 841 beds. Our expansion has been achieved through a combination of greenfield or
brownfield projects, strategic acquisitions, and operation and management (“O&M?”) arrangements. We carry out our O&M
arrangements on an asset-light, revenue sharing basis with third party healthcare service providers to ensure efficient capital
deployment. We operate multi-specialty hospitals targeting healthcare demands in Tier | Cities and Tier 11 Cities. Our hospitals
are tertiary care hospitals, few of which also offer quaternary healthcare services to patients.
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Details of our operational hospitals, their respective locations and commencement of operations are set out below:

Hospital Location Date of commencement
Vijay Shalby Ahmedabad March, 1994
SG Shalby Ahmedabad March, 2007
Shalby Vapi Vapi April, 2012
Krishna Shalby Ahmedabad October, 2012
Shalby Jabalpur Jabalpur March, 2015
Shalby Indore Indore August, 2015
Shalby Mohali Mohali September, 2015
Zynova Shalby Mumbai January, 2017
Shalby Jaipur Jaipur March, 20170
Shalby Naroda Ahmedabad March, 2017®
Shalby Surat Surat March, 2017®

(2) Refers to commencement of outpatient services only. Shalby Jaipur commenced providing inpatient services from April 2017, Shalby Naroda
commenced providing inpatient services from July 2017 and Shalby Surat commenced providing inpatient services from August 2017.

Our expansion strategies are also centred on establishing our presence in Tier 11 Cities such as Nashik and Vadodara. With an

established brand equity in Gujarat, our existing network of hospitals and expansion strategies are focused on strengthening
our presence in western and central India.

Outpatient Clinics and SACE:

We have 47 Outpatient Clinics as on the date of this Prospectus. Through Outpatient Clinics that are operated by us either
independently, or within third party premises, we offer orthopaedic consultation services. Apart from Outpatient Clinics, as
on the date of this Prospectus, we have seven domestic SACE and three overseas SACE. Through our SACE, we offer
orthopaedic consultation services and undertake orthopaedic and spine surgeries. Through our wide network of Outpatient
Clinics and SACE, we have witnessed a steady increase inpatient footfall, with patients travelling from various parts of the
country and overseas to avail intensive diagnosis and treatment at our hospitals. This apart, our Outpatient Clinics and SACE
have also given us the opportunity to carry out preliminary assessments on markets, which helps us in determining the
feasibility of setting up full-fledged hospitals in new locations, which may involve high capital expenditure. Our Outpatient
Clinics and SACE have also been instrumental in setting up our presence overseas. Our international footprint consists five
Outpatient Clinics spread across Ethiopia, Kenya, Tanzania, and Uganda, and one SACE in Kenya in Africa, and two SACE
in Ras al-Khaimah and Dubai in the UAE. Our presence in Africa and the Middle East are established through local tie-ups
with established hospitals and medical centres, and has been largely instrumental in scaling our presence across borders.
During Fiscal 2017 and three months period ended June 30, 2017, our Outpatient Clinics in India provided healthcare services
to 5,580 patie